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ENDANGERED SALMON RECOVERY PLANS

THURSDAY, JUNE 30, 1994

House of Representatives, Subcommittee on Envi-
ronment AND Natural Resources, Committee on
Merchant Marine and Fisheries,

Washington, DC.
The Subcommittee met, pursuant to call, at 10:14 a.m., in room

1334, Longworth House Office Building, Hon. Gerry E. Studds pre-
siding.

Present: Representatives Studds, Hochbrueckner, Pallone,
Unsoeld [Co-chair], Furse, and Cantwell [Co-chair].

Staff Present: Sue Waldron, Press Secretary; Frank Lockhart,
Professional Staff; Marvadell Zeeb, Subcommittee Clerk; Dan Ashe,
Staff Director; Margherita Woods, Minority Assistant; Sharon
McKenna, Minority Subcommittee Counsel; Cyndy Wilkinson, Mi-
nority Chief Counsel; and Tom Melius, Minority Professional Staff.

STATEMENT OF HON. GERRY E. STUDDS, A U.S. REPRESENTA-
TIVE FROM MASSACHUSETTS, AND CHAIRMAN, SUBCOMMIT-
TEE ON ENVIRONMENT AND NATURAL RESOURCES
Mr. Studds. The salmon of the Columbia River are legendary.

When they arrived at the River early in the 19th Century, Lewis
and Clark remarked, "The multitudes of this fish are almost incon-
ceivable. ..at this season they fioat in such quantities down the
stream, and are drifted ashore, the Indians have only to collect,

split and dry them on scaffolds." Today, instead of salmon, the only
things that exist in inconceivable multitudes on the Columbia are
conflicting interests, competing jurisdictions, and failed recovery at-

tempts.
However, the situation is not as bleak as it may appear for two

very important reasons. First, the people of the Northwest have let

it be known that they wish to recover salmon, and according to a
recent poll of the Washington State citizens, they are willing to pay
a reasonable amount to do it. Second, salmon are one of nature's
most resilient and persistent creatures. If any species can come
back from the brink of extinction, it is the salmon. Luckily, we can
depend on both of these factors in the development of a recovery
plan.

Towards that end, the Snake River Recovery Team recently de-
livered to the National Marine Fisheries Service their final rec-

ommendations to recover endangered Snake River salmon. From
this point on, the fate of these salmon rests with the Service and
the Endangered Species Act recovery planning process. The testi-

(1)



mony presented at this hearing should get us off to a good start.

The distinguished gentlewoman from Washington.

STATEMENT OF HON. JOLENE UNSOELD, A U.S.

REPRESENTATIVE FROM WASHINGTON
Ms. Unsoeld. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. As a number of wit-

nesses indicate, this is an issue of enormous importance to the Pa-

cific Northwest. For thousands of years the native salmon stocks of

the Pacific Northwest have not only sustained our many peoples

and cultures but entire societies that have revolved around these

extraordinary fish.

Recently, however, the numbers of native salmon returning from
the sea to their birth waters have declined dramatically. Over har-

vesting, degradation of spawning habitat, hydroelectric dams, and
natural disasters such as drought and the El Nino current have all

contributed to the alarmingly low numbers of adult salmon return-

ing to native waters to produce another generation of magnificent
fish.

Indeed, many runs of salmon are now seriously threatened, en-

dangered or extinct. While the Columbia River has been a lightning
rod for conflicts over appropriate restoration actions, solutions are
needed regionwide, ecosystem wide. As stewards of these resources,
we can no longer ignore the warning signs. We must respond ag-

gressively to this situation and support activities that promote
long-term sustainable fisheries.

Many, many long hours have been dedicated to developing strate-

gies for salmon recovery in the Columbia River. The question on
everyone's mind is, can we rise to the enormous challenge and
work together to restore our salmon or will our differences result

in a gridlock, court-imposed management and attempts to legislate

a solution?

To those of us who experienced the spotted owl conflict, the latter

choice appears to be a deja vu all over again. Mr. Chairman, I am
very, very grateful to you for initiating this hearing and" allowing
these people who are intimately involved with this issue on a daily

basis to be here.

I look forward to our witness' views on these important issues.

Thank you very much.
Mr. Studds. Thank you. The distinguished gentlewoman from

Oregon.

STATEMENT OF HON. ELIZABETH FURSE, A U.S.
REPRESENTATIVE FROM OREGON

Ms. FuRSE. Mr. Chairman, I want to thank you personally for ac-

commodating the wishes of the Committee's Northwest members by
calling for this hearing. It is of the utmost importance to my dis-

trict and the entire Pacific Northwest. Your attention to this issue

is deeply appreciated.
The rivers of the Pacific Northwest, as you mentioned, Mr.

Chairman, once flowed so thickly with the spawning salmon that

people used to say you could walk across the water on their backs.

As many as 16 million salmon would return to the Columbia River

each year making a herculean effort to migrate 900 miles up-

stream.



These legendary fish form the cukural economic and ecological

backbone of the Northwest. As recently as 1988 the recreational

and commercial salmon fishery contributed more than $1 billion

annually to the Northwest economy and provided an estimated

60,000 jobs in the region.

The Pacific Northwest tribes rely as they have through time im-

memorial on the salmon for the commercial subsistence and reli-

gious activities of their people. Salmon are the defining symbol of

the Northwest. But the salmon are in trouble. They are returning

to the spawning grounds in record low numbers and three Colum-

bia River basin stocks are already listed under ihe ESA.

Our commercial salmon fishery was recently closed for the first

time in our State's history and this closure has prompted the Ad-

ministration to announce a $15.7 million disaster relief assistance

package.
It is clear that we must take action and we must take it now or

we will lose our salmon forever. What is less clear is exactly what

strategy should be pursued. Millions of dollars have already been

spent in recent years to recover the salmon but these efforts have

failed to stop their decline.

The time, it seems to me, has come to stop fighting among our-

selves. We need a creative, bold regional recovery plan. We must

allow the rivers to heal. We must create again the habitat for salm-

on production. Every interest will have to make a sacrifice in order

to solve this problem. There is no more time for special interests.

There is only time for solutions.

So we have convened you, the experts on the issue, to give us

your best ideas on the route we should take to reach the road to

salmon recovery. I am eager to hear your ideas. How we address

this issue is critical, not only to the Columbia River, but to the en-

tire Northwest because how the recovery process progresses in the

Columbia River Basin will set the stage for salmon recovery

throughout the region where stocks are equally troubled.

I thank you, Mr. Chairman, for your attention and I look forward

to the testimony.
Mr. Studds. The gentleman from New Jersey, do you have a

statement? We welcome our colleague from Washington, Congress-

man Dicks, to sit with us like a member of the Committee.

Mr. Dicks. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I appreciate you having

this hearing.
Mr. Studds. We are pleased to have you here. I hope you will

come more often. We will go first to our colleague, Congressman
Michael Crapo from Idaho. Mr. Crapo, welcome.

STATEMENT OF HON. MICHAEL CRAPO, A U.S.

REPRESENTATIVE FROM IDAHO

Mr. Crapo. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. Mr. Chairman, I have

submitted some written remarks and would request that they be

made a part of the record of this hearing.

Mr. Studds. Without objection. Please feel perfectly free to be as

brief as you wish.

Mr. Crapo. I would appreciate that. I understand how this

works. Mr. Chairman, as another member from the Northwest, I

too appreciate this Committee holding these hearings and I appre-



ciate the opportunity to testify and give the remarks that I give

from the perspective of one from Idaho.

I also would recognize that there are many experts here and I

hope that they are going to be able to shed some light on the kinds

of solutions that we need because it truly is time that we move
from the discussion of the issue to a determination of hard solu-

tions and specific decisions about what needs to be done.

Last year and this year I have been focusing on wilderness issues

in Idaho among many other issues, but one of the things that has

come out in those hearings, whether they be town meetings or

other meetings that I have held on the wilderness issue, is that the

people in Idaho also want to restore the rich heritage that we have
in our salmon.
As I held those town meetings, people from almost everywhere

agreed that we must take the steps necessary to restore the salm-

on. It was interesting to me that in the town of Salmon, Idaho,

which was named after these great runs of the salmon who made
it back up into that habitat, there were those who had spent their

lives for generations of families logging, working in the grazing in-

dustry, working in the mining industry and so forth who could re-

member the great, rich heritage of the salmon runs and wished
that they could have them back.

People from every perspective recognize that there is the need
and they state their willingness to do their part. Their concern,

however, is that politics may play more a role in the solution than
science and it is our concern to make sure that this Committee,
that those who work on this issue focus on what will work rather

than what is politically expedient.

One of the things that I want to talk about today is the issue of

water. There are some who had suggested that the way to solve the

problem is to simply flush the river with water from Idaho. Let me
tell you a little bit about the water.

The Salmon Recovery Plan issued by the National Marine and
Fisheries Service is based on the 1994-1998 Biological Opinion
which was issued. That opinion calls for 85,000 cubic feet per sec-

ond (cfs) at Lower Granite Dam from April 20 through June 20;

55,000 cfs at Lower Granite Dam from June 21 through July 30;

and 50,000 cfs at Lower Granite from July 31 through August 10.

The Opinion also calls for 427,000 acre-feet to be released from
the Brownlee Reservoir and 1.5 million acre-feet from the

Dworshak Reservoir. The opinion requests that Federal agencies

take an additional 400,000 acre-feet above Hell's Canyon by 1999.

In addition, a study being funded by the Bonneville Power Ad-
ministration is looking at nonstructural means to deliver 1 million

acre-feet below Lower Granite Dam for salmon. This all depends
heavily on water, much of it Idaho water. And yet, in our current

situation the water is not available.

We are currently in our seventh out of approximately eight years

of drought and even if you look at the projections for the flows

meeting if all the water were taken it would be difficult to meet
these projections and that assumes that you could simply ignore

the needs of the people in agriculture or in other industry or simply

the needs of people who live in the Snake River plain.



My concern and the point that I want to make clear is that those

who would focus on a purely flush type solution or a solution which
would assume that we can by putting more water in the upstream
part of the river simply make the trip of the salmon faster to the

ocean, are ignoring many other parts of the problem.

We must have a solution which focuses on all aspects of the prob-

lem and which does not devastate any particular group of people

or industries. The farmers in Idaho are very willing to play their

part. In fact, on a willing buyer/seller basis they have already come
up with an ability to provide hundreds of thousands of acre-feet of

water to assist in the solution for salmon runs.

The point that I want to make is that there are other parts of

the problem. Dams on the lower Snake and the Columbia are rec-

ognized, I think, to be one of the most significant parts of the prob-

lem and the manner in which we help the fish survive going

around the dams and make it to the ocean is critical.

A recent study completed by Bookman Edmunston Engineering
Firm, funded by Bonneville Power contends that to shift 1 million

acre-feet of water from agricultural uses would take 450,000 to

590,000 acres of Idaho agricultural land out of production.

The direct and indirect income losses in southern Idaho would be

estimated to be between $500 to $670 million in income and be-

tween 10,000 and 14,000 jobs. That is the kind of impact that we
could be facing if we just look at one piece of the solution and ig-

nore other pieces of the solution.

Although there are no easy answers, I don't believe it is prac-

tical, realistic or scientifically achievable or economically sensible

for the region to expect that sufficient water will be available in

the upper reaches of the Snake River to simply flush the fish past

the dam.
We have got to have a more broad approach. It is my contention

that we need to continue to pursue the facts and the arguments to

find honest, unbiased, scientific answers to these questions and I

hope that all parties involved will work together to craft a solution

to this issue.

All possible solutions should be thoroughly studied and tested

and we must all work together if we are to avoid the serious eco-

nomic damage to the Pacific Northwest which will not necessarily

be that beneficial to the salmon.
Therefore, I urge accelerated focus on using our resources to

come up with a consensus among all parties involved including the

Indian tribes and the State Government and I would be glad to

submit to your questions.

[Statement of Hon. Michael Crapo follows:]

Statement of Hon. Michael D. Cr.\po, a U.S. Represkntativk from Idaho

Mr. Chairman, thank, you for allowing me to testify before the Subcommittee. Due
to the aggressive schedule of the Subcommittee, I will keep my remarks brief

Few would disagree that we must restore and preserve the salmon; salmon are

a rich part of Idaho's heritage. As I held wilderness town meetings across the second

congressional district, people from almost every perspective agreed that we must
take steps to restore the wild salmon runs. The heartfelt fervor of the testimony was
particularly meaningful when it came from those who could recall earlier days when
salmon runs were strong and plentiful. These people, many of whom have logged

timber, grazed livestock, and raised crops for generations, stated their willingness

to do their part in salmon restoration.



While there is considerable disagreement about the proper action necessary to

protect and restore Snake River wild salmon, I come here today to discuss the im-

pact that the Salmon Recovery Plan would have on the economy and well being of

the State of Idaho.
The Salmon Recovery Plan issued by the National Marine and Fisheries Service

is based on the 1994-1998 Biological Opinion.
The Opinion calls for 85,000 cubic feet per second (cfs) at Lower Granite Dam

from April 20 through June 20; 55,000 cfs at Lower Granite Dam from June 21
through July 30; and 50,000 cfs at Lower Granite Dam from July 31 through August
10. The Opinion also calls for 427,000 acre-feet to be released from Brownlee Res-

ervoir and 1.5 million acre-feet from Dworshak Reservoir.

The Biological Opinion requests that Federal agencies take an additional 400,000
acre-feet above Hells Canyon by 1999. In addition, a study being funded by Bonne-
ville Power Administration is looking at nonstructural means to deliver one million

acre-feet below Lower Granite Dam for salmon. This all depends heavily upon Idaho
water—water that is simply not available.

Mr. Chairman, water is Idaho's most precious resource and the people in Idaho
prosper with the utilization of this resource. The State of Idaho has had drought
conditions in 7 out of the last 8 years. The flow requirements outlined in NMFS'
Biological Opinion are not feasible in these drought conditions.

In 1994, the conditions for meeting flows are nearly impossible and it would take
the entire water storage in southern Idaho to meet the demands for water flow in

the Biological Opinion. In fact, the projected water flows for the months of July and
August are only 25,000 cfs or less and 15,000 cfs or less, respectively, in the Snake
River near Lower Granite Dam.
The Soil Conservation Service is only predicting 40 to 50 percent runoff from snow

pack and streamflows for the months of July and August. The Biological Opinion
directs that 50,000 cfs be available for the months of July and August. This comes
to approximately 3.6 million acre-feet. Since only about half of this amount will

come from projected water flows, the rest will have to come from the 8.1 million

acre-feet in storage for agricultural interests.

A recent study completed by Bookman Edmundston Engineering Firm, funded by
Bonneville Power Administration, contends that to shift one million acre-feet of

water from agriculture users would take 450,000 to 591,000 acres of Idaho Agri-

culture land out of production. The direct and indirect income losses in southern
Idaho are estimated between $500 to $670 million in income and between 10,500
and 14,000 jobs. The Biological Opinion will have Idaho Agriculture release 3 mil-

lion acre-feet of water from irrigation storage. The direct impact on the Idaho econ-
omy will range from $240 million to $750 million each year. Idaho can not with-

stand an economic hit of this size.

Although there are no easy answers, it is neither practical, realistic, scientifically

achievable, nor economically sensible for the region to expect that sufiicient water
will be available in the upper reaches of the Snake River Basin to "flush" the salm-
on through the system. A flush would seem to have little or no positive effect on
the survivability of the fish.

I do know that the solution can't be based solely on large volumes of Idaho water.
The solution must be balanced, in terms of available water and based on multiple
methodology.

It is my intention to continue to pursue the facts and the arguments to find hon-
est, unbiased, scientific answers to these pressing questions. I hope that all parties

involved will work together to craft a solution to this issue. All possible solutions

should be thoroughly studied and tested. We must all work together if we are to

avoid both serious economic damage to the Pacific Northwest and the loss of the
salmon.

I therefore urge an accelerated focusing of resources to come up with a consensus
solution among all the parties involved, including the Indian tribes and State Gov-
ernments.
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Mr. Studds. I thank you very much. Are there questions for our
colleague from Idaho? The gentlewoman from Washington.
Ms. Unsoeld. Granted that the lake in Idaho should not be the

sole item that we look to to solve this, but it should be part of the

solution, wouldn't you agree?
Mr. Crapo. Yes, Mr. Chairman, and Ms. Unsoeld, I definitely

agree that all parties need to participate and as I indicated, if you



look at the past few years as the efforts have been underway to

find solutions and to test different approaches, you will see that

those involved in agriculture who are the ones who are in most of

the front line hit with regard to Idaho's water right, now have al-

ready made major efforts.

The Idaho legislature has actually changed its law on a tem-
porary basis for a test to allow water which was under our law
dedicated solely to agricultural uses to be diverted to be used for

assisting in the solution to the salmon problem to see if it would
work and I can tell you that the Idaho agricultural community is

ready to do its part.

What they are asking is that they simply not be focused on as

the sole portion of the solution.

Mr. Studds. Any other questions? I want to thank you very

much. Your full statement will appear in the record. I suppose that

I should confess that in the mid-1970's when we were writing the

Fisheries Conservation and Management Act as a sophomore from
New England I had to inquire why the State of Idaho would be in

a fisheries management council.

I gather if we had written this act 50 years before that we would
have to put Montana on it as well.

Mr. Crapo. That is correct. That is correct, Mr. Chairman.
Mr. Studds. This is an awesome creature.

Mr. Crapo. The salmon runs in Idaho which, has been said, are

dwindling, are one of the greatest environmental treasures that we
have lost and our people truly do seek to have them restored.

Mr. Studds. We thank you very much. Without objection, the

statements of the gentleman from Texas, Mr. Fields, and the gen-

tleman from New Jersey, Mr. Saxton will be placed in the record

at this point.

[Statement of Hon. Jack Fields follows:]

Statement of Hon. Jack Fields, a U.S. Representative from Texas, and
Ranking Minority Member, Committee on Merchant Marine and Fisheries

Mr. Chairman, our hearing today will focus on possible solutions for recovering

Columbia River salmon stocks that have been listed by the National Marine Fish-

eries Service (NMFS) under its authority from the Endangered Species Act.

In response to listing the Snake River's sockeye salmon as an endangered species

in 1991, the National Marine Fisheries Service (NMFS), under its authority in the

Endangered Species Act, appointed a recovery team to develop a recovery plan for

the species. When two additional stocks (fall and spring/summer chinook) were list-

ed as threatened in 1992, the recovery team's responsibilities were expanded to in-

clude these species. The team's final recommendations were forwarded to NMFS on

June 14, 1994. Other organizations have also prepared plans for salmon species.

These include a Strategy for Salmon developed by the Northwest Power Planning

Council and, most recently, a Tribal Restoration Plan developed by the tribes in the

Northwest.
NMFS will review these plans as well as other recommendations and develop a

final recovery plan for endangered and threatened salmon species. The final recov-

ery plan will not be self-implementing, though it will be used as a guide for various

agencies in refining their management plans, procedures, and strategies.

Our hearing coincides with the initial stages of development of a final recovery

plan by NMFS for the threatened and endangered species in the Columbia River.

The hearing will review issues that are relevant to the recovery of the species

throughout their life cycle. This includes spawning and rearing habitat, downstream
survival, transportation systems around impediments in the river, predation, har-

vest, and upstream survival around dams.
I look forward to hearing the testimony from the various witnesses today as we

seek a better understanding of this issue.
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Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

[Statement of Hon. Jim Saxton follows:]

Statement of Hon. H. James Saxton, a U.S. Representative from New Jersey,
AND Ranking Minority Member, Subcommittee on Environment and Natural
Resources

Mr. Chairman, I want to thank you for holding this hearing today on an issue

that, at first glance, would seem to have very little to do with my State of New Jer-

sey and its fisheries resources. But the institutional changes in the National Marine
Fisheries Service to respond to the Pacific Northwest salmon crisis could have a sig-

nificant impact on New Jersey fishermen.
I look forward to hearing in detail from our witnesses about the process "NMFS"

will use in developing a comprehensive recovery plan. I also welcome Congressman
Crapo of Idaho, who brings specialized knowledge of this issue after years of ad-

dressing it on the State level.

Thank you.

Mr. Studds. I am going to ask the first panel, four people, to

come forward as a group and as they do so express my apologies.

My own obligations preclude my remaining much longer. I am
going to ask the gentlewoman from Washington to take the chair

if she will.

Ms. Unsoeld. We will take the panel participants in the order
in which they appear on the agenda so Mr. Bottiger, you are first.

STATEMENT OF TED BOTTIGER, CHAIRMAN, NORTHWEST
POWER PLANNING COUNCIL

Mr. Bottiger. Congresswoman Unsoeld, thank you very much.
My name is Ted Bottiger and I am the chairman of the Northwest
Power Planning Council and I want to thank you for the oppor-
tunity to testify in this oversight hearing on the Columbia River
basin salmon stocks.

The Committee asked three questions. Your first question asks
whether the Recovery Team's recommendation will lead to the re-

covery of listed stocks and I am sure that Dr. Bevan will concur
that there are substantial biological uncertainties that make it im-

possible to answer that question with certainty.

Full implementation of the Team's recommendations and the
council's salmon strategy provide the best hope for not only recov-

ery but for rebuilding to levels that will support a sustainable fish-

ery.

Your second question asks if there are alternative approaches
that would increase the likelihood of recovery. I will discuss more
in a minute but the council will be reviewing a number of addi-

tional salmon survival improvements this summer and fall.

We are undertaking this review because we have acknowledged
that the existing measures in our salmon strategy are by them-
selves insufficient to protect all weak stocks or to rebuild fishable

levels.

Your third question concerns the essential elements of a recovery

plan. We believe that a recovery plan must improve salmon sur-

vival at all stages of the life cycle. We believe, however, that an ef-

fective recovery effort must also go beyond the immediate listed

stocks if we are ever to get off the endangered species treadmill.

In addition, as noted in our written statement, we have other

legal mandates that include the Federal Clean Water Act, tribal
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obhgation of the Pacific Salmon Treaty with Canada that must be
addressed in the Columbia River Basin.
These will require measures beyond those needed to remove the

Snake River listed salmon stocks from the endangered species list.

Your questions also focus on recovery planning for Snake River
salmon but I assure you that the problem is much greater and it

is not limited to just those fish.

In the Snake River only about 600 naturally spawning spring
chinook salmon returned to spawn above Lower Granite Dam this

year. That is an all time low and the predictions for the coming
summer and fall stock are no better.

Salmon runs on the upper Columbia or the main stem are also

very low this year and they have been petitioned for listing under
the Endangered Species Act. What I am saying in short is the
Snake River Recovery Team's plan is an excellent plan for the
Snake River but the problem is bigger and it is coming to us in the
train wreck that Vice President Gore mentioned.
Our problem is in excess and the existing strategy for salmon by

the Power Council is a recovery plan in place for the whole basin.

It needs to be upgraded and added to and we will be doing that
this summer.
We also intend to take proposals from all interested groups, run

them through our public involvement process and be able to report

to you and Congress of the results of that. We know there are
many reasons for the decline of the salmon stocks and we can't

limit our recovery efforts to just dams or to just water as the Con-
gressman mentioned.
We have overharvesting, we have poor hatchery practices, and

we have declining habitat, all of which must be addressed in order
to have any kind of a recovery plan with a chance of succeeding.
The recovery efforts must continue to address all of these prob-

lems while the National Marine Fishery Service prepares its recov-

ery plan. We can't afford to delay waiting for "another plan to

come." And I hope it doesn't become an excuse for people to not do
their part in the interim.

The comprehensive design of the plan is designed to enhance all

Columbia River stocks including those being protected under the
Endangered Species Act and the region must continue to imple-

ment the strategy while the Marine Fisheries Service prepares a
recovery plan.

The Council appreciates the work of the Recovery Team. We are
already willing to work with them and the Fisheries Service to en-

sure the effective implementation of salmon recovery measures but
in order to be an effective partner the States and the Council must
be involved in the Section 7 consultations with the Federal agen-
cies.

These consultations on dam operations, hatcheries, harvest, and
habitat concern impacts on salmon that we directly address and
the States, through the power planning councils, simply must be
given a meaningful participatory role.

The governors have requested this and it can be done with the
stroke of a pen. Meanwhile we continue to refine the strategy for

salmon. We acknowledge that when we prepared that strategy the



10

near-term measures we included would not be enough to protect all

of the weak stocks or to rebuild to levels that would provide the

benefits of a sustainable harvest.

We called for careful detailed investigations for additional meas-
ures and this summer those reports will be coming in. We would
ask that the congressmen who are interested in this subject join

with us in finding a solution to the salmon of the Pacific North-

west. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman.
[Statement of Ted Bottiger can be found at the end of the hear-

ing.

Ms. Unsoeld. And as with all witnesses your entire written tes-

timony will be incorporated into the record. Mr. Bevan, you are

next on the agenda.

STATEMENT OF DONALD BEVAN, CHAIRMAN, SNAKE RIVER
RECOVERY TEAM

Mr. Bevan. Thank you, Ms. Unsoeld. Members of the Sub-
committee, ladies and gentlemen, I am Donald E. Bevan, chairman
of the National Marine Fisheries Service's Snake River Recovery
Team and with your permission I would like to enter into the
record a summary document of the plan.

Ms. Unsoeld. Without objection.

Mr. Bevan. The complete plan, some 500 pages, is available from
the National Marine Fisheries Service. I would like to begin my
presentation by a quotation from that summary document which is

on page 24.

"The recovery of Snake River salmon is a difficult and com-
plicated public policy issue. It is important to achieve recovery and
ultimately reap the social, cultural and economic benefits of re-

stored salmon populations. It is also important to do so in an orga-

nized, scientifically based and economically efficient manner."
We believe the Team's recommendations do just that and that

they are the basis for achieving recovery. We also believe that in

combination with the Power Planning Council's strategy for salmon
that we now have a regional solution to our salmon problems.
Are there differences between our plan and the Northwest Power

Planning Council's strategy? Yes, there are, but we do not believe

that in most cases they are significant and where there are dif-

ferences there almost have to be different interpretations of uncer-
tain science and we are not going to know the truth until we pro-
ceed and measure carefully. An important part of our recovery plan
is to evaluate as we go along and be prepared to change direction

if we are not correct.

I think that my major comment on what Mr. Bottiger just said,

the only problem with the strategy for salmon is that it hasn't been
implemented and we simply need to get on with the job and not

argue over the differences on how we do that.

We can't wait for better science, there isn't time. Some of these

animals are going to be extinct if we don't turn things around. One
of the attractive new techniques, new technology, which is now
available certainly has to be utilized and that is some new statis-

tical tools, some new technological tools on marking fish that allow

us really for the first time to get very accurate measures of sur-

vival in the river.



11

It is important to measure what happens by the return of the

adults two years after they go to sea but when those fish come back

the measure of what has happened to those fish is confounded by

half a hundred different treatments that they have received includ-

ing recently very large changes in the climate of the ocean.

You can't separate out what is the result and what were the ben-

efits of the techniques that you tried to apply if you wait for fish

to come back although that is the final measure of the total of all

of your recovery actions.

We have got to begin recovery and develop science, better

science, as we go along. There are 12 chapters in our document and
my mathematics tells me that is about one minute for every hun-

dred pages so I won't try to summarize the document but I would
like to talk a little bit and it is maybe out of place for me as a sci-

entist to talk about public policy and politics and institutions.

But it is the Salmon Team's view that our Chapter 3 on institu-

tional changes is an absolute essential if we are going to recover

these animals. There are institutional changes recommended. We
feel that someone has to be in charge. We recommend the National

Marine Fisheries Service, mainly because they have the power of

the Endangered Species Act.

We find down the river there is no priority for investment deci-

sions. The regional, State and tribal plans present a vast array of

different proposals, some of them in conflict with the others and be-

cause of this complexity quite often we see the lowest common de-

nominator is what we try to use for consensus and quite often we
can't reach consensus.
We have to have a mechanism in place to move ahead if we don't

have consensus. Consensus is fine. It is to be achieved if we can

but we can't stop everything because we can't achieve it. We rec-

ommend as a very essential part of NMFS being in charge an inde-

pendent salmon oversight committee, people of science that can

give NMFS advice and try to sort through the conflicting views

that we have on the river today.

We think that public policy decisions should be made in public.

We think that NMFS should establish a data base of the important

data that we are using to make decisions. That is not the case on

the river today. It is very difficult even for the Salmon Recovery

Team to get certain data and some of what we thought was essen-

tial information simply doesn't exist.

Finally, I would like to say that the Team thinks it is terribly

important to consider all of these recommendations as a whole. We
shouldn't divide up recovery among institutions. Thank you, Mr.

Chairman, I will be happy to answer any questions that you may
have.

[Statement of Donald Bevan can be found at the end of the hear-

ing.

Ms. Unsoeld. Thank you very much, Don. Mr. Holt, vice-chair-

man of the Inter-Tribal Fish Commission.

STATEMENT OF LEVI HOLT, VICE-CHAIRMAN, COLUMBIA
RIVER INTER-TRIBAL FISH COMMISSION

Mr. Holt. Thank you, Madam Chair, and thank you members
for this honor and the opportunity on behalf of the Columbia River
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Inter-Tribal Fish Commission to present our views and concerns.

As stated, my name is Levi Joseph Holt. I am a member of the Nez
Perce Tribal Executive Committee and chairman of the Nez Perce

Fish and Wildlife Committee.
I would like to submit, Madam Chair, for the record, I believe

they have been provided; two documents. Managing Molecules or

Salmon and the Pacific Salmon document by Mr. Daniel Rawl as

well as, Madam Chair, a comparison of the Columbia River salmon
plans.

Ms. Unsoeld. Without objection.

Mr. Holt. Thank you. First of all, Madam Chair, I would like to

state again that on behalf of the Columbia River tribes I think it

is useful at this time to remind both this Committee and its mem-
bers that the tribes are very concerned about the issue of respon-

sibility and trust responsibility that has been guaranteed and
upheld under several court dockets and treaties that keep in trust

the health and safety of the salmon.
In consequence we now share in this resource with the United

States. We did not give up our right nor abdicate our responsibility

to the salmon as a result of these treaties. Any recovery plan as

Dr. Bevan has stated in marking a program that is provided, some-
what desecrates and somewhat destroys the spiritual and the

strength of the salmon.
Handling and marking of the fish or of the species prior to their

journey down the river does pose a problem. It is unfortunate that

we do not monitor to some degree the ocean fisheries in order to

tell the impacts of those particular harvest or destruction by the

hydro systems.
And, Madam Chair, I might state that the hydro system must be

overhauled. Salmon need flows. They appear to do quite well in

high flows that occurred prior to the dams going up and we do ap-

plaud the increase fills to aid the downstream migration of the

spring and summer chinook.

No matter what anyone else tells you spill levels were not un-

precedented. Substantially higher spills occurred in the early

1980's and we saw better return ratios at that time. The hatchery
systems on the Columbia River developed ostensibly to mitigate for

the damage of salmon runs must be changed to rebuild naturally

spawning salmon runs, not just to feed certain ocean fisheries.

This means putting fish back in the habitat and restoring runs
where the damage was done. The tribal recovery plan, Madam
Chair, and there is a plan, is under internal review and will soon

be made public and we will provide further tribes' plans for res-

toration.

Our program for supplementation is consistent with the Endan-
gered Species Act. We believe NMFS' proposal and even their defi-

nition of what exactly is the species is inconsistent with the ESA.
The articles that I have provided for the record will explain how
this is possible and why the ESA concept proposed by NMFS to de-

fine species will not allow for the recovery of salmon.

The land and water habitat management system must be over-

hauled to provide for the needs of the salmon. Logging throughout
the whole watersheds must be salmon-friendly. We cannot continue



13

to allow to trample the spawning and rearing habitat in the tribu-

Water withdrawals must be limited to the amount available

above what the salmon need to thrive. The tribal recovery plan will

address these and many other areas that we believe management
should be putting in perspective.

We speak of Bonneville Power Administration's account and their

efforts in the past and we note that over $1 billion has been spent

for fish and wildlife under the regional act. There appears to be lit-

tle benefit in return for their efforts.

When we speak in these terms, we wonder exactly where those

particular efforts can be demonstrated to prove any benefit. How
does the tribal recovery plan propose to deal with harvest? We be-

lieve that once that recovery plan's potential and the proposed ac-

tions have been met, the abundance of salmon and the support of

the salmon will provide for healthy fisheries.

Madam Chair, I am prepared to answer any questions. Thank
you for this opportunity.

[Statement of Levi Holt can be found at the end of the hearing.

Ms. Unsoeld. Thank you, Mr. Holt. The next panelist is Mr.

Rollie Schmitten, Assistant Administrator for Fisheries, NOAA.
RoUie.

STATEMENT OF ROLLIE SCHMITTEN, ASSISTANT ADMINIS-

TRATOR FOR FISHERIES, NATIONAL OCEANIC AND ATMOS-
PHERIC ADMINISTRATION

Mr. Schmitten. Chairwoman Unsoeld and members of the Sub-

committee, I am Rollie Schmitten, the Assistant Administrator for

Fisheries of the National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration,

within the Department of Commerce.
I am pleased to be here this morning to discuss the recovery of

salmon stocks in the Pacific Northwest that are listed as both

threatened and endangered under the Endangered Species Act.

Foremost I would like to take this opportunity to recognize the

hard work and literally hundreds of hours of effort of the Snake
River Salmon Recovery Team. The Team has addressed many of

the difficult issues since it was formed in 1991 and I can commend
them on the recommendations that they have developed and sub-

mitted to the Fisheries Service.

I would like to make three points today. First, the Snake River

recovery plan is a part of a larger effort to conserve and rebuild

all salmon stocks. We support the efforts to address the situation

comprehensively through the development of both basin-wide and

regional plans.

For example, we are an active participant in the President's

Northwest Forest Plan, for Federal forest lands, as well as the

pacfish initiative developed by the Forest Service and the Bureau
of Land Management. Both of these are guided in part by an

aquatic conservation strategy that will protect salmon habitat. It is

through these types of ecosystem approaches that we feel the great-

est long-term benefits can be attained.

Second, given the variable biological and physical conditions in

recent years, it is necessary to adopt actions which will affect other
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users of the river to assure recovery of salmon stocks but as earlier

indicated, no single water user should carry the burden of recovery.

Consider the following; this is the seventh consecutive drought
year in the Snake River Basin and runoffs are expected to be less

than 50 percent of normal. There is little likelihood this year of

meeting the summer flows established in a Biological Opinion.
Coast-wide, the 1994 harvest of chinook salmon is 84 percent

below 1982. The Snake River spring and summer chinook run re-

turn in 1994 may be the lowest ever. Runs which averaged 20,000
fish from 1986 to 1990 are predicted to come back at 1,900 fish.

Also consider the fact that all chinook arriving at the Snake
River will be down around 200 fish, the level that led to listing this

stock. These factors and others resulted in the closure of all ocean
fishing off the State of Washington and most of Oregon, something
that I thought in my 17 years as a fisheries manager I would never
see.

In addition, both Oregon and Washington are proposing to elimi-

nate nearly all commercial fisheries in the lower Columbia River.

Third, I am convinced that the Team's recommendation plus other
information will provide us the basis for developing a plan that will

lead to the recovery of these listed species.

The procedure that we will follow is, before issuing a final plan,

publishing for public comment a proposed Agency plan including an
,

analysis, a side-by-side comparison, of what the Agency rec-

ommendations are compared to the recommended Team rec-

ommendations.
We agree with the Team's conclusion that a myriad of different

factors affect the survival of salmon and that no single solution will

lead to recovery. We also agree that the recovery plan must be
flexible. It must allow for modifications based on new scientific evi-

dence.

Further, we believe that addressing any single factor in isolation

likely will not lead to recovery. We agree with the Team that
science, I repeat science, must be the predominant consideration in

recovery planning decisions.

However, the importance placed on developing new information
does not diminish the need for making timely decisions. Using the

best available information is mandated by the Endangered Species
Act. In the face of scientific uncertainty, and considering the pre-

carious status of many of the salmon stocks that I have just out-

lined, recovery measures accompanied by careful monitoring and
evaluation should be implemented without delay and modified as

new information indicates appropriate.
The National Marine Fisheries Service has adopted recovery plan

guidelines that provide a framework for developing recovery plans
for species under the ESA. The recovery plans will be based upon
the biological requirements of the species necessary for timely re-

covery.

Let me also indicate that in those plans we must by law identify

the cost of the measures to all affected parties, develop a schedule
for implementation of each measure and identify the parties re-

sponsible for implementing them. These are elements that were not
requested of the Team in their recovery plan and we are currently
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developing that information for inclusion in the proposed and final

plan.

In conclusion, we encourage and continue to encourage as we
have for the last two and a half years all affected parties to con-

tinue to contribute to the identification and development of recov-

ery actions.

In fact, I personally believe that the participation by affected

parties, whether they be from tribes, States, the conservation com-

munity, or industry, is the most essential ingredient for recovery

of salmon stocks.

Madam Chairman, I thank you for the opportunity and I cer-

tainly look forward to addressing any questions that you and the

Committee may have.

[Statement of Rollie Schmitten can be found at the end of the

hearing.]

Ms. Unsoeld. Thank you to all the panel. Since we began my
colleague from Washington State, Maria Cantwell, has arrived, and

I wonder if you have an opening statement that you wanted to

enter at this point before we have questions.

Ms. Cantwell. Thank you. Madam Chair, I will submit that to

the record in the interest of time.

[Statement of Hon. Maria Cantwell follows:]

Statement of Hon. Maria Cantwell, a U.S. Representative from Washington

Mr. Chairman, I want to thank you for holding this hearing today on Columbia

River salmon recovery and for your interest in exploring issues affecting northwest

salmon resources. The hearing today will provide an excellent opportunity to review

past efforts on salmon recovery and to determine our future course of action.

With the Endangered Species Act listings of the Snake River sockeye, Snake River

fall and spring/summer chinook, and a number of other salmon species being peti-

tioned for listing, the future of a resource that has defined the Pacific Northwest

for centuries is uncertain. Strong, science-based action must be undertaken to ad-

dress impacts on this vital resource and to restore it to self-sustaining levels.

I am glad to have the chance today to discuss the final recommendations of the

Snake River Salmon Recovery Team, along with the recommendations from the

Northwest Power Planning Council's Strategy for Salmon and Northwest treaty

tribes. The National Marine Fishery Service (NMFS) will be reviewing the work of

the Recovery Team, and others to develop a final recovery plan by the end of the

year. We are at an important juncture.

Mr. Chairman, 3 years have passed since the Snake River sockeye were first list-

ed under the ESA, and 2 years since the chinook Ustings. Now is the time to exam-

ine carefully how we are responding to a resource in crisis. I hope today to look not

only at the contents of the various recovery recommendations, but also at the proc-

ess of how recovery plans are developed.

I look forward to hearing testimony from today's witnesses. There is significant

expertise and experience in this room, and I believe we will gain some much needed

insight on the salmon recovery process from these witnesses. Once again, Mr. Chair-

man, thank you for your work on behalf of this important Northwest issue.

Ms. Unsoeld. Thank you very much. I note that you suggested

that you will publish in the Federal Register the draft recovery

plan this fall, Rollie. One of the difficulties that I believe we have

had with the forest plan is that we had expectations things were

going to move faster than they actually did.

What are the jaws of reasonable expectation for having a recov-

ery plan in place?

Mr. Schmitten. We have stated for the last six months that our

goal, and I will state that it is simply a goal, is to have a recovery
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plan by the end of the year and we have assigned and committed

the necessary staff to do that.

Now there are without a doubt variables that can affect that.

Certainly these include new information, information provided by

the tribes and others when we go out for public comment, as well

as the fmalization of the negotiations before Judge Marsh. Should

those variables, and they very likely could, require modifying the

schedule, it could be extended for unknown periods of time, but our

goal remains the end of the year.

Ms. Unsoeld. Are there items in the Snake River Recovery's

final recommendation that concern you or that you believe NMFS
could not adopt in their final recovery plan?

Mr. SCHMITTEN. We just received the plan on the 12th, and we
started the technical analysis of all 500 pages. Let me state for the

record that certainly the Team addressed all the necessary issues

as has the regional Power Council.

Are there items at this point that we immediately would object

to? I can't identify those. There are certainly some that we would
modify and there are some that we have differed on throughout

time and those deal with the issue of flow on flow survivals.

Ms. Unsoeld. Mr. Bottiger, do you agree with Dr. Bevan that

the Snake River Salmon Recovery's final recommendation coupled

with the Northwest Power Planning Council's plan provide a truly

regional recovery strategy for salmon?
Mr. Bottiger. Yes. As Dr. Bevan has mentioned, there are areas

where there is disagreement and the reason there is disagreement

is there is adequate science to have come to two different conclu-

sions. His Recovery Team went one way, the Council went another

but we could flip flop based on the science next week.
The changes are not that big. The differences I mean are not that

big.

Ms. Unsoeld. And how would you comment on the tribal plan?

Mr. Bottiger. I haven't seen the tribal plan unless it is DEFOP.
Ms. Unsoeld. So that would require more time before you could

respond.
Mr. Bottiger. Yes, I don't believe they have released it for the

public. One other thing I would like to add; Dr. Bevan is correct

when he says that all of the Council's recovery plan is not being

implemented. That is right. But about 90 percent is and it is

Ms. Unsoeld. I want to step in to some really dangerous waters.

Hopefully, we are not going to be swept downstream here but in

your written remarks you suggest that the Council is concerned

that the salmon oversight committee proposed by the Recovery
Team would duplicate a measure in the strategy for salmon and be

too focused on the Endangered Species Act.

Would you elaborate for me what you mean by that because I

think it is a very serious issue with which we haven't totally come
to grips.

Mr. Bottiger. Dr. Bevan and I discuss this regularly and I hope
you give him a chance to tell us
Ms. Unsoeld. I may have to do it on the second round.

Mr. Bottiger. There is nobody in charge in the river and that

is correct, there is a diffused structure of control of the river from
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Bonneville Power Administration to the Corps of Engineers to

NMFS to U.S. Fish and Wildlife, to the States, to the tribes.

The solution to center all of that in the single NMFS Federal

agency is the Recovery Team solution. The Council's solution is to

force these people together. A scientific oversight group for NMFS
is the Recovery Team recommendation of 5 who would give NMFS
direction and be appointed by NMFS or I guess nominated by the

existing Recovery Team and then what authority do they have over

a Federal agency? I don't know.
We think it is too centered on the question of the Endangered

Species Act, as you mentioned, and I think you fail to realize that

there are resident fish and wildlife problems that are affected by

salmon recovery strategies.

If you drain down a reservoir and fiush the food supply of the

resident fish out now you got another partition so this thing sinks

together.

Ms. Unsoeld. My time has run out but I will come back to the

other panel members in the second round to pose some more ques-

tions. Now my colleague from Oregon.

Ms. FURSE. Thank you. Madam Chair. Dr. Bevan, the governor

of Oregon, Barbara Roberts, wanted to be here but was unable to

and submitted testimony instead. I have a question I would like to

ask on her behalf because it is something that concerns me as well.

She says, and I quote, "I am deeply concerned that the Team's

recommendation identifies virtually no specific actions other than

the unproven strategy of massive barging to be taken in the near

term to avoid loss of these critically depressed salmon populations."

Now her comments seem to contradict your own testimony which

talks of the need to expeditiously get on with the job and not delay

because of agencies, institutions and individuals without clear sci-

entific direction arguing over what needs to be done. I quote from

your testimony.
How do you reconcile your comments with the Governor's obser-

vations and do you think that the recovery actions that the Team
has proposed will take place soon enough to be of use? It is a criti-

cal timeframe that she is speaking of.

Mr. Bevan. I guess I can only reply that I have to agree with

the Governor's comments. I think that those who think that this

plan is status quo simply have misunderstood the details of the

plan.

We have many, many immediate changes, changes in operation

of the dams, changes in structure of the dams, changes in harvest

that are considerable based on what has been going on in the last

few years.

As far as recommendations on habitat, we have run into situa-

tions where things are going on that strictly are against Oregon
State law or Idaho State law or Washington State law and those

things can be fixed immediately and should be.

On the habitat question. Congressman Crapo said earlier that

habitat is important in Idaho and we need to do something about

it. They have lots of habitat without any fish and on the other

hand you see people in the upper river last year when the water
was low using salmon gravel with bulldozers to berm up diversions
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to make sure that they could get their water when the suppHes
were very low.

So I am sorry to say I don't agree with the Governor. I think that

we have a plan that is definitely not the status quo. We may not
know exactly what is going to work and what isn't and it is our
view that we can't wait for any better science.

We have got to go ahead with what science we have now and de-

velop new science as we go along and I think in some respects

there is time to do that with major issues. When you plan moving
concrete in the river that takes time, it takes appropriations and
we have got time to gather better information.

Next year may be the last year that we have large numbers of

wild fish going down the Columbia River for a few years to come
and we simply have to take advantage of next year to gather the
kind of information to settle some of these differences of opinion.

Ms. FuRSE. Madam Chair, if I may. Mr. Holt, you mentioned that
the Bonneville Power Administration has already spent $1 billion

on fish and wildlife recovery. In your view, how will the tribal res-

toration plan differ from the Power Council and the BPA efforts?

How will your plan be more effective than those other plans?
Mr. Holt. The tribal recovery plan plans on revisiting some of

the tributary restoration strategies that have initially been sought
after and in fact in 1981 the tribes proposed a tributary restoration,

strategy.

At that time we were met, of course, by opposition by BPA who
put restrictions on our program. BPA had focused at that time
more in the planning and research rather than the implementation.
BPA's focus, in fact, on planning rather than action caused the

region to waste valuable time as well as money and we cite now
today that in fact we must hurry and visit and discover and verify

and to qualify new science but we believe, in fact, that those strate-

gies, those sub-basis plannings of some 31 sub-basins in the Colum-
bia that are sited under the tribal restoration plan will provide for

a comprehensive approach.
Plans will be aimed at implementing the rights that our treaties

have preserved and we feel already that much science and study
has already been done well beyond the means and the time that
we have available to us.

Ms. FuRSE. Thank you. If I may ask Mr. Schmitten just one
question. Judge Marsh recently invalidated the jeopardy standards.
The Federal, State and tribal agencies have jointly filed a schedule
and process for establishing new jeopardy standards.

Will NMFS' recovery plan reflect those new jeopardy standards
that results from this process?
Mr. Schmitten. You are correct that Judge Marsh has indicated

the assumptions and the opinion need to be reevaluated. Included
in that are both the base period; the differences are distinction be-

tween recovery, survival, life cycle, modeling and jeopardy, all of

which are technical issues that we do hope to resolve with the com-
munity and would be a part of our recovery plan.
Ms. FuRSE. Thank you. Thank you, Madam Chair.
Ms. Unsoeld. The other gentlewoman from Washington is recog-

nized.
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Ms. Cantwell. Thank you, Madam Chair, for recognizing me
and for holding this hearing today. I applaud your leadership in

this issue and working here with my colleagues to really try to re-

solve some of the very tough issues relating to this issue.

It is interesting because some of our same panelists appeared out

in Portland almost a year ago when Congresswoman Furse and

Congresswoman Unsoeld encouraged the chairman to hold a hear-

ing on this very same issue, and while I think that we have made
some progress in dialog and coordination, I think that the problem

has grown much more complicated and larger as we have gotten

more organized.
Anyway I would like to direct my questions to Dr. Bevan and

perhaps get Mr. Bottiger to continue to elaborate on his testimony.

Really my questions come as your recommendations from the Re-

covery Team on this salmon oversight committee that would be

within NMFS.
As I read it, you are making several recommendations but the

Team would be an independent five-member oversight committee

and be formed to fill critical decisionmaking void that we are all

talking about here.

As I read your recommendations they would be working with all

interested parties to ensure conformance with goals and objectives

of the recovery plan to make certain that relevant permits and bio-

logical opinions issued by NMFS are consistent and to resolve juris-

dictional disputes, provide oversight for recovery plan implementa-

tion and advise the National Marine Services when changes are re-

quired in the recovery plan and then coordinate the scientific

subgroups.
Dr. Bevan, is this oversight committee making this recommenda-

tion with real teeth, i.e., are we making a recommendation that

this committee in coordination with NMFS have the real power--
I mean when you start talking about relevant permits and biologi-

cal opinions and conformance with goals and objectives I guess I

am coming from my State experience of two and a half years in de-

signing the Growth Management Act and the hearings board proc-

ess and exactly how you put teeth into a planning process.

Are we describing this with real intent for this committee to have

teeth or are we talking about just a coordinated advisory role and
new leg or arm within NMFS?
Mr. Bevan. I think my answer to that is that we think the teeth

and the power of these decisions ought to rest with the Federal

agency, the National Marine Fisheries Service. And I don't know
a kinder way to say this, the Team views that National Marine
Fisheries Service needs some independent advice in making those

decisions.

This would be an advisory committee, not a committee making
decisions. It would try to use some of the existing committees that

are in existence. As an example of how things might work, I think

I can use the recent what I might call ruckus on the river as to

what is the importance of gas bubble disease, nitrogen super-satu-

ration.

There is vast disagreement on that question from a number of

different agencies, both Federal, State and tribal and the National
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Marine Fisheries Service gathered a group of experts from around

the country on gas bubble disease.

They met last week and it is my understanding that they will be

issuing a report; maybe it was issued yesterday or today, on the

impacts and the risk in the Columbia River to gas bubble disease.

We would look upon that as a kind of subcommittee that the

salmon oversight committee would use in order to give NMFS inde-

pendent advice. We think that the system has broken down over

the years where there is too much argument among agencies with-

out critical evaluation by experts on the science that ought to be

used to make the decision.

We are simply saying we ought to use science, we need a science-

based group to give NMFS advice but NMFS is going to be the de-

cisionmaking body in our view.

Ms. Cantwell. So you would see this oversight committee in an
independent advisory role but what would happen then if the over-

sight committee gave an advisory opinion that NMFS might dis-

agree with—I would just like to be clear, are we talking about advi-

sory or are we talking about de facto?

We want the process to work and I am one that believes that we
definitely need more coordination and more specification.

Mr. Bevan. I see it as advisory but on the other hand I see a

committee with enough stature in the community, with enough re-_

spect in the region that if NMFS doesn't want to take their advice,

that group such as this one will recognize those differences and in

the long run we have got to have a body of people that are expert,

that, as I say, have the respect.

I look upon this committee as being former judges, former gov-

ernors, scientifically based in large respect but one that has the re-

spect of the region and the NMFS I think will be unlikely not to

take their advice but they certainly have no power, in our view.

We don't see how you can set up a structure of that kind without
changes in the law.

Ms. Cantwell. Thank you. Madam Chair. I would love to ex-

plore this further but my time has expired and perhaps on the next
round or perhaps you will get to Mr. Bottiger before I will.

Ms. Unsoeld. Thank you. I join in the welcome that Chairman
Studds gave to my colleague from Washington State. Although I

have not had the pleasure, it might not be pleasure, but I have not

had the opportunity to be in a fishing boat with him.
I know that he comes to this issue from not the theoretical but

from the real experience. Mr. Dicks.

Mr. Dicks. From the sports and recreational and actually from
the benefit of having been on a purse-seiner for two years working
my way through law school.

I just want to commend our chairman and the members here for

this hearing and I want to commend all the members of our panel

for the excellent testimony. I just wish you had more time to be

able to go into more detail.

I will ask this of the panel. One of the major conflicts has been
the question of barge transportation, taking these fish down by
barges versus I guess additional flows or spills, whatever draw
downs in the river system.
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What are the pros and cons of this and why is this such a dif-

ficult issue between the parties out there? Could you go through

that for me? Maybe, Don, you could start and then, Ted, whoever

else wants to comment.
Mr. Bevan. Mr. Dicks, it is difficult for me to see why it is a dif-

ficult issue. If we look at the science and the science is not perfect,

it indicates that barging at the present time is better than the con-

ditions in the river.

Mr. Dicks. And the way you do it is you gather the fish and then

you take them down on a barge, then release them?

Mr. Bevan. Now does the Team look upon barging as a long-term

solution? No, we don't. We think that as soon as you can improve

conditions in the river so that they are at least equal to barging,

there is no need to do barging but they definitely are not at the

present time.

Mr. Dicks. What do you have to do in the river? What are some

of the things you would be describing that need to be done?

Mr. Bevan. The main thing in the river I think is spill and flow

augmentation but carefully done and carefully understood. Spill,

there is no question, that is the best way through a dam. It is even

better than barging around a single dam but once you spill over a

dam you put those fish back in the reservoir and experience and

measurement tells us right now that that is a very dangerous place

to have fish.

I look upon transportation a little like I would having a loved one

in the hospital hooked up to an IV system. It is critical care and

it is not something that you want to do permanently. You want to

get your loved ones home but you don't accomplish that by going

to the hospital and shutting off the switches.

Transportation in the short term simply is a safer way until we
prove that it is not, and the evidence is that it is safer, then we
should keep that as a major recovery tool. Again, I wouldn't want
to do 100 percent of anything. I wouldn't want to have 100 percent

of fish in barges during bad conditions like we have this year.

I wouldn't want to have 100 percent of the fish in the river dur-

ing good flow conditions. I would want to be able to measure both

and know what is happening. We haven't been doing that.

Mr. BOTTIGER. If I could explain it this way, I don't think I dis-

agree with anything Dr. Bevan said. Barging in low water years is

better than leaving the fish in the river. In good water years it is

probably better to discontinue the barging.

That is current practice. That is what we do now. But something

happens in barges and none of us know why. If we protect them
from all the predation, if we protect them from the turbines, if we
protect them from everything else, the warm water while they are

in a barge, why don't more come back than currently do?

We are seeing two-to-one benefits barging over in river in a low

water year but you would think there would be 10 or 20 times

more barge fish come back and they don't so something is happen-

ing. It may be overcrowding, it may be disease spreading. There is

something going on in the barges that needs fixing.

Mr. Dicks. Ajid we don't really have the scientific information to

know what that is, Dr. Bevan?
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Mr. Bevan. We have the abiHty to get it. The almost crime is

that we are not doing it. This year, for example, we have no pit

tags in barges and yet we have got a tremendous
Mr. Dicks. Who runs the barges, the Corps of Engineers?
Mr. Bevan. The Corps of Engineers runs the barges. We are

suggesting
Mr. Dicks. And they have simply not done the scientific monitor-

ing and assessment over the years to give us this information?
Mr. Bevan. Well, I am not sure that the Corps by itself should

be the ones responsible for carrying on that scientific measure-
ment.
Mr. Dicks. This is what bothers me. When everybody is respon-

sible, nobody is responsible. This is what bothers me about this

whole thing and that is why I might take a little exception with
my good friend, Ted Bottiger, with this idea that we can let every-

body run the river.

I don't think it will work. I think we are so far in trouble now
that we got to have some strong central authority and then let ev-

erybody participate in an open process in trying to come to a con-

clusion, but somebody has to make a decision and there has to be
scientific monitoring and assessment done that has never been
done over the history of this.

And I ask people, well, who is in charge? Well, Oregon Fisheries
used to do it or Washington Fisheries used to do it. I mean the bot-

tom line is we have run this thing without the benefit of science

and I remember getting involved in this problem when I was on the
staff of Senator Magnuson back in 1970.

We tried to do a lot of these things. We started the screening of

the turbines and blips-blips, barging, all that stuff started in that
timeframe but nobody did the assessment, the monitoring to give
us an understanding of what worked and what didn't work.
And so somebody has to be in charge here. I think if Congress

has to come to grips with this somehow we have got to get some
lines of authority. I certainly want the Power Council to be in-

volved. They have done a great job, they have a good strategy but
we need to have someone who is going to put together a budget
who can get the agencies to work together and marshall the forces

here.

I think if we let this thing drift along we are never going to get
an answer. I will just throw that out for comment.
Mr. Holt. If I may revisit the original question. In tribes' mind,

the barging obviously is not the answer. The results and the mor-
tality on the species is yet to be understood. Our frustration in that
regard is the lack of an ability or the obstruction or hindrance of

allowing the tribes to understand the cause of the mortality.

We do agree that when conditions provide flow and spill the aug-
mentation of such should be provided.

Mr. Dicks. Well, what do you do about nitrogen, super-satura-
tion, so-called gas bubble disease?
Ms. Unsoeld. The gentleman will get an additional round. We

will allow him to answer that question and then we will make an-
other cycle.

Mr. Holt. And I will get to that. It is the frustration again that
the Corps in operation of the barging somewhat is providing a
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cover, if you will, for the mortality problems and we do understand

that in Dr. Bevan's mind if a patient, for instance, is hooked to an

IV that may be the best solution for providing protection and the

best care but unfortunately we know even those systems are flawed

and again the barging needs to be studied, it needs to be verified

for mortality.

And as far as those particular conditions on nitrogen and the

other saturations, we too have problems and we do have concerns

that this saturation as stated is not exactly as high as being pro-

vided for by other agencies.

Ms. Unsoeld. Thank you, and we will have a second round.

Rollie, it is clear that good people have difference of views on some

of these issues and probably part of the reason for that is the

dearth of data.

What are your plans, research plans, to fill in all of that missing

information so that we can make the decisions that are based on

a little more than our gut feeling?

Mr. SCHMITTEN. I can think of three areas in which the Agency

needs to begin, and has begun, additional studies.

One, we have been relying on studies of survival in the years

1981 through 1993. Last year was the first year since 1981 that

contemporary science has been used to analyze the relationship be-

tween survival and flow rate.

The other issue is transportation. It seems that if the community
at large is going to rely on transportation at least for an interim

period of time we should examine how to improve that system. I

mean that is again a scientific matter, and I think there is agree-

ment even in the Columbia Basin Fish and Wildlife Association,

which represents States and tribes at certain levels, that transpor-

tation is allowable.

The third area is an area that my Agency has attempted, and
really we have a need to get out in front of, and that is both ocean

survival conditions and estuarine conditions. In these last two

years we have seen a tremendous decrease in our fishery stocks

and where we have tracked carefully through the river systems

somewhere we are losing these fish. We happen to believe that

with Congress' help we have gotten on top of the high-seas drift net

interception so something is occurring scientifically that we have to

find out.

I guess I will add a fourth point—the most significant thing af
fecting salmon stocks today: if we lose our salmon, it will be be-

cause we have not done something about habitat. It is the single

most important element that faces fish and when you get outside

of the confines of the Columbia system and the effects of hydro-

power it is a habitat issue.

Ms. Unsoeld. Dr. Bevan, you have expressed dismay in the past

as you got into your job of coming up with a recovery plan at the

lack of data. Are there additional areas from what Rollie mentioned

that you discovered were totally lacking in our understanding of

the situation as you came into the job?

Mr. Bevan. Yes, Ms. Unsoeld. Let me just give you just a couple

of examples. One is a common data system. In 1985 when we nego-

tiated the U.S.-Canada treaty, both parties agreed to set up a

coastwide salmon data system. That has not yet been done.
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Ms. Unsoeld. In 1983?
Mr. Bevan. 1985.

Ms. Unsoeld. 1985.

Mr. Bevan. Yes. That is relatively inexpensive. I receive a foot

of faxes almost in a month these days on Columbia River data. I

can't analyze that unless I enter into my computer bit by bit. That
could be put on an electronic network available through Internet

for almost the cost of sending out the faxes.

We are in a modern world where we need to have public deci-

sions be based on public data so that an informed public can under-

stand the reasons for the decisions. That is very difficult to do

today.
Another example of the need for information. Much has been said

of flushing the fish to the river. My good friend and colleague, Pro-

fessor Percy, of Oregon State spent a lot of time on the ocean a dec-

ade ago and so did my colleague, Alan C. Hart.

They developed quite a bit of information on where the salmon
were in the North Pacific, how they went out through the plume
of the Columbia and where are Professor Percy and Mr. Hart
today? They are not out there working anymore. And what is

worse, nobody else is.

We have really taken our focus away from the river. That is so

important. Professor Percy has a hypothesis. It is not important to

flush the fish down the river, what is important is to flush them
from the estuary out into the ocean through a band of very dan-

gerous conditions.

Is he right? I don't know, although I suspect he has some evi-

dence that indicates to me that he may be, but the important ques-

tion is he has posed a hypothesis. We contest it. We can go out and
measure whether that is an important part of the life cycle and see

what happens when you speed up fish going through the initial

parts of the ocean.
Ms. Unsoeld. Ted, my time is running out but do you want to

add anything about studies, data that need to be gathered?
Mr. Bottiger. Well, there are two problems. One is, you have a

whole series of conflicting scientific opinion and the stack of—

I

mean it is almost easier to weigh it than it is read it and it comes
in pretty even, so what is a policymaker supposed to do in a deci-

sion like that?

That is where both the Council and the Recovery Team agree
there has got to be a Scientific Oversight Committee that directs

the study, the hypothesis the doctor mentioned. We have two under
consideration now. One is transportation and one is the benefit of

flows.

Directing that science to solve these questions is, I think, awfully

important.
Mr. Dicks. Would you elaborate on that point?

Ms. Unsoeld. Well, my time is up. If the gentlewoman from Or-

egon will delay taking her set of questions we will let you pursue
that one just as a follow-up.

Mr. Dicks. As I understand it, we asked Bonneville to fund a cer-

tain amount of work on the system. Have we asked that this kind
of science be funded?

Mr. Bottiger. Yes.
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Mr. Dicks. And they have simply not done it?

Mr. BOTTIGER. It is one of the things that is not done in the im-

plementation of the Council's program. We asked Bonneville to set

up a scientific review group. On page 10 and 11 I discussed Dr.

Bevan's point and it is done here.

We agree such a group should be formed. It is the control and
the function but getting the science—you put 10 of these guys in

a room and you get 15 opinions. You put seven in a room and you

get 10 opinions.

Mr. Bevan. If I might add to that, Mr. Dicks, it depends on the

10 people you put in the room. We put 10 people in a room last

week on gas bubble disease, people from Inter-Tribe, people from

Federal agencies, people from around the country, and they got

through with a day's worth of work and they had no disagreement

and there was no minority report.

I think that is possible. Our Recovery Team worked for two and
a half years. We never took a vote. We had, as some in the diplo-

matic language say, spirited discussions but we always were able

to agree on what the science told us.

Ms. Unsoeld. Thank you. Ms. Furse.

Ms. FuRSE. Thank you, Madam Chairman. It is my understand-

ing, Mr. Holt, that tribes co-manage the Columbia River under a

treaty and law with the United States and Oregon and Washing-
ton. Could you tell me whether you believe as the vice-chairman of

the Inter-Tribal Fish Commission whether you believe the tribes'

views were incorporated and there was adequate consultation in

the development of the Recovery Team Plan?
Mr. Holt. Thank you. It is the feeling and the view of the com-

mission that the consultation, if you will, had not been met and we
believe that that is a direct right under the sovereignty of a nation,

particularly the tribes.

We have felt that we have been excluded in that process which
has somewhat prompted the tribes to develop their own restoration

plan. Some areas of our direction and recommendation under our

plan are similar to the Recovery Team's effort and I think some of

the areas such as habitat and the upgrading and the restrictions

and moratoriums, etc., are mirrored to some degree.

But to be quite direct, no, and quite honest we believe we have
been excluded and we would like that opportunity to again take the

time to review the Recovery Team's plan as well as they are most
eager, I am sure, to get a hold of the Tribal Restoration Plan.

We think that any direct consultation that we should be guaran-
teed has not been upheld.
Ms. Furse. Thank you. RoUie, do you see that as a future direc-

tion, you will be looking to consult and
Mr. SCHMITTEN. Absolutely. In fact, as I outlined the process of

putting the recovery plan out, it will go out for public comment. We
don't necessarily have to do that, nor is it normally done that way.
In fact, we have conducted this entire process through probably the

most open process ever used in conducting an ESA listing.

It has even served as a prototype for the Secretaries of Com-
merce and Interior to indicate that they want more of this open-

ness. We have set up technical review committees in which the
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tribes and States served on to advise us, we set up economic review

committees, again the same groups.

I think the difficulty though, and someone has raised this, has

been when it comes down to section 7, which is by law a Federal

responsibility, and I have suggested ways of even opening that up
further. We need community involvement.

Ms. FURSE. And the Federal relationship to the tribes will be

part of that. I would like to ask Dr. Bevan one question. The Fish

and Wildlife Service commissioned a Team to review the govern-

ment's salmon transportation program and they have just pub-

lished this report. It was released in May.
The first sentence in the conclusion section reads, "As presently

conceived and implemented, transportation is unlikely to halt or

prevent continued decline and extirpation of listed species of salm-

on in the Snake River Basin."

That seems to contradict your views on barging. Could you com-

ment on those apparent
Mr. Bevan. Surely. First, I don't think it contradicts our views.

I think v/e agree with Dr. Mundy on that statement. We don't

think that there is any measure that will by itself recover these

salmon and we have to look at the wide range of different things

in the life history.

I have very carefully read Dr. Mundy's report. I have to say that

I didn't really understand what that report was about until I got

back to the conclusion on page 120 and I don't think the executive

summary does a very good job of summarizing his conclusions.

I think that he and I would agree that there is no major dif-

ference between what the Team is saying and I think Dr. Mundy,
and he should speak for himself, I think Dr. Mundy thinks that

this recovery plan is a legitimate platform for recovery. I don't

think there is any disagreement there.

The fact that no one method is going to recover, I think we are

all in agreement on that. He does say back in his conclusions, I

think about page 120, that transportation will improve survival or

can be expected to improve survival, particularly during low water
years.

Ms. FuRSE. Thank your-

Ms. Unsoeld. The gentlewoman from Washington. All right, we
will go to Mr. Dicks.

Mr. Dicks. Let me ask you this. Ted, you said that certain parts

of your plan have not been fully implemented. From a congres-

sional perspective and as someone who is visiting here today but

serves on the Appropriations Committee and what I would like to

hear is what are the two or three or four things that Congress
needs to do in terms of resources to deal with some of the critical

problems—I think not funding adequate science is clearly one.

What are the other two or three things that we might be able

to do in the near term to help with this implementation of the com-
bined strategy here on the consensus items?

Mr. BOTTIGER. Congressman Dicks, the Congress has done an ex-

cellent job of funding and I have to tell you that I am more than
pleased with the reaction and the ability to get your ear and other's

ears and get budget language in.
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We read some budget language in the agricultural appropriations

committee that was very satisfying so it is not in Congress. It is

in the ability of Bonneville to forecast revenues far enough ahead

in order for us to do some long-term budget process and when Bon-

neville gets in a financial squeeze like any other agency they start

pulling down.
And we caught them in a declining revenue situation when we

were increasing fish and wildlife budget so if you remember about

a year ago there was a little flap and looking back now it was min-

uscule, it was about $5 million that Bonneville had cut out of a fish

and wildlife budget of about $80 million.

And there was a big flap about it and candidly Congress told us

to back off and that is the approximate amount of money that is

not now being funded.

Mr. Dicks. Don, do you have any suggestions?

Mr. Bevan. Well, Mr. Dicks, I think Congress can certainly have

a role in seeing that we start to move ahead expeditiously with re-

covery. That is not something that Congress writes into law but let

me use an example of something I think was very well done by the

Power Council back in the 1980's when Senator Evans was chair-

man of the Power Council.

They put together this idea of a water budget and they put to-

gether an excellent plan to evaluate that. This was in the early

1980's. We haven't done that yet. I think that your oversight in

what kind of science needs to be done, what needs to be done with

regard to a regional getting together on moving ahead; that is a po-

litical question, not a scientific question.

I guess I feel as a scientist, what we have tried to do here in the

plan is not going to succeed unless there is a political will in the

region to accomplish that and you, ladies and gentlemen, have the

ability along with the Northwest Power Planning Council, and we
think in our plan they have a great place to try to bring this politi-

cal consensus together.

Let us stop fighting about how best to do it, let us get on with

it and try to as carefully as we can, lay out what our differences

are and then go find out why we have those differences and that

is where science can take a part.

Mr. Dicks. Rollie, if you could just tell me where you think the

funding gaps are. I mean you got the ESA responsibiUty and they

are trying to make you guys the salmon czar. We have spent a lot

of money on the timber recovery issue but what about the salmon

issue and where is the plan, where is the strategy, where is the

beef as Walter Mondale used to say? Where is the beef here?

Mr. SCHMITTEN. In this case, where are the fish?

Mr. Dicks. Yes. I am talking about the resources to save the fish.

Mr. SCHMITTEN. Yes. Let me indicate my Agency has really

played a catch-up role. Think back only three years ago we were

never at the table with the Forest Service, we were never at the

table with the Bureau, only until the President brought forward

the Forest Plan have we been a full participant and at the table

representing fish needs.

And to do that, to play catch-up and to really be an activist in

the ESA game, we have had to come forward with Congress' help;

we are hiring 29 people. We want to get ahead of ESA, we want
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to stop this after-the-fact-type process that we are in and begin to

proactively work with the industry and the conservationists to

avoid Hstings.

Where do we think the funding should go? Continued funding for

fish and wildhfe and ESA needs throughout the Nation but in par-

ticular in the Columbia basin, Northwest and in National Marine
Fisheries Service, so we can play at that table.

I have indicated the scientific areas, two places that we have to

finish so we should do a hatchery study, we have looked at trans-

portation now, we have looked at gas bubble. We are looking at

survival fiows. I think we should do the hatchery study. Let us
make sure we know what we are doing in our hatcheries. And then
available water studies. We need to know where is the water before

we continue to dictate the terms—basically fish need water and
how much there is available we have no idea.

Ms. Unsoeld. The gentlewoman from Washington now.
Ms. Cantwell. Thank you, Madam Chair. I understand, Mr.

Bottiger, they didn't drill you too much while I was gone so I will

get back to my original question dealing with the recommendation
on the oversight committee and some of those responsibilities.

I see in your testimony here that basically you urged Bonneville
to establish a central coordinating form for implementation of an
overall strategy and I guess my questions are the same. If we are
really talking about teeth which I personally think that we have
to have or else you are still in the least common denominator or
group rule kind of decisionmaking, if we are really talking about
these issues of making certain that relevant permits and biological

opinions and conformance with goals and objectives, I mean we are
talking about really meeting the agenda, are you saying that the
salmon oversight committee recommendations are not workable or
are you saying that the central coordinating form for implementing
the strategy would do very similar things?
Mr. Bottiger. If I can ask you to go with me through the proce-

dure. Are we going to pass a Federal law that says that the agen-
cies and tribes are no longer the manager of this resource, the Fed-
eral Government is, and the Federal Government will tell Bonne-
ville when to release water, the Federal Government will decide
not to issue any more water withdrawal permits for irrigation. Is

this who is in charge of the river because those are the issues.

Now if you are not going to pass the statute, then the only way
you can get there is the Endangered Species Act. You need a listed

species.

Ms. Cantwell. I guess the first question is, do you hold that
these things have to be done in a decisionmaking process? It could
be a succession and obviously we did a bottom-up planning process
and not a top-down when it came to State land-use plans.

It is interesting both Oregon and Washington have pursued that.

We do not have some case history here and complicated agencies
working together on strategic plans so are you saying that you
don't think that critical function has to be in a successful salmon
recovery process, that kind of decisionmaking, are you saying we
can still do it by this consensus process?
Mr. Bottiger. Well, first of all, it is not consensus. The Council

votes and it takes six votes, six out of eight votes, to adopt a Coun-
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cil rule. There are some exceptions to that but generally it is not

a consensus process.

Once the Council adopts a plan the current Federal law says the

administrator shall use the Bonneville fund to fund the plan. Now
that is a political conflict built between the ratepayers and the fish

and wildlife interest as to how much Bonneville is going to fund be-

cause it is ratepayer money.
That does occur and it is political and Dr. Bevan is right when

he says that that is a political process, kind of like Congress or the

State legislature. Now the other point, if I can, if you are in a listed

species, we have got an endangered species listing, then NMFS
through its Section 7 and Section 10 authority has a lot of power.

You cannot take a fish or harass or endanger or anything else

without going to Rollie and getting a piece of paper that says you

can do it so he has got a lot of power once there is a listing. I am
trying to avoid a listing. I am trying to come up with a procedure

that never gets there.

Ms. Cantvvell. So what would the central coordinating form for

implementation of the overall strategy be charged with?

Mr. BOTTIGER. The Council would adopt the program, the strat-

egy, Bonneville would fund it and when Bonneville funds it, it con-

tracts with others. It contracts with States, with tribes, with the

Corps, with the Bureau to perform certain studies. And with Bon-

neville's financial condition, they are having difficulty doing that

without major rate impacts.

Ms. Cantwell. And this form would be—I mean would that be

a group representation similar to who is here today?

Mr. BOTTIGER. I am not following you some place. There is an

independent Scientific Review Team to direct the research and this

Team would do—both Dr. Bevan's Team and the Council's rec-

ommendation would do the same thing and so I point out we agree

with them that that needs doing. We need to coordinate this re-

search instead of every agency going off on their own creating all

these conflicting results that I talked about.

Ms. Cantwell. But if we said that that oversight committee was
within NMFS and dealt with—just say for discussion sake here

—

just an advisory role on things like conformance with goals and ob-

jectives and ascertain that relevant permits and biological opinions

issued by NMFS are consistent with recovery plans, is that some-

thing that you would agree to or disagree with or

Mr. BOTTIGER. NMFS subject to NAFTA can appoint any advi-

sory committee it wants. I don't have any objection or problem with

that. I see now you are talking about Dr. Bevan's group. Political

pressure, if you pick the right people who use the press and other

ways to put political pressure on NMFS making the right decision,

is an effective way to do things so we have all done that before.

Mr. Bevan. Ms. Cantwell, if I may add, the Team is charged

under the Endangered Species Act with putting together a salmon
recovery plan. The Team feels very strongly that the Endangered
Species Act gets in too late and gets out too early. Simply delisting

a species that is now capable of maintaining itself without provid-

ing harvest, both sport and commercial, is not a satisfactory solu-

tion.

83-191 0-94-2
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We believe that that abrogates our treaties with the tribes, that

we are trying to produce fish for commercial use here over and

above what we are doing with ESA. Let me give an example of

where we think the system breaks down and you need to have

some independent group.

About a month or two ago the Northwest Power Planning Coun-

cil gathered all the various agencies' scientists together to discuss

flow and survival, a critical issue with a great deal of uncertainty

and a great deal of controversy.

Those people arrived in the room, some of them refused to show

the data that they had on the subject, some of them would not even

discuss the issue at the meeting.

We simply have to stop things of that kind and be able to have

someone else take a look independently and say, all right, you have

done your best to put things together, we respect that, but if you

failed, we have to move ahead.

We can't use the failure of reaching a consensus as an agreement

that we are going to stalemate and not move ahead.

Ms. Cantwell. Thank you. Believe it or not—but you would say

that process has teeth moving ahead somehow after you had all the

discussion and then moving ahead. You have to have a process of

deciding then that you are moving ahead.

Mr. Bevan. I think that is absolutely correct. And I see much in

the present system of not being able to reach that kind of conclu-

sion.

Ms. Cantwell. My time is expired. Madam Chair, but if you

would like the other panelists

Ms. Unsoeld. I think Mr. Holt seemed to be indicating he want-

ed to comment on that.

Mr. Holt. Just one fact. Madam Chair, and it is true, we believe

that NMFS needs to take an active role in areas such as habitat

and others. Our fear is of course that when BPA approaches the

particular science in the new arena of biology that we will begin

to again duplicate and replicate the past of studying the creature

to death.
And that is a strong contention that the tribes have and we be-

lieve the Pacific salmon treaties, chinook rebuilding program, the

Columbia River Fish Management Plan, have adequate and strong

direction and recommendation that should be considered.

And certainly when we think of endangered species and the ESA
itself, the teeth of that particular act need to be revisited by Con-

gress. We find it rather ironic when the tribes under the new Re-

covery Team's plan focuses on tribal harvest as elimination of

usual and accustomed fishing sites.

When the hydro system is given a no jeopardy, we find that this

is rather confusing and amazing that such fine minds throughout

the Nation would provide for a direction without actually research-

ing and revisiting some of the past actions and document science

and biology that exists. Thank you.

Ms. Cantwell. Thank you. If I could just add. Madam Chair, I

don't want to underemphasize how much I realize that the North-

west Power Planning Council and the Recovery Team and the

Inter-Tribal Commission have done so far on this issue. Work has

been tremendous. We appreciate you getting us this far. We will
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look forward to your leadership in helping to resolve, to the best

of our abilities, a very intense crisis for us in the Northwest.

Ms. Unsoeld. Let me get a sense of my Committee. Elizabeth,

do you have additional questions that you are going to want to ask?

Maria, do you have others? Then I know there will be some written

ones but there are a couple of things that I would like to pursue
with the panel. No, you are not quite through.

I would like to ask Rollie about how you incorporate, how you
really incorporate the peer review results into your fmal product

and does the Federal Advisory Committee Act get in the way? Let

me pose that to you and then I will pick up the other issue I want-
ed to address.
Mr. SCHMITTEN. We certainly will incorporate peer review infor-

mation, and on these scientific areas of uncertainty we have asked
for that. Specifically, we have financed the peer review of the

transportation. We have called for the peer review of gas bubble.

I would like to see a similar thing done with hatcheries and—yes

—

they will be a part.

The beauty of what you might call a living recovery plan is that

you gain more science. It is flexible enough to allow change. For
any of us to think that what either the plan puts out or even what
the Fisheries Service puts out is the end of this is certainly a mis-

conception because there will be changes.
The Federal Advisory Committee Act, I really need to respond le-

gally to you. I am told that it is a hindrance in getting full advice.

Normally that is why we work through FOEC—the Fish Oper-
ations Executive Committee—to the Power Council but as far as di-

rect advice or forming advisory bodies we are prohibited through
FACA.
Ms. Unsoeld. I would appreciate additional response on that

from the agency because I think it is something that we need to

address to permit you to do the job the way I believe that Congress
anticipated that it really should be and we don't want one reform
to get in the way of the other.

The additional area that I would like this panel to explore and
we have touched on it but in my view it is so necessary to look at

the big picture in how we address this issue and I started with Ted
to ask about whether the Endangered Species Act is a help or a

hindrance in trying to get there, does it narrow the focus too much?
The Endangered Species Act is a wonderful club but I liked what

you said, Don, that it comes in too late and goes out too early. It

should be a last resort that we should not have to bring in to play.

Once it has, is it going to prevent us looking at the whole eco-

system approach to this issue? Any of you might want to answer
that. The other thing that I would like you all to address is, what
do you believe the future role of hatcheries in the overall picture

of perhaps quantity, if not quality, is going to be?
Mr. BOTTIGER. Do you want me to start?

Ms. Unsoeld. Sure.
Mr. BOTTIGER. If your first half of that question was what

amendments to the Endangered Species Act
Ms. Unsoeld. Not that specific—I was not going to put you on

the spot.
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Mr. BOTTIGER. Single species problem, what do you do when
what you do for one animal hurts another? And we have a lot of

that in the region. The other problem we have is, how long does

it take a hatchery-induced run to become a natural run or a wild

run, if ever?
Because as we change the river, we have changed the fisheries'

makeup, and so we can have harm to a thriving fishery but it may
not be protectable because it is not "wild."

The other half of your question—I am sorry, you are going to

have to help me—oh, the hatcheries.

Ms. Unsoeld. The hatcheries.

Mr. BOTTIGER. We would very much like to get started on
supplementation. As these runs drop there is going to be a time
when you either declare them extinct or you intervene. With the

sockeye we waited till we got down to eight fish.

We are now down in the 600 figure in spring chinook. At some
point we start intervening or just let them go and the Nez Perce
has a supplementation proposal for the upper Snake River that we
think ought to be approved but it is an endangered species and
Rollie is going to have to get us a second permit.

Other than that, hatcheries have been kind of a sop for the

squeaking wheel. If somebody complained enough you gave them a

hatchery. We probably got too many. We may have a river that

doesn't have the capacity to take 25 million juvenile fish all at

once. We may not have the food supply.

Ms. Unsoeld. Would someone else like to—yes, Mr. Holt.

Mr. Holt. Thank you, Madam Chair. Regarding the ESA, we be-

lieve that currently the ESA is somewhat the law of the land. In

many ways the tribes have been friendly to the ESA. Of course,

harvest has been an issue that has been put upon the tribes under
that act and we felt that, of course, as Madam Chair had men-
tioned ecosystem management in its approach, the concept itself is

of origin in the sense of the tribes have always been ecosystem
managers.
However, we feel that the approach that NMFS and others use

in regards to managing the stocks should be that all stocks are

managed equally and not just those that are threatened or poten-

tially listed, and I think that complements and supports the eco-

system approach of the current Administration.
And as far as the future role of hatcheries, we feel that there is

some substance there. Of course, our frustration is in areas such
as the Mitchell Act where those particular initiatives in the pro-

posal were to be putting fish back into the tributaries.

Unfortunately, those fish now only return up to the Bonneville

dams on the Columbia and do not reach the tributaries. Mr.
Bottiger mentioned also the Nez Perce program for

supplementation. I would like to cite those words and statements
today back home because unfortunately we don't get the support
for that program.
We are being met with political and scientific rhetoric at times

in our minds where we feel that a concept of gravel to gravel man-
agement of putting the fish back into the habitat of their origin is

the correct place.
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Certainly we can rear them at the hatchery to an age that is pro-

viding protection in the future, but we need to bring them back to

the tributaries and I think that provides for the Forest Service and

other Bureau of Land Management agencies to do a part in the eco-

system approach of managing the habitat for the future. Thank

you.

Ms. Unsoeld. I should have perhaps clarified or tried to summa-
rize, Ted. Would you say that the role of hatcheries needs to be

reinvented? We have very little data on

Mr. BOTTIGER. We don't know why one hatchery gets a lot better

return. Is it the manager, is it the water supply? There is a lot of

science shortage in this area and reinvented, I am not quite sure.

You got supplementation
Ms. Unsoeld. We got to learn something about how they have

functioned or not functioned and what we do to make our money.

Mr. BOTTIGER. I am going to formulate a theory called density.

At some point you can't crowd any more people in the elevator or

they die and it must apply to fish too.

Mr. Bevan. I certainly think they have a place. Madam Chair-

man. The difficulty that I think we have is that we have got over

100 hatcheries on the Columbia River. You would think that there

would be some overall plan in what they should be doing. We don't

have that plan.

We do have some technical teams at work to look at some very

important factors, disease, genetics, etc., and I think that phase of

it is in pretty good hands but, again, hatcheries are run by public

utility districts, States, tribes, different Federal agencies and part

of the problem is no overall planning.

Ms. Unsoeld. Rollie, I don't know what the correct term is in

this context. On a ski slope it would be coming down sweep but it

is your opportunity.

Mr. SCHMITTEN. It is a fast ski patrol and I understand that.

Just a passmg note on the ESA. Frankly, let us not forget that it

is the single most significant piece of legislation for species survival

in the world and it is heralded as such throughout the world.

I don't necessarily think that it is the Act that is wrong, often

it is the focus of the Act. It is the failure of agencies such as mine

not to respond or responding too late and not responding before a

listing, and I do agree, as I have said to the Chair many, many
times, that it is much superior to look at an ecosystem approach.

As far as hatcheries go, hatcheries have proven to be a part of

the problem in the Columbia River. It doesn't necessarily mean
that we should do away with hatcheries, it means that we should

put out smart hatcheries. We should look at densities, we should

look at disease, we should look at release time, we should look at

necessary stocks.

Oregon Trout made it very clear to us when they proposed for

listing the lower Columbia River coho that we had eradicated them
as a population by planting 36 other types of coho in a single sys-

tem; so we do need to have smart hatcheries.

The final point is that we support the supplementation concept

and I think this is important because we have not always enun-

ciated that clearly to the tribes and others; and the we is both the
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Fish and Wildlife Service and the National Marine Fisheries Serv-

ice.

We should be using that tool more readily. The only caution is

that we should be careful not to exacerbate the condition of a listed

species. Let us first make sure they are ESA-free areas, and then
we should go in and support each other in getting them started.

Thank you.
Mr. Bevan. Just a comment, Madam Chairman, on your question

about the ecosystem approach. Is this recovery plan by itself an
ecosystem approach? Probably only for the ecosystem of the Snake
River-listed species but we see it as a template to provide for the

rest of the basin and what we have provided here as required by
law under the Endangered Species Act we think can be applied to

other stocks in other parts of the Columbia basin.

Ms. Unsoeld. I would only suggest that the ecosystem probably
extends to Alaska. Any last comment?
Mr. Bevan. And certainly to Canada.
Ms. Unsoeld. Certainly. I thank the panel very much. There are

some additional questions that will be submitted to you in writing
and if you get any burning comments that you want to make to us,

we are eager. Thank you very much. And if the second panel would
come forward.
Ms. Cantwell. If the people would take their seats we are going

to start with the second panel and I appreciate all of you being
here today for the continued discussion on the Subcommittee on
Environment and Natural Resources Hearing on Proposed Recov-
ery Plan for Endangered Salmon in the Columbia River.

And we will start with Mr. Bruce Lovelin, executive director for

the Columbia River Alliance.

STATEMENT OF BRUCE LOVELIN, EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR,
COLUMBIA RIVER ALLIANCE

Mr. Lovelin. Madam Chair, members of the House Committee
of Merchant Marine and Fisheries, thank you for the opportunity
to testify. My name is Bruce Lovelin and I am the executive direc-

tor of the Columbia River Alliance for Fish, Commerce and Com-
munities.
Our organization represents a diverse group of entities through-

out the Pacific Northwest and we believe in maintaining a strong
multi-use river system for the economic health of our region.

We further support efforts to save threatened and endangered
salmon runs. I think as the region pursues salmon enhancement
we must realize that deterioration of the Columbia River Basin
salmon runs occurred over more than a century and that no single

cause is responsible.

Restoration of the run will at least require several decades in-

volving all aspects of the salmon's life cycle and will require a
major commitment of all Northwest parties. In this year, 1994, citi-

zens and businesses from the Pacific Northwest will pay almost
$350 million for salmon enhancement through higher electric

power rates.

This is almost double the funding of two years ago and it may
increase in future years. Columbia River Alliance members are con-

cerned with our continued ability to fund these programs. The busi-
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nesses, communities and the public that we represent are frus-

trated that although over $1.5 billion has been spent in the last 13

years, the salmon runs continue to decline.

We believe that future funding is uncertain and we are pleased

with the Administration's recent acknowledgement of this fact and
the announcement to use taxpayer funding for spill and flow pro-

grams of between $10 and $30 million.

The Snake River Salmon Recovery Team's plan, in general, we
believe has three elements that make it the best blueprint for

salmon recovery. The plan is scientifically founded, it is com-
prehensive covering each stage of the salmon's life cycle and it was
created through an open regional process allowing technical peer

review and comments.
The plan does include reform of hatchery practices, it does in-

clude reforms of harvest practices, it does include habitat enhance-
ment. It does recommend improvements in the mainstem including

an immediate action the region should rely upon.

The barging or transportation system barges juvenile salmon
around the dams and releases them closer to the ocean. The plan
also includes flow levels as prescribed by the Northwest Power
Planning Council but it also recognizes that additional research is

necessary to determine future river operations.

But the plan cautioned against controversial reservoir

drawdowns. A John Day reservoir drawdown was considered and
rejected by the Team. Other drawdown options were not seriously

considered as effective.

In addition to the plan's specific recommendation, it provides a

framework or process for which future decisions can be made on a
timely basis using the best available science. It will lead to better

coordinated management of the Columbia River Fishery Manage-
ment System and we believe that this measure is desperately need-
ed.

But will the Bevan Plan or this recovery plan lead to recovery?

I think we need to understand that we have got major natural
events occurring at this time which are pushing the runs down fur-

ther. This year, which has been commonplace in the last several

years, Snake River flows are below average with only about 50 per-

cent flow this year as we again experience a drought.
Also, poor ocean conditions are causing lower survival for both

these threatened salmon and other runs up and down the Oregon
and Washington coast. But despite these natural events the CRA
believes that we still should pursue salmon recovery via the Bevan
Plan.
As the Bevan Team acknowledges, much is still unknown regard-

ing salmon and additional research is necessary. Implementation
will likely require adaptive management allowing for mid-course
corrections.

The Recovery Team anticipated this action in its plan. As an ex-

ample, our members believe that the Team was incorrect by rec-

ommending habitat protection standards developed by PACFISH or

FEMAT. We believe a more cost-effective approach for stream res-

toration and protection, one supported by user groups, like the new
Oregon Forest Practices Act is an example. We will pursue this ap-
proach in what the plan calls its habitat subcommittee.
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Economics is an important element in the plan. What does the

plan cost? Can the region afford it? And as of this date, these ques-

tions cannot be answered because both the costs and the benefits

of the plan have not been provided.

We have advocated a cost-effectiveness analysis be performed on
the plan. This information is required as it will allow the region

to pursue the highest value salmon recovery measures first.

A critical next step to this plan, and we believe it is required for

successful implementation, is regional acceptability and support.

This support is required by the Administration, States, tribal enti-

ties, regional communities, economic and fish advocate groups.

The plan's success is predicated by stakeholder involvement and
participation. The exclusion of economic stakeholders in January,
1994 by the Administration during the Endangered Species Act,

Section 7 consultations on fiow operations led several of our CRA
members to seek participation using the courts.

If we are to avoid a regional spotted owl train wreck then the
Administration must open the process and it must be opened in a

meaningful manner. An open process encouraging stakeholder par-

ticipation would have provided additional scientific information on
the recent Federal agency decision to spill water at eight Columbia
and Snake River dams—a program which we believe, at best, spent
$11 million of taxpayer funds, and at worst may have harmed the
very fish that we are trying to help.

The CRA supports efforts in the Bevan Plan and we request that
the region move forward to proceed rapidly with the plan because
without it, decisions such as the recent spill program and possible

dictates by the Federal court could become commonplace.
A comprehensive plan that is scientifically based is needed and

we do support that. Thank you for the opportunity to testify.

[Statement of Bruce Lovelin can be found at the end of the hear-
ing.]

Ms. Cantwell. I should have added at the beginning that
everybody's written testimony will be incorporated into the record.

Ms. Bodi.

STATEMENT OF LORRAINE BODI CO-DIRECTOR, AMERICAN
RIVERS

Ms. BODI. Thank you, Madam Chair, and members of the Com-
mittee. I am here today representing American Rivers, which is a
national river conservation group, and Save Our Wild Salmon, a co-

alition of 42 conservation and fishing groups working on salmon re-

covery throughout the Pacific Northwest, not just in the Columbia
River.

I would like to talk about salmon recovery in the Columbia today
and my message to you is one of urgency. Like many of the speak-
ers on the previous panel, I believe we are running out of time to

take action and we need to bite the bullet now.
The first point that I would like to make is that a recovery plan

for the salmon is long overdue. I think it is very important to look
back on where we were about 15 years ago right before the North-
west Power Act was enacted.

I was around then and so were a good number of my panelists,

in fact, maybe all of them were around working on these very same
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issues. And what did we have going on in the region at that time?

We had an Endangered Species Act review being undertaken by

the National Marine Fisheries Service that had commenced in 1978

for upriver stocks in the Columbia and the Snake, both the upper

river areas.

We had unprecedented restrictions of fisheries far tighter than

we had ever seen before. We had agency and tribal recommenda-
tions for flow improvements and fish passage improvements that

were on the table and not being implemented.
And we had the dam operators calling for continued barging of

the salmon and more studies because we didn't have enough infor-

mation to move forward. That is where we were right before the

Northwest Power Act was passed. That was supposed to be our

saving grace.

It was supposed to provide our recovery plan and move us for-

ward to break the gridlock and get us on with action and not just

debate. But it didn't work out, despite good intentions, the way we
had anticipated.

We didn't implement the agencies' and tribes' recommendations.

For the last 15 years we have basically barged and studied. Now
we have fish listed under the Endangered Species Act. They are at

the lowest population levels ever.

Fisheries have been closed up and down the coast and we are

still debating what to do about it. To me that is a very sad state

of affairs for both the fisheries, our fishing communities and the re-

gion.

My second point then fiows from the first one. We need a recov-

ery plan that is finally an action plan. It has to be specific. It has

to be a cookbook. It has to have specific steps, performance stand-

ards and time tables—not be inflexible but move us forward in very

specific ways and break the gridlock.

Now the Recovery Team recommendations are good as far as

they go. They are a framework. They have the elements that we
need, the table of contents of a recovery plan, if you will. But let

me just give you an example of how we have a gap between the

goals of the recovery plan and the steps that we need to get there.

The Recovery Team calls for two spawners for each one in the

previous generation, at least for the foreseeable future. That is a

two-to-one replacement rate and as you know we are not even at

a one-to-one replacement rate now. The Recovery Team also identi-

fies the need for about a fourfold increase in survival of these fish

through the migration corridor.

Yet there is no step-by-step approach to get us to these measures
showing that within two generations, three generations, four gen-

erations, we will get to that point of rebuilding and recovery. That
is something that the National Marine Fisheries Service is going

to have to address.

While there is a lot of talk about addressing all aspects of the

salmon life cycle, there is an inescapable fact that we have to deal

with in this plan: 80 to 90 percent of the human-caused mortality

to the fish is caused by the dams. There is no question we must
fix the problems at the dams if we are going to recover these salm-

on. The Power Council's plan admits this. The Recovery Team has
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provisions scattered throughout that recognize this. It is a fun-

damental fact that isn't going to go away.
Now I would like to address the claim that we don't have enough

science to support moving forward and to support specific actions

such as flow augmentation, flow targets, reservoir drawdown.
As someone who has worked on these issues for a number of

years, I think this claim is misleading at best. We have volumes
and libraries of studies monitoring information, information on the

biological needs of the fish, and there are two inescapable conclu-

sions that underlie all of this.

First, the fish need better, faster flows for recovery, and, second,

while barging may be an emergency measure, it has not and will

not lead to full recovery of these fish. So we need to get on with

action that moves us past the barging, past the interim measures.
Like the tobacco industry claiming there is no scientific proof of

the link between smoking and lung cancer, I am concerned that

dam operators are claiming that we have insufficient proof that

fish need flows.

By their measure I am afraid we will have proof that fish are ex-

tinct before we have proof that they need flows. As Mr. Holt indi-

cated, we are quite literally studying the fish to death.

My third point today is that, and it seems obvious, but a recovery

plan has to be implemented in full. It cannot be a cafeteria menu
where we do the easy stuff and skip the hard stuff. Yet if the past

is any indication we have cause for grave concern.

The water budget first developed by the Power Council in 1982
was not fully implemented until 1990, after we had petitions to list

Snake River salmon. Even today, John Day drawdown and Lower
Granite Dam modifications to study drawdown—which have been
endorsed by the Power Council, the three governors and the Na-
tional Marine Fisheries Service—have difficulty getting appropria-
tions.

And if you look at the time tables for implementation and eval-

uation that the Corps of Engineers is proposing, we have an eval-

uation that is going to extend over a decade or more. If we are seri-

ous, we have to focus on fast and complete implementation. The
fish simply don't have a decade or more to spare.

Finally, I would like to make a comment about the fact that
when I sat back and looked at my main comments I thought, well,

these are obvious points. We need action, we need implementation,
which seem fairly obvious. But so far the Northwest has been un-
able to move forward with a real action plan.

We have lacked the political will to move forward. Perhaps it is

a leadership issue, perhaps it is a question of who is in charge, but
it hasn't worked so far. In the next few years our legacy to our fu-

ture generations lies in the balance.

We do not have another two decades or 15 years to try to get it

right. We are either going to be known as the generation that

saved the salmon or the generation that let them go extinct on our
watch.

If we develop a good and true and detailed recovery plan now,
it is not too late and we can still choose the legacy of the salmon.
I hope we do. Thank you very much.
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[Statement of F. Lorraine Bodi can be found at the end of the

hearing.]

Ms. Unsoeld. Thank you. Mr. Tienson.

STATEMENT OF THANE TIENSON, COUNSEL, SALMON FOR ALL

Mr. Tienson. Thank you. I am Thane Tienson. I am here today

on behalf of the commercial salmon fishing industry. I am some-

body who grew up in the industry and I am from Astoria, Oregon,

which is in Congresswoman Furse's district and right across the

river from Congresswoman Unsoeld's district, and as both of you

know the industry is centered in those districts so we have an

enormous concern with the shape of the Salmon Recovery Plan.

We are very concerned, not only about the specifics of the plan

itself, but the principles that will guide the adoption of a plan be-

cause we assume that whatever those principles are that they will

guide not only this plan but others as well and they will have rami-

fications extending well beyond salmon and well beyond the Colum-
bia River Basin.

I am particularly concerned and I know I speak for the commer-
cial salmon fishing industry about the harvest sections of that plan

because I think the harvest sections as well as those sections deal-

ing with the institutional changes and with downstream migration

really collectively make us extremely uncomfortable with the plan

and in our view the principles that should guide a recovery plan

simply aren't manifested in this plan.

I am assuming that those principles include the following. One,

you want an objective plan, a plan that is long on science, short

on politics. You want a plan that enjoys the support of Federal,

State, tribal fish managers and scientists, a plan that will survive

judicial scrutiny but also a plan that will discourage further court

challenges, the agency decisionmaking.
You want a plan that is balanced and proportional but is propor-

tional in the sense that although shared sacrifices are certainly

called for, its primary emphasis must be on those actions and prac-

tices that have brought the salmon to their precipitous decline.

And above all you want a plan that works, a plan that if imple-

mented will not only restore the listed stocks to be taken off the

ESA list but one that will restore all stocks in the region to har-

vestable levels of abundance that we can preserve our commercial,

tribal and sport fishing industries and protect our obligations to

the treaty tribes.

If that is the test, and I submit that it should be, then I must
tell you that particularly with respect to those sections of the plan

I just talked about, this plan not only fails, it fails miserably.

It is a plan that because of its insistence on the need for yet

more studies and a continued reliance on barging these juvenile

salmon to sea, I submit is more of a blueprint for extinction than

it is for recovery and survival of these stocks.

The harvest section, as you know, calls for mandatory elimi-

nation of the gill net fishery over the next eight years and a 20 per-

cent reduction in the ocean commercial salmon fishery over the

next eight years which in my mind translates effectively to its

elimination as well.
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So, in effect, a solution to the salmon recovery program is to

eliminate the need for recovering the salmon, eliminate the need

to recover these stocks to the levels of harvestable abundance.

Both Dr. Bevan and Mr. Bottiger and Mr. Schmitten all testified

about the need for having a plan that didn't single out any particu-

lar user group. In fact, I wrote down Rollie Schmitten's words, "no

single user should carry the burden of recovery".

Congressman Crapo talked about a plan that we wanted to en-

sure did not devastate any particular group of people or industry.

Well, let me tell you, under either of those standards this harvest

section does exactly that. It devastates an already devastated in-

dustry and it insists that the lion's share, the burden of recovery,

rests with the commercial salmon fishing industry.

This, I remind you, is an industry that this year has experienced

over 95 percent reduction in harvest over the levels of only four

years ago. We have essentially consigned our coastal and river com-

munities that only a decade ago were salmon dependent to a reli-

ance on tourism and elimination of an incredibly important indus-

try that has contributed so significantly to those economies for well

over 100 years.

It isn't fair. Both Dr. Bevan and Mr. Bottiger talked about the

differences between the Council's plan and the Bevan plan and

they said really the only differences were in the science. There are

not differences in the science, there certainly are not differences in

science with respect to the harvest section. Is the voluntary buyout

and leaseback program advocated by the Council and the manda-

tory elimination advocated by the Bevan Team a difference of

science? No. It is a difference of politics. We know that.

We know that because we are an industry that has been so dev-

astated we are politically impotent. We know that we don't have

the political power that can force Congress or the agency

decisionmakers to do our bidding for you so we rely upon our elect-

ed representatives to influence those decisionmakers and that is

why we are also uncomfortable with the notion that we should

place primary responsibility for salmon management in the North-

west with the National Marine Fisheries Service.

It is an agency that has not demonstrated that it deserves the

confidence of Federal, State, regional fish managers. It is certainly

not an agency that has demonstrated it deserves the confidence of

the commercial fishing industry.

Rather it is, as Judge Marsh recognized it is, he invalidated the

1993 Biological Opinion on river operations, it is an agency that

really has done its utmost to maintain the status quo taking very

small steps, minor improvements and adjustments, and these are

his words, narrowly focused on what the establishment is capable

of handling with minimal disruption when the situation literally

cries out for a major overhaul.

And I submit to you that the National Marine Fisheries Service,

even if it had the political will which it clearly does not, it doesn't

have the resources or the institutional ability to manage the salm-

on and take care of its other statutory responsibilities as well.

And unless and until the agency, unless and until any agency or

group of agencies has those resources, has the political will and en-
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joys the confidence of those people it regulates, it should not be

placed in that responsibility.

So we urge you to use your influence with the agencies to make
sure that whatever salmon plan is adopted is one that addresses

the needs and principles that we think should guide it and make
sure that we restore these fisheries to levels of harvestable abun-

dance and protect our commercial, tribal and sport salmon fishing

industries. Thank you.

[Statement of Thane Tienson can be found at the end of the hear-

ing.]

Ms. Unsoeld. Thank you. Next Mr. Bakke from Oregon Trout.

STATEMENT OF BILL BAKKE, DIRECTOR FOR RESOURCE
CONSERVATION, OREGON TROUT

Mr. Bakke. Thank you. My name is Bill Bakke, representing Or-

egon Trout. I would like to lead off by saying that Oregon Trout

is the lead petitioner on the Snake River chinook that were listed

under the Endangered Species Act and frankly right now I think

we are at the point where those chinook should be upgraded to en-

dangered status.

The problems confronting the salmon in the Columbia River are

not unique to the Columbia River, they are coastwise problems but

the Recovery Team is focusing on the Columbia River. I am hoping

that it will serve as a model to address problems from central Cali-

fornia actually all the way to the Canadian border.

Let us deal first with the questions. While Oregon Trout made
many critical comments on the draft recovery plan, we concluded

that it was the first full life cycle plan the region has ever produced

and therefore we generally supported it.

The only other life cycle plan is the strategy for salmon recently

adopted by the Power Planning Council but the Council lacks au-

thority to implement its plan. The strengths of the recovery plan

are it provides a single authority and accountability in the Na-
tional Marine Fisheries Service, it establishes a Scientific Over-

sight Committee so the recovery measures are scientifically driven

and evaluated, and it sets a sound delisting criteria.

And without a recovery plan, the region will continue to perpet-

uate the problems that cause the salmon to be listed in the first

place. The weaknesses of the recovery plan are its reliance upon
technological intervention such as hatchery propagation and smolt

transportation. Based on our review of scientific literature, we view

hatchery supplementation as an untested theoretical experiment

that should not be broadly applied until evaluated and any funding

directed toward supplementation should be looking at risk contain-

ment.
Another major weakness is that the recovery plan does not estab-

lish an institutional mechanism or commitment that is specific to

the recovery of natural stocks which I thought the recovery plan

was supposed to be doing. This is evident from the absence of a

natural production strategy stated specifically within the plan.

Finally, the National Marine Fisheries Service cannot by itself

recover salmon without the institutional commitment of other Fed-

eral and State agencies to solve the salmon habitat problems in the

region.
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Will the recovery plan lead to recovery of the stocks? The recov-

ery plan is experimental and must be treated as a scientific experi-

ment and it is therefore very uncertain, especially when you add

the politics to the equation.

The other existing proposals that would increase the likelihood

of recovery are PACFISH and FEMAT, the President's plan for

western spotted owl forests. They establish habitat conditions that

would maintain the productive capacity of salmonids on Federal

lands.

And we need to expand those efforts, those proposals, to non-

federal lands so that we can actually do watershed analysis and
planning and recovery.

Also, the States of Oregon and Washington are looking at devel-

oping policy. Oregon's wild fish policy and Washington's wild salm-

on policy, these policies could help to recover a multitude of popu-

lations that are already in the ESA pipeline. The Power Council's

strategy for salmon should be incorporated into the recovery plan

especially Section 6.2(a) which deals with the recovery of natural

salmon populations.
Other actions that could be taken are the following: develop a na-

tional policy for the conservation of native fish fauna diversity;

cause each hatchery operation that is operating with Federal funds

to comply with the National Environmental Policy Act. All hatch-

eries should be licensed so that periodic public review is provided.

Reauthorization of the Magnuson Fishery Conservation Act to

specifically address meeting standards to provide spawner
escapement to maintain the productive capacity of each of the

salmon stocks. Restructure hydro dam mitigation to fund biological

inventory and habitat protection rather than replace wild salmon
with hatchery salmon.

Discontinue transportation of juvenile salmon by truck since the

fish that are transported in this way are unable to imprint effec-

tively. They become lost and stray into other watersheds, they

spread disease and they disrupt the local gene pool.

What should be the essential elements of the final recovery plan?

First, the plan should be driven by science and scientific evalua-

tion. The Scientific Oversight Committee would establish this.

Second, a priority must be placed on completing an inventory of

the natural biological diversity of salmonids on the entire west
coast. This data can then be used to evaluate the various manage-
ment and recovery experiments being conducted.

This would allow the agencies to conduct adaptive management
and even describe success. And we are also recommending the use
of a portion of the Mitchell Act hatchery funds that are presently

before Congress to provide some dollars to complete that inventory

for at least the Columbia River Basin.

But the recovery plan, however, lacks these essential elements.

In conclusion, the region lacks a coherent health plan for native

salmonids, a health plan that is imbedded institutionally both

among and within Federal and State land, water and fish manage-
ment agencies.

This plan should be based upon maintaining the genetic and life

history needs of the native stocks in the Columbia River Basin as

well as along the whole west coast. Thank you.
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[Statement of Bill Bakke can be found at the end of the hearing.]

Ms. Unsoeld. Thank you. Mr. Wright.

STATEMENT OF AL WRIGHT, EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR, PACIFIC
NORTHWEST UTILITIES CONFERENCE COMMITTEE

Mr. Wright. Thank you. My name is Al Wright. I am executive

director of the Pacific Northwest Utilities Conference Committee, a
trade association representing both private and public utilities in

the four northwest States as well as the direct service industries

in those same four States.

We are here today to add support for both of the two legitimate

plans that can lead to the recovery of anadromous fish that are on
the table today, as you have already heard, the Council's strategy
for salmon and now the Recovery Team's proposed Snake River Re-
covery Plan.
We had supported the work of the Recovery Team before we ever

saw a draft. We told the National Marine Fisheries Service that if

they would appoint credible scientists that were objective, we
would be willing to support a plan that came out of that and give
it a chance to work and our position remains the same.
We believe the recovery plan is comprehensive. We believe it

does deal with all four facets of the gravel to gravel life cycle of the
animal. We believe that given the Council is entering into rule-

making this summer and fall and given that the National Marine
Fisheries Service is doing a similar type of rulemaking this sum-
mer and fall for adoption of these two plans, there is both an oppor-
tunity for success in marrying up two plans which have far more
similarities than differences; have a single recovery plan that can
be put in place which we desperately need in the region.

We also have a formula for disaster if we turned it into a war-
ring plan process throughout the summer and fall and allow the
issue to be taken solely to the courts. We believe that while we
have to move forward in a prudent but rapid fashion that we also

need some patience in this process.

We need to get a scientifically based recovery plan in place, im-
plement it and let it work. In the decade of the 1980's we were
changing the Council's fish and wildlife program every two years
and in the decade of the 1990's we changed what the silver bullet
is for fish every two weeks.
We cannot implement a salmon recovery plan in that manner so

our support, not only because we believe the plans are scientifically

based, our support is because we desperately in the region need
some kind of long-term salmon recovery guidance.
One thing the plan does not do is, it does not evaluate the eco-

nomics involved. We presently have $1.5 billion as you have heard
already. We are spending $1 million a day on salmon recovery.
Why would any industry support additional plans when they are
spending that level of money on recovery?

It is simply because as I have already stated, we desperately
need some kind of long-term guidance, not panic and hysteria. But
one thing that does need to be done is we need to look at the exist-

ing $350 to $360 million a year expenditure and reprogram some
of that money better directed and better implemented into the re-

covery plans that we hope will be adopted this year.
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One thing that can be done today and should be done today and

you have already discussed in the previous panel is the Recovery

Team's recommendation for some form of scientific oversight com-

mittee.

We think that is a good idea. We think we have seen m the gas

bubble disease debate in the last few weeks an example of how that

can work and work well. And we strongly support and hope that

there is some activist who will see that the Recovery Team's rec-

ommendation is implemented on some kind of scientific oversight

basis.

In summary, we are as an industry committed to getting a recov-

ery plan hopefully by the end of the year. We hope it has not only

timely actions in it but it also has the ability to have the patience

to allow a recovery plan to work.

We strongly support the monitoring and evaluation because there

are parts of the plan we think go too far but we have faith that

if we do good monitoring and evaluation that will be proven out

over time and we must not allow the region to step in to the war-

ring plan game over the summer and fall of what I think we have

the potential of getting into.

We must marry up these plans. We must have a single recovery

plan and we must get on with it. Thank you.

[Statement of Al Wright can be found at the end of the hearing.]

Ms. Unsoeld. Thank you. Ms. Hamilton.

STATEMENT OF LIZ HAMILTON, EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR,
NORTHWEST SPORTFISHING INDUSTRY ASSOCIATION

Ms. Hamilton. Thank you and good afternoon, Madam Chair-

man, and members of the Subcommittee. I first wanted to thank

you for the opportunity to be here and testify today. I am Liz Ham-
ilton and I serve as the executive director for the Northwest Sport

Fishing Industry Association.

We are a trade group. We represent hundreds of businesses and
thousands of jobs in the Pacific Northwest. From worms to

downriggers and from major retailers such as Fred Myers and GI
Joe's and Buy Mart to the little ma-and-pas on the corner, the men
and the women and the businesses that we work with are depend-

ent on and dedicated to healthy salmon resources.

In the States of Oregon and Washington alone our industry gen-

erates $3 billion annually toward the health of our State econo-

mies. Those are renewable, healthy clean dollars. The sport fishing

businesses I represent are as diverse and geographically dispersed

as the salmon that we rely upon.

We organized to be a united and positive force for the salmon re-

covery that our businesses require for a healthy future. And just

by way of introduction, in my written testimony I have included a

listing of our businesses so you can become better acquainted with

us.

In reviewing the recovery recommendations, I have to apologize,

I just received the final copy Friday from NMFS but the thing that

became immediately clear as I read through it is that the lower Co-

lumbia commercial fishing interests have been determined to be ex-

pendable.
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The decline of stock abundances and a lack of serious changes in

the management of the hydro system sends a clear message to the
sport fishing industry as well that we may be expendable. With the
tribes substantially excluded from harvest this year as well, it

seems like the harvesters have been written out of the equation
completely.

The Team's plan does a great job of describing the detrimental
effects that the building and operation of the hydro system has had
on our fish populations. It is really one of the best descriptions I

have ever read.

So, in reading that. I was expecting them to go on and describe
how alterations in the Columbia River Basin—primarily the con-

struction and operation of dams—are the cause of the problem, and
in order to create a solution we need to move on to some changes.
But having identified the dams as the overriding problem that

doesn't seem to be the case. There is a lack of recommendations for

modifications but a lot of suggestions for more studies.

And we are a bit sensitive in the sport fishing industry because
our backs are up against the wall as well and so when we hear
study it is just like studying the fish to death and we are following
the fish behind.

Instead, they seem to focus on secondary mortality such as prob-
lems with habitat and problems with hatcheries and harvest, espe-
cially harvest. It seems to feel it can grab that immediate handle
and with the year in and year out reductions in harvest that the
fishing industry has had to put up with, we feel like we have
anteed up in this game already.
We have already ponied in to the point where we hope these sac-

rifices that we have made to date are not meaningless. As an in-

dustry association we are also concerned about the continuation of

the barging program. For 18 years more and more juvenile fish

have been barged and less and less adults have returned.
It just seems to really have been an excuse to avoid making the

necessary hard choices that we need for the fish. The other concern
is back to the studies. We don't want a continuation of studies
without action. I mean studies are valuable but studies as Lorrie
stated earlier, the only thing we are going to be certain of eventu-
ally is extinction if we continue on that path.
While we might be compelled to gather more and more informa-

tion about this without action this information is of no benefit to

the fish stocks. There has been some cost or talk about cost for the
recovery of the salmon and I think one of the things we need to

look at when we are putting these dollars into recovery is the idea
of sustainable harvest of these populations for two reasons.

It is of a benefit to the fish to have the larger populations for

withstanding natural disasters such as El Nino or Mt. St. Helens,
or drought, whatever, but it is also of benefit to humans in terms
of an investment in our region and to get a return on that invest-
ment we have to go back to harvestable numbers of fish.

Our industries generate a great deal of money to the States that
we operate in and our region does not get a return on the invest-
ment of recovery unless the industries are strong. Our Northwest
has been described as any place that a salmon could get to and I
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base so see as Teoefme ouiselves as t2ie piaoe that salmon
tobe.

It is moA neoessaiy and it is anaooeiitaUe. We do have tiie build-

ing blocks for the «almnw leuiwet^'- What has been btriring is the
piiiiti^l vin to make thme hard cfaoioK. The Northwest needs
nMMPP lenders gnrh iwf -y™^ ifaloniM liarKh

We Tr*"< to stop the Uamie game and we need to ivotk together

OBL d» MfRmU 9'i*»rtinmg whlch the cntiie society is going to have
to paitki|iate in. Ibe Nofthwest Power Planning Goomdl has pro
Tided an adequate starting point in its strategy for sahnnn. Witii
wmttMR^-mititmMt amA itttmuutt^ndaitumtii from tribal and State afjendes.

we feri we can stfll avoid the all too finniliar train wreck. Thank
yoo-

IStatenikent of lix Hgmiitinn can be found at the end erf" the hear-

ing-]

Ms Unsoeld Let me throw a question out finr all ofyon because

I have beard the theme repeated that we dtm\ need a lot mmre
studies, -we need to get on with the acdrnL. But the Northwes:
Power Cairnol ra-n Tnalrf» Ty<inmim«^a<iaiinng but does not leaUy have
the auiiiDrity to make the d^gwpg and im|dement thenL The Na-
tional Marine Fisheries Serrioe doesmt kick in at all until the En-
dangered Species Act steps in so what would you as a panel of ex-

perts with a lot of experience in this area, niiat would ywi rec-

ommend to makf this a more efficient dedsionmaking and imple-

menting process, what should—yosn look lea^ to answer that- I

would like to hear from all of you but you fiist.

Ms. BoDl. I would like to first point out that in many ways, if

you are talking about the river system, we have a riveT manager
and it is the Bonneville Power Administration. In the tug over the

Endangered Species Act, the National Marine Fisheries Service is

now exercising more control but the Bonneville Power Administra-
tion is not quite giving it up.

So I tbi-nk it is important to recognize some of the institutional

tensions that are going on here even on the issue of NMFS" role

under the Endangered Species Act. But beyond that we have the

problem that
Ms. Unsoeld. You weren't suggesting that BPA was the

proper
]M5. BODi. No.
Ms. Unsoeld. OK.
Ms. BODL Thank you for clarif>±[ig that. If I left any doubt what-

soever. I think the Bonneville Power Administration is unequivo-

cally not the right place. I do think that because of its endangered
species responsibilities the National Marine Fisheries Ser\'ice has
an important role to play.

I would agree with those critics on both sides of the table who
would say that the National Marine Fisheries Service could do a

lot better job than it has done, particularly in lapng out a longer

term strategy- and game plan—so that we Imow where we are going

and we have a good amount of stability both for the fish and for

the eco-^omic interests that need some greater certainty here too.

- thorny question, as Ted Bottiger put it. is how do you
av . ^ralizing all the decisionmaking here and pro^'ide a mean-
mgrai role for the State fishery m.anagers and for the tribal fishery
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managers? So whatever we come up with is goinS ^ ^^^ ^^ "^~

Yolve those Fedoal, ^Ate and tribal entities in cooperative man-
agemoit ofthe fishcaries.

That is what we do now in harvest management. I think we need
to move that apiuroach into river management. Now the specifics of

exactfy what institiitioa we have-^ dont have any magic soluticm.

Ms. U>rsOElJ>. Who wants to jump into that one next?
Mr. TlEXSON. Let me take a stab at something aimray. To a cer-

tain extent these same problems used to {day mt Columbia River

and the area of harvest management untU the C«dumbia River fish

managemoit idan was negotiated over a period of time and basi-

cally enacted into law through the process of cocisent decree.
And that consent decree created what in effect was a new institu-

tion and there are subcommittees, technical committees, productiotn

committees and then there is a policy cwnmittee and in that policy

committee said representatives of all the State, Federal and tribal

agencies.
Most of the same agencies, if not all of them, also are a part of

COBFWA, the Columbia Basin Fish and Wildlife Authority. You
have right now a lawsuit that has effectively been transmitted into

the kind of lawsuit that I think could be used as the same vehicle

that we used the U.S. v. Oregon for and the U.S. v. Washington.
the all citizen suit for Washington to have some kind of court-or-

dered and court-sponsored new institution, if you will, that basi-

cally gives the accountability. These are, after all. public agencies

only that sit on them and treaty tribes unless the managers of all

these agencies, all of them coliecti"vely have responsibilities over

some aspect of river operations to get together and hammer out

through the auspices of the court what in effect will probably be-

come a consent decree.

In effect, we have that now and I think that is probably what
you need. You still would have the accountability. It would be a

public process and you would have all the players there so I guess
that is the kind of thing that I would be looking for. You need both
and quite clearly National Marine Fisheries Service has to be a
pari of it but in my \iew not the only one.

Ms. Unsoeld. Yes. Mr. Lovelin.

Mr. Lo\TLlN. I hope that we are not to the point in the North-
west that we will rely upon the leadership of a Federal judge to

move us forward on this decision. I think that it is unfortunate how
over the last couple of years that we all have the same desire, the
same intent, and frankly we have the potential for a major Endan-
gered Species Act success stor\-.

And there is one common ingredient that we do have that makes
it a potential and that is the money. I mean we are spending fan-

tastic amounts of money for this effort and I just don't understand
why we can't now follow behind or at least look into this scientific

plan.

If we have a debate over science let us have that debate in an
open manner. Let us move on to the economic side and into the so-

cial impacts of the impact to various user groups but it has to be
a one. two. three step process. I believe.

1 am just concerned, at this point, that certain groups are being
cut out and we are using the judge's court to allow certain groups
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to participate. Frankly. I will just say candidly we have too much
at stake as people representing Northwest interests and the North-

west economy to sit on the sidelines and not participate in this

process so I think the direction right now ought to be to let us

move to a regional open process.

I am not suggesting a salmon summit but I am suggesting dialog

that frankly doesn't play games and use the courts and political is-

sues and so forth to exclude parties because I believe if we repeat

that, if we continue with that kind of mode, we will repeat the spill

issue and that mistake over and over again, as Al is suggesting,

into the summer and into the fall and I think that is a big mistake

for the region.

Ms. H.\MlLTON'. I would like to address two points I think that

are tied together with that question you asked and there is so

much said today about scientific uncertainty and disagreement

among scientists and all this.

But there is a very impressive document that has been put to-

gether by four States, the tribal commission and the U.S. Fish and
Wildlife Service and it is called the Detailed Fishery Operating
Plan.

In addition to reading the impressive document, I think the prin-

cipal of those five entities, including four tribes, agreeing to sit

down with their science and produce the document is a good start-

ing point and the reason that these issues are in court is the exclu-

sion of that science.

I am not suggesting I know how to go about formatting such a

policy group for implementation and as Thane said earlier NMFS
would have to be a part of that process also, but there is a large

group of scientists representing fish interests in this region who
could sit down and agree on science and produce a document.
Ms. BoDl. The figure of Bonneville spending $350 million on fish

programs has been used repeatedly. I just can't let it go by without

a short response at least.

I do agree with the idea that Bonneville Power Administration

is unilaterally deciding in many cases how to spend its money on

its fish program, and is not necessarily following even the blue-

prints set by the Power Council. So I think there is an important
debate here on the priorities for the money that Bonneville is

spending out of pocket on fish and wildlife, which amounts to be-

tween $80 and $90 million per year, not $350 million.

I think that is an important debate because there is, for example,
as Congressman DeFazio has pointed out in his recent report, a

fairly large Bonneville fish and wildlife staff, 77 people according

to the DeFazio report.

And there is great potential, I think, to look at where the money
is going and how it is being spent and prioritize those $80 to $90
million of expenditures.
But the vast majority of the money, the so-called money, that is

bandied about as a Bonneville expenditure is foregone power reve-

nues. It is important to know that those are very broad estimates.

The assumptions for those foregone power revenues have not been
critiqued in any kind of open way.

It tends to confuse, as Congressman DeFazio points out in his re-

port also, the cost of a drought with the cost of salmon recovery,
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for example. It puts a lot of baggage on salmon recovery that

doesn't belong there.

For example. 50 percent of the Power Council's budget is put in

as a salmon recovery cost as part of the $350 million. It is com-

pletely inconsistent with how other users of the system are treated.

Navigation is not accounted for as a foregone power generation.

Irrigation is not accounted for as a foregone power generation.

Flood control is not accounted for in the same way. It is inequitable

treatment. So I just wanted to respond because I couldn't let it go

by without some kind of response.

Ms. Unsoeld. My time has really expired but did anyone else

want to—Mr. Wright.

Mr. Wright. I guess I have to now. Two points I think. In your

question you asked the Bonneville Power Administration or others

not implementing the Council's fish and wildlife program because

the Council doesn't have the authority.

The fact is—at least in the form of those things that Bonneville

and the other river operators respond to, and remember Bonneville

is not the sole river operator, the Corps and the Bureau are in-

volved, and the National Marine Fisheries Service is involved

now—every single recommendation that the Power Planning Coun-

cil has ever adopted into its fish and wildlife program have been

implemented by those agencies. Every single recommendation on

river operations put into the Council's fish and wildlife program

has been implemented by those agencies.

Ms. Unsoeld. I bet we could have a debate on that if there were

other panel members but they are not on this panel.

Mr. Wright. But the second part is of the $350 million that we
talk about, Bonneville does not have the authority to spend that

money. Lorri is right, $80 to $90 million comes out as direct reve-

nues but it is basically mandated by the Power Planning Council

and monitored by the Power Planning Council.

The power impacts, the cost of replacement energ>' for the river

operations are the sole discretion of the National Marine Fisheries

Ser\'ice, at least since the adoption of the Endangered Species Act

so Bonneville does not have any say in what it has to do either in

the way of foregone revenues and replacement energy.

Ms. Unsoeld. My time has expired but I would observ^e that the

decisionmaking, the implementation directing alludes this panel

much as it does many of us who are also involved. We don't have

the answer and we ver>' much need not only a time for the decision

to be made but the body to make the decision and it requires more
than just consensus into putting it into a document.

Ms. Furse.

Ms. FuRSE. Thank you. Madam Chairman. I wanted to ask Lorri

Bodi but if others want to comment too, Judge Marsh spoke of

major overhauls necessary in the hydro system. In your opinion,

was he referring to the water scheme that the Recovery Team al-

ludes to and what do you think would constitute the sort of over-

haul that the judge was referring to?

Ms. BODI. You are asking me to read Judge Marsh's mind, but

I will do my best to do that. I think that basically the judge heard

testimony from scientists and experts from all sides.
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He had a full record before him. He had affidavits. He also per-

sonally questioned the parties' technical experts on this issue. He
felt particularly strongly, I believe, that the specific recommenda-
tions that had been made by scientists from the State agencies and
the tribes were not carefully considered, were not seriously consid-

ered.

In fact, if you read the Biological Opinion it says, well, we got

the agencies and tribes detailed fishery plan and we didn't have
time to consider it. Though it was a 4-year Biological Opinion or

five-year Biological Opinion, there was no process to even consider
what the agencies and tribes had presented for subsequent years,

assuming that those couldn't be incorporated into 1994 decision-

making.
So I think that the guide that Judge Marsh saw was the Detailed

Fisheries Operation Plan presented by the agencies and the tribes,

which called for fiow augmentation, spills, a movement away from
barging toward in-river migration and a schedule for moving ahead
with investigation of reservoir drawdown rapidly, as opposed to

over a period of a decade or more.
Ms. FURSE. A question I would like to ask Mr. Wright. In your

testimony you state, "There are only two legitimate recovery plans
on the table." What in your mind constitutes a legitimate plan? Do
you mean legitimate in law or legitimate in science and are you
prepared to consider the upcoming tribal recovery plan as legiti-

mate?
Mr. Wright. The term I used and it may have been an unfortu-

nate term, was simply to imply that the Northwest Planning Coun-
cil's strategy for salmon basically emanates from the Regional
Power Act and the recovery plan emanates from the Endangered
Species Act, both of which have legitimacy in their nature to try
to develop a salmon recovery.

I was unaware of the tribal plan and I would not be so foolish

as to challenge the tribes' sovereign responsibilities under their
treaties so I would of course call out a legitimate plan.

I would add I would hope the tribe would make every effort to

incorporate as we are trying to incorporate the Bevan Recovery
Plan and the Council strategy for salmon.

I would hope the tribes would make every effort to incorporate
their plan so we don't have the warring plan problem.
Ms. FuRSE. Thank you. If I may, Madam Chair, Ms. Hamilton,

you spoke of a $3 billion income. Now I assume that you are saying
it is $3 billion now under this diminished resource.
Ms. Hamilton. Those figures are from 1991 and they were pro-

vided by the Sport Fishing Institute.

Ms. FuRSE. Can you just make a guess at what you think the in-

come from the sports fishery would be under a recovered resource?
Ms. Hamilton. Well, we can look at some of the studies that are

done per fish chasing salmon recreationally and one of the points
I didn't get to make orally, it is in my written testimony, is that
people who fish for salmon are addicts and they are not going to

go bowling instead.

This is lost revenue to our States and there is also some docu-
mentation in my testimony done by Bill Clark of the Northwest
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Marine Trade Association on the transfer of our industry to the Ca-
nadian fisheries.

But in terms of expenditures per fish I have seen figures Hke $30
for a coho all the way up to $495 per fish in Alaska and so if we
wanted to be conservative and look at recovery in the Columbia
River at $100 a fish, which if I look at the thousands of dollars I

have in fishing, that is a pretty low figure.

And we would look at the fact that we have lost some 10 million

fish. It is staggering figures, just staggering on what the value is

to the sport fishing industry. I wouldn't address what the value
would be to commercial or tribal interests but just to our industry
alone.

People spend tremendous sums of money in pursuit of salmon. I

can't explain it. I think it is a genetic defect, I am not sure. I know
I have it. Maybe it is a designer gene, I don't know.
Ms. FURSE. Thank you.
Ms. FURSE. Thank you. Mr. Tienson, what contribution do you

feel that harvest plays in the salmon decline and how will addi-

tional harvest restrictions affect their recovery?
Mr. Tienson. Even Dr. Bevan and his team acknowledged, as I

understand it, that the complete elimination of U.S. fishing on
salmon would not in any way bring about a recovery of the salmon
even under the most favorable of their assumptions, and nobody
has really contradicted that.

And that is why it is—frustrating isn't the word. I mean it is ab-
solutely outrageous to us that once again we are being singled out
as the industry that needs to carry the burden for salmon recovery.
We already have, we always will, but the 95 percent-plus burden

is too darn much. It is not fair. It is not going to do a darn thing
except eliminate the need to bring back these stocks to harvestable
levels of abundance.
You already hear people saying, well, gee, if we get rid of the gill

net fishery that means we would have more fish to trade to the Ca-
nadians, then the Alaskans. The minds are already going in that
regard.

It is not fair. When those dams were created, the Mitchell Act
was passed because there was an express acknowledgement and
recognition that there would be decimation of the salmon run so we
would need to provide some means of restoring those runs or com-
pensating for them.
And that was in order to benefit tribal, sport and commercial

fisheries and we need to recognize that and keep that in mind as
we restore these stocks. We don't need to eliminate fisheries. There
is no reason to. Eliminating them won't bring any salmon back.
The only thing it will do is destroy coastal and river economies and
the culture of the region.

Ms. FuRSE. Thank you. My time has expired.
Ms. Unsoeld. I would advise the panel that I believe the staff

has some additional questions they would like to submit to some
of you in writing. I would thank you for coming.

I would also comment that it is clear that we don't have a sim-
ple, easily identified entity that we can point a finger at that is

going to be the decisionmaking body. Therefore it is extremely im-
portant that we all work together and that we swallow some of our
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natural desires to clobber each other in the common interest of put-

ting the salmon back into its place of preeminence in the Pacific

Northwest.
Thank you very much for being here.

[Whereupon, at 1:08 p.m., the Subcommittee was adjourned, and
the following was submitted for the record:]
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Good morning. Chairman Studds eind members of the Committee. Thank

you for the opportunity to testily at this oversight hearing on the recovery of

threatened and endangered Columbia River Basin salmon stocks.

The Council appreciates the opportunity to comment on the Recovery

Team's recommendations to the National Marine Fisheries Service. We are

continuing to review the recommendations, and I am happy to offer you our

analysis based on the work we have done to date.

You asked three specific questions, and we address them in detail in this

written testimony. Your first question asks whether the Recovery Team's

recommendations wiU lead to the recovery of listed stocks. As I am sure Dr.

Bevan will concur, there are substantial biological uncertainties that make it

impossible to answer that question with certainty. Full implementation of the

Team's recommendations and the Council's salmon strategy provides the best

hope not only for recovery but for rebuilding to levels that will support a

sustainable fishery.

Your second question asks whether there are alternative approaches that

would increase the likelihood of recovery. As I will discuss later in this testimony,

the Council will be reviewing a number of additional salmon survival

improvements this summer and fall. We are undertaking this review because we
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have acknowledged that the existing measures in our salmon strategy are by

themselves Insufficient to protect all wezik stocks or rebuild to flshable levels.

Your third question concerns the essential elements of a rebuilding plan. We

believe that a rebuilding plan must improve salmon survivcil at all stages of the

salmon's life cycle. In that, we concur with the Recovery Team. We believe,

however, that an effective effort must also go beyond the immediate listed stocks if

we are to ever get off the Endangered Species Act treadmill. In addition, we have

other legal mandates including tribal treaty rights and the rebuilding obligaUons

of the Pacific Salmon Treaty with Canada that must be addressed in the Columbia

River Basin. These will require measures beyond those needed to remove listed

salmon stocks from the Endemgered Species list.

Many of the salmon runs in the Columbia River Basin are in deep trouble

despite substanUal recovery efforts to date. Arguably, the stocks that are in the

worst condiUon are those in the Snake River that are being protected under the

Endangered Species Act. This year only about 600 naturally spawning spring

Chinook salmon Eire expected to return above Lower Granite, and the outlook for

summer and fall chinook is similarly disastrous.

But the combination of impacts that brought the Snake River runs to within a

few steps of extinction are not unique to the Snake River. They are the same

conditions that have damaged salmon runs throughout the Columbia Basin. We

know there are many reasons for the decline of these runs, some human-caused,

others not. The impact of dams, historic overfishing and poor hatchery pracUces.

for example, can be blamed, and so can damage to spawning and rearing habitat.

Much of the reduction in this year's runs may be attributable to the seven-year

drought in the Columbia Basin and to very poor feeding conditions in the ocean.

But a successful recovery program must be able to withstand unfavorable natural

conditions - just as the runs were able to withstand adverse natural conditions

when they were healthy. If it doesn't, the runs will be lost. The runs are declining

despite substantial regional efforts during the last 12 years to improve their

survival. Twelve years is only about three generations of salmon, and so it may be

too soon to gauge success.
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We think it is important to take a broad view in salmon rebuilding efforts in

the Columbia River Basin and not focus narrowly on the Snake River stocks.

Petitions have been filed to protect fish stocks elsewhere in the Columbia River

Basin under the Endangered Species Act. To us, this emphasizes the need for

coordinated, basinwide recovery efforts. The ESA imposes a recovery planning

process that is something like emergency surgery. To attack a problem that is so

wide-ranging, the region needs a broad approach — a holistic health care plan

rather than emergency surgery to aid specific stocks.

Fortunately, the Northwest Power Act of 1980 gives us the opportunity to

address the decline of salmon populations regionwide. Through this law. which

created the Northwest Power Planning Council, the region developed a

comprehensive program to protect and rebuild salmon and steelhead populations

basinwide. It is the Columbia River Basin Fish and Wildlife Program and.

particularly, that component of the program known as the "Strategy for Scilmon."

We completed it in late 1992. and it is being implemented.

We believe the Strategy for Salmon is compatible with at least five legal

mandates that our region is attempting to fulfill. The first is the Northwest Power

Act. The second is the Endangered Species Act. The third is our nation's

responsibility to Columbia Basin Indian tribes under the treaties of 1855. The

fourth is our nation's obligations to rebuild naturally spawning salmon runs

under the U.S. /Canada Pacific Salmon Treaty of 1985. The fifth is the Clean

Water Act.

Efforts on all these fronts cein and should proceed simultaneously and in a

coordinated way. None of these mandates is less important than any other. They

all edm to protect and enhance fish and wildlife populations in the Columbia River

Basin, albeit to different levels.

Our Strategy is comprehensive, in that it includes measures designed to

improve salmon survival at every stage of the life cycle. It is based on the best

available science, as required by the Northwest Power Act. Both the Council and

the Recovery Team faced the difficult task of sifting through a considerable

amount of data, analyses, judgments and opinions to identify the needs of salmon.

The Teaim's mission was to develop an Endangered Species Act recovery plan that
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will rebuild and ultiijiately delist the Snake River sockeye. and spring/summer

and fall chlnook populations. The Council's mandate under the Northwest Power

Act is broader: to protect and enhance all salmon stocks In the Columbia River

Basin without damaging resident fish or wildlife populations eind while affording

the region an adequate, economical, affordable and reliable electric power supply.

This mandate is reflected in our Strategy, which is a major component of the 1994

Columbia River Basin Fish and WUdlife Program. The Strategy aims to restore

Scdmon populations throughout the Columbia River Basin to levels that will permit

the region to obtain the benefits of sustainable fishery resources.

We remain convinced that it is important for the region to focus on this

broad goal and address all salmon stocks in the Columbia River Basin -- not just

those listed or proposed for listing under the Endangered Species Act. The

Northwest Power Act specifically requires us to include measures in our fish and

wildlife program that we determine will "complement the existing and future

activities of the Federal and the region's State fish and wildlife agencies and

appropriate Indian tribes." ' We interpret this direction to mean that our program

should be designed to protect all fish and wildlife populations in the basin and

rebuild the declining stocks to harvestable numbers.

In our two-year effort to develop the Strategy, we conducted numerous

hearings and consultations, eveiluated substantial volumes of scientific and

technical analysis and identified all immediate and longer-term actions we

believed would be needed to rebuild Columbia Piiver salmon populations to

harvestable levels. Because the Recovery Team used the same information, it is

gratifying and reassuring that the result of the Team's extended process in

devising the recovery plan is largely consistent with the conclusions we reached in

our proceedings. We believe it is vital that the region continue to implement

expeditiously the provisions of the Council's Strategy.

The Strategy is a living document, as the Northwest Power Act gives us the

opportunity to react fairly quickly to changing conditions and new. relevant

information. As I said earlier, the Act requires that our program be "based on.

' Pacific Northwest Electric Power Planning and Conservation Act. Public Law 96-501. at

SecUon 4.(h)(6)(A).
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and supported by, the best available scientific knowledge." ^ To this end, we

embrace the concept of adaptive mainagement, which means learning by taking

action in the face of uncertainty, but taking action in a way that allows you to

leam as you go along. In this way, as events and knowledge change, the Council

has the opportunity to make changes in the program.

This summer we are embarking on a public process that could lead to

changes in the Strategy that reflect new information. In the Strategy, we said the

existing measures would not be enough to protect all weak runs or rebuild to

levels that would provide the benefits of sustainable fisheries. Accordingly, we

called for detailed reports to be prepared on a variety of measures to improve

passage of anadromous fish in their mainstem migration, including reservoir

drawdowns, potential new Snake River Basin storage facilities, water efficiencies,

transactions or other nonstructureil measures to secure more Snake River Basin

water for anadromous fish, biological rule curves to protect resident fish and

wildlife populations associated with Libby and Hungry Horse reservoirs in

Montana, and other matters.

All of these reports grew out of amendment recommendations that were

submitted in the process of developing the Strategy. In the Strategy, we

committed to review those reports in 1994, as well as emy additional new

information, and amend appropriate measures into the program. And there is

new information, such as research on river flows and salmon migration in the

mid-Columbia River and a scientific peer review of transporting juvenile fish

downstream past the dams.

Meanwhile, a number of other issues have arisen in connection with the

National Marine Fisheries Service's 1993 and 1994 biological opinions, the

Recovery Team's draft recommendations last October, federal court proceedings,

and other matters. We want to be sure we take these matters fully into account in

our fall rulemaking process. We have invited recommendations regsirding all

measures for anadromous fish in the Strategy. These recommendations are due

2 Section 4.(h)(6)(B).
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to us by August 15. The Council Invites Congressional participation as we work

toward what surely will be a controversial decision.

We need to coordinate our pl£uining effort with the National Marine

Fisheries Service as it devises a recovery plan for Snake River salmon from the

recommendations provided by the Recovery Team. We need to ensure that while

the Fisheries Service develops its plan, the region continues to implement the

Strategy for Salmon. We hope that eis the result of our fall rulemaking and the

Fisheries Services work on its recovery plan, our two agencies can come closer

together on the best measures to protect all fish and wildlife in the Columbia River

Basin.

Brief comparison of the Recovery Plan and the Strategy

The Council's Strategy for Salmon and the Recovery Team's

recommendations regarding Snake River salmon are mostly similar. Here are

some key similarities:

• Both plans call for improved river flows.

• Both plans call for more water from the Snake River Basin and for better .

research on flows and the benefits of flows.

• Both plans agree that transportation of salmon in barges provides

protection for some populations in poor water conditions.

• Both plans say transportation efforts and facilities need to be improved, as

do bypass systems at the dams.

• Both plans largely agree on the need to protect and improve salmon

spawning cind rearing habitat.

• Both plans say harvest and predation should be reduced. Both also agree

that alternative harvest techniques are necessary.
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• Both plans call for improved hatchery production and for careful

experiments to rebuild naturally spawning stocks.

In fact, there are far more similarities than differences. But there are

differences. I will mention four here briefly, and then I will expand on them later

in my testimony.

• First, the Council is concerned that the Salmon Oversight Committee

proposed by the Recovery Team would duplicate a measure in the Strategy

for Salmon and be too focused on the Endangered Species Act. We think it

is important to avoid adding additional layers of process to the salmon

recovery effort.

• Second, the Recovery Team initially proposed that the region choose either a

transportation strategy or an Inriver migration strategy to improve survivgd

ofjuvenile fish as they migrate to the ocesm. The Strategy says that while

there is much regional disagreement on the benefits of transportation, it is

one of the few tools the region has to improve salmon survival in the near

term, especially in low water conditions. In the longer term, depending on

results of continuing evaluation, transportation may be useful in the mix of

techniques the region will employ to decrease salmon mortality associated

with migration through reservoirs.

• Third, the Recovery Team omitted a John Day Reservoir drawdown. It is

one of the additional measures the Council included in the Strategy for

Salmon. While we haven't made a final decision, we believe it is not prudent

to eliminate any option at this time. In the Strategy, we sisked for additional

study of the John Day drawdown, and we will take up the issue in our fall

rulemaking.

• Fourth. I think it also is important to note that our plan is in place, emd it is

being implemented. It is important that the region continue to implement

the Strategy while the Snake River salmon recovery plan is being developed.

The Recovery Team correctly notes there is no silver bullet for recovery of

salmon populations and, accordingly, it is not surprising that their plan indicates
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there are few new Ideas for recovery. We reached a similar conclusion -- that no

single acUon would produce the results desired. In fact, we earnestly believe that

Improvements at all stages of the salmon life cycle are required or the results wall

be disappointing.

For these reasons, it is logical to expect that our Strategy and the Recovery

Team's recommendaUons to the National Marine Fisheries Service overlap in many

instances. That, in fact, is the case and, in what follows, I will comment on many

of those similariUes and indicate some differences that appear to grow largely out

of our differing legal mandates and goals.

Goals of the Recovery Plan and the Strategy

The recovery plan identifies recovery goals for Snake River sockeye and

spring/summer and fall Chinook. We see no reason to differ with the Team's

conclusion that achieving the recommended levels of adult returns could satisfy

the delisting requirements of the Endangered Species Act. Of course, as you can

see from the table, the Council's goals for Snake River spring and summer

Chinook are substantially higher than the delisting goal of the Recovery Team.

Recovery Team delisting criteria compared to CouncU targets

Spring/summer chinook

Council

50,000 Spring/20,000 Summer

Recovery Team

26.200

Fall Chinook

Council

1,000

Recovery Team

1,000

Sockeye

Council

No goal: emergency breeding program

Recovery Team

1,000 in any one lake
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This is not surprising given that the Council's goal is to go far beyond

Endangered Species Act requirements and provide substantially increased and

harvestable populations for the Snake River and elsewhere. Regarding fall

Chinook, the Council's rebuilding target and the Team's interim escapement goal

are the same — 1,000 fish.

The Council's Strategy emphasizes additional measures that, in our view,

will be required to fiarther improve salmon survival. These additioneil measures,

which are discussed below, are designed to ensure that the Strategy addresses all

stocks in the Columbia River Basin. If successful, future petitions and

Endangered Species Act proceedings could be unnecessary.

The Council's Salmon Strategy also calls for the development of goals and

rebuilding schedules for salmon stocks not currentiy listed under the Endangered

Species Act. We believe this additional work will help the region identify actions

needed to rebuUd all salmon stocks in the basin to levels beyond those that trigger

Endangered Species Act petitions and listings.

Framework

The Council is well acquainted with the dilemma the Team faced in selecting

recovery measures and relating them to a recovery goal. In the Strategy, we asked

the state, federal and tribal fish managers to provide us with their goals and

objectives for the basin's salmon stocks. Clear goals and objectives are critical to

the successful implementation of salmon recovery measures. To date we have not

received this information, and we are encouraging the managers to provide it

expeditiously.

While it is possible to describe individual measures, it is very difficult to

say whether individually or collectively those measures achieve any given objective

because our knowledge of this complex ecosystem is limited. The Team noted

these difficulties in its discussion of economic issues. Nevertheless, we have

found over the past 12 years that a large collection of recovery measures

unaccompanied by an analytical firamework poses real difficulties. Implementing

agencies have a difficult time sorting out priorities: policy makers have littie sense

83-191 0-94-3
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there are few new ideas for recovery. We reached a similar conclusion -- that no

single action would produce the results desired. In fact, we earnestly believe that

improvements at all stages of the salmon life cycle are required or the results will

be disappointing.

For these reasons, it is logical to expect that our Strategy and the Recovery

Team's recommendations to the NaUonal Marine Fisheries Service overlap in many

instances. That, in fact is the case and, in what follows, 1 will comment on many

of those similarities and indicate some differences that appear to grow largely out

of our diflferlng legal mandates and goals.

Goals of the Recovery Plan and the Strategy

The recovery plan identifies recovery goals for Snake River sockeye and

spring/summer and fall Chinook. We see no reason to differ with the Team's

conclusion that achieving the recommended levels of adult returns could satisfy

the deUsting requirements of the Endangered Species Act. Of course, as you can

see from the table, the Council's goals for Snake River spring and summer

Chinook are substantially higher than the delisting goal of the Recovery Team.

Recovery Team delisting criteria compared to Council targets

Spring/summer Chinook

Council

50,000 Spring/20,000 Summer

Recovery Team

26.200

Fall Chinook
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discussing the charter and composition of the Independent Scientific Group with

Bonneville, the fisheries agencies, tribes, utilities and others. We encourage the

Team to endorse this important independent scientific undertaking.

Because of our concern about the complexities of all the current processes,

we urged that any institutional reforms be designed to fit with existing

organizations and that all efforts be made to avoid creating additional layers of

process solely for Endangered Species Act compliance. We are particularly

concerned that the Team's proposed Salmon Oversight Committee duplicates

activities of the Northwest Power Planning Council and the previously mentioned

Independent Scientific Group. Additionally, such a committee could further

diminish the role and influence of the Northwest states. The region has a long

way to go in salmon recovery, but establishing yet another set of procedures is not

the answer. Existing procedures must be streamlined so that the Endangered

Species Act, the Northwest Power Act. the federal government's trust obligations to

Indian Tribes and the rebuilding commitment of the Pacific Salmon Treaty can be

addressed in a coordinated and efficient manner. Improved federal, state and

local coordination is essential.

We appreciate the work of the Recovery Team, and we are ready to work

with the Fisheries Service to ensure effiective implementation of salmon recovery

measures. But in order to be an effective partner, we need to be involved in

consultations with the federal agencies under Section 7 of the Endangered Species

Act. These consultations - on dam operations, hatcheries, harvest, habitat —

concern impacts on salmon that we directly address with measures in our

Strategy for Salmon. The states, through the Power Planning Council, simply

must be given a meaningful, participatory role in these consultations. The

Governors have requested this, and it could be done with the stroke of a pen.

Habitat and Production

In the habitat and production areas, we find the Recovery Team's

recommendations compatible with our Strategy. The Team's call for uniform

habitat standards fits very well with the Council's habitat performance standards.

The goal of maintaining high-quality habitat while initiating actions to improve

lower-quality habitat is also consistent with the Strategy.

11
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The Tecun urges prepsu^tlon of a habitat assessment within six months

using existing Information. We believe that the recently completed Columbia River

Beisln Subbasln Pleins and the Integrated System Plan should provide most of the

Information needed for this exercise. These plans were prepared under Council

contract in the late 1980s and, while the Council has noted inconsistencies In the

level and quality of habitat data, the plans were based on the best data existing at

the time.

The Team also endorsed the initiation of long-term subbasin habitat

management. This Is consistent with the Council's direction. It is clear that the

implementation of individual habitat projects, without reference to key factors

limiting salmon production, likely will produce disappointing results or could be

unsuccessful. Coordinated and cooperative habitat improvement is necessary and

consistent with the Team's recommendations. The Council's Strategy calls for a

comprehensive watershed management approach In several model wratersheds

around the Columbia River Basin. Our exp)ectation in these watersheds is that

focused federal, state, local and private efforts are the best hope for significant

habitat improvements. In a number of areas, the Team's recommendations eire

more specific than the Council's Strategy, and we believe those vnll help further

expedite habitat protection and improvement.

Our Strategy recognizes the importance of involving private property owners

in improving salmon spawning and rearing habitat. We designed the model

watersheds program in the Strategy around the concept that this work can be

accomplished cooperatively by land ovmers eind government, particulEirly the Soil

ConservaUon Service (SCS). The SCS is providing valuable assistance in this

effort, which is under vray in Idaho. Oregon and Washington. Through the model

watersheds, landowners are actively participating in salmon rebuilding activities.

Landowners need assurance that effective actions on their part will limit their

exposure to penalties under the Endangered Species Act if a stock that spavms on

their property is listed.

In the production area, we sheire the Team's concern that hatchery practices

and policies are fragmented and in need of improvement. Under the Strategy, we

have charged a team of hatchery operation specialists (the Integrated Hatchery

12
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Operations Team) to develop basinwide practices that should help improve

hatchery operations and policies. Significant research efforts also are underway

in the areas of fish disease, hatchery effectiveness and hatchery impacts on

naturally spawning stocks. One of the two production subcommittees of the

Salmon Oversight Committee proposed by the Recovery Team appears to duplicate

efforts of the Integrated Hatchery Operations Team. In our comments to the

Recovery Team on its draft recommendations, we suggested it would be helpful if

their proposals were recast to fit with these ongoing efforts, rather than create an

additional committee.

The Council sought to Initiate a number of careful supplementation

experiments, but the role of supplementation in rehabilitating naturally spawning

populations is much debated. In the past, we have sought clarity fi-om the

National Marine Fisheries Service on the point at which supplementation or

captive broodstock programs should be implemented in order to conserve

naturally spawning populations. As yet, the region has achieved no clesir answer

on this issue.

Lacking clear direction from the Fisheries Service, the Council has assumed

that supplementation will be needed to rebuild Snake River fall chinook

populations. We have called for expenditure of funds to determine habitat

requirements, and a considerable amount of plemning has been undertaken for a

supplementation project sponsored by the Nez Perce Tribe. To date, however, we

have received no assurances that these activities can proceed. While we have seen

some promising increases in the number of fall chinook passing over Lower

Granite Dam in the past three years, rebuilding is not assured. Runs this year

are expected to be very low. In short, the region needs immediate guidance on the

role of supplementation and captive breeding programs. Past experience indicates

that Implementation of these activities takes a considerable amount of time,

particularly in the current climate of uncertainty.

Downstream Survival

Improving downstream survival has proved to be the most controversial and

most expensive area of our Strategy. Like the Team, we struggled with substantial

biological uncertainty, generally weak data and diametrically opposed judgments
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eind opinions. The Strategy called for investigation of key biological uncertainties,

particularly the relationship between river flows, velocity of the current and

salmon survival.

Following direction in the Strategy, last fall the Council contracted with Oak

Ridge Natlon£d Laboratories for an Independent synthesis of available information

on the relationship between flows, water velocity, sraolt travel time and salmon

survival. The author. Dr. Glenn Cada, concluded, in part: "Despite problems with

the existing data sets, the general relationship of increasing survival with

Increasing flow in the Columbia River Basin still appears to be reasonable." ^

While Dr. Cada was conducting his review, the Recovery Team issued its

draft recommendations, which started that "(t|he Team accepts the evidence that

smolt travel time increases emd survival decreases when flows are as low as they

were in 1973 and 1977. but the evidence is less clear on what flows are needed for

high survival." * Following the Cada report the National Marine Fisheries Service

Issued a draft biologiced opinion regarding operation of the Columbia eind Snake

River dams. The opinion included an appendix that outlined the evidence for a

positive relationship between river flows and fish survival.^

In late February 1994. the Council conducted a technical workshop with

scientific experts to discuss areas of agreement and disagreement concerning

flow/velocity-survival relationships and also ways to test these relationships. This

workshop helped to frame the nature of fiow/veloclty and transportation

hypotheses the Council is considering amending into the fish and wildlife

program. The Council is stating these working hypotheses in order to provide

direction and impetus to high-priority scientific evaluation of these issues. The

^ Cada. Glenn F.. "Review of Information Pertaining to the Efifect of Water Velocity on the

Survival of Juvenile Salmon and Steelhead In the Columbia River Basin." Environmental

Sciences Division. Oak Ridge National Laboratory. Page 56. This report Is available from the

Council's central office by telephone. 800-222-3355. Please request Document 94-05.

* Draft recovery plan, P. VIII-27.

5 Appendix B. of the Biological Opinion on 1994-1998 Operation of the Federal Columbia River

Power System. "Interim Standard for Target Flow Ranges for EvEiluatlon of Operation of the

Federal Columbia River Power System Between 1994-1998," February 1994, National Marine

Fisheries Service. Northwest Region. 7600 Sand Point Way. Seattle. WA. 981 15.
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necessity for additional scientific efibrt on these issues has been frequently

expressed over the years in the Council's program, and elsewhere. One of the

primary impediments to progress has been the difficulty of framing the question to

be answered and securing agreement on methods to evaluate the flow/velocity and

transportation survival relationships. In our flow/survival hypotheses

rulemaking, we projX)se to pose the questions so that they can be openly

addressed. We conducted public hearings around the region and took public

comments on the proposed hypotheses through this month. We are scheduled to

make a decision in late July.

Meanwhile, the Team's draft recovery plan proposed that, to improve

downstream survival, the region should select either a transportation or in-river

migration path as soon as possible. As things stand, the Council has not found it

prudent to choose one particular approach to downstream migration over another.

The Team's final recommendations are broader, urging that if smolt collection and

transportation from the dams and in-river migration without drawdown of the

lower Snake River reservoirs does not result in significantly improved survival,

then the region should consider implementing other options — such as drawdowns

or a new smolt collection facility at the head of Lower Granite reservoir.

Available data do not point to either transportation or in-river migration as

the sole means to sustain or rebuild populations. Benefits firom improvements in

river passage or transportation are uncertain, especially for naturally spawning

stocks. In view of these considerations, we called on the region to put in place an

immediate, multi-faceted program of increased flow and velocity, improved bypass,

increased spUl, unproved transportation and predator-control measures. We
believe these immediate actions could minimize the risk of failure and improve

salmon survival. However, our analysis also indicates that they will be insufficient

— even when taken together with significant improvements in other areas of the

life cycle ~ to protect all weak stocks or reach the rebuilding goals set by the

Council.

Accordingly, we said that as a matter of urgency the region should make all

necessary preparations to implement expeditiously a number of additional

measures: drawdowns of lower Snake River reservoirs, additional water storage in

the Snake River Basin and improved water-use efficiencies. We urged that the
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region proceed on the expectation that these measures will be implemented unless

shown to be structurally or economicedly infeaslble. biologically imprudent, or

otherwise inconsistent with the Northwest Power Act. The Council initiated two

major ainalytlcal efforts on drawdowns. First, the Council established a drawdown

committee, which oversees the Corps' investigation of John Day and Lower Snake

drawdowns. Second, the Corps, National Marine Fisheries Service and others are

designing a biological test of the lower Snake drawdown, tentatively scheduled for

1996. The Council intends to review the results of these intensive plcmning efforts

this year.

These additional measures could be expensive and controversial. We
cautioned that a business-as-usual approach means the region will face too many

unnecessary delays in the implementation of these measures, unless ongoing

evaluation precludes such implementation. The measures could take years or

even decades unless the region adopts more creative and aggressive means to

obtain required evaluation and monitoring information, and make the essential

preparations for action. It is important to keep in mind that, without these

measures, it appears highly unlikely that the region can rebuild ssdmon

populations to the levels called for in the Council's Strategy.

We are encouraged that the Recovery Team recommended many of the

immediate downstream survival improvements called for in our Strategy. The

Team's recommendations for continued flow augmentation, improvements in

transportation and careful assessment of bypass alternatives are compatible with

our Strategy emd fit well with previously discussed efforts underway in this area.

However, the Team is equivocal on certain improvements. We believe the region

needs to overcome institutional inertia on additioned mainstem survival measures

if we are to get off the Endangered Species Act treadmill.

The Team omitted a measure that is in our Strategy — investigation of the

drawdown of Lake Umatilla, the reservoir behind John Day Dam. Because the

region has not chosen an exclusive transportation path over in-river migration,

the ability to operate John Day Dam at its minimum operating pool could benefit

non-transported Snake River salmon and Columbia FUver migreints as well.

Omitting John Day drawdown firom a salmon rehabilitation effort at this time is

inappropriate.
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We are aware of — and our analysis Includes — concerns about the

biological and economic effects of a John Day drawdown. We have urged that the

economic effects be anticipated and mitigation measures be in place prior to

implementation and that a number of analyses be underway addressing biological

concerns. These were reported to the Council and its Drawdown Oversight

Committee in May by the Corps of Engineers in the draft System Configuration

Study, Phase One. We are continuing to evaluate the draft report, a massive,

multi-volume document, and I am not prepared today to offer you specific

comments on the Corps' conclusions. However, the John Day drawdown is one of

the issues we will take up in our fall rulemaking.

We also Eire aware of the Team's interest in surface bypass facilities at the

dams. We are aware of the surface bypass concept, and in our Strategy we called

for investigation of promising new technologies to improve salmon bypass at the

dams. Surface bypsiss may have promise. We encourage parties to explore it

fully, and we plan to take up the matter during our fall rulemaking.

We also have asked for accelerated installation of smolt detection devices at

the dams and dam modifications to accommodate increased spill while reducing

the potential for gas bubble trauma in the spilled fish.

Harvest

We concur with the Recovery Team that current levels of Snake River

spring and summer chinook harvest are very low and appear to have no

significant bearing on Snake River population levels. However, both the Council

and the Team concluded that fall chinook harvest rates have been too high. The

levels of reduction called for in the Strategy and the recovery plan appear similar.

The Council and the Team likewise call for no commercieil harvest of sockeye

below the confluence of the Snake and Columbia rivers, and both request that the

tribes continue to restrain the ceremonial and subsistence sockeye fishery. The

Team and the Council agree that significant reductions in Canadian interception

of Snake River fall chinook salmon are needed. In saying this, we understand the

United States wUl need to reduce its interception of Canadian stocks as well.
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region proceed on the expectation that these measures will be implemented unless

shown to be structurally or economically Infeaslble. biologicedly Imprudent, or

otherwise Inconsistent with the Northwest Power Act. The Council initiated two

major analytical efforts on drawdowns. First, the Council established a drawdown

committee, which oversees the Corps' Investigation of John Day and Lower Sneike

drawdowns. Second, the Corps, National Marine Fisheries Service and others are

designing a biological test of the lower Snake drawdown, tentatively scheduled for

1996. The Council intends to review the results of these Intensive planning efforts

this year.

These additional measures could be expensive and controversial. We
cautioned that a business-as-usual approach means the region will face too many

unnecesseiry delays in the implementation of these measures, unless ongoing

evaluation precludes such implementation. The measures could take years or

even decades unless the region adopts more creative and aggressive means to

obtain required evaluation and monitoring information, and make the essential

prepeirations for action. It is important to keep in mind that, without these

measures, it appears highly unlikely that the region can rebuild salmon

populations to the levels caUed for in the Council's Strategy.

We are encouraged that the Recovery Team recommended many of the

Immediate downstream survival Improvements called for in our Strategy. The

Team's recommendations for continued flow augmentation, improvements in

transportation and careful assessment of bypass alternatives are compatible with

our Strategy and fit well with previously discussed efforts underway in this area.

However, the Team is equivocal on certain improvements. We believe the region

needs to overcome institutional inertia on additional nuiinstem survival measures

if we are to get off the Endangered Species Act treadmill.

The Team omitted a measure that is in our Strategy — investigation of the

drawdown of Lake Umatilla, the reservoir behind John Day Dam. Because the

region has not chosen an exclusive transportation path over in-river migration,

the ability to operate John Day Deun at its minimum operating pool could benefit

non-transported Snake River salmon and Columbia River migrants as well.

Omitting John Day drawdown from a sedmon rehabilitation effort at this time is

inappropriate.
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project actually increases salmon survival, and so it is being pursued as an

experimental demonstration.

Meanwhile, the 1994 Northern Squawflsh Sport Reward Fishery is off to a

fast start. Bonneville recently reported that in May, the first month of the fishery,

a total of 13,453 squawfish were taken from the Snake and Columbia, and that is

more than three times the amount caught in May 1993. In addition to a $3

bounty for each fish over 1 1 inches long, successful anglers can compete for

monthly drawings of $1,000 and an end-of-season drawing next October of

$5,000. The $25,000 in prize money is not fi-om Bonneville. It's being offered by a

Northwest chain of sporting goods stores, and I think that's a real public service.

In addition to squawfish, the Council also is concerned about the possible

effects of mushrooming shad populations. We called for additional work on bird

and marine mammal predation. The available literature does not indicate non-

indigenous fish species (including channel catfish, bass, walleye, and other

species) are as significant predators as squawfish. but we believe they need to he

evaluated carefully.

Economics

The Council shares the Team's concern that predicting biological gains is

difficult and. accordingly, that the preparation oi cost-effectiveness analyses at

this time is problematic. We encouraged parties to continue their work in these

areas, however, so that additional information on economic impacts and regional

tradeoffs can be developed.

To assist in this effort, we submitted to the Team information we prepared

on implementation costs of the Strategy. The chart on the foUowing page detaUs

the cost of our Strategy.
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We estimated thai the measures in the Strategy for Salmon likely translate

into about a 4-percent increase the Bonneville Power Administration's wholesale

rates. That amount could increase as additional capital obligations are incurred.

The impact of the Strategy on retail electricity rates likely was somewhat less them

4 percent, depending on how much utilities choose to pass on their customers.

The Strategy is only part of the total regional cost of salmon recovery. We

estimate the total cost translates into about an 8- 1 1 percent impact on

Bonneville's wholesale power rates.

No similar analysis of costs vs. rate impacts or an implementation schedule

has been prepared for the measures recommended by the Recovery Team. We are

ready to work with the Fisheries Service to ensure effective implementation of

salmon recovery measures in the Columbia River Beisin.

The costs of salmon recovery efiforts are substantial, but the region also

should bear in mind the cost of inaction. Without effective restoration measures,

the region stands to lose wild and naturally spawning salmon stocks whose

genetic resources may be critical to the long-term sustalnability of all salmon

runs.

We agree with the Recovery Team, whose final recommendations to the

Fisheries Service conclude:

"Many of the impacts discussed above are negative in terms of social well-

being. But the long-run effect of recovery of the Snake River salmon stocks

to the level of delisting and beyond would be overwhelmingly positive. Jobs

would return; recreational and esthetic benefits would expemd; and, most

importantly, a priceless heritage of the Northwest would be restored and

preserved for future generations."

Conclusion

We remain convinced that the region must make an aggressive effort to

protect and restore salmon populations in the Columbia River Basin. A

coordmated, cooperative approach is required, or the region will be forced to react
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continually to End^gered Species Act petitions and constraints. Our baslnwlde

program Is designed to enhance £ill Columbia River salmon stocks. We appreciate

the work of the Recovery Team on listed Snake River salmon populations.

Again. I want to Invite interested members of Congress to assist us in making

the difficult decisions we will face this fall. We want this effort for salmon to turn

out like the effort for bald eagles and gray whales. We want to avoid the spotted

owl outcome.

Thank you again for the opportunity to testify here today. I would be

pleased to answer any questions.

PUAHVSPEECHESSMMrreST DOC
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Testimony of Donald E. Bevan, Professor Emeritus, University of

Washington, for the Salmon Recovery Team before the Subcommittee

on Environment and Natural Resources of the Committee on

Merchant Marine and Fisheries United States House of

Representatives. June 30, 1994

Mr. Chairman, members of the Subcommittee, ladies and

gentlemen, I am Donald E. Bevan Chairman of the National Marine

Fisheries Service's Snake River Salmon Recovery Team.

Mr. Chairman, with your permission I should like to enter

into the Committee's record the document: Snake River Salmon

Recovery Team Final Recommendations to the National Marine

Fisheries Service. A Summary April 26, 1994. Chairman: Donald

Bevan, Vice Chairman John Harville, Team Members: Peter Bergman,

Theodore Bjornn, James Crutchfield, Peter Klingeman, James

Litchfield; Recovery Plan Coordinator: Rob Jones, Recovery Team

Support: Robert Clapp, Katherine Hollar, Debi Runyen, Tracey Vriens.

The complete document of final recommendations is available

from the National Marine Fisheries Service.

I shall begin my presentation with our conclusions found on

page 24 of the Summary document: "The recovery of Snake River

salmon is a difficult and complicated public policy issue. It is

important to achieve recovery and ultimately reap the social,

cultural, and economic benefits of restored salmon populations. It is

also important to do so in an organized, scientifically based, and

economically efficient manner. The Team's recommendations provide

a realistic basis for achieving these objectives.

The team believes that the recommendations for recovery of

the Snake River Salmon can form a template for the rebuilding of

other Columbia basin salmon stocks and the avoidance of future

listings under the Endangered Species Act.

We believe that, in combination with the Northwest Power

Planning Council's Strategy for Salmon, we have a regional solution

for our Columbia River salmon problems.

Are there differences in the NWPPC's Strategy for Salmon

and the Team's recovery recommendations? Yes, there are some. Are

the disagreements important or significant? The Team thinks not,

but any disagreement is surely based upon inconsistent

interpretation of uncertain science. We will not discover the truth

until we monitor and evaluate initial recovery efforts for several

years.
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One attractive development, to measure the progress of

recovery, is new technological tools for tagging and recovery to

measure changes in survival.

Most important, in our view, is to expeditiously get on with the

job. We must not delay because agencies, institutions, or individuals,

without clear scientific direction, argue over what needs to be done.

We must begin recovery and at the same time develop better

science. This is not the time to wait for research to prove a particular

recovery tool is valid. Neither is it a time, as some propose, to

proceed recklessly with measures whose benefits and risks are

either not understood or carefully balanced. We must monitor and

evaluate as we go forward and be prepared scientifically, politically

and emotionally to change direction or abandon a recovery method if

science shows it to be ineffective. This concept is called adaptive

management.
These recommendations do not maintain the status quo. They

will have considerable social and economic impacts on the region and

in return we will secure the benefits of recovery. The costs will be

estimated by a NMFS economic team and will be available in NMFS's
draft recovery plan.

The Recovery Team's mandate is to satisfy the Endangered

Species Act, but in our view such a limited recovery to achieve ESA
delisting is necessary but not sufficient. If we are not successful in

restoring the Snake River Salmon beyond the numbers necessary to

satisfy the Endangered Species Act we will have abrogated our treaty

responsibilities to the Tribes, and failed to provide the economic

benefits to the region that derive from healthy stocks that permit

spon and commercial fishing.

There are twelve chapters in our document. Most of the

chapters are based upon science and that science should speak for

itself.

In the time available today I can not review the scientific

information that is the basis for the recommendations in our over

500 page report. I do want to emphasize the Team's

recommendations that concern political science and specifically our

recommendations for institutional change.

Institutional changes recommended in Chapter III reflect the

Team's opinion that the current public policy decision-making

process is seriously flawed for all aspects of Columbia Basin

anadromous fishery management and research. Large amounts of

resources have been invested to protect and rebuild Columbia River

Basin salmonids. These efforts have not succeeded and the reasons

are not hard to find.
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There is no overall priority for investment decisions. Regional,

state and tribal plans present a smorgasbord of measures. Some

investments conflict and diminish the effectiveness of others. A large

number of jurisdictions are involved. Typically four states, a number

of Tribes, as many as seven federal agencies (depending on the issue)

several utilities, and many coordinating and consensus building

organizations are involved. In total more than 35 organizations are

involved in management decisions for salmon.

Because of this complexity the region has often resorted to the

lowest common denominator decision making called consensus. Often

a consensus can not be reached and actions are delayed or not taken

at all.

The Recovery team is convinced that the current decision-

making process has lead to a "tragedy for salmon" that must be

changed.

At present no one is in charge. The Recovery Team concludes

that the most appropriate agency to be in charge is the National

Marine Fisheries Service.

We recommend, as an essential part of the recovery process,

that NMFS establish an independent science-based advisory group

we have named it the Salmon Oversight Committee, that will assure

that open objective analysis and peer reviewed science drive the

recovery process.

The Team thinks that public policy decisions should be made in

public. The responsibility and accountability for implementation

should not be shared or divided among institutions. Then an

informed public can judge the work of the decision makers.

Finally I want to stress the importance of consideration of all

the recovery recommendations as a whole. There is no single

solution. Improvements in survival must be made in all stages of the

salmon's life. The recommended actions should be modified through

adaptive management based on measurement of survivals.

Thank you Mr. Chairman. I will be happy to answer any

questions that you may have.
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SETTING THE STAGE

WHY DO SNAKE RIVER
SALMON NEED A
RECOVERY PLAN?

For many people, salmon are the most profound and

enduring symbol of the Pacific Northwest. To the

Northwest's Native American cultures, the salmon are the

very heart of their societies; they mark the turning of the

seasons, form a religious focus, and they literally grant life

to the tribes in the form of sustenance. To the people who
visit the Northwest, the salmon represent unmatched

opportunities for fishing and for fish-watching as they make
their great migratory runs. For citizens of the Northwest in

general, the salmon embody an economic mainstay, provide

a fishing opportunity right in their "own backyard," and

represent one of the last living examples of the wild

character so cherished by the people of Oregon,

Washington, and Idaho. Unfortunately, the salmon runs are

decreasing. And with each year's additional loss, a little

more of the intrinsic value of life in the Pacific Northwest

recedes into the past.

The Endangered Species Act, a federal law passed in 1973,

requires that recovery plans be prepared for all species that

are listed as "threatened" or "endangered." Species are

listed when existing conditions and trends place them in

danger of becoming extinct. A recovery plan is written to

guide the actions needed to return species to a condition

where they no longer require Endangered Species Act

protection and can thus be removed from the threatened or

endangered list.

Snake River sockeye salmon were listed as an endangered

species on November 20, 1 99 1 . Snake River spring/summer

and fall chinook salmon were listed as threatened on April

22, 1992.

Many factors played a part in reducing these salmon

populations to the point where they needed to be listed as

threatened or endangered: creation of dams and reservoirs

in their migration corridors, loss and deterioration of their

spawning and nursery habitats, disease, predation, excessive

harvest, water being withdrawn from streams for other uses,

and impacts from hatchery fish, are among the myriad

causes.

Snake River sockeye salmon were reduced in abundance

more than the other salmon. During the 1950s and 1960s, as

many as 4,360 adult sockeye returned to Redfish Lake to

spawn. In 1992, only one adult sockeye returned to Redfish

Lake, and in 1993, eight returned.

Snake River fall chinook salmon have also declined to small

numbers. At the uppermost Snake River dam with fish

passage, an average of 12,700 salmon passed the dam from

1964 through 1968. Fish passing the dam fell to a low of 78

in 1990, and then increased to 533 in 1992, and 742 in 1993.

Exact numbers of naturally produced Snake River spring/

summer chinook salmon are harder to obtain because many
hatchery spring/summer chinook salmon have been released

in the system. However, from 1 950 through 1 960,

approximately 125,000 naturally produced adult spring/

summer chinook salmon returned to the system yearly.

Estimated returns of natural spring/summer chinook

averaged less than 10,000 from 1980 through 1990, and

were approximately 3,400 in 1991 and 1992, and 7,900 in

1993.

Bonneville Dam spilling excess water

during 1948 flood.

(Photo from NMFS)



Two sockeye salmon on a redd (spawning nest).

(Pholo by Gregory Ruggerone)

Habitat destroyed by dredging and

rechanneling during mining. (NMFS Photo)

Close up of fish fin with gas bubble disease -

induced by deep plunging of air during large-scale

spills at a dam. (NMFS Photo)
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All three salmon species have been reduced to small

fractions of their former abundance. These populations are

so low that without protection under the Endangered Species

Act (including a recovery plan) they are likely to soon

disappear.

WHY ARE SNAKE RIVER
SALMON LISTED AS
THREATENED AND
ENDANGERED WHILE
OTHER SALMON ARE NOT?
Five species of Pacific salmon exist in North America:

sockeye, pink, chum, chinook, and coho. Biologists usually

use the names of the rivers in which the salmon are found

and the seasons when the adult salmon return to their

spawning grounds to further categorize these five species.

This results in hundreds of "stocks" or "runs" of the five

salmon species. For example, the chinook salmon stocks

include Sacramento River winter chinook salmon, Columbia

River summer chinook salmon, Klamath River spring

Chinook salmon. Snake River spring/summer chinook

salmon, and Snake River fall chinook salmon, to name but a

few.

When reviewing the status of different stocks, the National

Marine Fisheries Service reviews biological information to

determine if a stock or group of stocks represent an

"Evolutionarily Significant Unit" of the species. The Snake

River sockeye salmon were found to be an evolutionarily

significant unit and thus are listed as an endangered species.

The Snake River sockeye salmon evolutionarily significant

unit is made up of both anadromous sockeye and the

residual (non-migratory) sockeye population now found

only in Redfish Lake, Idaho. (Anadromous fish are those

that are bom in freshwater, migrate to the sea, and return to

freshwater to spawn.)

The Snake River spring/summer chinook salmon were also

determined to be an evolutionarily significant unit. The run

is made up of more than 30 subpopulations located in 12

major subbasins and Salmon River tributaries. The Snake

River fall chinook evolutionarily significant unit is made up

of a single population which spawns in the mainstem Snake

River and the lower reaches of major tributaries downstream

from Hells Canyon Dam; plus the Lyons Ferry Hatchery

population, which was derived from the natural stock.

WHAT IS THE GENERAL
LIFE HISTORY OF THE
SNAKE RIVER SALMON?

Ssilmon have fascinating and complex life histories. They

travel as much as 900 miles upriver and climb to elevations

of 6,500 feet to reach spawning grounds. Snake River

chinook and sockeye salmon share the same general life

cycle. Eggs are deposited and fertilized by spawning adults

in gravel "nests" (called redds) in the summer and fall.

After the juvenile salmon emerge from the redds, they use

the stream or lake they were bom in as nursery areas.

Sockeye and spring/summer chinook live in these nursery

areas for one to two years before migrating seaward, but fall

chinook live in their nursery area for only a few months. In

the spring, the sockeye and spring/suimner chinook smolts

leave their nursery areas and start migrating to the ocean.

Fall chinook salmon leave their nursery areas and start

migrating to the ocean early in the summer.

The Snake River salmon range from California to Alaska

and venture into the high seas of the Pacific where they

\ •Ufmm
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Salmon hfe cycle (Corps of Engineers)
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Salmon returning upstream to spawn.
(NMFS Photo;

Cluster of salmon redds.

(NMFS Photo)

grow and mature. Snake River salmon usually spend two to

three years in the ocean before they return to freshwater.

Snake River sockeye salmon enter the Columbia River in

June and July and return to Redfish Lake to spawn. Spring/

summer Chinook salmon enter the Columbia River from
March through July and return to their natal streams to

spawn. The spnng/summer chinook that migrate early in

the year tend to spawn in the upstream reaches of the

tributary streams, while those arriving later spawn in the

lower reaches. Fall chinook salmon enter the Columbia
River from August through October and return to the

mainstem Snake River and lower reaches of major tributary

streams to spawn.

WHAT IS THE PROBLEM-
WHY ARE THE SNAKE
RIVER SALMON IN

TROUBLE?
There are many causes of the salmon stocks' decline in

abundance: dams, water use, overharvest, habitat

destruction, hatchery impacts, and other human-induced
factors all play roles in reducing the Snake River salmon
populations. No single factor is responsible for the full

extent of the decline, and no single action will restore them.
No "magic bullet" or single-purpose "fix" exists to recover

these salmon populations.
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Stream silted in by road washout

(Photo by Jeff Lockwood)

Riparian area severely degraded by cattle

grazing. (Photo by Jeff Lockwood)

One of the problems is institutional. The many agencies and

Indian Tribal interests involved in salmon management in

the Columbia River basin represent different constituent

groups and have different perspectives and approaches to

salmon conservation. No one is in charge. Institutional,

jurisdictional, state, and federal boundaries make overall

fisheries management decisions difficult, if not impossible.

Such trans-jurisdictional decisions require consensus; that

consensus is difficult to achieve. Each agency has its own
area of designated authority and responsibility, gets its own
funding, sets its own goals, and develops its own special

projects and agendas, all of which are dependent upon

individual budgets.

In many of the Snake River salmon watersheds, the

problems begin before the salmon emerge from the gravel.

Land use activities such as logging, grazing, mining, and

road building may smother the redds (salmon nests) with silt

or sediment. Livestock may step directly on a redd and kill

the salmon eggs. Once the young salmon emerge from the

redds, hatchery fish may eat the wild salmon, be a source of

disease, or compete with them for food and living space.

Logging may eliminate streamside trees which would

otherwise fall into the water and create good habitat for the

salmon. Land use activities, such as removing stream-

shading trees, may increase water temperatures to levels that

are lethal for the juvenile salmon. Livestock grazing often

removes vegetation near streams and thereby reduces stream

bank stability.

Once the salmon are ready to migrate to the ocean, they face

the problems associated with the hazardous downstream

journey. This journey through the lower Snake and

Columbia rivers has become more hazardous since eight
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hydroelectric dams were completed and their reservoirs

were created. Seventy percent of the 471 miles from the

mouth of the Columbia River to Lewiston/Clarkston on the

Snake River has been converted from free-flowing river into

reservoirs.

Juvenile salmon (called smolts when they are ready to

migrate seaward) must find their way through the reservoirs

and past the dams. Smo!t-to-adult survival rates of Snake

River salmon stocks have declined to the point where they

equal about one-fourth the rates observed in the 1960s, and

migration time for smolts from the Snake River to the

Columbia River estuary has doubled. The longer the smolt

migration time, the greater the risks of predation and

disease.

Smolts may pass the dams through different routes; those

passing over the spillway or using the bypass systems have

higher survival rates than those that pass through the

turbines. Improvements in bypass systems at several of the

dams have helped make passage safer for the fish. Before

the dams were built, flows in the spring were higher and

even in years of low flow, there was sufficient current to

carry the smolts to the sea. Then, as now, most of the

smolts migrated at night which might be a way of avoiding

predators.

Not only did the dams slow the rate of downstream travel

for smolts, they increased the amount of habitat favorable to

predator species and provided physical conditions that

improved the predators' abiUty to detect and capture

juvenile salmon. Hatchery fish and exotic species have also

been introduced into the system, and they compete with, and

prey on, chinook and sockeye.

The construction of hundreds of large and small reservoirs

has physically altered the original hydrology of the

Columbia River Basin. The flows for the lower Snake and

Columbia rivers have been changed from natural conditions

to those considered more desirable for human uses. The

large late-spring and early-sununer runoffs and small late-

autumn and winter flows have been changed so that now

there is a much smaller spring-summer runoff. A complex

management system has been developed to manage the

basin's reservoirs and flows. The system was primarily

developed to control floods, provide water for irrigation, and

serve the hydropower system by storing water for use when

power demand is high.

In addition to the sections of the rivers that have dams, the

146 mile section of free-flowing Columbia River

downstream from Bonneville Dam, and the Columbia River

plume that extends into the Pacific Ocean have been altered

in ways that may reduce the survival of smolts migrating to

sea. Little research has been conducted on the effects of

reduced flows and turbidity on the survival of smolts in the

lower Columbia River and the estuary. However, it seems

likely that reductions in flows and turbidity in the spring

have not only increased the smolts' travel time, but also

added to their risk of predation on their way to the estuary.

Reductions in flow have also decreased the size of the river

plume extending into the ocean (an environmental factor

which offers the smolts some concealment from predators

when they first reach the ocean).

Little is known about survival rates of salmon once they

enter the Pacific Ocean, but there is growing evidence that

survival rates are not uniform from year to year and that

variations in ocean productivity may affect stocks over a

John Day Dam
(Corps of Engineers Photo)
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Irrigation diversion — ^ '
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Setting a purse seine

(NMFS Photo)

wide geographic area and for an extended period of time.

Annual variability and the possible presence of long-term

trends in the ocean environment make it difficult to detect

changes in survival that result from agencies' efforts to

improve inland conditions.

When the salmon begin their upstrejmi migration as adults,

they again face harvest by commercial and recreational

fisherman and predation by marine mammals. Passage

through the dams also presents a problem. Biologists are

able to count salmon as they use the dams' fish ladders on

their way upstream. Large numbers of salmon "disappear"

in between dams. The reasons these adult fish disappear

include: mortality, uiireported and illegal harvest, fish

falling back over the dams after being counted in the fish

ladder of a previous dam, straying or wandering, and

spawning in reservoirs and their tributaries.

The causes of mortality include: predation and wounding by

marine mammals, injuries from fishing gear, water

pollutants, exposure to water supersaturated with dissolve*:

gases, high water temperatures, large spillway discharges,

diseases, and other mortality. Additional mortality may

result from injuries received when the fish "fall back"

downstream and go through turbines, bypass systems,

spillways, or navigation locks.

When the adult salmon return to the area where they

emerged from their parents' redd, they again face habitat

problems. Spawning beds may be silted in with sediment

from logging, mining, or roadbuilding, or the water may be

too warm for them. In addition, human activities may
unintentionally scare them away from the spawning beds.



Seattle. Washington; Newport, Oregon; and two in Portland,

Oregon. In addition, the Team consulted extensively with

resource managers, tribal representatives, environmental

groups, and various industries, and invited participation

from all interested parties at 27 public meetings convened in

Idaho, Oregon, and Washington.

On October 20. 1993. the Team sent a draft of the recovery

recommendations to fellow scientists and managers and

asked them for a peer review. The purpose of this review

was to ensure that the factual materials were correct, and

that the Team's analyses and interpretations were

scientifically sound. The requested input was due on

December 6. 1993, and approximately 170 comments were

received. The Team's present recommendations incorporate

revisions based on these comments and updated information

and analysis.

WHAT IS THE GOAL OF
THE TEAM'S RECOVERY
RECOMMENDATIONS?

The goal of the Team's recovery recommendations is to

restore the Snake River salmon to naturally reproducing

self-sustaining populations. Once that is achieved, they will

no longer face the serious risk of extinction that caused their

listing as threatened or endangered under the Endangered

Species Act. However, the Team also recognizes and

supports the idea that one day the Snake River salmon

should go beyond Endangered Species Act-mandated

recovery and once again generate harvestable surplus that

will contribute to the social, cultural, and economic benefit

of the Pacific Northwest.

In order to delist the Snake River salmon, survival should be

improved in every segment of their life history. Recovery

must address the total sequence of habitats and life history

stages, not simply concentrate on a single type or aspect of

action. Moreover, it is important to remember that actions

taken at one stage in the life cycle will a<most certainly have

consequences in another life stage.

Thus, the Team decided that a holistic life-cycle approach

must be taken, with the intent being to focus on improving

survival at each life stage so that the sum of all

improvements will turn the trend toward recovery of self-

sustaining productivity. Also, the Team intends that

significant improvements in such factors as fish passage and

ocean survival will directly benefit any anadromous species

sharing those critical environments with the listed salmon.

10 —

The Team's recovery efforts are coordinated to address

salmon productivity in each phase of the life cycle of the

stock and in every part of the habitat: spawning and rearing

habitats, tributary and mainstem migration corridors, ocean

harvest, and interactions with marine mammals are

addressed. Recovery efforts are focused on the life-cycle

segments where human influence can be effective, and those

points of focus may differ by species and by area. However,

the Team notes that it is essential that the protection and

restoration process be carried out on the ecosystem as a

whole—blending into one effort the various emphases on

individual environmental components.

HOW WILL A RECOVERY
PLAN BE FINISHED AND
IMPLEMENTED?

The National Marine Fisheries Service will review the

Team's recommendations and develop a Recovery Plan.

The Recovery Plan will be made available to the public.

The National Marine Fisheries Service will solicit public

comments from all interested parties and consider these

comments in developing a final Recovery Plan.

The final Recovery Plan will not be self-implementing

under the Endangered Species Act. Instead, it will be used

by National Marine Fisheries Service to guide the various

agencies in refining their management plans, procedures,

and strategies. This is so that individual on-the-ground

operations will act in conjunction to help achieve recovery

of the listed species. The Team's recommendations include

an implementation schedule which, if followed, will

expedite progress toward recovery. National Marine

Fisheries Service' final Recovery Plan will also contain such

a schedule.

Given that the Team's recotnmendations call for use of

adaptive management, and many of the recovery actions will

be addressed over jm extended period of time, the Team
recommends that a new group (the Salmon Oversight

Committee) be established to guide implementation efforts

over the long term (See Institutional and Management

Changes, next page).
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WHAT IS THE RECOVERY
TEAM AND WHAT DID IT

DO?
Following the listing of Snake River sockeye salmon, tiie

National Marine Fisheries Service appointed the Snake

River Salmon Recovery Team to independently develop

recovery plan recommendations. After the Snake River

spring/summer and fall chinook salmon were listed as

threatened species, the Team's responsibilities were

expanded to include them as well. The Team includes three

biologists, two engineers, an ecologist and an economist

(see Table 1 ). National Marine Fisheries Service is not

represented on the Team.

Although the Team's specific charge was to draft recovery

plan recommendations for listed Snake River salmon, the

recommended recovery actions were developed while

keeping conservation of other Columbia River Basin fish

and wildlife in mind as well. In general, the Team proposes

recovery strategies for conserving the ecosystems upon

which these species depend, this is felt to be the best method

for increasing the species' abundance to the point where

Endangered Species Act protection is no longer needed.

The Team independently developed their recovery

recommendations by compiling all available information

through an open, public process. Over the course of 27

months, the Team visited areas in the range (past and

present distribution) of the listed Snake River salmon, and

sought scientific, cultural, and economic expertise from

parties throughout the region. Information accumulated by

the Team has been compiled into an administrative record

available for public inspection at five different locations

throughout the Pacific Northwest; these are: Boise, Idaho;

Table 1. Recovery
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A SUMMARYOFTHE TEAM'S
RECOVERYPLAN
RECOMMENDATIONS

INSTITUTIONAL AND
MANAGEMENT CHANGES

The Team makes two recommendations for improving the

decision-making process for Columbia-Snake River Basin

salmon concerns throughout the range of the fish. The

Team believes these actions are necessary to achieve

recovery, to prevent further listings, and certainly to

minimize costs and accelerate progress.

Future management must emphasize disciplined

coordination, teamwork, and communication. The Team

intends that a single organization be empowered to make

final decisions when consensus can not be obtained. The

Team concludes that the most appropriate agency for this

responsibility is the National Manne Fisheries Service.

The Team also believes that an impartial, independent,

science-based group should be responsible for ensuring that

the Columbia-Snake River Basin management system for

anadromous fish works effectively in setting priorities,

ensuring a scientific basis for decisions, and promoting

relevant science. The Team recommends that an

independent five-member oversight committee—called the

Salmon Oversight Committee—be formed to fill this critical

decision-making void. This group will recommend

investment priorities for anadromous fish expenditures in

the Columbia-Snake River Basin, and work with all affected

federal, tribal, regional, state, and private entities to ensure

conformance with the goals and objectives of the Recovery

Plan. Such an entity would help to make certain that

relevant permits and biological opinions issued by National

Marine Fisheries Service are consistent with Recovery Plan

priorities. Furthermore, the Salmon Oversight Committee

would resolve jurisdictional disputes, provide oversight for

Recovery Plan implementation, advise the National Marine

Fisheries Service when changes are required in the

Recovery Plan, form specific scientific sub-groups, and

provide coordination with scientific sub-groups which are

already in existence.

RECOVERY GOALS AND
OBJECTIVES

The Team's recovery requirements and dehsting criteria for

Endangered Species Act-listed Snake River Basin salmon

fall into two major categories: ( 1 ) remedy of the

environmental (and other) factors that have reduced the

stocks to levels with a high probability of extinction; and (2)

rebuilding populations to levels where there is evidence of

improved productivity, even when considering the potential

impacts of severe stochastic environmental events (e.g.,

protracted drought, oceanic El Nino effects, etc.).

The Team believes that after applying the recovery

recommendations, it will require at least two to three salmon

generations (eight to twelve years) to assess the recovery of

Endangered Species Act-listed salmon stocks. Population

trends must be carefully evaluated, and increases can be

considered to be significant only when accompanied by the

environmental improvements specified in the Team's

recommendations.

A spawner-spawner ratio of 1 (i.e., one pair of parental

spawners to one pair of next-generation spawners) means

that the population is neither increasing nor decreasing. If

the ratio remains less than 1 for extended periods, the

population is in decline, and could continue into

extinction—a risk which has led to Endangered Species Act

listing of Snake River salmon. For population rebuilding,

the spawner-spawner ratio must be greater than 1

.

As a criterion for population recovery leading to delisting

(based on spawner-spawner ratio and habitat use); the Team

proposes the following.

For each listed "species, " the spawner-to-spawner

ratio should achieve a geometric mean greater than

2.0 (= 2:1) over at least two generations

(approximately eight years), and habitat seeding as

measured by spawner abundance or parr densities

should show similar increases in levels of

abundance and use ofavailable spawning and

rearing habitats. These criteria should be applied

both to the species in aggregate and to component

subpopulations selected as subbasin indicators of

species recovery. Evaluation ofstock recovery

trends must incorporate risk-assessment processes

to guard against influencing conclusions through

factors which are extraneous to true recovery.

Based on historic considerations, the Team suggests the

following as alternative delisting criteria for spring/summer

Chinook salmon.

Spring/summer chinook salmon delisting may be

considered when an eight year geometric mean of

ruzturally produced adult fish passing over Ice

Harbor Dam approximates a reasonable fraction

(e.g.. 50%) of the average number passing over

that same dam in a base period of 1962-1967; and

when spawner abundance or parr densities in

subpopulation watersheds approach equivalent

proportions of the 1960s levels ofaburuiance and

habitat use.
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Sockeye salmon on the spawning grounds.

(Photo by Gregory Ruggerone)

The 1962-1967 counts of spring and summer Chinook

salmon round to a mean of 52.400 (from a range of 26,900

to 65,800). Fifty percent of that average would give a

tentative delisting target of 26,200 naturally produced adult

spring/summer Chinook salmon passing over Ice Harbor

Dam yearly (eight year average count).

Snake River Basin lakes) must not be confused with the

recovery goal for Snake River sockeye. That goal is the

reestablishment of sockeye populations "in all possible lakes

in the Snake River Basin," and the Team expects that the

overall recovery program will seek to serve that goal.

The Team suggests that the Northwest Power Plaiming

Council's rebuilding target for fall chinook— 1 .000

returning spawners per year—should serve as an interim

escapement objective until better information becomes

available and decisions are made concerning

reestablishment of fall chinook populations in the

Clearwater and/or Upper Snake rivers.

For sockeye, delisting will be recommended when naturally

self-sustaining populations of sockeye salmon have become

established in at least two Stanley Basin lakes and have

produced an average of 1 ,000 spawners over a period of at

least two generations (8 years) in one of those lakes. (The

population level in the second lake should achieve at least

half that number.) The reason two lakes are specified is to

guard against cataclysmic loss of the stock. While this

requirement will extend the time and increase the cost of

achieving dehsting, the Team considers this safety factor

essential to ensuring long-term recovery of the sockeye.

Snake River sockeye populations should trend generally

upward, and average spawner abundance should

demonstrate spawner-spawner ratios that exceed 1 : 1 during

the rebuilding phase (in accordance with the rationale for

delisting Snake River chinook discussed earlier).

The Team emphasizes that this delisting criterion ( 1 ,000 and

500 naturally produced sockeye returning to any two of the

12

SPAWNING AND REARING
HABITAT

The Salmon Recovery Team beUeves that now is the time to

establish a unified position with respect to preventing

further habitat degradation: any further exploitation of

resources on public lands should be precluded unless it can

be shown that no further harm will hiefall criticjil salmon

spawning and rearing habitats. The upriver habitats are

critical for spawning success, egg survival, and fry

emergence and growth.

Habitat protection (and the immediate benefits thereof) can

best be achieved if federal land management agencies (such

as the U.S. Forest Service and Bureau of Land Management)

impose an immediate moratorium on all resource

exploitation on federal lands where there are risks of

measurably degrading hsted salmon spawning and rearing

habitats. Risk of degradation and habitat loss should be

evaluated in terms of the habitat protection standards

developed by Forest Ecosystem Management Assessment

Team, PACFISH (an interagency strategy for managing

anadromous fish watersheds), and the Eastside Forests

Scientific Society Panel, though some adjustments may be

necessary when applying the standards east of the Cascade

Mountains. These standards include riparian buffer zones of
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The Salmon River.

(Photo by Robin Waples)

Clearculting next to a stream.

(Photo by Nick ladanza)

specified dimensions along salmon spawning and rearing

streams, related protection of tributary drainages, and

elimination of sediment and water temperature increases

created by road building, logging, and grazing on critical

watersheds.

The Salmon Oversight Committee should convene a habitat

subcommittee whose role would be to provide coordinated

advice, counsel, and information sharing to all groups

implementing habitat-affecting actions under the Recovery

Plan. One of the first tasks of the Habitat Subcommittee

should be to develop a preliminary status assessment of

salmon spawning and rearing habitats. Such a study would

determine the most urgent protection and restoration

priorities.

The Team commends the objectives defined by Forest

Ecosystem Management Assessment Team and by

PACFISH for protecting and restoring salmonid spawning

and rearing habitat. The Team recommends that habitat

restoration actions address the following issues: fish

mortality and streamflows at irrigation diversions, salmon

habitat degradation caused by animal grazing and stock

holding enclosures, water quality and forest practices,

existing water quality laws, stream degradation from mining

and other non-forestry activities, recreational activities thai

may inhibit Snake River salmon propagation and population

recovery, water quality conditions throughout the salmon

migration corridors, law enforcement, and habitat research

and monitoring.

In addition to the preliminary status assessment, the Habitat

Subcommittee should perform detailed inventories and

assessments for each subbasin. These assessments may take

two to five years to complete and must involve private

sector resource users (recreational fishmg and conservation

organizations, cattle grazers, farmers, logging interests,

etc.).

Habitat protection and restoration actions intended

specifically for sockeye salmon spawning and rearing

habitats are also recommended by the Team. Recreational

use of the Stanley Basin Lakes should be managed to

minimize human impacts on the Snake River sockeye

salmon. Barriers to Stanley, Pettit, and Yellow Belly Lakes

must be removed or modified. Fertilization experiments in

the Stanley Basin Lakes should be conducted.

13
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CHINOOK FRESHWATER
PRODUCTION

Improving uprivcr production is one of the essential

elements of stock rebuilding and, ultimately, recovery. The

Team focuses on three general areas of action for improving

freshwater production. First, protection and restoration of

spawning and rearing habitat must receive high priority,

since the ultimate goal is recovery of naturally spawning and

propagatmg chmook salmon populations. Second,

institutional mechanisms that will ensure coordinated action

throughout the Snake River Basin must be put in place (and

ideally, they should embrace the Columbia River Basin as a

whole). Third, improvements must be made in hatchery

operations; though it is important to remember that the only

true measure of recovery is the viability of natural

populations.

The Recovery Team believes that hatchery objectives and

operations must be critically examined and revised where

necessary to assist, not impede, natural salmon productivity.

Some hatchery operations may need to be shifted to

conservation objectives instead of concentrating on

production. The reason for this is that hatchery operations

have historically been highly uncoordinated. They are

authorized under differing agencies (federal, state, ...

and tribal) and they serve varying objectives. There

is a need to establish a single authority for overseeing w

all such operations in the Columbia and Snake River 'HkJ •, -;,

basins.
*54ll£Si

The habitat assessment studies called for in the

spawning and rearing habitat recommendations

should be expanded to cover the long term. Studies

must be planned, funded, and carried out to quanlil\

egg-to-fry and fry-to-smolt survival rates for each

stock and watershed. These data are essential for

establishing seeding rates and juvenile salmon

carrying capacity on a stock-by-stock basis.

The Salmon Oversight Committee should have two

production subcommittees. One should address

natural production needs and problems; the other

should be concerned with hatchery programs and

operations. The Natural Production Subcommittee's

function should parallel that of the Basin Oversight Group
proposed by the Northwest Power Planning Council, and
these groups should either be merged or designed to be

closely interactive. A Hatchery Subcommittee should be

established immediately. It should be composed of experts

in relevant specialties including fish health, behavior,

genetics, experimental design, information management for

complex systems, and logistics of running hatcheries. The

14

Good habitat on the Imnaha River.

(Photo by Jeff Lockwood)

Effects of mining. Note lighter patch of rocks in right

center - which are covered with metal oxides

precipitated out of the tailings bank to the back of the

photo. (Photo by Nick ladanza)
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Spawning Chinook

.

(NMFS Photo)

Fish samphng for marking at DworShak
Hatchery. (NMFS Photo)

subcommittee should ensure that a Columbia Basin-wide

integrated hatchery plan is developed in a manner consistent

with the overall management objectives of the recovery

recommendations.

supplementation processes correctly and effectively. The
entire Snake River ecosystem must be safeguarded against

ecological disruption and overload resulting from poor use

of the hatcheries.

A principal product of this coordinated approach to

improved chinook production must be a set of standards and

guidelines. Some areas and their stocks should not receive

hatchery intervention. Natural processes should restore

stock strengths as adults return in increasing numbers (due

to improvements made at other stages in the life cycle—as is

presently the case for the Middle Fork of the Salmon River).

Stocks in other areas may need hatchery fish

supplementation, but with carefully planned safeguards that

take into full account the risks and problems of that kind of

intervention. Carefully planned, monitored, and evaluated

experimental approaches will be needed in selected areas to

improve the Region's abihty to use these artificial

15
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SOCKEYE FRESHWATER
PRODUCTION

Given Ihc liny anadromous stock of remnant sockeye

salmon present in Redfish I^e. the highest immediate

priority must be to prevent extinction and save the gene

pool. A captive broodstock program for that purpose was

initiated by the National Marine Fisheries Service and Idaho

Department of Fish and Game prior to the creation of the

Snake River Salmon Recovery Team. The program is

designed to rear progeny from returning adults to maturity,

and thereby use protection in the hatchery to avoid the

environmental hazards of natural rearing. If successful, the

higher survival rate of hatchery-reared fish should produce

large numbers of next-generation juveniles for outplanting

to "jump-start" natural propagation processes. Redfish Lake

outmigrani smolts which may have anadromous ancestry are

included in that captive broodstock program, and so are the

offspring of the newly discovered Redfish Lake residual

sockeye stock.

The Recovery Team endorses the sockeye captive

broodstock program as an emergency measure, and has

devoted considerable attention to extending it and specifying

its purpose and methodology. In addition, the Team feels

that the present program should be expanded to other

hatcheries in order to "spread the risk" of possible

detrimental effects. The Team recognizes the experimental

nature of the program, and understands that significant

adverse genetic (and other) effects can result from hatchery

rearing over a full generation. However, these risks are

justifiable in view of the alternative, which is almost certain

extinction of the remnant anadromous stock. The Team is

concerned about survival rates of fish being reared and the

available facilities for the broodstocks program.

The Team emphasizes that the ultimate goal must be to

restore naturally propagating anadromous sockeye

populations to lakes of the Stanley Basin and, where

appropriate, to other lakes in the Snake River drainage. The

captive broodstock program can only provide initial

stocking for those lakes. A key long-term recovery goal is

to terminate the captive broodstock program. Only natural

production can be counted for delisting purposes, and only

long-term self-sustaining natural production will satisfy the

goals of any recovery plan.

This long-term recovery goal will take several decades to

accomplish and evaluate. The earliest significant releases of

progeny from the captive broodstock program will be 1994-

1995. and survivors from those releases will return to spawn

one to three years later. Their offspring will be the first

Water supply and raceway at a hatchery. (NMFS Photo)

from that lineage to spawn in the wild. Their lake rearing,

seaward migration, and return to the spawning grounds will

require the subsequent three to five years. Peak production

from the captive broodstock program will lag some years

beyond the initial production. It will be well into the next

century before the natural productivity derived from captive

broodstocks can even begin to be evaluated.

Two subcommittees should be formed to assist the Salmon

Oversight Committee with the sockeye captive broodstock

program. A Genetics Protocol Workgroup should be formed

to assist the Stanley Basin Sockeye Technical Oversight

Committee in developing the necessary protocols for

selective breeding and appropriate broodstock record-

keeping. A Fish Culture/Fish Health Working Group should

also be created. This working group will also assist the

Stanley Basin Sockeye Technical Oversight Committee; it

will help to develop standard operating procedures and

protocols for fish rearing and disease control.

16
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The Team recommends the development of different

parental stocks, experimentation with different release ages,

experimentation with releases into different lakes, and

comprehensive monitoring of all the broodstock strategies.

DOWNSTREAM
MIGRATION

The Team recommends several major types of action for

improving downstream migration survival: extend the

survival research to individual stream reaches, improve

water budget volumes (and their use) to provide the

maximum benefit for salmon, reduce dam passage mortality,

improve the salmon transportation program, and investigate

longer-term actions to improve smolt survivzil.

The absence of supporting scientific information was a

recurring problem the Team faced in establishing the

strategies and specific tasks for recovery. For downstream

passage, continuation and expansion of the current survival

studies is mandatory. The results of this research will help

develop water budget priorities, determine the effectiveness

of flow augmentation, and provide a benchmark for

evaluating transportation improvements.

To improve water budget management and maximize

migrant survival, the Team recommends that the National

Marine Fisheries Service coordinate all water budget

releases. The National Marine Fisheries Service should be

in charge of releasing water from Dworshak Reservoir in

Idaho. The Team believes that Dworshak Reservoir should

be operated to give first priority to threatened and

endangered salmon. Flow augmentation has been an

important component of the region's fisheries management

strategies, and it continues to be an important part of the

Team's recovery recommendations. The use of reservoir

water for flow augmentation will change as future

information is collected and decisions are made as to what

flows are needed to achieve the various individual biological

objectives.

The Team believes the Northwest Power Planning Council's

water budget concept is valid in that it allows for real-time

decision making as the actual flow and fish migration

conditions evolve. As these conditions develop in a

particular water year. National Marine Fisheries Service and

the Salmon Oversight Committee must determine how best

to use reservoir storage. For example, in a year with early

runoff, the best course of action may be to save the water

until flows are low and fish are still migrating in the river.

In other years, it may be necessary to use the water early to

offset a cold spring and delayed natural runoff. In high

runoff years it may be unnecessary to use the water in the

spring. Instead, it can be saved for release in July, August,

and September in order to determine the value that reservoir

temperature modification has for fall chinook salmon

juveniles and adults. Water, like any scarce resource,

should be managed continuously throughout the year, and

real-time decisions based on the best scientific information

and judgment are the best way to ensure that the available

water provides the maximum biological benefit.

Because there is a lack of information on which to base a

scientific decision on the size and timing of the water

releases, the Team used the water budget volumes that are

included in the Northwest Power Planning Council's

Strategy for Salmon as a starting point. However until

additional research is conducted, it is impossible to

determine whether these volumes (and the timing of their

releases) are the best possible for improving smolt survival.

Spill for juveiule passage at a dam.
(NMFS Photo)
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The Team encourages minimal water budget use in the

spring so that more can be used in the summer to aid fall

Chinook migrants. The National Marine Fisheries Service

and the Salmon Oversight Committee should review the

effects of water budget operations on fish survival and

determine whether to continue, increase, or decrease the size

of the water budgets.

To reduce dam passage mortality, the Team recommends

that all passage routes be evaluated at each dam. Spill from

the surface of the reservoir and surface collection facilities

should be considered, and state-of-the-art bypass systems

should be installed. Detailed, dam-by-dam audits of the

bypass and collection systems should be conducted.

In the Team's view, improved smolt collection at the Snake

River dams and transport to the lower Columbia River

(along with In-river jnigration when suitable conditions

exist) Is the option that must be used until better options are

developed. The Team recommends that: the National

Marine Fisheries Service should manage the smolt

transportation system, the Corps of Engineers should

continue to operate the collection and transpon facilities, the

biological basis for in-river smolt migration should be

developed, the National Marine Fisheries Service should

coordinate hatchery releases and logistical strategies for

transportation, barges should be designed to lower stress,

barge exits should be modified ic allow dispersed release,

research should be conducted to evaluate various release

sites in the Lower Columbia River, and strategies should be

developed to reduce predation in the areas of release.

Cross-section of a typical

(Corps of Engineers)

One of the Team's longer-term recommendations for

the downstream passage problem is to investigate

building a new fish-friendly smolt collection system

near the head of Lower Granite Reservoir. From
there, the smolts could be transported past the dams.

A new collection facility of this nature would be

needed if sufficient improvements cannot be made in

the collection and bypass facilities at the dams, if

losses in Lower Granite Reservoir are relatively high

(up to 30%), or if flow/velocity changes through the

reservoirs are insufficient to create the conditions

needed for a high degree of survival.

The Team has considered, and rejected as a significant

recovery action, the current plans to draw down John

Day Reservoir below minimum irrigation pool.

However, drawdown of Lower Granite Reservoir

should be evaluated using survival data that will be

collected during the next two to three years to

determine if more fish will reach Lower Granite Dam
where they can be collected. If the survival data

indicate that there might be biological benefits from

18
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Tribal harvest.

(NMFS Photo)

Salinon troller.

(Corps of Engineers Photo)

drawdown, a valid test should be designed, the necessary

structural modifications should be made, and the test should

be conducted. The region should continue to plan and

evaluate the option of drawing down all four Snake River

dams to river level, so that informed decisions regarding this

option can be made in the future. Drawing down the four

Snake River reservoirs to river level should be contemplated

if recovery cannot be achieved by the other options. In

considering such an option, there should be reasonable

evidence that smolt survival rates are significantly higher

when the Snake River reservoirs are drawn down to river

level than they are with the other options.

The Team beUeves that ocean conditions and the various

components of marine ecosystems affect growth and

survival of sahnon of all species, and therefore ultimately

affect adult returns to their natal rivers. While many of

these factors lie beyond human ability to control, they must

be taken into account in recovery planning. The near

certainty that slow-growing, poor-condition smolts are the

ones at greatest risk upon ocean entry is of particular

importance for the recovery of weak stocks. The clear

message for salmon recovery planning is that the best

assurance of ocean survival rests upon the quahty of the

smolts, not their quantity.

19
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HARVEST UPSTREAM MIGRATION

The Team recommends ihai har\'esi managcmeni should be

changed lo reduce both harvest rates and capacity for all the

listed stocks. This should be accomplished by decreases in

quotas and/or Tishing times and places, accompanied by a

buy-back program to reduce fishing capacity in ocean troll,

chartcrboat, and inriver gillnct fishcncs. By the year 2002.

the only harvest that should be allowed in any Columbia

River fishery should be selective harvest with live release

capability, and fishing for hatchery stocks in terminal areas

should be encouraged.

The Team also recommends that both ocean and in-river

fisheries management focus on rebuilding the listed stocks.

Both the United States and Canada need lo give higher

pnority to threatened and endangered stocks and adopt a

coordinated harvest program under the Pacific Salmon

Treaty. Fisheries in the Columbia River need to limit

harvest of weak stocks and conserve the Snake River

salmon.

For fall Chinook, the Team recommends that the total

harvest (ocean and in-river) should be limited to no more

than 50% (though initially, the rate should be lower). All

other fisheries that result in incidental take of fall Chinook

should be limited, and all management decisions and

policies should increase annual escapement until 1,000

"wild" (non-hatchery) fall Chinook return to Lower Granite

Dam annually.

The Team believes Iha' adult salmon migrants should

receive the highest priority for protection, as they have

already survived most of the risks in their life cycle and are

close to their final destination—the upstream spawning

grounds. Unless management attention is given to the

causes and solutions of what may be a 25-30% or more loss/

mortality rate for adult salmon between Bonneville Dam and

Lower Granite Dam. and 50% or more by the time adults

reach natal spawning grounds, a large proportion of the

Snake River salmon entering the Columbia River may not

survive the upstream migration phase. Upstream adult

migration past the dams is a complex issue. Flow and

operation conditions change frequently at the dams and can

affect passage of individual fish. Seasonal and year-to-year

conditions of temperature and water clarity can also affect

adult passage.

To improve upstream passage conditions, the Team
recommends that adult fishways and dam operations be

changed. Flow augmentation should be evaluated for use in

improving water temperatures for adults in the Snake River.

Adult passage evaluations should be expanded. Adults

should be protected with fisheries Jaw enforcement. Wider-

ranging disease control possibihties should be explored.

Experiments involving adult collection and transport should

be conducted.

All directed and incidental harvest of sockeye must be

eliminated below the confluence of the Snake and Columbia
rivers. The Team requests that the Tribes reduce ceremonial

and subsistence harvest of Snake River Sockeye and release

all marked Snake River sockeye.

John Day fish ladder.

(NMFS Photo)
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Seal rookery - marine mammals are salmon

predators. (Corps of Engineers Photo)

Early-era gillnetter on the Columbia River.

(NMFS Photo)

PREDATION AND
COMPETITION

Team recommendations for controlling predation and

competition problems include the following. The existing

squawfish control program should be revised to

progressively reduce predation on smolts. The National

Marine Fisheries Service should be in charge of the

squawfish control program and should develop more

effective methods for capturing squawfish. Sport harvest of

non-native species in waters where the listed species are

found should not be restricted by bag limit or size. Non-

native species should not be stocked in listed salmon habitat.

Hatchery steelhead releases should be managed to minimize

impacts on the listed chinook and sockeye. Hatchery trout

should be stocked in streams with listed salmon only when it

can be demonstrated that they will not affect the listed

species' growth and survival. Impacts from bird and marine

mammal predation should be assessed, and control methods

should be designed.

ECONOMIC AND SOCIAL
FACTORS

The Team is keenly aware of the public concern over the

potential costs of meeting delisting goals for Snake River

sockeye and chinook. However, the Endangered Species

Act is very specific in its direction for a recovery plan;

such a plan is to be based on scientific factors only.
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ISconumic cosls arc to be considered only to Ihe extent that

less cosily options arc to be chosen where equal biological

benefits arc cupccled from several altcmalives In addition.

Ihe overall costs of major recommended actions should be

estimated where possible.

The Team has concentrated on a thorough evaluation of the

various elements that might contribute to recovery of the

listed Snake River species. Many of these factors cannot be

assessed individually because the effectiveness of each is

dependent upon the execution of others. The Team's

recovery recommendations place heavy emphasis on

flexibility in adapting to future developments, research

findings, and monitoring, thus, estimates of cost will

doubtless vary over time as activities are implemented or

abandoned.

Recreational fishing boats at the confluence

of the Willamette and Columbia rivers.

( NMFS Photo)

Sport fishery on the Columbia River.

(Corps of Engineers Photo)

The direct and indirect costs of recovery actions could not

be estimated within the Team's time constraints, but they

are too important to be neglected. Reservoir management is

likely to have far reaching impacts on recreation, residential

use, power production, transportation, and the incomes of

coastal communities heavily dependent on ocean and in-

rivcr fishing.

Therefore, the Team recommends that National Marine

Fisheries Service give high priority to undertaking or

commissioning a detailed study of the direct and indirect

social and econonuc effects of proposed recovery actions.

The Team can only provide its best summary of the actions

that, when taken together, offer promise for delisting (and

hopefully, will engender progress toward providing

harvestable surpluses). Detailed analysis of, and public

comment on, any economic and social effects resulting from
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the implementation of proposed recovery actions will be

addressed during the formal process the National Marine

Fisheries Service will follow when developing their

recovery plan for Snake River salmon.

The Team recommends a wide range of measures that are

bound to affect many individuals and businesses in the

Pacific Northwest. The Team recognizes that the most

immediate social disruptions are likely to occur in the river

and troll fisheries and the communities that rely upon them.

If drawdown becomes a preferred option in the future, it too

will have substantial social impacts. Barge traffic would be

interrupted to varying degrees, depending on the length of

the drawdown-refill period. Shippers would have to

reorganize storage and shipping schedules, relocate

facilities, and, in some cases, shift to rail for all or part of

their transport requirements. Drawdown to riverbed might

spell the end of barge traffic on the Snake River and result

in serious dislocation and hardship in the Lewiston/

Clarkston area.

The impact on farming and related activities also depends on

the extent of drawdown. Spillway crest operations would

involve some change in marketing farm products, and would

require further investment in pumps. Neither would appear

to pose a threat to continued fanning in the present

locations. Full drawdown, however, might well impact

irrigated agriculture (and its dependent communities)

enough to cause real hardship and forced relocation.

Some recreational faciUties and storage reservoirs located on

the Snake River will be ehminated or closed down for part

of the year under any level of drawdown. The social costs

would entail the loss of some preferred recreational

locations and the possibility of enforced closure of some

operations.

Flow augmentation requirements will alter reservoir levels

enough to affect recreational and scenic values for visitors

and residents, with unpredictable timing. The situation at

Dworshak Reservoir could be particularly serious, since its

use as the primary source of water for flow augmentation

and temperature control would result in wider and more

frequent fluctuations of reservoir levels than in the past.

Some of the habitat improvement and predator control

measures recommended by the Team could have social

impacts on user groups and residents. It may be necessary

to eliminate or reduce trout stocking in Stanley Basin lakes

where predation on sockeye (or competition for food or

space) is possible. Depending on the degree of restriction,

this could reduce the overall attraction of the area as a

recreational and tourism center, thereby creating adverse

effects for both visitors and residents. However, the impact

on visitors would be minimized by the availability of good

trout fishing in numerous Stanley Basin lakes and streams

that are not pan of the salmon recovery actions.

The proposed resuiction on further expansion of non-

indigenous fish (black bass, walleye) into waters where they

would compete with (or prey on) listed salmon stocks would

have both positive and negative effects. Fishermen targeting

the introduced fish would prefer to see their range extended,

while salmon fishermen would benefit by reducing these

fish populations in areas of conflict. It is also possible that

the recovery measures might require modification of

steelhead enhancement programs in some areas, another

decision that would pit user groups against one another.

Though there has been much public comment about the

adverse effects of recommended grazing and water use

restrictions on Stanley Basin residents, the Team notes that

most of its recommendations amount to little more than

enforcement of existing laws and regulations. Incorporating

salmon recovery plans into the larger arena of sub-basin

planning would be useful.

Many of the Team's recommendations regarding protection

of stream beds and riparian zones, avoidance of sensitive

areas by boaters and fishermen, etc., are already being

observed on a voluntary basis by river users in spawning

and rearing areas.

Any increase in electricity rates has unpleasant

consequences for large numbers of householders and

businesses. The Team does not find, however, that major

losses of employment or inter-regional shifts in jobs or

industrial location are likely to result from increased

electricity rates due to any of its recommended actions. The

aluminum industry is perhaps the most sensitive to costs of

electric power, but the rate increases that may be required

for recovery (full drawdown excepted) are not the principal

causes of its economic troubles. World-wide production and

inventories are the primary causes of low aluminum prices.

There are real social benefits to be found in assisting

management agencies to mount a vigorous and continuing

law enforcement effort that supports the recovery plan. All

anadromous and resident fish stocks would benefit, as would

the groups that utilize them. Better control of unlawful

activities benefits both the fish and the people of the region.

Tighter enforcement of regulations on water quahty, forestry

practices, and irrigation diversions (to mention only some of

the related watershed problems), would also be of wide

benefit to the public.

Many of the impacts discussed above are negative in terms

of social well-being. But the long-term effect of bringing
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Tributary to the Salmon River. (Photo by D.R. Orcutt)

back the Snake River salmon stocks would be

overwhelmingly positive; jobs would return; recreational

and aesthetic benefits would expand; and. most importantly,

a priceless heritage of the Northwest would be restored and

preserved for future generations. The Team has attempted

to speak for these silent beneficiaries in devising a plan that

can ward off the imminent threat of extinction and lay the

groundwork for perpetuating self-sustaining runs that will

benefit the region and the nation.

In short, there will be social and economic costs with any

recovery plan broad-based enough to get the job done, and

every effort should be made to identify and ameliorate those

costs as far as possible. But from the longer view, these are

investments in treasured natural assets of profound

importance to the people of the Northwest.

24

CONCLUSION
The recovery of Snake River salmon is a difficult and

compUcated public policy issue. It is important to achieve

recovery, and ultimately to reap the social, cultural, and

economic benefits of restored salmon populations. But it is

also important to do so in an organized, scientifically based,

and economically efficient manner. The Team's

recommendations provide a realistic basis for achieving

these objectives.
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This set of recommendations, developed by the Snake River Salmon Recovery Team, does not constitute a recovery plan, and

as such, has not been approved by the National Marine Fisheries Service or by any other agency. The conclusions and

recommendations stated here are solely those developed by the Recovery Team. The Team's recommendations are not

intended to provide precise details on all aspects of Snake River salmon management. This is not a "decision document" as

defined by the National Environmental Policy Act and does not allocate resources on public or private lands.

The following table summarizes the specific measures recommended by the Snake River Salmon Recovery Team. Readers

are encouraged to refer to the complete recommendations for an understanding of these measures and the rationale the Team

used to develop them.
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TESTIMO^fY OF THE COLUMBIA RIVER INTER-TRIBAL FISH COMMISSION
BEFORE THE ENVIRONMENT AND NATURAL RESOURCES SUBCOMMITTEE OF THE

HOUSE MERCHANT MARINE AND FISHERIES COMMITTEE
IN WASHINGTON, D.C. ON JUNE 30, 1994

CONCERNING RECOVERY OF COLUMBIA BASIN SALMON

Chairman Studds and members of the Subcommittee, thank you
for the opportunity to present the views of the Columbia River
Inter-Tribal Fish Commission on Columbia Basin salmon recovery.
My name is Levi J. Holt, and I am Chairman of the Nez Perce Fish
and Wildlife/Water Subcommittee.

As you know, the Columbia River Inter-Tribal Fish Commission
is composed of the fish and wildlife committees of the Yakama
Indian Nation, the Confederated Tribes of the Warm Springs
Reservation of Oregon, the Confederated Tribes of the Umatilla
Indian Reservation and the Nez Perce Tribe and was formed in 1977
for the purpose of coordinating management policies and providing
technical expertise to its member tribes. The member tribes of
the Commission are successors in interest to the tribes and bands
that ceded millions of acres of land in the Columbia Basin in
return for the treaty promise of the United States to secure the
tribes' fishing rights, both on- reservation and at all usual and
accustomed fishing places. These traditional territories are the
areas where the salmon of the Columbia Basin have been most
diminished and where they must be restored if we are to regain
the fisheries that sustain Indian people and that have sustained
fisheries throughout the Pacific Northwest including off-shore
fisheries in Canada. (Attachment 1 - Ceded area map) .

You asked that we comment upon salmon recovery and I trust
you mean recovery of salmon throughout the basin rather than only
the recovery of the listed chinook and sockeye populations of the
Snake River basin. Populations of basin salmon species are
linked and the Snake River populations are not the only declining
or extinguished populations in the basin. Commission fishery
scientists, Phil Mundy and Jeff Fryer, carried out a study of
stock status in the basin in 1992. Based on a review of 400
Chinook spawning escapement surveys they concluded that only 26%
of the surveys were at seeding levels above 50%, while more than
half were at levels of no more than 20% of full seeding.
(Attachment 2 - Mundy and Fryer) . Thus, despite the rebuilding
goals established under law in the Pacific Salmon Treaty, the
Northwest Power Planning Council's Fish and Wildlife Program and
the U.S. V. Orecron Columbia River Fish Management Plan, the
region's state and federal agencies are not doing their job.
And, they are certainly not living up to the treaty obligations
of the United States to the Commission's member tribes.
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More importantly, the damage can be predicted to worsen.
The attached graphic depicts the pace of population loss during
the last fifteen years and predicts additional populations that
will be lost if we do not begin a comprehensive restoration
program immediately. (Attachment 3 - Predicted population
losses) .

The diminished status of Columbia Basin stocks was
recognized by the Power Council during discussion of its Fish and
Wildlife Program during the 1980 's. The Council wisely embarked
upon a recovery planning effort in 19 87 with the adoption of its
doubling goal and subbasin planning. However, following the
completion of subbasin recovery plans for the thirty-one
subbasins of the Columbia and the expenditure of $5 million, the
Council set the plans aside in 1990 and turned its attention
primarily to the listed stocks of the Snake River basin. The
Council ' s Strategy for Salmon provides general guidance for
basin-wide recovery, but it did not provide the action plans for
individual subbasins that were intended by the 1987 Fish and
Wildlife Program.

We know that salmon recovery works if our governments have
the will to support and implement it at both regional and
watershed levels. In the Umatilla Basin, the Confederated Tribes
of the Umatilla Indian Reservation, local irrigation districts,
and the state and the federal government teamed up in the early
1980' s to restore chinook runs that had been lost for seventy
years because of an irrigation dam. The parties fixed degraded
stream segments, improved flows, removed obstructions, maintained
wilderness spawning and rearing areas, and outplanted appropriate
stocks to the basin. Over the past five years, we have had
dramatic increases in both chinook and coho populations as the
outplanted populations began to naturalize in the Umatilla
system. (Attachment 4 - Salmon and steelhead returns to the
Umatilla Basin)

.

Restoration, though, is not limited to one tributary of the
Columbia. Priest Rapids fall chinook, Wenatchee sockeye , - Xmnaha
spring chinook are all populations that have benefitted from
watershed approaches that combine habitat protection and
enhancement with scientifically based propagation and
transplanting techniques.

But these projects can not succeed without gravel-to-gravel
management where we as societies are concerned about the salmon
at every stage of their life cycle. At the basin- wide level,
salmon need flows between, and safe passage at the hydro
projects. There is no question that our salmon were depleted as
each federal mainstem dam was completed. (Attachment 6 - Salmon
vs. Dams graphic) . I hope you found it a little odd that the
hydro operators and industries were accusing the White House and
the fishery agencies and tribes of wanting to kill salmon because
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we called for spill and flows; protective measures our tribes and
agencies have been seeking for over a decade. (Attachment 6 -

Scientific justification for spill)

.

This spring. Judge Marsh recognized that the current
situation cries out for a major overhaul of the Columbia's hydro
system to save the salmon. Using barges to protect salmon from
their native environment, in lieu of dam modifications to provide
suitable fish passage, has failed to halt the salmon's decline
and offers no hope for their future. Restructuring the hydro
system to meet the needs of salmon must be a priority for the
region and the nation.

Salmon also need hatchery and production reform throughout
the basin that assists natural stocks rather than replaces them.
The Mitchell Act, though it was intended to mitigate for upriver
losses, actually increased fishing pressure on upriver stocks by
providing hatchery abundance in the lower river (Attachment 7 -

Mitchell Act production table) . Now mixed stock fisheries are
tightly constrained by the condition of upriver stocks, and the
Mitchell Act needs to be used in a manner that assists the weak
stocks whose protection now restricts our fisheries.

Before this can happen, though, the National Marine
Fisheries Service, as the lead agency for the Endangered Species
Act, needs to recognize that its responsibility for recovery
means more than maintaining a few isolated and fragmented upriver
populations as museum pieces, the effect of the NMFS
interpretation of the "distinct population" provision of the ESA.
The Endangered Species Act seeks to rebuild listed populations in
the habitat and it explicity mentions "live trapping,
propagation, and transplantation" as some of the means necessary
to accomplish recovery. NMFS must heed the experience and advice
of the Department of Interior on this issue and follow the law
rather than the theoretical musings of a few of its employees.
(Attachment 8 - Office of the Secretary of Interior letter) . In
this regard, I would like to offer two documents for the record;
one a recent law review article written by Professor Dan Rohlf of
Lewis and Clark Law School , an expert on the Endangered Species
Act, who argues that the NMFS ESU policy violates the ESA. The
other article entitled, "Managing Molecules ..." contends that
the ESU interpretation will severely limit biological recovery of
listed species because it ignores fundamental salmon biology.

The Yakama, Warm Springs, Umatilla and Nez Perce Tribes are
full parties to the federal court case of U.S. v . Oregon along
with the States of Oregon, Washington, and Idaho, and the United
States of America. The Columbia River Fish Management Plan, a
court-ordered settlement agreement in the case, furnishes a
blueprint for joint recovery efforts by the parties and provides
a means for resolving disputes. Along with subbasin planning
under the authorities of the Regional Act and the rebuilding
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goals of the Pacific Salmon Treaty as well as the use of the best
science available, the people of the Columbia Basin can have
salmon recovery along with economic recovery for our salmon
fishers, their suppliers, and our communities.

The Snake River Salmon Recovery Team recently submitted its
final recommendations for a recovery plan for listed stocks of

Snake River salmon to the National Marine Fisheries Service.
Those recommendations will not lead to recovery. At the same
time, the recommendations call for eliminating tribal fisheries,
which have existed since time immemorial. The treaties signed by
the tribes in 1855 guaranteed more. Our view of the final
recommendations is aptly summarized in an excerpt from the
Commission's letter to NMFS on the Team's draft, "[ijt is with
both irony and anger that we note that the Team's draft recovery
plan continues the failed policies of the past - even more
draconian restrictions of treaty reserved fisheries with only
minor changes required of those activities which destroy the vast
majority of the remaining treaty resource." (Attachment 9 -

Letter to Douglas Hall)

.

Currently, the Commission and its member tribes are
completing a restoration plan for the Basin that provides a
basin-wide, watershed-based approach to salmon recovery. The
Commission recognizes the need for coordination among our
governments if the plan is to succeed and will utilize the
existing authorities in concert with the relevant state and
federal governments to accomplish plan objectives. Your
assistance in encouraging cooperation from the States of Oregon,
Washington, and Idaho particularly in the rejuvenation of
subbasin planning, consultation on fish production, and use of

the processes of the Columbia River Fish Management Plan can
further our joint efforts.
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Abundance Based Criteria for Recognition of Damaged
Salmon Populations

Prepared for the

Northwest Pacific Chinook and Coho Workshop, Boise, Idaho

Phillip R. Mundy and Jeffrey K. Fryer

September 29. 1992

Colmnbia River Inter-Tribal Fish Commission

729 N.E. Oregon, Suite 200

Portland, Oregon 97232

Attachment 2
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The question of how to measure 'the status of Columbia Basin
salmon stocks is addressed by calculating several simple statistics
for annual observations of Chinook spavming escapement, primarily
redd counts, from all available localities in that portion of the
Columbia Basin within the states of Idaho, Oregon, and Washington.
The records are an excerpt of the National Environmental. Database
(NED) . The results for a total of 400 Chinook scuLmon spawning
escapement surveys (292 of wild, 67 of hatchery, and 41 of other
origin) are reported. Less than 26% (103) of the most recent
surveys were at seeding levels greater than 50%, with more thein 30%
(122) of those surveys being seeded at 10% or less. A total of
117 surveys (29%) were identified as badly damaged and decreasing.
Among these surveys, 70% (82) were at or below the 20% seeding
level. Among wild salmon surveys, more than half (53%; 155) were
most recently at levels of annual c±)nndance of no more thajj 20% of
seeding. The forty- four wild chinook surveys identified as
critically damaged were consistent with federal threatened species
designations. Of the 67 hatchery observations, less than 24% (16)

were most recently at, or below, 10% of their maxima during the
time span of the surveys. Most of the chinook salmon survey areas
in the Columbia Basin clearly are both in chronic decline and have
critically low levels of spawning escapement.
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Introduction

The question of how , to -measure the status of Columbia Basin
salmon stocks has always been in^xjrtant, however the need to answer
this question has taiken on an air of urgency since stocks of

Chinook salmon in the Snake Basin joined the federal list of
threatened species earlier this year. The federal listings, and
the fact that salmon stocks in the Columbia Basin have been
repeatedly declared to be at risk (i.e., NPPC 1986), add in^etus to

the discussion of appropriate meeisures of stock status.

The diversity of measurement techniques available in the form
of visual counts at hydroelectric dams, and surveys of spawning
activity made by foot smd from the air, make the con^arison of

stock status for wild eaOmon populations problematic. Hatchery
populations have counts of individuals returning to- the facility
that, in principle, are directly con^Jcirable . At present the need
has not been met for a comprehensive survey of wild salmon
populations that ea5>loys a quantitative measure of wild stock
health and permits meaningful con^jarisons among stocks. The
present effort is focused on chlnook salmon, however the approach
envisioned should be applicable to all species on which there are
similar types of data.
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Methods

j<4 '^''.vThe data eire annual observations of at least four kinds, ^i.ll

" meafeares of Chinook spavming escapements; redd counts on
.
natural

spawning areas, both foot and aerial, dam and weir counts, and
hatchery rack counts at all available localities in that portion of
the Columbia Basin within the states of Idaho, Oregon, and
Washington. The records were obtained from an excerpt of the
National Environmental Database, NED, provided by Mr. Duane
Anderson (NPPC, Northwest Power Planning Council, Portland, OR) .

The NED is coordinated by Mr. Tom Pansky (Bonneville Power
Administration, Portland, OR) . .

Each locaJ-ity was examined in order to eliminate those annual
time series of less thaui twenty five yeaxs of continuous records.
For each series retained, a fifteen-year moving average was
calculated for each year as the eirithmetic mean of the year and the
fourteen preceding years, starting with the fifteenth year of data,
and progressing to the latest year available, usually 1990.
Working with the fifteen-year moving averages, the parameters of a
linear regression were calculated for. the annual time series of
each locality, ajid those localities having negative slopes that
tested significantly different (alpha = 0.05) from zero were
identified as, badly damaged and decreasing. Finally, the most-
recent annual abundance observation, usually that of 1990, was
taken as a percentage of the maximum annual observation in its time
series in order to provide a rough measure of the most recent level
of seeding of the spawning grounds. A spawning level that is 10%
of the maximum observed is said to be at 10% of seeding. The ten
percent level is arbitrarily defined as the threshold for being
critically damaged.
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Results

A total of 400 Chinook salmon spavming escapement surveys (292
of wild, 67 of hatcheries, and 41 of others that include mixed
hatchery and wild data such as dam and weir counts) were found to
have time series long enough for this analysis. In examining the
most recent survey abundaxice, less thain 26% (103) of the surveys
were greater than 50% of the historical maximum, with greater than
30% (122) being 10% or less than the historical maximum as of 1990
(Figure 1)

.

In examining the most recent value for the 292 surveys of wild
saJLmon alone, about 24% (69) were greater than 50% of the
historical maximum abundance, however in more than 36% (106) of the
surveys, the most recent annual aibundance was 10% or less of the
historical maximum survey abundance (Figure 2) . After editing
the list of wild salmon surveys at or below the 10% seeding level
to exclude observations about which the authors have unanswered
questions, there remain 44 biologically well known survey sites
that are most likely to be indicative of critically damaged salmon
popxilations (Table 1) - The 44 surveys identified as critically
damaged (Table 1) are also noteworthy in that all of the surveys in
Idaho, and most of the surveys in Oregon, as well as one in
Washington, contain individuals of species listed as threatened
under the federal Endangered Species Act. More than half of the
wild surveys (53%; 155) were most recently at levels of annual
abundance of no more than 20% of their maxima during the time span
of the surveys.

Of the 67 hatchery observations, slightly less than 39% (26)

had most recent cinnual abundances above 50% of their maxima during
the time span of the surveys (Figiire 3) . Less than 24% (16) of
these most recent annual cibundances were at, or below, 10% of their
maxima during the time span of the surveys.

In examining trends in abundance in the 400 annuaJ. time
series, 117 (29%) had significantly negative slopes, and were found
to have their most recent annual abimdances below 50% of their
mctxima during the time span of the surveys (Figure 4) . Among these
badly damaged and decreasing Chinook soirveys, nearly half (47%; 55)

were at or below 10% of their maxima during the time span of the
surveys, and fully 70% (82) were at or below the 20% level.
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Discussion

The naCure eind limitations of the study should be recognized.
First of all, the time series of each locality is called a survey,
not a popuiation or stock (Simon and Larkin, 1972), because the
authors presently have no basis to make this judgement. While the
authors are optimistic that most of the surveys described as "wild
Chinook" and "hatchery Chinook" will ultimately turn out to be
indicators of self-sustaining breeding populations, or stocks, some
may not. Questions of how to aggregate the individual groups of
spawners described in these surveys (i.e., Table l) into self-
sustaining stocks have not been answered here, however such
recommendations axe the subject of much current research, including
the authors. Secondly, the integrity of the survey data has been
assumed without direct discussion with the agencies involved. The
assuu^tion of integrity means that the locality surveyed and the
survey methods have remained the same throughout the time span of
the surveys.

The statistical methods were chosen in the belief that annual
observations within a locality were conq^arable from year to year.
Further, while differences in the type of data among localities
make con^jarisons among localities difficult or in5)ossible, the
methods permit the slopes of regressions to be compared. Surveys
reporting in units of redd counts do not produce measures of
abundance that are necessaxily proportional to total population
size in the drainage basin, since the standard reach probably
contains an inconstant portion of the total spawning population
each year. However, if the same reach is counted each year, then
the annual redd counts do accurately reflect the population of that
reach, and that reach alone. Since the standard index reaches are
usually the best spawning groxinds accessible to the surveyors,
trends in redd coimts should be excellent measures of the status of
wild Chinook populations in general. So, while it is recognized
that the combined redd count data are not necessarily proportional
to total Chinook eibundance in the Columbia River Basin as a whole,
the redd counts are considered by the authors to be directly
prop<3Ttional to Chinook spawning abundance in the reaches surveyed.

It is recognized that escapement data may not fully reflect
fluctuations in total population size because of una ccounted
removals by fisheries, and other sources of human- induced mortality
(see Symons and Waldichuk 1984; Schwartzberg and Roger 1986) . From
the standpoint of measuring stock status of very small chinook
populations, the authors view this as an academic concern. The
purpose of this effort is to identify siit^jle measures that may be
related to stock status, and to inform on the status of these
measures by species and locality, not to identify the causes of
population declines. If numbers of spawners sufficient to sustain
the populations axe not being recruited annually, in the end it
makes very little difference why the populations have disappeared.
The authors hope that this type of work can help to point out where
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salmon recovery actions that will address the causes of population
decline are most needed.. ;•.

The criteria for classifying the status of Chinook populations
in the surveys were chosen to be as single as possible. A
fundamental requirement was that the criteria be abundance based,
so that a measure proportionaJ. to sinnuaJ. egg deposition could be
examined. The criteria shoxild persist in time. Fifteen years was
selected as the period for the moving average to correspond to
three generation lengths for the average Chinook population. It
was felt that processes that were sustained over three generations
could be viewed as firmly established., and significant, in any
saJjnon population (see Cuenco et al., in press). The moving
average used in this application is not sensitive to short term
fluctuations in abundance. A measure of carrying capacity was seen
as essential to determining the statias of stocks through time.
Since only a very crude measure was necessary, it was assxamed that
the peak annuaJ. survey count would be a minimum estimate of the
historical carrying capacity of the survey site. Environmental.

degradation continually erodes carrying capacity at most of the
survey localities, hence current capacity at amy given locality may
be very much lower than that of the last century. A threshold
level for determining critical status is also an important measure
of stock status. As an arbitrary rule, the authors chose seeding
levels below 50% as a necessary condition indicative of a failing
stock. Beax in mind that this is a screening technique designed to
point out potential, not necessarily actual, problems. While it is
recognized that a healthy salmon stock may frequently fall below
50% of full seeding, the authors believe that falling below 50% of
seeding in the presence of a long-term, steady decline waxrants a
careful examination of stock status.

Finally, the criteria of stock status need to distinguish
populations that are truly at risk of extirpation from populations
imdergoing normal fluctuations in abuaadance. The measure of the
strength of the linear trend apparent in the annual time series of
the fifteen-year moving average appears to be adequate to identify
damaged populations, and it gives error bounds for the parameter
estimates that permit con^iarisons among localities. The
combination of a significant downward trend with less than 50% of
seeding in the most recently observed annual abundance pose very
con5)elling indications that a population could be badly damaged and
decreasing.

In future research we plan to add the most recent value of the
fifteen-year moving average as a percentage of the maximum observed
abundance to the list of criteria indicative of a damaged salmon
population. A seeding level below 50%, when based on the most
recent fifteen-year average, may be sufficient to identify a
chronically depressed group of spawners without additional analysis
of this kind of data. Vlhen based on only the most recent
observation of abundance (e.g. Figs. 1-4, and Table 1) , a seeding
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level below 50% needs to be coinbined with a significantly negative
slope in the regression of average abundance on time to identify
chronic damage.

Most of the Chinook salmon escapement survey areas in the
Columbia Basin clearly are both in chronic decline and have
critically low levels of spawners. It is our inference tbat many
of the Chinook populations represented by the survey areas are in
chronic decline. More than a quarter of the surveys are in the
badly damaged and decreasing category (see Figure 4) , while only
slightly more t-Yi^n a quarter of all surveyed localities are above
50V seeding, regardless of trends in abundance (see Figure 1) .

Among the 117 badly damaged survey localities, most (82) are at, or
below, 20% of seeding, the last time they were checked. Assuming
that these surveys may represent chinook salmon populations, there
are 82 chinook salmon populations in the Columbia Ba^in that have
been steadily declining for the past three generations, arid that
have managed to achieve spawning levels of only one- fifth of the
carrying capacity during the most recent spawning. If these
surveys represent populations, or portions of populations, then
they would cleeirly be candidates for accelerated recovery actions
(see CBFWA 1991)

.
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Figure 2. Frequency histogram of Columbia Basin chinook spawning
escapement surveys of wild spavmers at seeding levels grouped in
ten percent increments.
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Figure 3. Frequency histogram of Columbia Basin Chinook spawning

escapement sucveys. of hatcheries returns at seeding levels groupea

in ten percent increments

.

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% >50%

Level of Seeding



129

Figure 4. Frequency hiscograxn of Col^ia
J^^^^^f<SLyeTinlescapement for those surveys classified as

Jl^J^/ -^^^^^^^^^
decreasing at seeding levels grouped in ten percent increments.
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Trends in spawning escapement indices of Pacific salmon in the
Columbia River basin above Bonneville dam during the period of
19A5 to 1990.

Trends In Spawning Escapements

Trends>9 years; weir counts excluded

INC (8.90%)

NS (57.59%)
DEC (33.51%)

Cumulative Number of Decreasing Trends

In Spawning Escapements By Year

"? 70
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Landing of chinook salmon by the Columbia Rjver com-

mercial fishery, 1866 to 1979 (from Chapman et al. 1982).

Attachment 5
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SCEENTDFIC RATIONALE FOR IMPLEMENTING A SPILL PROGRAM TO
INCREASE JUVENILE SALMON SURVIVAL IN THE SNAKE AND

COLUMBIA RIVERS

- The foUowing summarizes the scientific basis for implementing a spiU program during

12 nighttime hours at all Corps of Engineers dams on the mainstem Snake and Columbia

Rivers to increase protection for 1994 spring outmigrating juvenile salmon. As concluded by

the peer review team of indqiendent scientists, "[t]ransportation alone, as presently conceived

and implemented, is unlikely to halt or prevent the continued declined and extirpation of Usted

species of salmon in the Snake River Basin" (Mundy et al. 1994). Spill at transportation and

coUector dams, whfle continuing to transport those fish coUected by the mechaiucal bypass

system addresses fte substantial uncertainty associated with the effectiveness of the juvenile

transportation program (TRG 1993; Mundy et al. 1994). A management approach when faced

with uncertainty is to spread the risk between two choices. The spill program is designed to

improve in-river passage survival and spread the risk by leaving a larger percentage ofjuvenUe

salmon migrating in-river. For the last several years, substantial spiU for juvenile migrants has

been implemented at aU mid-Columbia PubUc Utility District projects. As well, substantial

controUed spill has been routinely implemented at Corps projects including Lower

Monumental, Ice Harbor, The Dalles, and Bonneville Dams as an effective management

strategy to increase juvenile salmon survival.

The objective of the spill program is to safely guide 80% of the juvenile migrant

salmon away from the turbines, the most harmful passage route at the dams, and pass them

through mechanical bypass systems and over the spiUways. Spill volumes will be controlled to

avoid harmful levels of dissolved atmospheric gas in the river.

The current spiU program at the mainstem Corps dams was jointly coordinated and

devised by fishery scientists from the National Marine Fisheries Service, the United States

Fish and Wildlife Service, the Oregon Department of Fish and Wildlife, the Washington

Department of Fish and Wildlife, the Idaho Department of Fish and Game, and.the Columbia

River Inter-Tribal Fish Commission. The spill program has been adopted for the remainder

of the 1994 spring outmigration. This may be one of the major options, evaluated in the long

term as part of an adaptive management approach, used to assist in improvmg juvenile survival

with respect to recovery.

Fishery agendes and tribes have chosen a conservative approach to the implementation

of the spill program. Where possible, based on real time and historical salmon migration

patterns, spill is generally being confined to nighttime hours. This substantially limits

economical impacts of spill because power demand is much less at night and nver flows are

lowered at night. An extensive program for monitoriiig the signs of gas supersaturaaon

impacts in both juvenile and adult salmon has been estabUshed with trained biologists at each

dam. The spill program can be immediately modified based upon the daily results of the

monitoring program.

SCIENTIFIC RATIONALE FOR IMPLEMENTINGA SPDLLPROGRAM .
Page I
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The following points further describe in detail the scientific rationale for initiating and

continuing the program:

* Controlled spill as provided by the program, with the stringent monitoring protocols

included, provides the best possible means of passage survival for downstream salmon

migrants. ' Extensive studies at mainstem dams throughout the basin document that juvenile

mortality from spUl ranges from 0-3% ( NWPPC 1986; Raymond 1988; Holmes 1952;

Ledgerwood 1990; Iwamoto et al. 1993).

* Other passage routes through dams cause higher levels of mortality. Turbine passage causes

from 10-20% direct mortality (NWPPC 1986; DFOP 1993). Mechanical bypass systems, not

installed at all dams, only guide and collect 35-70% ofjuvenile migrants. Mortality to

juvenile spring chinook that are guided by mechanical bypass systems ranges from 1-3%

(Monk et al. 1991; Dawley 1991; FTOT annual rqxirts; Krema et al. 1986; and Brege et al.

1987).

* Spill disperses predators from the forebay and tailrace areas (Faler et al. 1988)

* There is considerable evidence that juvenile fish can detect and avoid high levels of gas

supersaturation (Dawley et al. 1975).

* After installation of the spill deflectors in the mid 1970's, the historical record demonstrates

that better adult returns followed from juveniles which migrated under high flow and high spill

conditions (Fish Passage Center SOR-19 1994).

* Four of the five best adult return ratios for Snake River spring and summer spring chinook

from 1974 to 1989 occurred in 1975, 1982, 1983, and 1984. Spill levels during these years

were substantially higher than those currently being implemented.

* When compared to past years, the levels of spill being implemented in 1994 axe

substantially less than what occurred in the late I970's and early 1980's. These levels are not,

"unprecedented" as described by the federal operators.

* Levels of spill proposed for 1994 are considerably less than those that occurred in 1993, a

year in which nmoff levels late in the spring chinook migration resulted in high spill rates. In

1993, no fish with signs of impacts of gas supersaturation were detected through the Smolt

Monitoring Program until spill levelsgreatly exceeded those proposed for 1994 . The
monitoring program showed tiiat in spite of high spill (which occurred during flows that were

more than twice the levels anticipated for 1994) the observed impacts of dissolved gas on fish

were minor (DFOP 1993, Appendix 6).

Prq)ared by the stafEs of: National Marine Fisheries Service, United States Fish and Wildlife

Service, Columbia River Inter-Tribal Fish Commission, Idaho Department ofFish and Game, .

Oregon Department ofFish and Wildlife, and the Washington Departement ofFish and Wildlife

SCEENTmC RATIONALE FOR IMPLEMErOTNG A SPELLPROGRAM Page 2
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United States Department ofttrelinterior

OFT-( TT. (\V THE SECRETARY
WaSHIN'JTON. D.C. 20240 ""

^UN30 1993
In Rfe?-y Refer To:
FR 9l\30£

Director, Office of Protected Resources
••rational Marina Fisheries Service
1335 East-West Highway
silver Spring, Maryland 20910

Dear Sir/Madoia:

The Departnent of the Intex ior (DOI) has revieved the Interim
Policy on Artificial Propagation of Pacific Salmon (Policy) Onder
the Endangered Species Act'(ESA), published in the Federal
Register on April 5, 1993. We offer these comments aa an initial
response to Ltie published policy.

The Katio;uil Marine Flsherlea Service's- (NHFS) Interiti Policy is
a major step Ln addressing the potential risks of artificial
propagation- However, the focus on risks nay miss some of the
potential benefits of alloving listed species to be Incorporated
into an artificial propagation program to facilitate salmon
recovery efforts. For instance, artificial propagation cfforta
that preserve the gene pool and population structure of the
1 isted stocks may play an important role in the short-term.

The Policy was developed as internal guidance for NHPfi to
evaluate artificial propagation in the listing, consultation,
permitting, and recovery of Pacific salmon under the ESX. In
practice, hovevcr, the Policy could have fmr-reaching ^JRplications for all involved jurisdictiona regarding thd use of ^artificial propagation for restoration of moat Kest Coast saloon, jPolicy inplenentation may require major nodifjLcati-ons La. nany
artificial propagation programs conducted by Federal, State,
Tribal, and other entities, wh^oh over tli« pact €0 yaaira, Ixave
mitigated- for ia^acts of development activities and rdfitored
depleted stocks. lJLkewff;e, the pr«c«ddnta cstabllcthed by this
Policy could affect artificial propagation of other fish
throughout the Nation listed under the EGA.

The Policy should b« r«viced and fiirthcs: coordinated with other
agencies and affected parties before it is applied.
Consequently, ve recowmpnd that ite impIcnentafcion be deferred
for a short period. To that end, DOI is prepared to actively
participate in an effort to raeolve issues and to pursue

Attachment 8
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ansvers to r.p^.t-.iric questions. The NMFS ahould scliedule a

meeting of all affected parties as scxin as possible to provide a

foriun to discuss tho inplicationo of the Policy and to resolve
problems identified.

In our view, tfle NMFS Policy affects many DOI salnon propagation
and restoration, prograaa on the West Coast. The DOI has several

broad concerns over the implications the Policy has for these
programs. These general concerns eunuaarlzed below more

appropriately should be subject to an interagency discussion.
The EncloGura provides more detailed comnents about the Policy,
and identifies implications that go beyond Pacific salmon.

Recovery of listed species should be approached from an ecosystem
oerEpective, allowing flocibillty in artificial production in

case measures to address habitat, hydropower, and harvest impacts
do not vork cs pieutneC. By focusing nzirrowly on. hatchery issues,

to the neglect of habitat, harvest, and hydropower Impacts, the

Policy might be viewed as another step in a piecemeal approach to

the consulta^ion process. Earlier this year Judge Harsh
disraiaseO a Sierra -Club lawsuit that challenged the adequacy of

the consultation process under the ESA, largely because of the
FeUerdl Government's commitment to take a comprehensive approach
in futiure consultations.

More than 30 Tribal governments have trust, treaty, and, other
interests in Pacific salmon. The four Columbia River treaty
fishing Tribes have established a contlnuin?r dialogue vith KHFS
relative to recovery planning. The 20 Boldt Case Area Tribes
conduct artificial propagation operations at approidjaatoly so
fish hatcheries and rearing facilities, and release 40-50 million
salmon and steel head into western Washington watora annually.
These hatcheries serve a variety of purposes including mitigation
for lost production due to habitat lose, cnhancoa^it of depressed
stocks, and. augmentation of fisheries in helping to meet Indian
treaty rights. Releases from Tribal hatchoriee benefit
commercial and sport fisheries in the United States and Canada,
and returning spawners help witisfy Tribal economic, euhslstence
and ceremonial needs. These Tribes generally believe" the draft
policy reflects a negatlvA bias towards artificial production, '

and are concerned about the complex harvest sharing arrangements
under the United Sta'te.'^/Canada Paoifio Salmon Treaty, an<J on
associated future run strci>gths and treaty harvest opportunities.

In view of the Federal Government's trufit responsibilities, self-
determination policies and govcnunent-to—govemmeht relationship
with Indian Tribes, and in consideration of Tribal roles and
responsibilities as co-mar.agcrs of tho Pacific ealtaon resoxirce,

and the potential impacts of airtificlal propagation policy, on the

future eKercise of Indian r-ighte, ve believe it is critical that
the views of Tribal governraents be factored into the rulemaking •

process. Thi.-^ is espooiaily important since eome Tribes, not
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B>embers cf the two unbreUa groups, have ^^"^^^"l^ «Lare that
lPtP.r«srs. It ic tho duty of all Federal

'^^•""f.^t^^^acts on
their decisions and actions fully take into account impacts on

Indian fiching rightc.

in conclusion, the DOI cOcnowledges "^^ "?*=^,f?^„^PPJ5PJ^Ueve6
policy on artificial P'^-E«g«^<'r;,°£„Jris'a ^S^ingf ^Jiover,
th« inter itQ Policy prooclgatod by '^^f^^^^'^.TIX «c unll ae its
there are substantial concerns about the P^J-^^ *'=„Y^^^ ^f^^^^
broador i«pIication= to ^"^"i^^^^l P^fP^^^^^fClrf (^t^
nationwidG^nd to DOI' s Fish and Wildlife f^^^.^^Jigion ^f
i«.piotnentation of the ESA U.<xt necessitates pro^C "vision of^

the interim Policy. Kence,.ve recommend "jatKl^S formally derer

implementation of t3»e Policy Tor several ^^^^^^^^^^ .rihe wSt
DOI, work ino with Tribal and State fisheries managers on the^West

coa^t, will vork viLh KKFS to revise the Policy. ,^. °PP^^^^^
should then be provided for all affected to review the revised

Policy b«foie it is rinalized.

He look forvard to working with you to seek "J^^PP^f^i^J^d these
resolution of the important issues raised by the Policy and these

^^iSts? ^yl^e^i^ns should be directed to Ken Havran, Office

of Environmental Affairs- (202) 208-7116-

Sincerely/

Enclosxire

lonAthaji P. Deaaon
/ector
fice of Environnental Affairs
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Enclocur*

specific Conifiiontp ffhotit cho P<?llgY

in considering rccovcr-y option- for » lifted '^P*^^*^' ^^^
^^^

objective assessment of artificial P50<i"f^°" f"^^."''^Se HKFS
benefit. a3 well a3 unoert^lntiea and P^^-^^ial

^^f-;^^^1,'^^
Should Clarify the statement reading: "Whether

^''ZJ.ltlll^

'

fishery production or oth«r "^^igation purpo«oa, ortxfxcxal

oronacation must minimize the potential for del«t«rious «Efecta

^n b^tS li2t^ !nd unli=t*<l .peci«6 If it is to ^ -°"f^^*^^
3it:h the conservation of gonetlc and «<=fl°ff*J,tcv ^a?
P<iciific Silnon.- A= included in the Interim

^°l^^y'^ll„^^..
statenent is subject to interpretation ai;d may not b« sp*cifi.c

enough to iitplement.

Kith reference to the bauKground section, ^« "'^^f^"^^J^^f
some statements that are debatable and/or =i^l«°J^"|^^ Stated

^"ijsf^s??rc?.^^2f?:=iS.q 'r.»|K
in a shorter time thereby pocentlalLy increasing «ie viability or

recovery actions.

The potential ris)cs incurred include: i) broodsto^ "o^lSoS^
Srther diminish the viability of n'^<=^fJ^ ^^^^^ ^?floS or
2) mechanical failures, human error, a«l,*l^f*^" °*^,?tjt

°°

all of the animals in the artificial production^factl^.

3) inbreeding depression may decrease the
t*??^ «? the «n*ciea;

in the program, thereby decreasing the liability of the sp*ciea,

aSd 4) in captive broodstock programs the complete lack of

Further, benefits are created eard risks are taken ^f» ^^^
artificially pr-op;»gat«^ non-liated «al^««« ^P*^^;^^*^^?^!
ii,to vaters <^ntiining listed saloon species

. ^ P^Ji^t^
benefits create include: 1) protection of l^°^^P^°^^*,5:^ted
mixed stock quota fisheries, and 2) Partial protection c| 1"^^*^

=p«ei« from predation- Artificial Pf<'P^5'^^i°^,tL? SJ^^
salmon species may also poae a variety of ecological ri»lc« to
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li.">te<5 salmon populations. Thano potential rioka include
incrcaeod competition and predation, di8placem«nt of natural
fich, aluorad niigrator-y and apawning behavior, <m<l dia«Q«a
transfer. For example, the release of large niunbera of hatcliery
fich can alovato lovolc of competition for food, habitat or
mates, and may lead to displacement of natural fish from th«ir
habitat.

To minimize the riaks o£ artificial propagation, HMFS should
consider jointly developing minimum atamdarda for hatch«ry
operations that meet th« objoctivea of the Policy And uao the
best hatchery technologies available to reduce artificial
selection of genetic traits. Horeover, HKTS should cloxlfy the
role of captive broodstock programs in the preservation of
endangered and threatened fitih stocks and should eatabllsh a
protocol vrith critical thr«Eholda for taking any actions to
collect and maintain a C<iptlve bcoodstock.

He are still very concerned about how HMFS intends to Inplcnent
its definition of a "species" as an "evolutionarily fiignificant
unit" (ESU) . There is considerable professional debate on the
West Coast concerning the number and significance of salmon ESU's
and the role of "hatchery stocks in salmon «nhancenent and
restoration. The second part of the definition reflecting th«
contribution to the biological species' evolutionary legacy is
nebulous and subjective. In practice, this concept cannot be
measured. The DOI has not been supportive of the concept in
earlier discussions

-

The document would be enhanced by inclnsion of citations to
relevant studies supporting the assertions on \rtiich the Policy is
based- This is aJ.so important because the ESA rajutres that the
best scientific information available be used as the basis for
resolving the issues this Policy addresses. On page 17574, the
reference in column 3 shotild indicate that the Snake River
sockeye salmon are listed as endangered rather than threatened.

The first tenet in the policy statement section of the Policy
(page 17S74, column 3) establishea a three step deolslon process
for deciding whether to list axtifieially propagated Pacific
salmon. The' first step Involves identlfyixig stooks.at risk as
the basis for listing and other actions under the £SA. The
second step is to decide vhether artificially propagated fish are
part of that stock. Decisions tinder this second step are to be
based on three criteria specified in the first peiragraph,
column i, paga 1757S.
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Th« Jfirat two critoria aco approprlata. Howavor, th« tiilrd
criterion dealing with uncertainty about the relationship between
artificially propagatad fiah and tha natural population is
inappropriate. Dnder such uncertainty, the E8A requires that a
conccrvativc cci«nfcifio approach be adopted that provides th«
"benefit of the doubt" to the affectGd apecics. To be Gan3i«t«nt
with how oaptlve propagation io troatod undar tha ESA., tha third
criterion should be deleted. ' '

The last step involves deciding whether to include th«
artiflciolly propagated eioh aa part of th« stock when listing it
under the ESA. V?hen a stock 1« listad, artificially prQpagat«d
fiah from that stock would be protected undar the ESA. Tr«atixtg
as not listed a portion of a stock that ia indiatlngulehable £roa
a listed stock is arbitrary and haa aignlficant iaplicationa Cor
other listed species. In addition, we do not agre« with tha
position in the Policy that decisions to exclude broo<lstock as
aenbers of listed stocks should be baaed solely on a
determination some time aJTter the listing decision that those
populations are not "judged essential for recovery."

Under the third tenet, the Policy allows for th« propagation of
"a very few generations." The genetic effects of hatchery
selection could be substantially miniaized if artificial
propagation were lijnited to no more than one gen«ration.
However, we recognize that it nay be necessary to continue
propagation for longer periods where habitat constraints are
severe. More specific guidance concerning when r«covery of a
species has occurred would be useful. In addition, ret«ntion
tine of hatchery-reared salaon should be aa short as practical to
ensure achieven«nt of restoration goals.

mie Policy also states that safeguards to protect fish from
mortality and catastrophic loss during artificial propagation
should receive high priority. . Such serfeguarda should be
required.

«ie fourth tenet of the policy statement section raguixea
systeaatic monitoring and evaluation to d«t«rmine when artificial
propagation is 410 longer essential for raoovery and ehouXd be
terminated. We conctir in this general approach to a tixxlta
application of stocking. In a recovery strategy. In applying this
tenet, however. It is imp<^i:ant to recognise that stocking of
artifteiaJly propagated fiah aay oontinua tov y«arc, if not
decades.

In addition, several factors (e.g. the realities of commercial,
cport, or Tribal -laxploituition espeaially of small popu.latj.ona,
limitations on managing a fishery once a population is delisted,
and y«ar claca w<)akneaeee} may irequir* eome captive propagation
beyond the initial recovery of a poptilation.
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Subatajitial elaboration of the parenthetical refaranca to
directed take in the fifth tenet of the policy atatement section
is nacassary to ensure offactiva recovarv efforts. This would
also minimize disruption of aurtificial propagation activities in
support of other fiKhary refiponsibiliti«s. The FMS'a experience
supports the experinental use of cuppleaantation or outpleuiting
AC a pot<>nt5ally effective fishery resourc* rootoration
technique. However, it is not perfected so a fall-back strategy
would ba osconci&l to ancur« p«rp«tuation of the otoakjs involv«d
until sufficient natural production is re-«atabliahed.
Maintaining raturne directly to fish hataheries would be
required, at least on an interim baais, to guarantee a. source of
broodstock for sustaining the qrenetio intogrlty of th.e at:ocko
involved- Aleo, recovery would b« accelGrated and th«
fulfillment of compatible fichery r-esponaiblliti«a would b<s

facilitated. This requirement to intentionally take listed fish
' at hatahcrico or other £ocilitlea for br-oodatock ohouXd ba

explicitly authorized in the Policy. Since the principle focufi
is on the use of artificial propagation for recovery, addreasing
this issue under the third tenet nay be. more appropriat*.

Also, under the fifth tenet, the Policy Indicates that stock
transfer of unliated species should be "avoided." Stock
transfers may need to be prohibited unless ther« is a clear
determination that there will be no impacts to listed or "at
risk" species.

Implications beyond Pacific salmon

We are concerned about the broader Implicationa of th« ESU and
the definition of "si>ecies« under the ESA applied to Pacific
salmon in the Policy- The FWS has yet to finaliz* its policy oh
the definition of species (i.e., vertebrate population*). £ence,
it is tmclear whether the HMFS definition of apeci«s will be
consistent with the FWS definition. The two agencies need to
coordinate finalizing definitions that are, if not identical, at
least conpatible, prior to impleaentation of the Policy.

If extended beyond Pacific salmon, the concepts and principles
embodied in the Policy could establish precedents for captive
propagation programs for fish other than Pacific •almon under the
ESA and for other ptsrposes. Currently FWS .propagates several
species of sturgeon and desert fishes that ar« listed aa veil as
Atlantic salmon. Major problems would be encountered in aRJiying
this Policy to these species since very few natxiral populations
exist and they tend to involve small ntimbera of individuals.
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COLUMBIA RIVER INTER-TRIBAL FISH COMMISSION
729NiO««oa.Sui«mPo«fand.Oregoa97232 '^''^gS^S^

^rrr

December 16, 1993

Mr. Douglas K. Hall

Asastant Secretary for Oceans and Atmosphere

National Oceanic and Atmg^heric Administration

Herbert Claric Hoover Building, Room 5804

14th Street and Constitution Avenue, N.W.

Washington, D.C. 20230

RE: Draft Snake River Salmon Recovery Plan Recommendations prepared by Snake

River Salmon Recovery Team

Dear Mr, HalL '
•

The Columbia River Inter-TWbal Fish Commissioa recently submitted P«^J^^J*
comments (attached) on. the Draft Snake River Salmon R^very Plan ^^^^^^
prq^redbyVeSnakeRiverSalmonRecoveryTeam. The listed salmon are among &ose fish

d^ed to pass the Commission's member tribes' usual and accustomed fishmg places.

Since many of flieiecoveiy recommendations presented in the Team;s Draft?la^^

•ofasd^McnatL. but are ofTpoHcy and legal xntare._thefo^Cob^I^^

^vfaogovem flie Columbia River Inter-Ttibal H5!h Commission ha^^^^^''^^s
letter to you regarding some serious .

concerns aridng ^^ .^^- ^'^^J^
recommenSms Hea^ refer to the attached tedmical peer review comments to better

imderstand.flie technical basis of our concerns.

Our review found theTeam's recommendations sdentificaUy
^f''f

'^^^^^^^
requireinents of (he ESA and flie needs of the resource.

^ Ĵ^f^t
ofw^es^ed 1^^

^cjples regarding the tribes' treaty rights. If NMFS adopts ^^.J^^^LoXendSr^^ -ffl fea in its federal trust and fiduda^resp^fl^

Tbe foUowingdiscussion highlights our major concerns with the Teams draft recovery

recommendations.

I

Attachment 9
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The Draft Plan's reconiraendations are not consistent with the Columbia River Fish
Management Plan (CRFTAP), nor with the legal principles established by the federal courts
that protect the tribes' treaty-secured fishing rights.

Review of the Team's Draft Plan indicates that the Team fundamentally misunderstands
the CRFMP and the tribes' treaty rights. The Team failed to recognize that the word
"conservation* is a I<^ term of art v^ch has specific meaning and usage in the context of
treaty fishing rights case law, but has a different definition in the Endangered Spedes Act
These two definitions are not interchangeable. As a result of these misconceptions, the Team
made recommendations which would have adverse consequences to tribal, state, and federal co-
management efforts.

The CRFMP was developed by the parties to United States v. Oregon and adopted as an
order of the Federal District Court for the District of Oregon in October 1988. Parties to the
CRFMP include the United States of America (rgjrescated by the Dqjartment of Interior's

Asdstant Secretary of Fish, Wildlife and Parks' and Asastant Secretary of Indian AfEairs; and
the Department of Commerce's Undersecretary for Oceans and Atmosphere), the Nez Perce
Tribe, the Confederated Tribes of the Umatilla Indian Reservation, the Confederated Tribes of
the Warm Springs Reservation of Oregon, the Confederated Tiibes and Bands of the Yakima
Indian Nation, the States of Or^on, Washington, and Idaho, and the Shoshone-Bannock Tribe
(subject to certain limitations).

"

Among its purposes, theCRFMP is intended to "protect, manageand enhance the fishery

resources of the Columbia River system for the mutual benefit ofpresent and future generations*

consistent with the treaty rights and conservation requiiements set forth by numerous federal

court decisions such as United States v. Oregon , United States v. Washington and Washington
V. Washington State Commercial Passenger Fishing Vessel Ass'n.

The harvest provisions in the CRFMP were developed to assist in rebuilding Columbia
River salmon runs, based on estimates of fish production and limits to productivity at the tinie

the Plan was developed. The parties to United States v. Oregon recognized that it would be -

very difficult to achieve die CRPMP's r*uildirig goals and harvest sharing objectives, unless

other land and water management activities that impacted flie fisheries resource were also

addressed. The parties therefore pledged to use their best efforts to iat^rale fee CRFMP's
goals and objectives into otherprograms and plans reqtoied by or adopted under oflier state and
federal laws. To deal wifli the dynamic nature of the-fisheries resource, flie parties developed
a process for monitoring the performance of die Plan and for mo<E^dng its provisions as needed
to meet rebuilding and allocation goals.

AkeyaspectofharvestmanagenientimdertheCREMPisthetribes' voluntary agr^meat
to agnificanfly greater harvest restrictions than could be imposed upon tiiem onder case law
principles in order to rebuild depressed runs. Thus, any ^milatfr^^ changes to harvest

management that are not agreed to by the tribes must meet flie standards set forth by the case
law.
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Under the. standanls set in United States v. Oregon and related proceedings, the treaty

fishery can only be" restricted after ocrt^ conditions have been met. First, it must be

established that the proposed restrictions are both reasonable and necessary for preservation of

the species; the burden of establishing such fects is on the party proposing the restrictions.

Second, in order to be deemed necessary, the proposed restrictions must be the least restrictive

measures available to achieve the requited conservalioa pmposc. .Hiird, it most be dctcnnined

that the conservatioa ptnpose offeeproposed restrictions cannot be adiieved solely by n^nlation

of non-Ihdian activities. Fonrtfa, the proposed restrictions may not discriminate agaiiist Indians

exercising their treaty li^ts, other as stated or applied. And fifth, voluntary tribal actions are

not adequate to adiieve the conservation purpose.

Tlie Team's proposal to modify the existing harvest managemeat r^ime creates two

major concerns: recommcadalions to tmilaterallymodify theCSFMP ignore the adverse impacts

such actions would have on (he integrity of fee CRFMP and fee co-managemeat process; and

fee classification of proposed restrictions on treaty harvest as 'conservation" measures lafeer

tbaq as allocation issues would unfairly place addidonal burdens on fee tribes' treaty fidieries.

Because fee Dqrartment of Commerce is a signatory party to fee CEEMP, it (and fee

agency which rq)reseats it in U.S. v. Oregon - NMFS) is subject to fee same rules for

modifying fee CEEMP as apply to all ofeer parties. Alfeough fee CRFMP contains provisions

for review and modification, none of feese provisions prowde that any party may unilaterally

revise fee CRFMP over anofeer party's objections. Dqjarture firom fee provisions prescribed

by feeCRFMP may require fee Department ofCommerce to wifedraw from fee Plan. Alfeough

fee CREMP does provide for any party to now wifedraw fiom fee Plan, if fee Dqarttnent

wifediew firom fee CRFMP, sndi an action could trigger fee wifedrawal of ofeer key parties.

TTus would destroy fee int^rity 'of fee CRFMP and, perhaps more importantly, fee co-

management process that has developed ferough fee CRFMP. In addition, such an action could

place fee Department of Commerce at odds wife fee Dqjartment of Interior, fee ofeer federal

signatory to fee CRFMP, and fee Department of Justice.

In addition, fee Draft Plan's recommended actions to furfeer restrict treaty fisheries

would not meet fee l^al standards descdbed above, nor fee trust responsibility of fee federal

government to fee tribes. Lideed, many, of fee issues identified in fee draft plan as

"conservation' concerns are more accurately dasafied as allocation issues. For example, by

recommending that harvest mortalities on listed Snake River salmon be leduced.to zero, but not

recommending grmnar levels ofredTOtions for ofeer sonrces of salmon mortelity, the draft plan

continues fee 140 year effort to trnnitnTTft fee tribes' treaty-reserved allocation rights.

For far too long, numerous actions undertaken or permitted by fee state and federal

agencies have ditectiy or cmradatively diminished, fee fishery resource and conseqoentiy

impacted fee tribes' abilities to exercise tbdr reserved fishing rights. In negotiating fee treaties,

fee tribes did not enviaon nor sanction fee U.S. government uang or allowing fee use of fee

resource common to cadi sovereign in a manner feat would diminish its availability to feeotiier.
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The Draft Plan docs not equitably distribute the harden of salmon recovery among the

various sources of saUnoa mortality.

A key clement of salmon recovery must be the equitable disttibution of the rcoovcty

burden. However, the Team's recommendations place a disproportionally high burden for

sahnon recovcty on treaty fisheries. The treaty fishety is one of th<; few sources of salmon

mortality for wfaidftfac Team sets measurable performance standards and the only source for

which the Team recommends an eventual mortality of zero. The Team's recommendations, if

adopted, would amotmt to a defacto abrogation of the tribes' treaty rigjits.

The tribes' treaty secured fishing tights require that the burden for conserving the listed

Snake River salmon stocks must not be disproportionately placed on tribal fisheries nor may flie

•constrvafion" aspects of the recovery plan discriminate against tribal fisheries. Unfortunately,

the draft recovery plan does both. Despite the fact that for every one salmon an Indian catches,

non-Indian devdopmeot activities kill at least one hundred salmon, the tribes' small harveste are

still being blamed for tiie decrease in salmon. Hie truth is, the dams are by for the biggest "net"

in the river; operation of the hydrosystem must change if salmon restoration is to become a

reality. Therefore, NMFS must modify tiieTeam's recommendations such that the first recovery

actions implemented are those actions which remedy the major factors cauang the decUne of the

stocks of concern. This is, in fact, the policy NMFS enundated for setting priorities in its own

recovery planning guidelines.

In die event that more severe reductions in tiie tribes' treaty fineries are deared fay

NMFS to conserve listed Snake River stocks, tiiose reductions must not be sought witiiout prior

impleinentation of reductions for all non-treafy fisheries, as well as for otiier sources of

mortalify. Where conservation ofa sfjedes is at issue, the legal standards described above raus^

be met before a federal agency takes unilateral actions that affect the rights reserved by Indian

tribes.

In short, the draft plan clearly does not provide for equitable distribution of the recovery

burden. Tie burden of lecoveiy must fall most heavily on the largest sources of salmon losses

as measured in adult eqravalents- AH otiier sources of salmon mortality must be addressed

bdfore any additional conservation burdenis assessed against die tribes' tceaty-secured fisheries.

Uie Draft Plan mischaracterizes the causes for decline of Snake Biver salmon stocks.

The causes for decline of Snake River salmon stocks (and the impediments to salmon

recovery) are not dnave; fliey are well known. The cunent depleted status of Snake River

salmon stocks bears vdtness to flie giim efficiency of non-Indian domination of Colxmibia baan

anadromous fisheries and fcdr habitat Habitat destinction, appropriafion of water to non-fish

OSes, hydroelectric' power iiroduction and inadequate irritigation programs, are the prinaple

• causes for tiie dedirie ofSnake River sahnon stocks. These same activities are also tfie prindple

impediments to--salmon recovery.



149

Accurate idcndficadoa and description of the causes for dcdine is cti^<^ to

deteniunation of the conservation burden because those responablefor the decline m Snalce

River salmon should be accountable for restoring the resouroe. You can surely appreciate fte

tribes' sensitivity to this issue, given that the listed Snaloc River stocks (and indeed aU Columbia

Basin salmon nins) thrived for over 700 human generations under tribal management, .while tiie

near complete destruction of these stocks has occurred within a few generations imdcr non-Indian

managemenL Tribal fisheries and the economy and culture based on the fishery nsource have

suffered grievously due to the drastic reductions in productivity related to habitat loss and the

concomitant increase in salmon mortaUty caused by non-Indian development activities.

The Draft Plan's reconunendations for delisfiiig criteria are inconsistent with.the Colombia

River tribes' treaty {ruling ligjits-

Criteria for delisting Snake River salmon stocks must be conastentmth the oontinuadon

of treaty fisheries and inust not denigrate the value the tribes attach to their treaty fishmg nghb.

•Die federal government's duties under its treaties with the tribes extend b^ond &e neol to

merely ensure the viability of salmon stocks as requited by various federal laws. ^e^«^
government has an obligation to. pro>ride for harvest adequate to meet tabal needs as

contemplated during treaty-making. The tribes did not reserve a right to take a few fish ftom

remnant runs hovering just above" some arbitrarily set numencal delisting catena.

The Team's approacfa to establishing recovery goals and delisting criteria is prin^ly

poMcal rather than biologicaL The Team failed to review and incoipor^ agmficant

formation fiom the scientific literature on the development ofrecovery goals and nianagement

objectives for distinct population segments. Such rewewdiould have been ftefoundajonfor.

development of theTeam's lecommeadatioas. Instead, the Team accepted NMFS ^^^
evolutionarily significant unit (ESU) concq)t, and then appUed the ESU concq)t in such a vra^y

that recovery of a healthy population structure' for the listed Snake River salmon may be

impossible.

Theperformance goals recommended by theTeam for the various life stages also do not

reflect a feir^ocadon of the recovery burdeiu For instance, the draft plan recoimn«ids ttat

in-nverjuveoflesurvivalbe -improved.- whiiepassagethroughfisheaes^ manmizedLms

is but one exanq)le of the tmfeir standard in the accountability between Jievanous aspects of

the life cycle and reflects an inequitable distributioa of the conseivatioQ braden-

For spedes with complex life histories, " such as cfainook and sock^^ "^^^
inq)rovemeats in survival rates for each major life history stage mu^^..f^f^^^t^Sd to develop an analytical tool incorporating aU aspects of the Me

<=y^f f^^^
inqjlemeatationofproposedactionstotfaeprobabiHtyof extinctioa. /ucb^^^f°^^
dSdoping an ESA reoomy plan and for tracking the progress of vrater. land and fishery

managemeot actions toward meeting-recovery g<»ls.

5
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The Draft Tlatr fails to tvcogahe and build upon other federal aiitfaorities and
responsibilities to conserre salmon, both domestically and internationally, and docs not
comport with the requirements of the ESA. •

The Team's Draft Plan will require agnificant modifications to be of auy use to NMFS
because it failed to int^nile oo-going federal obligadons under treaty, statute, or federal case
law. In essence, the Team cmbaited on a policy Icvd evaluation fiiat diminafrs optioas before
NMFS and other responsible federal agencies have an opportumty.to cxerdsc management
discretion consistent with their continuing l^al rcspoodbilitics. Many of the Team's
recommendations arc inoonastent with continuing international obligations, sjjcdfically those

obligations under the U.S.-Canada Pacific Salmon "ncaly. .The Team also failed to recommend
actions consistent with tire Statutory directive to federal agencies that th«y are to use their

authorities to fiirthcr the conservation goals for protected spedes as provided in Section 7(a)(1)

oiftheESA,

NMFS should not adopt short-sighted recommendations that would continue to vmdcrcut

the mandate and goal of the United States and the tribes ondcr the U^.-Canada Pacific Salmon
Treaty. Ihis caution is especially pertinent to the Draft Plan because one of the underlying

purposes of the ESA is to support international agreements that deal with shared conservation

problems on a proactive baas such as the Pacific Salmon Treaty.

After more than a decade of fiirifless negotiations, the United States and Canada finally

entered into the U.S.-Canada Pacific Salrnon Treaty of 1985 largely because of a coastwide

crisis in chinook stocks. The Commission's member tribes were instnunental in seeing tiie

n^otiations through to a successful condodon. Critical to the tribes' support, as wdl as the

stfiport fi:om the n^on as a whole, was the Tteaty's indusion of tiie Chinook rd)uilding

program and the Conservation Ptindple.

The Chinook idjuildiiig program- instituted substantial cfainook harvest constraints,

coastwide, so that the Parties to the Treaty could imdertalds necessary domestic conservation

actions that would provide for theoptimum production of all salmon, spedfically taigding 1998
as tiie y«ir that chinook stocks should be rdjuilt coastwide by both Parties, The Tteaty

obligation 'to prevent overfishing and provide, for optimum production," known as the

Conservation Principle, coupled wife tiie Treaty's Equity Princqile, wbidb. provides that the

benefits of enhancement actions diould accrue piincq>ally to the Party undertaking such actions,

provided both the mandate to go forward with measures to restore naturally spawning chinook
stocks and the promise tiiat the region would benefit from such actions.

To land and water managers, flie ^gning of the Tieaty was a yig":»i to undertake salmon
restoration measures fliat those same managers had dragged their feet on, claiming that Canadian
fishing intercqjtions would n^ate sxsy benefits to the r^on. Unfortunatdy, federal land and
water managers did not make the necessary dianges in the manner in wAich they provided for

tiie rebuilding and optimtmi production of Columbia and Snake River salmon stocis.
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The Draft Plan does not provide for<faosc changes to now be made. Tie Draft Plan does

not identify all the areas in which federal agcndes are not utilizing their existing audiorities to

conserve Snake River salmon stocks. 'Where existing federal authorities to conserve these stocks

are noted, the Recovery Team recommended that the affected agencies do less than they are

required to do by law. NMFS, or another party, must identify actions that can now be
undertaken and statutory or regulatory weaknesses that must be rectified if it is truly to contiiiue

to act as a steward of die lesouioe.-

Under the ESA, the purpose of a recovery plan is the conservatioa and survival of the

listed species, v/bidi necessarily and q)ecifically requires tiac conservadon of the ecosystem tpoa

which the species depeads. Because the Draft Plan fills fer short of meeting the ESA's legal

mandates, KMFS must dow take icspooabiliQr for devdopmeot and implemeatatioa of a
recovery plan (hat incorporates: (1) a dcsaqrtion of ate specific managemeat actions; (2)

objective, measurable criteria vrtiicfa, when met, would result in a spedes' delisting; and, (3) the

time and costs requiral to cany out measures needed to reach flie plan's goal, as well as for.

intermediate st^s towards that goaL NMFS must address fee factors for decline, identify

specific actions and develop measurable cdteda which assure that none of the factors spedfied

for listing continue to be a threat.

Conclusion

For many years, the Commisdon and its member tdbes haveworked with various federal

enfitfies, including NMFS, on efforts to protect and restore Columbia Basin anadromous

fisheries. Because the federal presence in the Columbia Basin is extensive and diverse and

because salmon protectioa, enhancement and restoration efforts are ctidcal to upholding and

implementing the tribes' reserved treaty rights, all ageades of the fed^al government must

respect the federal trusteeship and exerdse their responabHities to the tribes in a judidous

manner. Unfortunately, wehave witnessed iiKX)nsistent and uncoordinated federal positions with

regard to fishery resource protection and restoration. Too often, federal agency action has

diminished the fishery -resource at great cost to the tribes' treaty rights and their economy,

culture and religion.

The Team's draft recovery plan recommendations do not contain measures necessary to

restore listed Snake River salmon stocks, nor would they support the federal govecoment's

obligations to secure and protect flie tabes' treaty reserved rights to take fish at all usual and

accustomed places. Nowis the time for the federal government to live up to its promises to tiie

tribes and to b^in working with them in a govenrnieat-torgovemment relationship that puts the

tribes' treaty reserved rights back in the forefifont of decision-making.

Over the past several decades, while the tribes have dosed fishery after fishery to

conserve the resource, in the hope of protecting and rebuilding this andeat and priceless

cornerstone of thdr culture for future geaecations,. non-Indians have prospered firom dieap

power, cheap water, and subsidized grazing, agriculture, and logging. These industries have
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prospered, in part, by being allowed to destroy the fish which are the heart of the tribes' treaties

and culture. These industries most how internalize the costs that thor activities have imposed
on the resource and shoulder flicir due share of the burden in the restoration of the Columbia's
salmon runs.

When theimpacts ofdcvdopraent activities in tine basin led to the declineof salmon runs,

non-Indian resource managers foiled to protect native salmon and instead focused on haldiety

productioiL During fliis time, toten efforts of state and federal ageadcs to conserve the native

salmon usually involved fishing restrictions. Many of these fishing restrictions were initially

concentrated on treatj' fisheries. Time and again, the tribes sought equitable relief in federal

court and successfiilly invalidated the attempts of non-Indian resource managers to inequitably

apportion the burden ofconservadon on Indian fisheries. Despite harvest restrictions and fishery

closures, the runs have continued to decline to the point where some of the baan's once most

productive stocks have been listed as threatened or endangered.

R is with bodi irony and anger that we note that the Team's draft recovery plan continues

the felled policies ofthepast— even more draconian restrictions of treaty-reserved fisheries wtfa

only minor changes reqmred of those activities which destroy the vast majority of the remaining

treaty resource. Such a course ofaction is ill-founded, illogical, and ill^aL This abuse of the

trust responsibility cannot continue.

We will take the opportunityto provide fimher comments as NMFS develops its recovery

plan. We hope you and NMFS will understand and appredate our poation. If you have any

questions, please call me at (503) 238-0667.

Thank you for your attention to this matter.

Sincerely,

Ted Strong
^—

Executive Director

Attachment

cc: Honorable Ronald IL Brown, Secretary of Commerce
Honorable Bruce Babbitt, Secretary of the Interior

Honorable Earnest F. Hollings, Chairman, Senate Committee on Commerce,
Sdence and Transportation

Honorable GerryR Studds, Chairman, House Committee on Merchant Marine

and Fisheries

Honorable Danid K. Inouye, Chairman, Senate Committee on Indian Affeiis
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Managing Molecules or Saving Salmon? -The "Evolutionarily Significant Unit"

Thomas W. H. Backman' and Laura Berg

Columbia River Inter-Tribal Fish Commission

729 N.E. Oregon, Suite 200

Portland, Oregon 97232

ABSTRACT

The purpose of the Endangered Species Act is to revitalize animal and plant populations on

the brink of extinction and to protect the ecosystems that support them. The act has

provisions to preserve habitat and develop a recovery plan. The act allows for protection of a

biological species, a sub-species, or what the act calls a distinct population segment. Federal

listing policies can hamper actions to restore extirpated or weak fish stocks.

' Author responsible for correspondence
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Introduction

Sockeye and chinook from the Snake River, the Columbia's largest tributary, have

been listed for protection under the Endangered Species Act. But many of those committed

to helping save Columbia River salmon question whether the National Marine Fisheries

Service (NMFS) will effectively use the act to rebuild the salmon species now facing

extinction. They fear that a recovery plan will be too many years in the making and that it

and other protective measures will not be enough. They also worry that scientific debate and

uncertainty over questions about "si)ecies'' definitions and the role of genetics will be used to

slow or even sabotage salmon restoration. This article describes what some of that debate is

about and what the implications are for Columbia Basin salmon.

Species Definition

A widely accepted scientific definition of a species is derived from the biological

species concept which emphasizes that members of the same species interbreed. In other

words, for most animals and many plants, a species is a group whose members breed within

the group, but do not usually breed with members of other groups. A biological species is

said to be reproductively isolated. (Templeton 1989).

Within a species there are no major differences in genetic composition nor in

characteristics strongly controlled by genes. Minor differences may occur, and a group

exhibiting those different characteristics may be classified as a sub-species. Such differences

often arise because of geographic separation. When geographic separation continues and

(genetic) differences increase, a sub-species may evolve traits that enforce reproductive isola-

tion. At this point, a subspecies may be recognized as a new species.

Zoologists do not officially recognize groups below the subspecies level (Stace 1989).

However, it is often desirable and useful to recognize groups such as races and varieties. The

terms refer loosely to minor differences within a species, for example, stocks of salmon. The

variety or race is often recognized by ecological characteristics, such as differences in the

migration timing of spring, summer, and fall chinook.

The Endangered Species Act also allows for protection of a "distinct population

segment. " Under the act, a distinct population segment can be protected using a wide range

of criteria (geographic, economic, aesthetic, political, biological among others), provided

group members can interbreed when mature. Because Congress defined "distinct population

segment" in only very broad terms, the National Marine Fisheries Service (NMFS) felt

obligated to establish a policy that would explain how "distinct populations segment" applied

to Pacific salmon (Waples 1991).

In 1991 NMFS (56 F.R. 58612) declared that a distinct population segment would be

recognized only if the interbreeding population met two criteria: "0) It must be substantially
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reproductively isolated from other conspecific [in the same species] population units, and (2)

It must represent an important component in the evolutionary legacy of the species." The
federal fish agency designated such a group an "evolutionarily significant unit," or ESU.

Unfortunately, rather than explain DPS, the new definition has generated a quagmire
of confusion and illogic. In the case of Columbia Basin salmon, reproductive isolation, the

definition's first criterion, is difficult to evaluate. After over a century of habitat degradation

and passage blockage, the few remaining populations are small and greatly fragmental. The
isolation we now observe may not be natural, but an artifact of "civilization." Furthermore,

countering this isolation is the tendency of salmon to stray into new areas and produce

progeny that return there to spawn. In any event, the fact of geographic isolation does not

necessarily indicate reproductive isolation.

The second criterion, evolutionary importance, is vague and highly subjective. Does
it refer to genetic material in salmon species descended from salmon of the 1850s? Or to

present-day genetic material of importance to the future success of a species? Does it refer to

differences in life history and body form? Does it mean something measured in the genes or

in the environment?

Add to these ambiguities the problem of the ESU definition being nearly the same as

the species definition. According to NMFS, an ESU is characterized by reproductive

isolation and by uniqueness (evolutionary significance), which are the same considerations

used in defining a species. Once a salmon population is determined to be an ESU, what has

been identified, according to the definition, is more like a species than a group below the

species level, such as a distinct population segment.

Electrophoresis Is Used to Identify ESUs

In practice, NMFS relies almost exclusively on genetic testing to predict evolutionary

significance and reproductive isolation in determining whether a salmon population is an

ESU. Using electrophoresis, NMFS scientists differentiate populations by comparing the

proportion of individuals in each population according to particular types of proteins. They
reason that the larger the differences in these proportions of proteins, the longer the time of

reproductive isolation. The agency's scientists infer that populations presumably isolated for

a long time are likely to have developed unique characteristics that must be protected. The
same results can occur when a common historical population undergoes a series of genetic

bottlenecks and population fragmentation as depicted in Figure 1

.

However, predicting evolutionary significance from minute differences in protein

composition is largely speculative: there is no known way to associate biochemical differ-

ences with important characteristics, such as length of reproductive isolation or adaptive

traits, and no way to correlate the degree to which a population represents a historical

population.
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Despite these and other problems with electrophoresis, NMFS not only relies on it,

but exacerbates these problems by using electrophoretic results inconsistently: When NMFS
scientists used protein analysis to study Snake River spring, summer, and fall chinook, they

found a 0.005 genetic difference between fall chinook and spring/summer chinook. Based

largely on these results, Snake River fall chinook were found to be an ESU and were listed

as threatened. Snake River spring/summer chinook were also listed, but lumped together as

one ESU because test results showed a magnitude of difference between spring chinook and

summer chinook of less than 0.005. (Apparently, springs and summers are not sufficiently

reproductively isolated.)

When NMFS scientists examined the genetic material from lower Columbia River

coho, they again detected a 0.005 genetic difference--this time between coho spawning in

streams and those that were spawned in hatcheries. Despite this finding, the federal agency

determined that lower river wild or naturally spawning coho possessed no distinct evo-

lutionary legacy (NMFS 56. F.R. 29553). Thus, NMFS did not provide Endangered Species

Act protection for the few remaining lower Columbia River wild coho.

The federal fish agency made this decision on coho even though its own scientists

acknowledged that coho exhibit lower rates of variability in electrophoretic tests. (In other

words, the difference could have been smaller, but still significant in terms of the uniqueness

value NMFS was testing for.) These natural runs of lower Columbia River coho could not be

evolutionarily significant, according to NMFS (56. F.R. 29553), because "the extent and

duration of [hatchery] releases suggest that naturally spawning populations in these streams

are mixtures of the native and introduced hatchery stocks.

"

ESU Compromises Genetic Diversity

Snake River sockeye provide a different kind of example. These sockeye were found

to be evolutionarily significant and were listed as endangered. NMFS scientists did not base

the decision on electrophoresis because there were too few Snake River sockeye to study.

Instead the agency based its decision largely on the presumption that these sockeye were

genetically unique because they swim far inland to high altitude lakes.

"Sockeye," the biological species, are relatively abundant in other portions of their

historical range, for example, in the far inland Okanogan and Wenatchee watersheds as well

as other places from Washington to Alaska. Yet the recovery effort is focused on breeding

the three males and one female Snake River sockeye that returned to Redfish Lake in 1991.

Because NMFS identified these four sockeye as an ESU, it concluded that they could not be

bred with any other Columbia Basin sockeye. To breed them with other basin sockeye would

result, NMFS implied, in hybrid fish that are no longer unique nor evolutionarily significant.

Apparently this means that if the Snake River sockeye run cannot be recovered from the few

remaining fish, it simply dies out.
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The offspring of these sockeye--and a male that returned this year-will be held in two
hatcheries as part of a captive breeding program. The resulting progeny will not be released
into the river to migrate, but will be kept in captivity for their entire lifespan to increase
their chances of surviving and producing offspring. Theoretically, at a future date when the
population reaches some, as of yet, undetermined numerical and biological strength, the

resulting offspring from the captive breeding stock will be re-introduced to their natural

habitat.

Limiting this endeavor to the progeny of a few sockeye has enormous genetic risk.

When a population is subject to inbreeding because of severely restricted numbers over a

protracted period, as Snake River sockeye have for the past 50 years or more, a great deal of
genetic diversity is lost. (Geneticists call this a genetic bottleneck, see Figure. 1.) To limit

broodstock for recovering the Snake River sockeye to four plus fish is to further restrict that

diversity. Small populations possess little genetic variability and are therefore at great risk of
extinction because of inbreeding and/or the inability to deal with environmental changes over
time. Many potential genetic problems face small populations. Those problems include

increased juvenile mortality due to inbreeding, loss of genetic diversity through founder

effect and genetic drift, the physical expression of deleterious recessives, interaction of

demographic and genetic effects, and inadvertent selection for domestication (Ralls and

Ballou 1986). Although not a genetic risk factor, a single catastrophic event~a power
outage, for instance—could also wipe out an entire captive population.

The genetic diversity that enables a salmon species to persist over time is found

within the whole range of that species. Trying to keep the genetics of salmon static in a

rapidly changing environment, as hfMFS' captive br^ding program is attempting, works
against natural evolutionary processes. Only by providing a species with its full genetic

diversity might it then be able to adapt and survive under changing conditions. For a

population that has experienced severe genetic bottleneck, the added diversity from inter-

breeding with other populations (hybridization) can provide that advantage.

Hybridization Is a Natural Occurrence

For a time, the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service had an official policy against hybrids.

The agency abandoned the policy in 1990 (FWS. CW. 0440), after finding "new biological

information [that] casts doubt on the validity of the absolute pronouncements relied upon

[earlier], since in some cases introgression between taxa is not only a naturally occurring

phenomenon but may also be a necessary recovery measure to avoid the loss of a seriously

depleted listed taxon."

In a March 1991 Science article about the Endangered Species Act, the founder of the

biological species concept. Dr. Ernst Mayr, and his associate, molecular biologist Dr.

Stephen J. O'Brien, emphasized that "living organisms are constantly evolving and that over

time hybridization may result in new, unique species." Mayr and O'Brien pointed out that, in

the case of endangered or threatened species, a ban on hybridization between sub-species or

83-191 0-94-6
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populations may in fact disrupt that important natural process.

This is fjarticularly true for salmon. Having survived for thousands of years and

through radically different environments, salmon have developed some highly successful

reproductive characteristics (Thorpe 1986) that have fostered an exceptional degree of natural

hybridization: Salmon possess remarkable migratory ability and range; yet they are

susceptible to straying; and they will colonize new and reclaim former habitats. These

behaviors have allowed them to breed with numerous other populations.

Yet NMFS seems to be saying that an ESU cannot include hybrids. If a population,

designated as an ESU, were to breed with another population, the federal fish agency would

no longer recognize it as evolutionarily significant for purposes of the act.

Hatchery Fish and Genetic Diversity

In addition, according to NMFS' fmal determination on Snake River Chinook, a

hatchery fish "should not be considered part of the evolutionarily significant unit for listing

purposes." Presently no hatchery fish, only populations spawning in nature, can be

considered of evolutionary significance. Thus, spring chinook of Rapid River Hatchery origin

are currently excluded from protection or use in Endangered Species Act recovery efforts

even though they are all that remain of the spring chinook that historically spawned in the

Snake River above Hells Canyon Dam.

The federal fish agency has acknowledged, however, that, "it is important to address

whether any existing hatchery population can be considered part of the evolutionarily

significant unit, and therefore potentially be used in recovery efforts." A determination will

not be made until the agency issues a final decision on the role of artificial propagation in

carrying out the Endangered Species Act.

NMFS scientists are worried about unwisely altering the genetic composition of fish

stocks. However, hatchery technologies can be used to ameliorate such risks. The act itself

specifically endorses conservation methods such as artificial propagation and "transplanta-

tion" to recover imperiled animals or plants.

Actual experience shows that many crosses of wild and hatchery salmonids have

exhibited hybrid vigor. In fact, the scientific literature on breeding across various genetic

lines suggests that hybrid vigor--not reduced survival-is the general rule (Wohlfarth 1986).

When environmental conditions change, hybrids often do better than their parents. These

offspring have greater genetic diversity and thus have a greater potential of fitting into a

fluctuating environment such as the Columbia River system.

Because, under the NMFS' definition of evolutionary significance, a species is recog-

nized as a group possessing unique genetic information, the goal becomes not the restoration

of populations to healthy, productive levels by maintaining genetic diversity and robustness,
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but the preservation of very small, highly inbred and supposedly wild populations that

represent mere fragments of historical salmon runs.

Implications for Habitat Protection

The NMFS captive breeding program relies on very gradual increases from such low

starting numbers that, al best, it will take decades to rebuild the threatened and endangered

Snake River salmon runs. A sad consequence of such an extended timeline is its potential use

as a rationale for indefinitely postponing habitat restoration and protection. There is less

incentive to revive and maintain healthy lakes and streams in the Snake River Basin (and

elsewhere) when no significant numbers of fish are going to be put back in these waters for

years to come, if ever.

By excluding segments of the salmon populations, NMFS policies and practices may

actually hasten the loss of the very populations we are fighting to save. By concentrating on

the study of protein molecules, the agency is losing sight of the bigger basinwide problem of

salmon depletion.

While looking through the wide end of the telescope, the ESU policy fails to

recognize the role of salmon in the ecosystem. Highly migratory species in general and

salmon in particular are to aquatic ecosystems as rain is to the hydrologic cycle. They are a

biological link between ocean and freshwater ecosystems. Abundant and diverse salmon runs

are required for the productive life of many oligotrophic lakes and streams. Salmon are vital

food source for many species, including humans, and for the Northwest's indigenous

peoples, salmon also provide cultural sustenance.

What may be the most alarming related development in the Columbia Basin is the

institutionalization of ESU as the operational philosophy for fish restoration-whether or not

the salmon runs in question are listed under the Endangered Species Act. Such a development

could prevent rather than aid salmon recovery.

The ESU approach is similar to a trend in current state and federal habitat and fish

production policies in which managers operate on the basis of remnant fish run management.

As with the ESU policy, this kind of management deals with fragmented populations as if

each were the historical population. For example, because each dwindling fish run is consid-

ered separate and distinct, none is acceptable as broodstock for supplementing fish runs else-

where in the basin. In this way, managers think they are preserving genetic uniqueness.

Many regional business and political leaders also seem satisfied to support the

preservation of a smattering of Columbia River salmon as a reminder of something called

"our wild heritage. " However, under remnant run (or ESU-style) management, the

numerous, small and isolated fish run fragments will continue to be threatened by inbreeding

and vulnerable to local extinction from environmental and natural disasters.
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In fact, the curious logic of remnant run management and genetic scare tactics have

already been used to delay, if not stop, tribal plans to use artificial propagation technology to

increase naturally spawning salmon populations in the Columbia River above Bonneville

Dam.

Few others, except the Indian Tribes, now emphasize restoring large viable salmon

runs at "usual and accustomed" locales throughout the Columbia Basin. To the Indian people,

this lack of concern is nothing new. For more than a hundred years, they have watched as

others have decimated the resource as a tradeoff for "progress."

If the region is ever to recover large viable salmon populations, it cannot do so by

relying on current NMFS preservation policies. An alternative approach with real potential

for success would emphasize genetic diversity and the use of all the appropriate genetic mate-

rials and management tools available. It would likely involve the introduction of some genetic

material from outside the existing local populations. While there are some risks, such an

approach would improve the odds for rebuilding salmon populations that can adapt and

survive in the natural environment.
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Figure 1 . A schematic representation illustrating what can happen to the genetic diversity of a

salmon run over time as a result of genetic bottienecks. The letters represent different genetic

characteristics. The resulting fragmented populations appear to have different ancestries. Bot-

tlenecks are severe population reductions caused by human induced and/or natural changes such

as habitat destruction. (Adapted from O'Brien and Evermann (1988).
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Mr. Chairman and Members of the Subcommittee: I am Rolland

Schmitten, Assistant Administrator for Fisheries, National

Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration (NOAA) , U.S. Department of

Commerce. I am pleased to be here today to discuss the recovery

of salmon stocks in the Pacific Northwest that are listed as

threatened amd endcuigered under the Endangered Species Act (ESA)

.

Before proceeding, I want to take this opportunity to recognize

the hard work of the Snake River Salmon Recovery Team (Team) in

developing recommendations for the recovery of the three listed

stocks of Snake River salmon. The Team spent hundreds of hours

addressing mciny difficult issues, including downstream passage of

juvenile salmon, protection and restoration of spawning and

rearing habitat, harvest levels, hatchery management, euid the

recovery goals and criteria for delisting. In a recent letter, a

member of the Team said that he was "astonished at the extent to

which my team colleagues carried their sense of responsibility,

"

and I believe this strong sense of responsibility is reflected

throughout the Team' s recommendations

.
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Today, I would like to make three preliminary points. First, the

Snake River recovery plan is part of a larger effort to conserve

and rebuild all Pacific salmon stocks. Second, given the

variable biological and physical conditions evident in recent

years in the Pacific Northwest, it may be necessary to adopt

actions which affect other uses of the rivers to ensure recovery

of salmon stocks. Third, I am convinced that the Team's

recommendations, plus other information, will provide the

National Marine Fisheries Service (NMFS) with the basis for

developing a plan that will lead to the recovery of these listed

species

.

RECOVERY PLAN PART OF LARGER EFFORT TO CONSERVE STOCKS:

The work of the Team must be considered within the context of

other efforts in the Pacific Northwest to address the continuing

decline of multiple salmon stocks. We support efforts to address

the situation comprehensively through the development of both

basin-wide and regional plans. For example, NCAA is an active

participant in the President's Northwest Forest Plan for Federal

forest lands west of the Cascades. The standards and guidelines

of the President's plan are guided in part by an aquatic

conservation strategy that protects salmon habitat . East of the

Cascades, the PACFISH initiative of the Forest Service and the

Bureau of Land Management applies the same conservation

principle.
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identified. These issues must then be integrated into the

in5)lementation of the recovery program.

An effective recovery program requires the participation and

coordination of all entities with an interest in rebuilding

depleted salmon stocks. This includes state, local, and tribal

representation, as well as that of interests which rely on the

resource for jobs and recreation. A plan will be successful only

if all these parties participate and commit to finding and

supporting the process which will address the problems.

CONSTANTLY CHANGING SITUATION:

My second point is to emphasize that NCAA will be crafting a

final recovery plan in a highly dynamic environment. Effective

decision-making on long-term solutions must occur in a context of

constantly chauiging environmental conditions, a constant influx

of new scientific information, and ongoing litigation. Consider

the following statistics:

--Runoff in 1994 for the Snake River Basin is expected to be

less than 50 percent of normal. This is the seventh

consecutive drought year in the Snake River Basin.

--Coast-wide, the chinook salmon harvest in 1982 was

1.4 million fish from Washington, Oregon, and California.

The 1994 estimated harvest will be only 220,000 fish
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Under the President's Northwest Forest Plan, funding has been

provided to restore salmon habitat damaged by logging suid road-

building practices. This initiative has the purpose of not only

providing important "jobs in the woods" in the Northwest, but is

speeding the process of recovery in degraded salmon streams

.

NMFS, the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service, and Environmental

Protection Agency are cooperating in the development of a non-

Federal habitat initiative to establish guidelines for

maintaining salmon habitat and to educate landowners on how land

management activities affect salmon production. These guidelines

will assist landowners in developing and in^lementing hc±)itat

conservation plans pursuant to section 10 of the ESA.

Individual recovery plans, such as that for Snake River salmon,

must be reviewed with an eye on these larger regional strategies

to conserve salmon. It is through these types of ecosystem

approaches that we feel the greatest long-term benefits can be

attained. However, we still must move forward with recovery

efforts, as we may not be able to wait for these broader efforts

to bear fruit

.

On an institutional level, a similar "ecosystem" principle

applies to coordinating recovery efforts. We know that before a

lasting agreement can be reached on a recovery program for

salmon, the political, economic, and legal issues must be



167

(an 84 percent decrease) , and will have a devastating effect

on fishing and related industries, and tourism.

--The Snake River spring/summer chinook run in 1994 may be

the lowest ever, with as few as 1,900 naturally spawning

adult fish reaching Idaho. This compares to an average of

20,000 during 1986-90, a level so low it led to the listing

of these stocks as threatened in 1991. The agency has been

asked to downgrade the listing of this stock to endangered.

--The Snake River fall chinook run in 1994 also is expected

to be low. The number arriving in Idaho may barely reach

200, the level that led to listing this stock.

To address this escalating problem, as well as the low numbers of

coho salmon, the Pacific Fishery Management Council took a

dramatic first step this year and recommended to the Secretary of

Commerce the closure of practically all ocean fishing off

Washington and Oregon. In addition, the States of Oregon and

Washington are proposing to eliminate almost all commercial

fisheries in the lower Columbia River.

IQIFS RECOVERY PLAN:

In December 1991, NMFS appointed a seven-member scientific

recovery team (three fisheries scientists, one economist, two

engineers, one ecologist) comprised mostly from the academic
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community to develop a Snake River salmon recovery plan. To

ensure a comprehensive, ecosystem approach to recovery planning,

the team was directed to address in one plan the three species of

listed Snake River salmon.

NMFS has used an open process to ensure participation by all

interested groups. For example, all scientific information and

comments related to the ESA process have been deposited in an

administrative record which is available for review in four

separate locations (Seattle, WA; Portland, OR; Boise, ID; and

Washington, DC)

.

A Technical Committee comprised of biologists from the states,

Federal agencies, Indian Tribes, public utilities, and other

interested entities was established to provide information and to

review and comment on the data in the record. Technical

Committee meetings are open to the public.

NMFS has established an Economics Technical Committee cort^rised

of economists from the states. Federal agencies, Indian Tribes,

public utilities, and other interested entities to ensure that

the economic information is available to complete the critical

habitat designations auid to develop recovery plans.

The Team released its draft recovery recommendations in October

1993 for scientific peer review, and on June 14 submitted its



169

final recommendations to NMFS . We intend to use the Team's

recommendations as an important component of the final NMFS

recovery plan. However, NMFS will prepare independently that

document after taking into consideration the views of the

involved States and Indian Tribes. Before issuing a final plan,

NMFS will publish in the Federal Register, for notice and

comment, a proposed plan, including an analysis of the

differences between the Team's recommendations and NMFS' proposed

recovery plan. NMFS plans to piiblish its proposed recovery plan

early this fall and approve a final plan by the end of this

calendar year.

I would now like to turn to the specific questions you asked in

your letter of invitation.

EVALUATION OF THE TEAM'S RECOMMENDATIONS: I would like to

comment specifically on the Team's final recommendations to NMFS.

The recommendations represent an important step in the recovery

planning process. Our initial appraisal of the Team's

recommendations is that they provide a framework from which we

can propose a formal recovery plan in order to fulfill the

requirements of the ESA.

We agree with the Team's conclusion that a myriad of different

factors affects the survival of Columbia and Snake River salmon,

and no single solution will lead to recovery. We also agree that
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the recovery plan must be flexible and allow for modification

based on new scientific evidence. However, there are certain

factors that primarily are responsible for the decline of salmon.

These are the construction and operation of the Columbia River

hydroelectric system, commercial harvest, hatcheries, and habitat

degradation. These factors must be given prominent consideration

in recovery planning. We believe that addressing any single

factor in isolation likely will not lead to recovery. Instead,

NOAA will follow a comprehensive conservation strategy.

We agree with the Team that science must be the predominant

consideration in recovery planning decisions. However, the

importance placed on developing new information does not diminish

the need for immediate action using the best available

information, as mandated by the ESA. In the face of scientific

uncertainty, and considering the precarious status of many

Columbia River salmon stocks, recovery measures accompanied by

careful monitoring and evaluation should be implemented without

delay, and measures should be modified as new information

indicates appropriate.

The recovery planning process for listed Pacific salmon

represents one of the most complex conservation efforts ever

undertaken. Pacific salmon, a resource of great aesthetic,

cultural, ecological, economic, and historical value, are widely

acknowledged for their complex life cycle and the challeng^es they

8
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must overcome to reproduce successfully. Other complications are

management by multiple jurisdictions (state, Federal, tribal, auid

international) and lingering adverse climatic effects (drought

and poor ocean conditions)

.

The ultimate prescription for recovery of Snake River salmon has

yet to be determined. However, we are convinced that a

comprehensive conservation strategy, including the use of

adaptive management, can be devised that will not only lead to

the recovery of these threatened and endangered species, but also

conserve other salmon stoc)cs and avoid additional listings under

the ESA.

COMPAKISOK OF ALTERNATIVE APPROACHES TO RECOVERY: NMFS has

adopted Recovery Planning Guidelines that provide a framework for

developing recovery plans for species listed under the ESA.

Specifically, these guidelines state that measures called for in

recovery plans must be prioritized to use available funding and

resources in a manner that achieves the maximum biological

benefits . When choosing among various strategies cind

combinations of measures that will achieve recovery,

consideration must be given to the feasibility of the measure,

uncertainty about the measures benefits euid potential adverse

effects, and cost.
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We are trying to minimize any economic and social effects from

implementation of recovery measures by attempting to select those

less costly options where equal or greater biological benefits

are expected. We acknowledge the difficulty in identifying the

least cost alternatives. The recovery plan, however, will be

based on the biological requirements of the species necessary for

timely recovery.

ESSENTIAL ELEMENTS OF A RECOVERY PLAN: In addition to

recommendations of recovery measures, a recovery plan must

identify the cost of the measures to all affected parties,

develop a schedule to implement each measure, and identify

parties responsible for implementing them. Since these elements

largely were absent from the Team's recommendations, NMFS

currently is developing this information for inclusion in the

proposed and final recovery plans. In addition, we have nearly

completed a technical review of the Team's recommendations. As

our analysis of existing and new scientific information dictates,

we will update and provide additional detail /measures to the

Team's recommendations.

CONCLUSION:

We encourage all affected interests to continue to contribute to

the identification and the development of recovery actions. We

believe that participation by State, Tribal and Federal agencies,

academic institutions, environmental groups, private individuals

10
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and organizations, commercial enterprises, and other affected

parties is perhaps the most essential ingredient for recovering a

species. We expect many groups to participate in implementing

this recovery plan.

The Snake River Recovery Plan must be part of a comprehensive

approach to protecting and restoring salmon. There is no "magic"

solution. There is no technological breakthrough that will

painlessly solve this problem. While implementing recovery

measures, we must address the condition of the ecosystem as a

whole. Only then can we be successful in our attempt to protect

and restore salmon.

Pacific salmon will not be recovered this year, or even in the

next few years. However, NOAA, in a fair and equitable manner,

will use the ESA, as well as other applicable laws, to take

advantage of every available opportunity to recover these species

that are so vital to the economy and culture of the Pacific

Northwest

.

Thank you for the opportunity to be here today. I would be happy

to address any questions you may have.
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TESTIMONY OF

BRUCE J. LOVELIN
EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

COLUMBIA RIVER ALLIANCE
FOR FISH, COMMERCE, AND COMMUNITIES

REQUESTED BY

U.S. HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES
COMMITTEE ON MERCHANT MARINE AND FISHERIES

REGARDING RECOVERY OF ENDANGERED
COLUMBIA RIVER BASIN SALMON STOCKS

JUNE 30, 1994

825 NE Multnomah Suilp 955 • Portland Orsgon 5/222 ' 1503) 938 1540 • F3« 1503) ?38 1554



175

Chairman Studds and members of the House Committee on Merchant Marine

and Fisheries, thank you for the opportunity to testify regarding recovery efforts for

threatened and endangered salmon in the Columbia River.

My name is Bruce Lovelin, and I am the Executive Director of the Columbia

River Alliance for Fish, Commerce, and Communities, an organization that brings

together diverse entities throughout the Northwest in support of a balance of economic,

biological, cultural and social values in management of the Columbia River system

(attachment 1).

We believe in maintaining a strong multi-use river system for the economic

health of our region and comprehensive efforts to preserve naturally spawning salmon

that are based on good science, least cost and economic reality. We are committed to

the ideal that regional commerce and naturally reproducing salmon are compatible.

As the region pursues salmon enhancement, it must realize that the deterioration

of Columbia River Basin salmon runs occurred over more than a century (attachment

2), and that no single cause is responsible. Restoration of the run will at least require

several decades, involve all aspects of the salmon's life cycle, and require a major

commitment of all northwest parties.

$350 Million for Northwest Salmon

Since the first Endangered Species Act petition was filed in March 199(), the

region has devoted significant resources, expanding efforts for aiding northwest

salmon. We have completed three regional planning processes; the Salmon Summit,

the Northwest Power Planning Council Strategy for Salmon, and, the more recent.

Snake River Salmon Recovery Team's Recovery Plan. In 1994, Northwest citizens

and businesses will pay almost $350 million for salmon enhancement through higher

electric power rates. This is almost double the funding level of two years ago and it

will almost certainly increase in the next few years. CRA members are concerned with

our continued ability to fund these programs. The businesses, communities, and public

that we represent are frustrated that although over $1.5 Billion has been spent in the

last 1 3 years, the salmon runs continue to decline. We believe that future funding is

uncertain and were pleased with the Administration's recent acknowledgement of this

fact with the announcement to use taxpayer funding for spill and flow programs of $10

to 30 million.
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Snake River Salmon Recovery Team - Revan Plan

The CRA has prepared a summary of the Recovery Team plan (Bevan plan)

along with our position on its elements (attachment 3). In the Bevan plan's two year

development, CRA members were active by providing scientific information to the

Team. Slate. Tribal, and the public had equal opportunity to participate.

In general, the Bevan plan has three elements that make it the best blueprint for

salmon recovery. The plan is scientifically founded, comprehensive, covering each

stage of the salmon's life cycle and, it was created through an open regional process,

allowing technical peer review and comments.

The plan calls for measures including reform of hatchery practices that currently

allow state fisheries agencies to produce and release large numbers of hatchery bred

salmon that are often genetically inferior to wild strains. It recommends the end of the

non-selective commercial harvest method of gill net fi.shing in the Columbia River, and

the adoption of more selective fishing techniques that would decrease the chances of

catching threatened wild salmon.

The plan recommends habitat enhancement using protection standards developed

by PACFISH, FEMAT, and the Eastside Forests Scientific Society Panel. (The CRA
disagrees with this approach and will discuss later)

The mainstem Columbia and Snake River system also will be impacted by the

plan. It recommends, as a short term, immediate recovery measure, the region should

rely on the transportation system that barges juvenile salmon around the dams and

releases them closer to the ocean. A longer term measure may be varying the method

used to collect and transport these smolts. It recommends adoption of the Northwest

Power Council flow program and, on an experimental basis, the flows prescribed in the

I994-I99X Biological Opinion. Additional scientific research would determine future

river flow operations.

But the plan cautioned against controversial reservoir drawdowns. A John Day

reservoir drawdown was "considered and rejected as a significant recovery action" by

the team. Other drawdown options were not seriously considered effective. The report

said "In considering such an option, there should be reasonable evidence that smolt

survival rates are significantly higher when the Snake River reservoirs are drawn down

to river level than they are with other options." Current research has not shown that

survival increases under a drawdown scenario.
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In addition to the Bevan Plan's specific reconunendations. it provides a

framework or process for which future decisions can be made on a timely basis using

the best available science. It will lead to better coordinated management of Columbia

River fishery managers. We believe this measure is desperately needed.

Will the Bevan Plan Lead to Recovery?

Snake River threatened salmon are confronted with hazards throughout their life

cycle (attachment 4). Natural and human caused events are pushing declines to

extinction. The Columbia and Snake River basins are again experiencing a drought

with Snake River flows only 50 percent of normal and Columbia River fiows of 70

percent of normal. Also, poor ocean conditions are causing lower survival to both the

threatened Snake River salmon and other runs from Oregon and Washington coastal

streams (attachment 5).

However, despite these factors the CRA believes that we should pursue the

Bevan Plan. It is the best "blueprint for survival" for these threatened salmon.

Next Step for Bevan Plan

As the Bevan Team acknowledges, much is still unknown regarding salmon and

additional research is necessary. Therefore, implementation will likely require

"adaptive management" allowing for mid-course corrections. The recovery team

anticipated this action in its plan. As an example, CRA members believe the team was

incorrect by recommending habitat protection standards developed by PACFISH,

FEMAT. and the Eastside Forest Scientific Society Panel. We believe a more cost-

effective approach for stream protection, one supported by user groups, is the new

Oregon Forest Practices Act. We will pursue this approach in the plan's Habitat

subcommittee.

Economics is an important element in the plan. What is the plan's cost? What

elements provide a greater biological benefit for a given cost then other elements?

Can the region afford the plan? As of this date these questions cannot be answered as

cost and benefits estimates have not been provided. The CRA has advocated to the

team that a cost-effectiveness analysis be performed on the plan (see Attachment 6 for

previously prepared analysis). This information is required as it will allow the region

to pursue the highest value salmon recovery measures first.

A critical next step to this plan and required for successful implementation is

regional acceptability and support. This support is required by the Administration,
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stales, tribal entities, and regional communities, economic, and fish advocate groups.

The plan's success is predicated by stakeholder involvement and participation. The

exclusion of economic stakeholders in January 1994 by the Administration during the

ESA Section 7 River flow operations lead several CRA members to seek participation

using the Courts. If we are to avoid a repeat of the regional spotted owl train wreak,

then the Administration must open their process. And it must be opened in a

meaningful manner An open process, encouraging stakeholder participation, would

have provided additional scientific information on the recent federal agency decision to

spill water at eight Columbia and Snake River dams. A program that we now believe,

at besu spent $1 1 million of taxpayer funds and, at worst, harmed the fish that we are

attempting to save.

The CRA believes that we must proceed rapidly with final adoption of the

Bevan plan. Without it, decisions such as the recent spill program and possible

dictates by the federal court could become common place. A comprehensive plan that

is scientific based is the direction the region should proceed. In an effort to expedite

implementation, the CRA has prepared a listing of program elements that should begin

immediately (attachment 7) These elements are compatible with the Bevan plan. We
request your assistance

Thank you for the opportunity to testify.

Attachment 1 CRA Membership List

Attechment 2 Columbia River Salmon Historical Trend

Attachment 3 Snake River Salmon Recovery Team Plan Summary

Attachment 4 Snake River Salmon Mortality

Attachment 5 West Coast Salmon Trends

Attachment 6 Cost Effectiveness Analysis

Attachment 7 FY 1995 Federal Appropriations
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Columbia Rh/er AINance

ATTACHMKNT

For Fish Commerce 3nd Communities

The Columbia River Alliance for Fish, Commerce and Communities (CRA) brings

together diverse entities from throughout the Northwest in support of the philosophy for a

balance of economic, agricultural, cultural and social needs of the Columbia River system.

MISSION

The strong multi-use river system must be maintained for the economic

health of the region. Efforts to preserve naturally spawning salmon must be

comprehensive and based on good science, least cost and economic reality.

Regional commerce and naturally reproducing salmon are compatible.

CRA MEMBERSHIP LIST

Agriculttiral Interests

Agriculture Water Use Forum

Columbia/Snake River Irrigators Assn.

East Columbia Basin Irrigation District

Eastern Oregon Irrigators Association

Oregon Grains Commission

Oregon Wheat Commission

Pacific Grain Exporters

Pacific Northwest Grain and Feed Assn.

Pomeroy Grain Growers, Inc.

Quincy Irrigation District

Washington Wheat Commission

Community Groups

Qearwater Resource Coalition

Oregon Water Coalition

Washington State Grange

Industries

Direct Service Industries

Industrial Customers of Northwest Utilities

Labor

Oregon AFL-aO
Washington Labor Council. AFL-CIO

Navigational Interests

American Waterways Operators, Inc.

Brix Maritime

Columbia River Towboat Association

Pacific Northwest Waterways Association

Pioneer Ports River Alliance

Port of Portland

Forest Products

Northwest Forest Resource Council

Utilities

Benton County Public Utility District

Benton Rural Electric Association

Columbia River PUD
Columbia Rural Electric Association

Franklin County Public Utility Distria

Grand Coulee Proje« Hydroelectric

Authority

Hamey Electric Cooperative

Inland Power and Light

Okanogan PUD
Pacific Northwest Generating Cooperative

Ravalli County Electric Cooperative

Umatilla Electric Cooperative

825 NE Muimomah Suite 955 • Poroand Oregon 97232 • 15031 238-1540 • Fai 15031 238155'1
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ECONOMIC VALUE
Multi-Use Columbia/Snake River System *

Navigation

O l,.c Columbia River is the second largest navigational transportation system in the United Suies, after

the Mississippi River More export cargo moves through the river than any other pen system on the

West Coast.

O $t 1.6 billion in commodities moved on the lower Columbia River deep draft channel in 1990 (SS.8

billion in imports and $5.8 billion in exports): 33 million tons of foreign cargo was transported on the

Colombia in 1990.

O Another 17.7 million tons of cargo were barged in 1989 on the Columbia and Snake rivers between

Ponland/Vancouver and Lewiston, Idaho.

O Economic impacts of SI billion to the Port of Portland alone in river-commerce related payroll and

activities; 12,000 jobs and S3 16 million in payroll are directly associated with the port's marine

facilities.

O Columbia River exports include S3 billion in agricultural products and SI.9 billion in forest products

yearly; the Columbia handles 3S% of all U.S. wheat exports.

O 2,200 ships carried cargo to and firom lower Columbia potts in 1990; their crews spent S6.S million

while in port.

o 14% of Oregon's gross produa is generated dirough exports to foreign lands, the majority of that

shipped from lower Columbia pom.

O Numerous ripple effects; S21 million in banking and insurance business generated by maritime

activiry on the lower Columbia; 400 Portland-area firms rely on iotemational trade via the Columbia.

O Navigation also plays a significam role in salmon run protection and enhancement; the U.S. Army
Corps of Engineers transports more than 21 million migrating juvenile fish yearly by barge around

Columbia and Snake River dams.

Irrigation and Agriculture

O More than SS billion worth of crops are produced on 8 million irrigated acres annually in the

Northwest.

O Value of grain exporu out of the Columbia River was more than $1.9 million for 1989/90 maricetmg

year.

O Irrigated land makes up 37% of Northwest farmland and produces nearly 15% of Northwest farm
revenues.

O For every two agriculture-related jobs, one additional job is created in the local economy.
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Energy

O Hydropower generated by BPA and other utilities supplies 62% of the region's average electricity

consumption.

o Hydropower supplies 75% of the region's peak total electric supply, providing nearly 30,000

megawatts to meet high daily and winter peaks.

O BPA provides about one-half of the Northwest's electricity, a value of nearly $2 billion in elearic

sales.

O BPA-generated electricity heats 46% of Northwest homes.

O Electricity needs equal to those of 12 cities the size of Seattle are served yearly by Columbia River

firm hydropower production; replacing this power capability completely would require lS-20 coal-

fired or nuclear plants.

Industry

a Members of the Direct Service Industries (those that purchase power directly from BPA) use

Columbia River hydropower to produce 43% of the U.S. aluminum supply.

O DSI's account for 30% of BPA's total revenues.

O In 1990, the DSI's pumped nearly $2.4 billion into the Pacific Nonfawest economy in electric power

purchases; payroll, purchased goods and services, and taxes; efficient hydropower operations; and

benefits from early completion of the hydropower system.

O Industrial Customers of Northwest Utilities, a group of 25 non-DSI companies relying largely on the

Columbia River for power and transportation, employs more than 200,000 people in Oregon,

Washington and Idaho, and contributes $6 billion yearly to the regional economy.

Fish Harvest

O F*tim«»aH value to fishermen of gillnet commercial landinp of salmon in 1990 was S2.9 million for

Columbia River zones 1—S (mouth of river to Bonneville Dam) and $2.3 million for zone 6 (tribal

fishing zone far salmon and steelhead from Bonneville Dam to McNary Dam).

O Recreational and sport fishing for salmon was valued at $27 million in 1989; $10 million for

steelhead.

O The 1990 commercial harvest was 140,000 for salmon in zones 1—S and 1 17,000 for salmon and

steelhead in the zone 6 tribal fishery.

O 873 commercial gillnet licenses were issued in Oregon/Washington in 1989 for non-treaty fishermen.

'Compiled by Columbia River Alliance for Fish A Commercefrom reports ofpublic agencies, trade

organizations and other information sources.
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ATTACHMENT 2

FIGURE 1. COMMERCIAL LANDINGS
COLUMBIA RIVER CHINOOK SALMON

BONNEVILLE DAM
COMPLETION. 1938

1960 1980

Figure 1 . Commercial Landings Columbia River ChlnooH Salmon

> Columbia River Basin salmon runs have been declining for over a centuiy. Dunng the late

1880s and early 1900s, prior to the initial construction of the Columbia River dams, salmon

runs were significantly reduced due to the effects of commercial fisheries.
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An ACHMKNT 3

Columbia Rit/Br ^KliianCe For Fish, commerce and Communities

Summary

Snake River Salmon Recovery Team
Final Recommendations to the National Marine Fisheries Service

June 1994

"No angle factor is rapoiisibU for thefiiB extent of the decGfte, and no single action will

restore them. No 'magic bullet' or single-purposefix exists to restore the salmon populations

to theirformer levels ofproductivity and abundance...It u invariant to achieve recovery and
uMmatefy to reap the social, cultural, and economic benefits ofrestored salmon populadons.

But it is also iitq>or1ant to do so in an organized, sdent^tcally based, and economically

effident manner."

— Snake River Salmon Recovery Team

Snake-Columbia River Salmon Management and Oversight:

"It is time to improve the management system for Columbia-Snake River anadromous

fish... The problems have been well defined, and seem to us obvious: jurisdictional chaos, no
one in charge, important decisions not based on science, and stifled science.

"

The Team recommends formation of an independent, five-member Salmon Oversight

Committee (SOC) to fill the critical decision-making void for science-based management.

An organization is needed which will assume the task of properly managing the overall

Columbia-Snake River Basin anadromous fish resources. The most appropriate agency for

this responsibility is NMFS.

CRA Position - The CRA agrees with the Bevan Plan—the Salmon Oversight Committee

is needed to promote decisions hosed on sound science. Due to the large number of
independent Northwest fishery agencies, a single, coordinated management approach is

needed

Spawning and Rearing Habitat Improvement:

"The Salmon Recovery Team believes that now is the time to establish a unified position with

respect to preventing further habitat degradation: any further exploitation of resources on
public lands should be precluded unless it can be shown that no further harm will befall

crucial salmon spawning and rearing habitats.
"

The Team recommends the habitat protection standards developed by PACFISH,
FEMAT, and the Eastside Forests Scientific Society Panel, which includes maintenance
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of hpanan bufifer zooes of specified dimmsions aloog salmoo spawning and reanng

sacams, reiated protecdoo of subcending drainages, and eliminatioa of tncrea.sed sediment

lad wMcr temperanire impacts from road building, logging, and grazing or critical

waienneds.

CRA Posisiom: The CM si^iparts ejSbrts lo enhtwtce habitat areas aid oitr members have

II—iriiif lo /wqq However, the Bnxm Pkm's mohta \wm on resource expkmanon \*ill

only mdermune metrmgfiti efforts for kabtua enhtmcemenL Regulatory, broad

t^jfwvoLhes ere not effearve or effidem. Cooperative approaches with local landow7}ers

aid laid mKMtagers is the best epproach.

Hatcbery Improveaeats:

'Tfec Reeevery Team beOeves that hatchery objectives and operations must be aixicaUy

\d retisei yvkerv necessary to assist, not impede, natural salmon productivity.
"

Q The Team rf«i«iim^tw<t that the management agenaes and tnbal authorities immediately

uaden^ce devetopoeot of a coordinaxed regioDal plan and program fcr use of arti£aal

propaganoo in support of recovery of ESA-listed salmon stocks and salmooid stocks

considered at risk.

^ The Team rm-mttnttiA* required minimum health standards for hattfaery smott

productiao, increased smoh viability' standards not productioo numbers, and shifting

productiaa goals of selected hatcheries to cooservatioD-directed objectives.

CRA Posaiom - The CRA agrees with the Sevan plan.

River Flow Augmeatatioa:

'Theregiam has beam engaged im the poGtical process of negotiating increasing water budget

iwiuMBKS jnoe tkefirst wmer bmdget was adopted by the Council in 19S2...Because there is

a lack efiirfanmatiam on wUek to base a sdenx^ decision on the size and timing of the water

bmdget reieases that will marimizf salmon survival, the Team adopts the SPPCs water budget

Iahail J imehided in the 'Strategy for Salmon, " 1992 as a starting point in detenmning the

amtount irf water needed.

'

iJ The Team suggests that the 1993 NK*C water budget-6.S to 9 5 MAF sliding scale-be

used as a starting point, but fiirtber the Team suggests that the increased w^ter budget

vainmnes devdopnl by NMFS in the 1 994-1 998 Biological OpinioQ(l 0-11 MAF) be used

ovo' the next five years to test the changes in survival rates resulting from the proposed

increase in water volummes. NMFS and the SOC should monitor the effectiveness.

3 Within the Snalce River, the Team recommends flow augmentation to improve Ln-river

survival to the four primary smc't coUectioo and transpottatiao fiKilities.

^ NMFS should forBulaie aad conriiia long-range smolt survival studies to determine

within-year aiKl between^ev survivals for downstream migraiioiL
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CRA PosMmi - CRA a^ees wiA tke MMF5 potHkm MoT kemer saen^
sirvivai (re needtd. Hotrever, the 7P.-. ±^r'ii: " A axeeibf 8 MAF.

Smoit CoQectioa aad Tratsponiti—

:

'CoUecsioH ami tnaif«rtalitm shtmU emmtimme I0 be the prammj memm tfgOUmg ^rimg,

tmmamer, miulfaB dumoek salmom amaksfnm Ae mpper imms m Ae Lmmer SmAt JEwr U m
paim damnstttam from Bommei^k Dmm matM k emm he d<t< 1mmrJ if t

provide better ckmmca for smryiPoL"

^ The Tem inr—mimH dot 1) neasoRS sfaooid be

iacreaseanakcollecaa«rMes fui tiJB»tM lMkw (SBrfaoe cuaiuaiMA.hM[gefa^caue ierMsa
to increase FGE); 2) ackitiaBal snab bages Aooid be ioGiMled withir

piogiJU 10 £Kiliase dnect hiwfcng mkI fwiiii'f molt hiBd&ag^uDLi..:^ t:~t

acidhional RD&D dmU be nipieneMBd fir aeir lower over anb rdease stss

CPt4 Position - CRA offres widi die Bemm Plat.

Suakt River Dnwdowas -Life-CTck Modd AbsItms:

'fveii mtk the uMcertaiBXia OAd g€ps iM the sdems^ lutdersttMdug meededto eamtku
biological models, the Team be&eres tkM a sfttemadc mecamatimg afdke temalAd^ of
ninriiil'r fii iiff 1 iiriii iiwimi ii/im»iiij <— i i h mufm[ The readb ofAe
analyies keip to pmx the smrrnml in^rmfeaaeatspmuiklvfrom dmmges at

ia perspective.

'

3 In recovery sceoaios wnere snok iMipnmiioa was ooc used, ±c life-c% ae rioc&s

preiScted reduced syiom sarvrvaL

U Drawdowns of tke fiaor Soke River rejervoiii to aear ^iBwaf crs: resL-sc _ fr^ er

GA aaviviiig 10 Bo—ewDeD— d— im Ae base caat, arndt ttjaa^JuiftL ac L:srLzzt

3 DravwkuHi of tbe Saakt River reservoirs to river levd ("aMml ri^ er*

xnBaparaatm, bat ta^ former aH the fiik were is-dver 1

moa ofThe fisfa - =- nr-c: - -; j: ao dMTaeaije ia vnfaS^ betwesr _- e
-

tiiere is ao benef.: -jz. zrs^-jns, .- ; rtirvoirs dowa.

U If addhkaal sanies cooduaed tj N»ffS iukcaie higb a^h s;-r.v. l. n
Lower Givte Reservoir, tfaeo a piiyiiai dnwdowB tesi ofLower Grzri:.± Rsser-

not be implemented. _

CRAPosMdom-i
exceed SS ivffiww tmd tMi/tfji c
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John Day Pool Drawdown Proposal:

"The Team has considered, and rejected as a recommended recovery action, the current plans

to drawdown John Day Reservoirfrom minimum irrigation pool (MIP) to MOP. The survival

benefits of drawing down John Day Pool a few feet (maybe only two or three feet) from MIP

to MOP are too small to be reliably determined.

"

The Team believes the proposed John Day Drawdown will not be a significant recovery

action for ESA-listed Snake River salmon because of the relatively small change in

elevations (and thus velocities) from the current operation.

Aside from any travel time benefits that might accrue from a drawdown, there may be

adverse impacts to juvenile fish passage.

CRA Position - CRA agrees with the Bevcm Plan.

Harvest:

"The Team concludes that modification of harvest methodsfor Snake River salmon and other

weak natural stocks and reduction of harvest rates on faU chinook are vital to an early start

for the recovery process... While the Team accepts with reservations theposition ofsomefishery

agencies that in-river fisheries can be very specifically controlled to meet harvest rate goals

using gear, area, and time restrictions, this is true only for aggregated stocks. The present

regime is geared to targets that do not protect listed stocks satisfactorily.
"

The Team recommends that fishery managers establish an exploitation rate schedule over

all fisheries affecting Snake River fall chinook. The allowable exploitation rate in any

given year should be directly linked to measures of recent productivity and escapement

In the short term, the rate should be reduced from current levels.

Q In order to permit savings firom ocean and lower river harvests of Snake River fall

chinook that are passed through to spawning areas, harvests in Zones 1-6 will have to be

curtailed or shifted to terminal areas and/or selective gear.

To minimize the economic hardship caused by harvest reduction measures, a buy-back

program should be established to offer a fair price for purchase of licenses, boats, and gear

By 2002, the ocean troll fishery harvest of Snake River fall chinook should be reduced

by 50% relative to recent years by gear and quota reduction, and all in-river fishing should

be restriaed to approved gear capable of live capture and release of listed species with

maximum mortality rates specified by managing agencies. This is expected to require

phasing out gill net fishing by that date. _

The US and Canada must reach agreement to reduce Canadian harvests of fall chinook

off West-Vancouver Island.

CRA Position - The CRA agrees with the Bevan Plan, but supports immediate actions that

will curtail commercial harvest of threatened salmon.
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Natural Factors AfTecting the Decline of Snake River Salmon:

"Since most salmon spend the longest portion of their life in the ocean, and most of their

growth is derived from marine food sources, oceanic factors must be considered fully as

possible in developing a salmon management and restoration program. Oceanic conditions

may often overridefreshwaterfactors in determining trends and status ofsalmon populations.
"

The dominance of oceanic factors in determining salmon abundance is suggested by the

parallel trends in abundance in recent years for salmon stocks from many different

freshwater environments along the Pacific Coast Richards and Olsen (1993) demonstrated
that Snake River spring chinook runs shared similar periods and trends of decline (from
1977-1991) with chinook salmon runs from the Lower Columbia River system, the Rogue
River, several Washington coastal streams, and California's Klamath River. Recent
comparisons of West Coast steelhead production showed similar downward production
trends for hatchery and wild steelhead runs from Oregon, Washington, Idaho, and British

Columbia.

"Marine mammal populations, especially harbor seals and California sea lions, are increasing

on the West Coast..Marine mammal effects on salmon are potentially significant and represent

an important factor in recovery.
"

In 1990, an increase in marine mammal damage on spring/summer chinook, from a few
percent per year to an average of 19.2%, was noted at Lower Granite Dam on the Snake
River This damage was thought to be attributable to harbor seals. This information has

led some researchers to speculate that losses of Snake River salmon through marine
mammal predation may be equal to the combined sport and commercial harvest

CRA Position - The CRA believes that better information on ocean mortality is needed
and this is a major cause of salmon decline. Marine mammal population control must
be more aggressive.

Recovery Plan Cost and Cost-EfTectivencss:

Note: The Bevan plan does not estimate the cost of the plan or the relative cost-

effectiveness of its elements.

CRA Position - The next stepfor NMFS and the otherfederal agencies is to estimate the

cost of the individual elements and to determine the cost-effectiveness. This information
will provide decision makers a priority listing of elements. The ability of our region to

continue to pay for salmon enhancement is a concern. With 1994 costs of$350 million,

our expectation is that this plan could replace ongoing efforts and reduce or minimize
future costs.

CRA. June 14, 1994
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A1TACHMKNT 4

June. 1994CRA issue briefing paper

It's time to be factual-Dams don't kill 95% of the salmon

A Closer Look at Salmon Mortality

Salmon lead a perilous life, with some Snake

River Spring Chinook traveling almost 900 miles

from central Idaho to the Pacific Ocean, spending

years in the ocean and finally the lucky ones return

to points of origin. Anbcipating high mortality, a

female salmon may lay 4500 eggs, with the

objective of returning only two spawning adults.

Mortality occurs through several life stages of the

Snake River salmon migration path. Some of this

mortality is due to lutural system mortality arxl

some is related to human-caused mortality, such as

spawning habitat impacts, dam passage and harvest

of some stocks. In almost all life stages, natural

and human-caused mortality impacts are difficult to

separate.

Rtarine sites to Lower Granite Reservoir:

Percentage of total mortality - 25% (A.E.)*

From the juvenile rearing sites in Idaho to the

head waters of the Lower Granite Reservoir a

juvenile salmon may travel up to 400 miles.

Biologists estimate only about SO percent of

hatchery and wild fish survive this Tusl stage.

Lower GrtmUe Reservoir to BonnevilU Dam:
Percentage of total mortality - 20% (A.E.)*

Survival rates through the Lower Granite

Reservoir are relatively high, estimates to be 95

percent or greater, as recorded in reservoir passage

experimeris conducted by a joiru University of

Wasfaington/Natiooal Marine Fisheries Service

(NMFS) research team. The majority of Snake

River salmon do not pass directly through the

Snake and Cohmibia River hydroelectric dams and

reservoirs. Most salmon are transported in

specially designed barges from collection sites at

Lower Granite, Little Goose, Lower Monumental

and McNary projects to release stes below

Bonneville Dam—as many as 85 percent in recent

DOWNRIVER MIGRATION

PACIFIC OCEAN UPRIVER ADULT MIGRATION

INniVlR ADULT HANve*T AND INTeR-DAM LOSS

lai.oee ii4,ooo iia.ooe
WILD SNAKe Riven

•AtMON

1990-1992 conditions 10 SOCKEVe
eo W.P.CHIN.

It.OOe W.S/a CHIN.
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'How can diuns kill 95 percent of juvenile

salmon if 85 percent of them are transported

alive''

Fish collection and transpoitaiion caifie less

than 1 percent mortality for salmon and steelhead.

The overall effecDveness of the smolt

transportation program has been evaluated by

NMFS for several years. NMFS scientists estimate

that adult survival rales for transported fish arc

about 60 to ISO percent higher than for ftsh that

pass directly through the hydroelectric dams and

reservoirs. Although there is some conjecture over

a possble latent nsottality of transported fish, all

recent transportation studies indicate a beneficial

effect for transporting juvenile salmoa

Below Bonneville Dam, the Estuary and the

Ocean:
Percentage of total mortality - 25% (A.E.)*

From below Bc»ineville Dam and through the

estuary, both tnusported and non-transported fish

are exposed to high levels of predation and other

mortality factors. After Bonneville dam it is

difficult to monitor juvenile salmon, however,

some analyses suggest about a 40 percent mortality

through this river reach.

In the ocean, mortality is high for all Snake

River salmon stocks. Of those juvenile fish that

enter the Pacific Ocean, only 1 to 5 percent will

survive to return as adults headed back up the

Columbia River. Most of the ocean morality is

believed to occur during the early months of ocean

entry.

It has become increasingly evident that ocean

ecological and enviroiunental conditions play a

major role in determining ocean survival, for both

wild and hatchery stocks. For example, amilar

population trends have been observed between

Snake River spring chinook and other West Coast

chiiKX>k populations of both dammed and

urvdammed river systems. The poor returns of

chinook salmon in the early 199(ts are to a large

extent due to [>oor ocean conditions, whether or not

the fish encountered dams.

Snake River spring chinook are estimated to

have little direct and secondary nxinaliiv due to

open ocean fishing, about a 1-3 per • mortality

rate. But under historical fisheries i i policies,

adult fall chinook mortality was appi nately 35

to 40 percent, with most harvest occurring in

Canadian waters.

AduU Uv-River Passare SurvivaL

PercenUge of total mortality - 10% (A.E.)*

Once in the river, returning adult chirKiok

salmon will experience mortality from natural

causes, dam passage, and harvest impacts. Adult

up-river passage mortality is estimated to average

about S percent per project through the

Columbia/Snake river system, due to both natural

and man-made causes. For Snake River fall

chinook, about 28 percent are harvested as

'incidental take' within the livlian and non-Irxlian

conunercial fisheries.

Pre-Soawnine Stafe:

Percentage of total mortality ' 15% (A.E.)*

The final mortality stage occtus as adults leave

the upper dam. Lower Granite and make their final

ascent to the spawning grounds. Here survival rate

estimates vary gready, ranging from between 60 to

85 percent Among the different salmon runs,

spring chinook are estimated to have the lowest

pre-spawning survival rate as they travel almost

400 miles in this final stage.

aj:.

Wbat is Adult Equivalent?

Snake River salmon mortality is best

described by comparing mortality across

different life stages in equivalent terms. To
do this, the value of a fish within certain

life-stages must be "calibrated" to its

expected value as an adtilt spawner. For

example, given the life<ycle survival rate

information described above, it is apparent

that a large number of smolts entering the

Lower Snake River system (above Lower

Granite Dam) is required to produce one

returning adult spawner. But in a later life

stage, a smaller number of fish is required

to pnxluce one returning adult spawner.

83-191 0-94-7
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Snake River Salmon Life-Cycle Mortality

Spring Chinook Estinnated Adult Equivalent Mortality

Downstream Passage
20 0%

Harvest-Ocean
02%

Upstream Passage
9 5%

Pre-Spawning Stage

16 0% Harvest Irt-Rivef

1.5%

Pre-Srrvjlt/Pre-Dam

26 9%
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FIGURE 2.

SNAKE RIVER SALMON
PRODUCTION TRENDS ARE
SIMILAR TO WEST COAST
TRENDS AND OTHER BASINS

SNAKG R. ESCAFEMEKT VERSUS
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Figure 2. Snahe River Salmon Production Trends Are Similar to
West Coast trends and Other Basins

> During the past decade. Snake River spring chinook salmon runs have generally followed

pnxluction trends sunilar to that of overall West Coast chinook production trends. Also,

Snake River spring chinook production trends generally match trends witfain other major

river systems. This similarity is apparent when Snake River production is directly

compared to the Rogue River (south of the Columbia River) and the combined western

Washington rivers (north of the Columbia River).



192

ATTACHMKNT 6

FIGURE 6. COST-EFFECTIVENESS ANALYSIS

RECOVERY MEASURE MARGINAL BENEFITS/COSTS
(QUADRANT RANKS 1,2,3,4)

ANNUAL $

MORE THAN

$10,000,000

'
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ATTACHMENT 7

CalUUnbiB Rh/Br AlHsnCB For Fish, commerce and Communities

FY 1995 FEDERAL APPROPRIATIONS

JUNE 13, 1994

"Federal Appropriations needed to accelerate programs
to aid Pacific Northwest threatened salmon"

The CRA believes that it is important to proceed with activities that can aid salmon

and request the following programs in the 1995 Federal Appropriations. In each of the

programs listed below, we will describe their consistency with the National Marine Fisheries

Service (NMFS) Recovery Team Plan ("April, 1994, Final Recommendations, Summary") and
the Northwest Power Plarming Council's Strategy for Salmon ("October, 1992, Volume II").

The intent of our request is to expedite elements which are generally included within the two
regional plans and to prioritize limited funding and staff resources toward more meaningful

and scientific supported activities.

L HATCHERY AND HARVEST REFORM

Background - Over $35 million each year is authorized by Congress to construct,

operate and maintain more than 60 hatchery facilities on the Columbia and Snake River

system. These include funding of NMFS Mitchell Act, Corps of Engineers Lower Snake
Compensation, and BPA. A variety of federal, state, tribal, and private entities operate these

hatcheries However, the system of hatcheries has come under question regarding continued

viability as a result of diminishing returns of both wild and hatchery fish and concern for

negative interaction. At the present time, a selective harvest cannot be initiated because a

hatchery salmon and an Endangered Species Act threatened Snake River Chinook salmon
caimot be distinguished from each other. A reform package is required and will consist of the

following elements that will be ured to ensure protection and enhancement of threatened

salmon stocks.

1995 Federal Appropriations Recommendations -

National Marine Fisheries Service, Fish and Wildlife Service, Army Corps of
Engineers, Bonneville Power Administration, and any state or private entities that receive

federal hatchery funds -

1. Effective immediately, mark all hatchery released salmon producedfor harvest in

the Columbia Basin so that selective fishing methods can be employed.

B25 NE Muitnoman Suite 955 • Portland Oregon 97232 • 15031 238-1540 • Fa, (5031 2381554
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2. Develop prior to FY 1996 Appropriations a listing with scientific rationale of

federally fundedfish hatcheries in the pacific northwest that support the

preservation of Endangered Species Act listed wild salmon runs and other weak, wild

salmon runs. Listing should include modifications required to improve quality of

hatchery reared salmon. Hatcheries to be closed should be indicated

3. Pacific northwest federally funded hatcheries shall provide salmon for federal

agency supported scientific studies, especially studies for evaluating survivalfrom

mitigation and enhancement activities.

Consistency with NMFS Recovery Team (Bevan) Plan -

1) Marking Hatchery Fish-"The Team recommends that harvest management should

be changed to reduce harvest rates and capacity for all listed stocks...By the year 2,

the only harvest that should be allowed in any Columbia River :' shery should be

selective with live release capability...." pg 20, Team Final Recc n.. Summary

2) Listing of hatcheries for continued operation and funding-"The Recovery Team

believes that hatchery objectives and operations must be critically examined and

revised where necessary to assist, not impede, natural salmon productivity. Some

hatchery operations may need to be shifted to conservation objectives instead of

concentrating on production. The reason for this is that hatchery operations have

historically been highly uncoordinated. They are authorized under agencies (federal,

state, and tribal)." pg 14, Team Final Recomm., Summary

3) Hatchery fish availability for scientific studies-"The absence of supporting

scientific iiiformation was a recurring problem the Team faced in establishing the

strategies and specific tasks for recovery. For downstream passage, continuation and

expansion of the current survival studies is mandatory." pg 17, Team Final Reconun.,

Summary

Consistency with NPPC Strategy for Salmon -

1) Marking Hatchery Fish-"Mark all hatchery-reared chinook by 199S to facilitate

selective harvest in the future, pursuant to findings from the marking feasibility study."

pg 61, Strategy for Salmon, Vol. II

2) Listing of Hatcheries for Continued Operation and Funding-'Boimeville •

Beginning in 1993, fimd ongoing independent audits of hatchery performance in

consultation with Integrated Hatchery Operations Team... Include recommendations for

improving performance and for modifying or terminating hatchery programs." pg 60,

Strategy for Salmon Vol. Q
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3) Hatchery fish availability for scientific studies-"Fishery Managers - Make available

from hatcheries or other appropriate sources the required numbers of juvenile salmon
necessary to conduct the flow, travel time and survival studies called for in Section

3.6F3-3.6F5." pg 35. Strategy for Salmon Vol n

n. WATER DIVERSION SCREENING

Background - 1994 Mitchell Act funding provided $4.7 million for installation and

maintenance of water diversion fish screens. This funding is not included in the 1995 budget.

Current plans call for screening 172 diversions in 1995 and 1996.

199S Federal Appropriations Recommendations •

National Marine Fisheries Service - Fund $6.0 million for instattaAon and
maintenance of water diversion fish screening devices under Mitchell Act

Consistency with NMFS Recovery Team (Bevan) Plan -

"Screening: Irrigation withdrawals should be effectively screened to prevent loss of

juvenile and adulf fish." pg V-11, October 1993, Recovery Team Draft Plan

Consistency with NPPC Strategy for Salmon -

"There is an immediate need to accelerate the installation of new facilities on

unscreened diversions and repair or upgrade older facilities." pg 76, Strategy for

Salmon, Vol II

m. SMOLT TRANSPORTATION PROGRAM

Background - The U.S. Army Corps of Engineers operates a juvenile salmon
transportation or barging program. The Corps is investigating program enhancements through

its System Configuration Study (SCS); however, they are potentially several years from
implementation. At recent regional public hearings on the SCS, the public provided strong

support for the barging program and expedited implementation of barging improvements. In

the Corps SCS Phase I report, "Currently, there are not enough barges available to load

collected smolts directly into awaiting barges...After evaluating three options, it was
determined that an additional four barges of 7S,000-pound capacity would satisfy a direct-

loading target." pg-6-40, SCS, April 1994
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199S Federal Appropriations Recommendations -

1. Army Corps of Engineers - On an expedited basis, Fund SI2 million to acquire

four additional barges for juvenile salmon transportation. Implement strategy thai

releases transported salmon closer to estuary.

2. Army Corps of Engineers - Fund S2 Million for expedited investigation of the

feasibility of surface fish collector facility or extended-length screens at Lower

Granite Dam and net pen transportation prototype for use below Bonneville Dam.

Consistency with NMFS Recovery Team (Bevan) Plan -

"In the Team's view improved smolt collection at the Snake River dams and transport

to the lower Columbia River is the option that must be used until better options are

developed...barges should be designed to lower stress, barge exits should be modified

to allow dispersed release, research should be conducted to evaluate various release

sites in the lower Columbia." pg 18, Team Final Recomm , Summary

Consistency with NPPC Strategy for Salmon -

"On an expedited basis, improve salmon transportation by upgrading facilities and

improving operations. Improvements should include ... minimize fish densities,...

developing smolt release strategies, including dispersing fish to minimize predation.

Immediately evaluate ... alternative release sites downstream. Expedite funding for a

preliminary evaluation of a) the feasibility of constructing and operating alternative

fish bypass and collection facilities at the upstream end of Lower Granite Reservoir, ...

c) the feasibility and benefits of net pens to increase survival of transported fish." pg

40, Strategy for Salmon Vol II

IV. JOHN DAY RESERVOIR DRAWDOWN

Background - Northwest electric ratepayers, through the Bonneville Power

Administration, are funding the Corps of Engineers to conduct studies and Advanced Plaiming

and Design (AP&D) activities for a John Day Reservoir drawdown. According to the Corps,

1994 through 1999 AP&D studies are estimated to cost about $12 million. A drawdown from

263 f^ elevation to 257 ft elevation is the proposal under consideration with studies requested

by the Northwest Power Plaiming Council in its Strategy for Salmon. Studies were conducted

under the Corps' System Configuration Study (SCS). The plan lacks scientific basis, is high

cost, and negatively impacts resident fish, wildlife, and area conununities. The plan was
discarded by the NMFS Recovery Team. At recent regional public meetings, no individual

supported any form of drawdown of the John Day Reservoir.
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1995 Federal Appropriations Recommendations -

Army Corps of Engineers - No action orfunding is requested as no scientific and
public support exists. No Advanced Planning and Design Activities should be

funded or conducted Remaining FY 1994 funds should be shiftedfor high priority

activities such as fish marking program and improved smolt transportation as

described above

Consistency with NMFS Recovery Team (Bevan) Plan -

"The Team has considered and rejected as a significant recovery action, the current

plans to draw down John Day Reservoir below minimum irrigation pool." pg 18, Team
Final Recomm., Summary

Comments by the Corps of Engineers (System Configuration Study) -

"Potential effects of the operation on survival of Snake River stocks is minimal, due

to transportation. The vast majority of juveniles from the Snake River would not be

affected by actions in the lower Columbia River." Corps SCS Review Phase I

Conunents by Harza Engineering (NPPC Consultant) -

"The principal flaw cf a proposed drawdown at John Day is our inability to quantify

the benefits to anadromous salmonids...While benefits to salmonids are debatable,

impacts to wildlife are not...Harza does not endorse the five-foot John Day
drawdown." April 1994 Harza Review of Reservoir Drawdown Study

V. SNAKE RIVER DRAWDOWN - BIOLOGICAL DRAWDOWN TEST

Background - In March, 1992, a one-month "physical" drawdown test was conducted

of the Lower Granite and Litde Goose Reservoirs. A "biological" test is now being

considered by the Corps beginning in 1996 at Lower Granite Reservoir. The test would

could be conduaed for up to four years for two month durations. Drafting and refill

limitations would extend the drawdown period to approximately three and one-half months.

The Corps estimates the test would cost $1 13 million (four-year duration). River navigation

to Lewiston and Clarkston would be eliminated during this period. Although the test would

simulate spillway crest drawdown conditions (Idaho Plan), the Corps discarded the four-dam

spillway crest drawdown option from long term operation in its System Configuration Study

(preliminary findings phase I). Therefore, the biological test considered does not provide

information for future reservoir operation. The test is simply not as scientific as

investigations (Iwamoto, Skalski, Williams Flow/Survival Study) on river flow levels and fish

survival that are underway in the Lower Granite Reservoir reach. These baseline studies will

be completed in 199S or later. To date, no qualified scientists have supported reservoir
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drawdowns as a means to enhance threatened salmon. The NMFS Recovery Team stated

these baseline tests must be conducted prior to any drawdown testing Further drawdown

testing must be a credible biological experiment. At recent regional meeting, the public

expressed strong opposition for any drawdown test.

1995 Federal Appropriations Recommendations -

National Marine Fisheries Service and Arn^ Corps of Engineers - Funding should

be providedfor continued baselineflow survival studies (hvamoto, Skalski, Williams

Study). 1995 funding for Snake River drawdown planning and test drawdowns

should not be provided as no scientific or public support exists. Funds and Agency

Stcffcan be better usedfor priority salmon enhancement proposals.

VL ADULT PASSAGE SYSTEM IMPROVEMENTS

Background - The Corps is examining a variety of improvements that would improve

survival of upstream migrating adult salmon past hydroelectric dams in the Columbia and

Snake rivers. These include modifying fish ladders, attraction water, entrances, exists, and

others.

Army Corps of Engineers • Provide listing ofadub salmon passage system

in^rovements in the Columbia and Snake River prior to FY 1996 Appn^riations.

Consistency with NMFS Recovery Team (Bevan) Plan -

"To improve upstream passage conditions, the Team recommends changes to adult

fishways at dams and dam operations." pg 20, Team Final Recomm , Summary

Consistency with NPPC Strategy for Salmon -

"Continue to evaluate all mainstem adult passage facilities, evaluate the need for new

facilities, and make facility improvements as necessary", pg 41, Strategy for Salmon,

Voin

Vn. HABITAT ENHANCEMENTS

Background - Both regional salmon recovery plans include measures for improving

spawning and rearing habitat. The Soil Conservation Service of the Department of

Agriculture is established as an agency that can work cooperatively with land owners to

enhance habitat. The Northwest Power Council has requested augmented funding for the Soil

Conservation Service. The CRA supports this effort.
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1995 Federal Appropriations Recommendations -

Soil Conservation Service - Fund $8 million for providing technical andfinancial
assistance for pacific northwest salmon habitat protection efforts.

Vra. PREDATION

Background - Both squawfish and marine mammals are major predators for both
juvenile and adult salmon BPA has been operating a squawfish management program with

high management overheads providing only limited effectiveness. The Marine Mammal Act
has been recently revised allowing for some selective reductions of populations.

1995 Federal Appropriations Recommendations -

Bonneville Power Administration - Implement a revised squawfish rtumagement
program that more effectively and efficiently reduces salmon predatiorL

National Marine Fisheries Service - Fund a one year study to determine level of
marine mammal predation on Columbia Kver salmon, and develop a plan in FY
1996 to minimize marine mammal predatory impacts on salmon.

Consistency with NMFS Recovery Team (Sevan) Plan - "The existing squawfish

control program should be revised to progressively reduce predation on

smoits. Impacts from bird and marine mammal predation should be assessed, and

control methods should be designed." pg 21, Team Final Recomm., Summary

Consistency with NPPC Strategy for Salmon - "Reduce squawfish population by about

20 percent ... in the Columbia and Snake rivers. ' pg 38, Stiategy for Salmon Vol II

K. SALMON OVERSIGHT COMMITTEE

Background - Differing agency and consultant scientific views have resulted in reduced

salmon enhancement efforts. The National Marine Fisheries Service Recovery Team became
aware of this problem during the two year development of its salmon recovery plan and
recommended formation of an independent scientific team to oversee regional efforts.

1995 Federal Appropriations Recommendations -

National Mariiu Fisheries Service • Form a five-member scientific salmon oversight

commitiee to be responsible for ensuring that the Columbia-Snake salmon
enhancement efforts work effectively, priorities are set, and that decisions are made
using relevant science The initial team (Salmon Oversight Committee) shall be
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comprited of existing members of the Snake River Salmon Recovery Team.

Consistency with NMFS Recovery Team (Bevan) Plan - "The Team also believes that

an impartial, independent, science-based group should be responsible for ensuring that

the Columbia-Snake River Basin management system for anadromous fish works

effectively in setting priorities, ensuring a scientific basis for decisions, and promoting

relevant science The Team recommends that an independent five-member oversight

committee - called the Salmon Oversight Committee - be formed to fill this critical

decision-making void." pg 11, Team Final Recomm., Summary
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Good morning. Chairman Studds and members of the Committee.

Thank you for the opportunity to testify today on the subject of

salmon recovery in the Columbia Basin.

My name is Lorraine Bodi and I am co-director of the

Northwest office of American Rivers, a national conservation

group dedicated to the protection of river ecosystems. In the

Pacific Northwest, American Rivers focuses on restoration of our

depleted salmon runs. I am also chair of Save Our Wild Salmon

(SOS) , a coalition of forty-two national, regional, and local

conservation and fishing groups and salmon-based businesses

working together to restore endangered salmon runs to harvestable

levels.

My personal involvement in Northwest salmon issues dates

back over fifteen years. For thirteen of those years, I

represented the National Marine Fisheries Service (NMFS) in its

efforts to protect salmon habitat. In the late 1970s, I worked

on the first review of Columbia Basin salmon under the Endangered

Species Act. In 1980, I was a member of the "ad hoc work group"

of fishery and utility interests, a group that drafted the fish

and wildlife provisions adopted as part of the Northwest Power

Act.
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Through the 1980s and early 1990s, I represented NMFS in its

efforts to obtain fish passage improvements — improved flows,

spills, and bypass systems — at individual dams in the Columbia

Basin, and in its efforts to prevent the initiation of a new

barging program in the mid-Columbia below Grand Coulee dam. I

have negotiated several settlements of fish and power conflicts

in the Columbia and other river systems. Where settlement has

not been possible, I have litigated the science, policy, and law

surrounding fish passage and restoration in the Columbia Basin.

From this base of experience, I have developed a number of

views on what it will take to restore Columbia Basin salmon.

Today, more urgently than ever before, the answer is action . We

must finally stop arguing over the problems and start solving

them. We must accept the fact that protecting the salmon will

mean changes in river operations, and start figuring out creative

ways to make those changes. The longer we wait, the more painful

salmon recovery will be, as we postpone the ultimate day of

reckoning.

The Committee has posed three questions about Columbia Basin

salmon recovery, all closely related. Rather than address them

one by one, I would like to respond by making five points that

together cover the answers.

• First, a recovery plan for the salmon is long overdue.
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Second, a salmon recovery plan must be an action plan, a

cookbook of measures and timetables leading to recovery.

Third, a recovery plan must involve state fishery agencies

and affected Indian tribes and build on the results of Idaho

v. KMFS .

Fourth, a salmon recovery plan must be implemented in full,

not selectively.

Fifth, a recovery plan must focus on protection of the river

ecosystem, on migration of fish in the river.

A Recovery Plan for the Salmon Is Long Overdue

The controversies that confound salmon recovery in the

Columbia Basin are not new. Looking back almost fifteen years

ago, just before the passage of the Nor-thwest Power Act, the

political, legal, and scientific debates in the region were very

much the same as they are today:

• The National Marine Fisheries Service was conducting a

status review under the Endangered Species Act for all upper
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Columbia and Snake River salmon stocks because of concern

over their declining numbers;

Inriver fisheries were closed and other fisheries were being

curtailed because of declining salmon runs;

Fishery agencies and tribes and their supporters were

recommending specific flows to speed juvenile fish migration

to the ocean;

Dam operators and their supporters were urging more studies

and use of barging for fish passage instead of flow

improvements

.

The Northwest Power Act of 1980 was a commendable effori: to

break the gridlock and get salmon recovery xinderway. The Act

states that Columbia Basin salmon are "of significant importance

to the social and economic well-being of the Pacific Northwest

and the Nation" and so directs their "protection, mitigation, and

enhancement .

"

The primary focus of the Act was the dams, because salmon

"are dependent on suitable environmental conditions substantially

obtainable from the management and operation of the Federal
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Colvimbia River Power system and other power generating facilities

on the Columbia River and its tributaries."

Specifically, the Act called for a system-wide Columbia

Basin Fish and Wildlife Program. It directed the Program to

include flows of sufficient quality and quantity to improve fish

migration and survival. It called for action based on what we

taiow, rather than delay until we know everything. In cases of

technical disagreement, it mandated deference to the

recommendations of fishery agencies and tribes.

In short, the Columbia Basin Fish and Wildlife Program first

developed in 1982 was supposed to be the region's recovery plan

for Columbia Basin salmon. It looked so promising that NMFS

suspended its review of salmon under the Endangered Species Act.

But the promise of the Act came up against deep resistance

to change among the dan operators and their supporters. The

Columbia Basin Fish and Wildlife Progreun met the saune call for

more studies and continued fish barging that we hear today.

The last fifteen years have been spent doing more studies

and dodging the need to modify the operation of the Columbia

Basin's dams and reservoirs. Meanwhile, Snake River salmon runs

have been listed under the Endangered Species Act, productive

fisheries have been closed from California to Alaska, and this
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year's returning salmon are at the lowest levels ever seen. We

are, quite literally, studying and debating the fish to death. A

real recovery plan for the salmon is urgently needed and long

overdue

.

A Recoverv Plan Must Be an Action Plan.

The Northwest Power Planning Council's Strategy for Salmon

and the Snedce River Recovery Team's Recommendations 2u:e starting

points for developing a recovery plan for Columbia Basin salmon.

Both are only framework documents. They outline the table of

contents for a recovery plan, covering all aspects of the salmon

life cycle, but fail to fill in many critical details.

In lieu of specific actions leading to recovery, the

Recovery Teeun has proposed numerous studies, new committees, and

future procedures to develop specific actions. While these might

all be commendable if salmon were not on the verge of extinction,

they simply do not constitute a recovery plan.

In the words of one scientific reviewer of the draft

Recovery Team recommendations:

[I]t is not a recovery plan at all. When one strips away

the background material and docximentation, all that is left

is the recommendation that more committees and research are
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needed so that essential plans can be made at some

unspecified time in the futiire. . . . The time to bite the

bullet is now! We need decisions now, and while they may

not be perfect (hopefully they can be corrected as we go

along) , at least that is better than trying to do it when

the runs are down to six fish or less. (Peer Review Comments

of Dr. Carl B. Schreck)

Many other reviewers echoed these same concerns. Verbatim

excerpts from peer review commenters are appended to the end of

my testimony.

To meet the needs of the salmon and the ESA, a recovery plan

must be an action plan — detailed and specific. Under the ESA,

a recovery plan must include site-specific management actions for

conservation and survival; objective, measurable criteria for

recovery and removal from listing; and time and cost estimates

for intermediate and final measures. These are not impossible

tasks, but they do pose difficult choices, particularly when it

comes to changing existing hydropower operations.

The difficult choices facing the hydropower system continue

to thwart a regional solution. Because 90% of the human-caused

mortalitv to Snake River salmon is caused bv the dams, we must

fix the dams to recover the fish. All the sacrifices made by our
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fisheries and fishing communities, and all of our other

mitigation efforts will be in vain if we do not fix the dams.

This unavoidable fact is the reason the Power Council's

Strategy for Salmon and the Recovery Team's recommendations are

both incomplete. As the Power Council readily admits.

implementation of only existing measures will not recover

endangered salmon runs, and additional measures, such as

reservoir drawdown, are absolutely necessary.

Life-cycle computer modeling conducted by the Columbia Basin

Fish and Wildlife Authority State and Tribal Analytical Team —

and presented to the Recovery Teaun for their use — confirms that

implementation of only the measures in the Recovery Team's

recommendations will not recover endangered salmon runs.

The much repeated claim that we have no science to suppozrt

and identify fish passage measures, to chart a path to recovery

of the salmon, is false. Columbia Basin salmon may well be the

most studied fish in the country — the volumes of historical

data, field studies, and monitoring results on these fish would

fill an entire library.

It taJces some effort to get past the political science and

down to the real science in the Columbia Basin, to get past the

rhetoric on all sides. But the science is there if you look for

8
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it. The science reveals two central conclusions — that fish need

better, faster flows for recovery and that barging fish has not

led to their recovery.

Like all information drawn from natural science, these

conclusions are subject to some degree of uncertainty.

Nevertheless, if we conduct another 20 years of study, there will

still be uncertainty and more studies to be done.

We are studying the fish to death, using good intentions and

the need for absolutely conclusive science as cover to avoid the

difficult decisions fishery agencies and tribes have been urging

on us for a decade and a half. Like the tobacco industry

claiming that there is no scientific proof linking smoking and

lung cancer, the dam operators and their supporters claim we have

insufficient scientific proof that fish need improved river

flows.

By their measure, we will have proof the fish are extinct

before we have proof they need better river flows. We are

charting a terrible path for the region and for the fish.

Given the dire conditions of our fish nans, it is

scientifically, biologically, politically, and legally

irresponsible to further delay actions to recover the salmon.

The risk of inaction, in very short order, is extinction.
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A Recovery Plan Should Build on the

Results of Idaho v. NMFS.

In the loud clamor over salmon science. It Is easy to

overlook the fact that federal, state, and tribal fishery

scientists have spoken with one voice, consistently recommending

improved fish passage in the Columbia Basin for many years.

These scientists are charged with interpreting the best available

scientific information and translating it into specific measures

to improve the survival of spawning and migrating fish. They are

charged by law with doing what is best for the future of fish

runs and fisheries, erring on the side of the fish.

Although they do not lobby decision mzdcers or court the

media, the analysis and conclusions of agency and tribal

scientists should be sought out and given substantial deference

in the debate over salmon recovery.

Fishery agency and tribal scientists prepared detailed peer

review comments on the draft Recovery Team recommendations.

Verbatim excerpts from these comments are appended to my

testimony. In general, these scientists were critical of the

incomplete and inconclusive nature of the Team's recommendations.

10
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For example, the State and Tribal Analytical Team, on the

basis of its life cycle modeling for various recovery scenarios,

stated:

[T]he recovery measures were evaluated within the narrow

confines of economic and social constraints and not on the

basis of biological requirements for recovery and physical

constraints of the hydrosystem.

The Recovery Team did not evaluate alternative management

actions with the goal of increasing instresun survival of

migrating juvenile salmon. For example, there were no

management scenarios which evaluated the combination of

drawdown in the SneJce River and flow augmentation in the

Columbia River.

The Fish Passage Center, which oversees fish migration

monitoring and evaluation for federal and state fishery agencies

and Indian tribes, had similar comments:

The most serious limitation of the Plan is that it does not

include any analysis which indicates that the listed stocks

will rebuild and recover with implementation of the Plan.

11
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Because of the absence of an open scientific debate over

salmon recovery, the states and tribes have found themselves in

federal court, along with conservation and fishing groups. In

Idaho V. NMFS . a case where the States of Idaho, Oregon, and

Alaska, and four Indian Tribes challenged the federal biological

opinion for the hydro system. Judge Malcolm Marsh commented that

"the underlying root of the litigation problem is the feeling of

these parties that the federal government is simply not listening

to them." He overturned the biological opinion finding that "the

ESA does impose substantive obligations with respect to an

agency's consideration of significant information and data from

well-qualified scientists such as the fishery biologists from the

states and the tribes."

After reviewing the record and affidavits in the case and

personally questioning the parties' scientists under oath. Judge

Marsh found that "Instead of looking for what can be done to

protect the species from jeopardy, NMFS and the action agencies

have narrowly focussed their attention on what the establishment

is capable of handling with minimal disruption."

To address this legal shortcoming, the Judge set in motion a

series of discussions between the federal government on the one

hand and the states and tribes on the other.
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These discussions are now underway. Although progress has

been disappointingly slow, the Marsh discussions should result in

a new set of measures designed to avoid jeopardy to salmon

migrating through the hydrosystem. As Judge Marsh himself

explained, there is no bright-line where avoiding jeopardy ends,

and recovery begins. Consequently, the outcome of the

discussions in Tdaho v. NMFS will be a necessary component of the

NMFS recovery plan for the Columbia Basin.

A Recovery Plan Must Be Implemented in Full.

While it may seem obvious, a recovery plan for Columbia

Basin salmon must be implemented in full. If it is to work, a

recovery plan cannot be a cafeteria menu, from which we pick and

choose, implementing the easy ones and ignoring the "major

overhaul" called for by Judge Marsh.

If history is any guide, however, there is grave cause for

concern about the potential for full implementation of flow

augmentation and reservoir drawdown measures — even though

these are both called for in general terms in the Strategy for

Salmon and the Recovery Team's recommendations. For example, the

original Water Budget developed by the Power Council in 1982 was

never fully implemented in the Snake River until after ESA

petitions were filed, just a few years ago.

13
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Even today, implementation of the Council's Strategy for

Salmon remains highly vineven. The Bonneville Power

Administration's selective use of the Strategy for Salmon to

determine its funding and operational priorities is still being

debated

.

Getting down to specifics, although the Strategy for Salmon

calls for drawdown of John Day Reservoir to minimum operating

pool and an expedited evaluation of a lower drawdown for Lower

Granite Reservoir — and these measures have been expressly

endorsed by the Governors of Washington, Oregon, and Idaho —
appropriations for these measures have been incomplete and

difficult to obtain. Even where funds are available,

implementation by the Corps of Engineers seems to be stretching

out over decades.

If we are really serious about salmon recovery,

implementation must be fast and complete. The Congress and the

Administration will have to work with the region to ensure that

the federal dam operators implement the full recovery plan, not

simply the parts they agree with. At this point, the fish do not

have decades to spare.
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A Recovery Plan Must Protect the River Ecosystem.

A fundamental purpose of the ESA is to provide a means of

conserving the ecosystems upon which endangered species depend.

The Columbia and Snake rivers and their tributaries are a

critical part of the ecosystem upon which listed salmon depend,

am ecosystem that all parties admit has been badly degraded. The

river ecosystem is the part of the salmon life cycle most lethal

to the salmon and most in need of improvement, the admitted

source of most mortality to migrating fish.

When it comes to improving the river ecosystem, we know the

fundamentals that must be at the heart of recovery. First,

setting aside the rhetoric over fish flows and looking at the

best available scientific information, we know that improving

salmon survival requires better, faster flows for migrating fish.

This is the conclusion of the state fishery agencies and tribes,

and of NMFS in its recent assessment of flow data, an appendix to

its 1994-98 Biological Opinion.

The need for improved flows, while not satisfied, underlies

the Power Council's Strategy for Salmon as well. By way of

illustration, the Power Council recently presented the following

scientific hypothesis:

15
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[T]here is a relationship between flow, water velocity, fish

travel time and survival such that increasing water velocity

increases the survival of salmon and steelhead from the

onset of active downstreeun migration to adult spawner.

Improvement In the level and frequency of favorable mainstem

migration conditions for juvenile salmonids will improve

fish condition, increase migration rate, reduce exposure to

predators, and improve timing and fitness at entry to the

sea.

As a result, survival to adult recruitment will improve to

levels that, together with full implementation of other

measures in this program, will sustain recovery and

rebuilding of salmon populations.

With respect to fish barging, the Independent Peer Review

Teaun convened by the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service recently

concluded: "Transportation alone, as presently conceived and

implemented, is unlikely to halt or prevent the continued decline

and extirpation of listed species of salmon in the Snake River

Basin." Similarly, the Recovery Team concedes that the program

"has not prevented declines in survival rates or numbers of

returning adults," but "may have kept the declines from being

worse .

"

16
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To protect the river ecosystem, the choices are clear —

only flow augmentation, reservoir drawdowns, or some combination

of the two will do the job. To restore endangered salmon, the

choices are the same. We need to move more fish out of barges

and into the river. The best available science shows that

transportation alone will not recover our salmon runs.

rnnclusion

As recent polls have confirmed, the people of the Pacific

Northwest want salmon restored ~ for our economy, for our

culture, for our obligations to Indian tribes, and for our

children and grandchildren.

our legacy to future generations hangs in the balance. We

will either be known as the generation that saved the salmon or

as the generation that let them go extinct. Action must be taken

now or it will be too late for the endangered salmon of the

Columbia Basin. If we act now, and act with urgency, we can

still leave our children and grandchildren healthy salmon runs

continually leaping upstream.

17
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ATTACHMENT A:
EXCERPTS FROM COMMENTS ON SHAKE RIVER

RECOVERY FLAN RECOMMENDATIONS
(December 1993)

Governor Barbara Roberts. Oregon

I. [I]t is disappointing to find that the current draft metkes
choices and recommendations that do not reflect an
assessment of the likelihood of success or risk of failure
of those choices, p 1.

II. [B]ased on available data we could not, and should not,
justify defaulting today to transportation as a sole
strategy. That is particularly so given the fundamental
goal of the Endangered Species Act: to protect the habitat
upon which threatened and endangered species depend, which
for juvenile migrants is the river, p 1.

Governor Mike Lowrv. Washington

III. [B]ecause it was prepared under the authority of the federal
Endangered Species Act, the draft recovery recommendations
focus only on listed SnzOce River salmon. As a region, we
must continue the comprehensive approach to the restoration
of the salmon resources of the Columbia River system
outlined in the Council's plan, p 2.

IV. A regional understanding of the relationships between flow
and fish survival is central to effective recovery effoirts.
While there is disagreement within the region about the
precise nature of these relationships, both the Strategy for
Salmon and draft recovery recommendations acknowledge that
flow augmentation is needed, p 2.

V. A great strength of the draft recovery recommendations is
the recognition of the lack of effective coordination, clear
authorities, and timely implementation of fisheries
enhancement measures for the Columbia and Snake Rivers. The
current systems for fisheries management and implementation
of the Council's plans are not working. The transition of
recommendations from the Council, through the Bonneville
Power Administration to the implementing agencies, needs
reform, p 2.

VI. Many of the recovery strategies identified by the Council
and draft recovery recommendations will take years to
understand and implement. We must not wait until we have
all the answers and everything is in place before moving to
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restiore and enhance our salmon resources. Fortunately,
there are a number of other beneficial strategies —
improved flows, temperature controls, harvest restrictions,
and continued habitat improvements — that can be
effectively pursued as the region moves toward its long-
term recovery decisions, including those related to juvenile
transportation and drawdown, p 4.

Dr. Carl B. Schreck.
Oregon Cooperative Fishery Research Unit

VII. In fact, it is not a recovery plan at all. When one strips
away the background material and documentation, all that is
left is the recommendation that more committees and research
are needed so that the essential plans can be made at some
unspecified time in the future. . .The time to bite the
bullet is now! We need decisions now, and while they many
not be perfect (hopefully they can be corrected as we go
along) , at least that is better than trying to do it when
the runs are down to six fish or less, p 1.

VIII. For each recommendation in the "Draft" there needs to
be an explanation or description of "how it will be
carried out." p 2.

IX. Unless the plan gets specific, it might as well recommend
the development of fairy dust that when applied will, poof!,
return the runs to historic levels. And then, it might as
well also recommend formation of a committee to ensure that
the dust is correctly sprinkled, p 2.

X. This gets me to the subject of risk assessment. I was
svirprised that neither environmental nor genetic risk
assessments were applied to evaluate the efficacy of any of
the recommended actions, p 6.

XI. [G]iven ESA, there is now the urgent need to look at the
whole system. The recovery plan needs to address the entire
Snake/ Columbia hydrosystem to propose those interim measures
needed to prevent extinctions before the true recovery
measures are in place. For example, what are the
recommended spill and flow patterns needed for the next 5
years and are the estimates made in calculating these erring
on the side of fish? p 6.
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Ted Strong.
Columbia River Inter-Tribal Fish Coininission

XII. The approach in the draft to establishing recovery goals is

more political than biological, p 2.

XIII. The section .... should note that habitat has been
widely degraded and that salmon survival in degraded
habitat has been significantly reduced. Unless all
remaining habitat is fully protected and allowed to
recover, the runs will continue to decline, p 2.

XIV. The draft's rejection of John Day drawdown fails to take
into account the survival benefits to salmon originating
from tributaries such as the Yakima, Wenatchee, Okanogan,

Methow, and Umatilla river basins, p 3.

XV. The draft asserts that the biological benefits of a four

pool river-level drawdown of the Snake River reservoirs
compared to improved collection and transport "are similar,"

and that only these two options "have the potential to

increase survival to the extent needed." The draft's
recommendations rest heavily on the results of modeling
studies discussed above. Considering the draft's mis-
characterization of these studies, the foregoing assertions
do not withstand careful scrutiny. With such technical
infirmities underlying one of the draft's most serious
recommendations, it is clearly inadvisable to proceed "so

that the decision now must be based on economic and social

factors . " p 3

.

• If transportation actually causes reductions in survival
compared to in-river migration (a TBR less than 1:1),

increased collection and transportation may be expected to

exacerbate the decline of listed stocks. The draft wholly
overlooks this possibility, p 3.

Northwest Power Planning Council

XVI. We believe these immediate actions could minimize the risk

of failure and improve salmon survival; however, our
analysis also indicates that they will be insufficient —
even when taken together with other significant improvements

in other areas of the life cycle — to reach the rebuilding
goals set by the Council, p 7.

XVII. Accordingly, the Council said that as a matter of

urgency the region should make all necessary
preparations to implement expeditiously a number of
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additional measures: drawdown. Snake River storage and
improved water use efficiencies, p 7.

XVIII. It is important to keep in mind that, without these
measures, it appears highly unlikely that the region
can rebuild salmon populations to the levels called for
in the Council's Strategy, p 7.

XIX. We note omission of the John Day drawdown. This is one of
the measures that we believe should be implemented unless
insurmountable problems arise. ... Omitting John Day
drawdown from a salmon rehabilitation effort at this time is

inappropriate, particularly given the fact that its travel
time improvements would require some three million acre-
feet of storage if they were pursued using flow augmentation
from storage sources, p 8.

Oregon Department of Fish & Wildlife

XX. We believe that this recovery plan needs productivity and
utilization goals, an analytical framework for review and
decision-making, measurable biological objectives,
rebuilding measures with schedules and performance
standards, a structure for monitoring and evaluation, and
adaptive management flexibility. . . There is no attempt to
quantify or rank the substantial degree of risk and
uncertainty associated with most actions discussed in the
draft, p 1.

XXI. For example, there were no management scenarios which
evaluated the combination of draw down in the Snake River
and flow augmentation in the Columbia River, p 1.

XXII. Even if transport is marginally effective, it has not
halted declines in the listed stocks. From our
perspective, based on review of available information,
the risks associated with continued transportation are
greater than those associated with system changes to
improve in-river migration conditions through draw down
and flow augmentation, p 4.

XXIII. Rather than rigorously assess the merits of improving
in-river migration conditions, the Team
enthusiastically endorsed a proposal that is highly
speculative and risky. . . Should the recommended
option fail it could prove too late to restore the
natural migration route in time to recover these
stocks, because the two types of options are largely
mutually exclusive, p 4.
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Washington Departmeirts of Fisheries and Wildlife

XXrv. Spring/ summer runs were able to continue productivity
with 80 percent harvest rates prior to dam construction
beginning in the 1930s, 1960s and 1970s for Snake River
stocks. Harvest reductions occurred from the mid 1940s
to present low levels in response to declining
production most likely associated with hydro
construction, p 3.

XXV. Nowhere in the draft recovery plan does the Team discuss the
subject of modifying the way the hydrosystem is operated or
how Bonneville Power Administration markets power. Both of
these actions have a profound effect on seasonal
availability of water and could be significantly changed
without affecting the system's firm energy load capability.
Also, they could be changed without altering the physical
structure of dams themselves, p 20.

XXVI. This section needs to be completely rewritten to
clearly state the Teams 's near-term and long-term
recommendations for improving downstream passage and
their applicability to each of the listed stocks, along
with a schedule for implementation of each measure, p
20.

XXVII. The selection by the Recovery Team of an improved
collection and transportation program as the preferred
means to increase survival of downstream migrants is
exceptionally disappointing and appears to be based
upon blind faith in future technology rather than logic
and scientific reasoning, p 20.

XXVIII. Another fatal flaw of the "decision tree" is that it
utilizes survival to Bonneville without regard to the
viability of the survivors. This is incredible
considering the discussion of the exceptionally poor
smolt to adult survival rates associated with the
present transportation program . . . Smolt survival is
critical but this survival must carry through to adults
on the spawning grounds to accomplish recovery, p 22.

XXIX. The deletion of John Day drawdown appears to be based
upon the assumption of transportation as the means for
downstream passage for Snake River stocks . John Day
drawdown could provide benefits for in-river migration,
particularly for stock of Columbia River origin! Once
again the Recovery Team is proposing actions with no
specific regard for negative impacts on non-listed
stocks, p 24.
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XXX. At page VIII-22 the Recovery Team correctly documents that
the present collection and transport program has not
prevented the declines in survival rates or adult returns
which have lead to the ESA listings. An examination of the
current program raises concerns that in near average to
above average flows the implementation of transportation may
have contributed to the decline, p 24.

XXXI. Another consideration is that wild fish may be more
susceptible to crowding and disease in barges,
therefore barging may have greater negative effect on
wild stocks, p 24.

XXXII. The Recovery Team correctly states that flow
augmentation can and should play a significant role in
the improvement of downstream passage survival in the
near-term. However, they have taken a major step
backward by endorsing the storage volume based flow
augmentation utilized in 1993. Using flow targets
incorporates a base flow to build upon with
augmentation, p 26.

XXXIII. The drawdown of reservoirs is certainly not a
guaranteed solution at this point in time but it is
worthy of serious consideration because it involves
working with known quantities — the existing dams, and
there is potential to conduct meaningful evaluations in
the near future. Also, it is appropriate to recognize
that draw down is not a near-term solution and the
implementation of draw down will require substantial
modification to the dams involved. This will take
several years, but that should not disqualify this
concept from serious consideration as a long-term
solution, p 26.

XXXIV. Until improved performances can be demonstrated, we
view transportation as a means of avoiding severe
adverse outmigration conditions during low flow years
for some species, but not as a technique with general
application for all species under all flow regimes, p
28.

XXXV. These statements are nearly unfathomable! How can the
Recovery Team indicate reliance on the existing
transportation system for near-term recovery when they
have previously acknowledged that "the collection and
transport program for smolts has not prevented declines
in survival rates or numbers of returning adults." Are
they trying to tell us that recovery will be
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accomplished via continued declines in smolt to adult
survival? p 28.

Columbia Basin Fish and Wildlife Authority.
State and Tribal Analytical Team

XXXVI. The Team's analyses did not specifically investigate
any flow augmentation strategies nor did they
explicitly address this question from an indirect
approach through a systematic comparison of different
flow levels, p 1.

XXXVII. Conclusions drawn from the Team's interpretation of
modeling results in Chapter VIII appear to be driven by
their judgement that transportation is highly
effective. This is reflected in their selective
presentation of modeling results, and manipulation and
reinterpretation of these results, p 2.

XXXVIII. The Team recommended improved collection and
transportation as the preferred recovery option. . .

without any specific explanations of how to attain
sufficient improvements to recover wild salmon.
Several of the Team's generalized recommendations. . .

point to the serious problems with the current
transportation program, including crowding, stress,
disease and biological unknowns . . . p 2

.

XXXIX. Despite transporting up to 80% of the spring/summer
Chinook smolts passing Lower Granite Dam . . . the
stocks have continued to decline under average and poor

flow conditions. These declines do not support the
statement that "transportation of smolts around the

dams has significantly increased the number of adults

returning to the Snake River." p 2.

XL. The Team's review of transportation studies should have

recognized that there were serious problems with the studies

cited (page 22-23) regarding inferences to wild salmon

returns . . . p 2

.

XLI. A more comprehensive review of transportation also would

have indicated that transport to "control" ratios often

decline upstream of Bonneville Dam. The pattern is apparent

for both Snake River and mid-Columbia River stocks,

suggesting a homing problem, p 3.

XLII The effects of flow augmentation on the survival of

listed Snake River Chinook stocks was not addressed in

the Team's Plan, p 3.
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XT.TTT Unlike zhe Team's critiques of flow and draw down,
there is a noticeable absence of any discussion of the
limitations of transportation studies cited, or the
uncertainty of the inferences made by the Teaun. p 5.

XLIV. The Team has also apparently not considered that if
this highly speculative project [a fish-collecting
facility at the head of Lower Granite Reservoir] would
turn out to be successful, it would mean a drastic
change to the lower SnaJce River (and possibly lower
Columbia River) ecosystem. The near total removal of
juvenile Snake River salmon from these reaches,
accompanied by the complete shift to management of the
lower Snake and Columbia River flows for hydropower,
could have unforeseen negative impacts on remaining
populations of other animals, some of them depressed or
rare (e.g., sturgeon, lamprey, etc.). p 5.

XLV. [T]he recovery meas;ires were evaluated within the narrow
confines of economic and social constraints and not on the
basis of biological requirements for recovery and physical
constraints of the hydrosystem. p 13.

XLVI. The Recovery Teaun did not evaluate alternative
management actions with the goal of increasing instreaa
survival of migrating juvenile salmon. For example,
there were no management scenarios which evaluated the
combination of draw down in the Snake River and flow
augmentation in the Columbia River, p 13.

Idaho Departaent of Fish and Game

XLVII. [W]hile the argument is made against returning to pre-
development conditions, there is no inquiry by the
Draft into the idea of relative improvement of
migration habitat from present day conditions . p 5

.

XLVIII. It appeared the Team was unaware of ongoing activities
in the region concerning the drawdown strategy, amd has
not been active in exeuaining the potential of drawdown
and drawdown options to address several issues of
mainstem survival and the time for implementation, p
41.

XLIX. Despite the number of times the issue is mentioned or
discussed, the Team fails to state what they believe
"adequate in-river migration" conditions are. This
oversight should be addressed, p 50.
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L. According to the Teaia, they have "concentrated on a thorough
evaluation of the various elements that might contribute to
recovery of the listed Snake River species." To evaluate
implies a ranking or measuring, a judgement. We find few
evaluations in this document because the Team did not
predict biological gains from actions, or even identify the
aggregated or single actions most likely to provide
measurable benefits, p 63.

LI. The draft is contradictory and internally inconsistent for:
Failing to propose recovery actions based on scientific
information; Failing to propose recovery actions which have
some evidence to meet stated recovery goals, environmental
criteria and delisting criteria; Failing to propose actions
that reverse or ameliorate factors identified as causing
decline of the species; Applying different criteria for
improvement of spawning and rearing habitat than for
migration habitat; and for applying different time horizons
for implementation of recovery actions, p 65.

LII. . . . Petrosky (1992) found that total collection and
transportation effort (measured by numbers transported)
failed to positively relate to numbers of adult returns. We
believe this quantitative information is instructive and
should provide a reality check concerning the poor viability
of collection and transportation as a conservation and
recovery tool, p 66.

LIII. Instead of recommendations, the Teaua has provided a
cornucopia of various elements that might contribute to
recovery of listed salmon. The document is full of
choices to be made, but there is no guidance, advice,
or priority to ensure that choices are effective and
will contribute to measiurable recovery, p 71.

LTV. [T]he document and the opinions expressed are extremely
speculative and almost totally lacking in documentation or
substantiating evidence, p 71.

Federatipn of Flv Fishers

LV. Salmon cannot recover and probably will not even survive if
the dam facilities and their manner of operations are not
changed significantly and QUICKLY. Time is of the essence.
The proposed Recovery Plan envisions a go slow, cautious
approach. This is a recipe for extinction. Survival and
long term health of Snake River anadromous salmonids is
predicated upon in-river migration by adults and juveniles
alike. The Recovery Plan does not reflect this reality.
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LVI. While there is certainly room for improvements in tributary
and mainstem habitat, the Plan rejects the obvious—the
major obstacle to recovery of Snake River Salmon are the in-
river obstructions to adult and juvenile migration. All
upstream habitat could be returned to pristine condition and
Snake River salmon would still be doomed unless the Snake
dams are either removed or modified significantly. Spending
money on upstream habitat without first fixing passage
problems creates the illusions that "something is being
done" to save salmon when in reality salmon will continue
their slide to extinction. These proposals are similar to
treating a cold while a patient bleeds to death. Stop the
bleeding.

Fish Passage Center

LVII. The most serious limitation of the Plan is that it does
not include any analysis which indicates that the
listed stocks will rebuild and recover with
implementation of the Plan. p 1.

LVIII. The Draft Plan wagers recovery of listed stocks on a

concept of protection which is primarily removing the
listed stocks from their habitat. This concept of
collecting juveniles in upstream surface collectors,
collecting adults at downstream sites, and transporting
migrant in both directions is the original concept of
mitigation attempted when the system of large storage
reservoirs was first developed. The Team has come full
circle and has arrived at the unsuccessful mitigation
and protection concepts of the early 1960 's. p 1.

LIX. The data presented by the Team shows that the increase in
transportation and the decline of listed stocks occurred
concurrently. Transportation is a major perturbation of
juvenile migration. Unlike the Team's treatment of hatchery
mitigation programs, they neglected to consider the likely
possibility that the transportation of smolts mitigation
program may have contributed to the decline of listed
stocks

.

p 2.

LX. Although the Team discusses the effect of the operation and
development of the hydrosystem on anadromous fish, the Team
does not consider any modification of the present operations
to facilitate the needs of anadromous fish. The Plan simply
assumes the status quo operation of the hydrosystem and does
not consider or discuss the need or potential to change load
shape through power marketing, conservation and exchanges.

P 2.

A-10
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The Sierra Club

LXI. The draft recovery plan offers no assessment whatsoever of
the relative impacts among the various factors causing the
decline of Snake River salmon. The Team cites hydropower
development, habitat destruction, hatcheries, harvest,
disease and natural factors, but provides no guidance on
which kills most salmon. The National Marine Fisheries
Service, Northwest Power Planning Council, and even the
Bonneville Power Administration have estimated that at least
80 percent of the human-inflicted mortalities to these fish
come at the eight mainstem dams of the Lower Snake and
Columbia Rivers, p 2.

LXII. Lacking any analysis of the relative magnitude or
significance of fish mortalities, the Team presents a
long cafeteria line of recovery measures, but cannot
predict the effectiveness of those recovery actions, p
2.

LXIII. Thus the central necessary feature of any viable plan -

- a critical path to the species' recovery — does not
appear in the Team's draft recommendations, p 2.

LXIV. And consequently the Team sets priorities for recovery
actions on the basis of timeliness and/or cost rather
than measurable benefit to the salmon — an exercise in
futility because, without a rigorous foundation in
biology, any and all cost analyses of, or timeliness
for, salmon recovery become so much smoke in mirrors.

LXV. Similarly the Team fixates on the costs of its recommended
recovery plan and the proposed actions, but gives no
consideration whatsoever to the economic benefits of salmon
recovery . p 2

.

LXVI. [T]he Team ignored biological evidence and computer
modeling from agency and Tribal biologists that showed
that nearly two decades of juvenile fish transportation
out of the Snake River Basin have actually contributed
to the decline of wild salmon stocks. First, barging
and trucking smolts has its own lethal impacts.
Second, continued operation of the transportation
program has postponed any real effort to improve in-
river migration conditions, p 3.
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Rivers

LXVII. Unfortunately, specific measures, standards, and
timetables are lacking throughout the Team's
Recommendations. While they do contain informative
discussions of the nature of salmon decline, the
Recommendations do not lay out a step-by-step approach
to respond to that decline, p 1

We still do not have a critical path leading to recovery at
a definite point in time. We still do not have an analysis
indicating that recovery of Snake River salmon, which has
proven so elusive in the past, will occur under the Team's
Recommendations, p 2.

LXVIII. The Team should revise its Recommendations consistent
with the Power Council's Strategy for Salmon. It
should use the Strategy as a starting point, filling in
a critical path for implementation, including
rebuilding schedules, survival standards, and
performance standards. It should embrace the goal of
harvestable upriver runs to provide renewable, economic
benefits to the region for generations to come, p 2.

LXIX. It goes without saying that the Columbia and Snake are
no longer natural rivers in the pure sense, but that
does not mean that a more natural river is not
economically possible or biologically desirable. The
Team simply failed to fully investigate the full range
of short term and long term options for improvement of
the river ecosystem. It did not look at the full range
of flow augmentation alternatives. It did not look at
modifications to power planning, operations and
marketing, p 3.

A-12
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STATEMENT OF THANE TIENSON ON BEBALF

OF
SALMON FOR ALL,

TO THE ENVIRONMENT SUBCOMMnTEE
OF THE

HOUSE MERCHANT MARINE AND FISHERIES COMMITTEE

Hearing on the Snake River Salmon Recovery Team Final Recommendations

Washington, DC
June 30, 1994

My name is Thane Tienson, and I am testifying on behalf of Salmon for All, a nonprofit

organization representing the lower Columbia River gillnet fishing industry, including both fishing

fimiilies and fish processors, located at the mouth of the Columbia in the community of Astoria, OR,

where I was bom and raised Our associate members include an additional 130 marine suppliers,

stores, retailers and other small businesses in our community which are economically dependent

upon salmon as a resource The gillnet fishing industry is also an industry whose economic needs

must be considered every tut as relevant to this discussion as those of the Cohmibia River Alliance

and its members, ifnot more so

In feet, we are the industry most seriously and most directly affected by the destruction of salmon

in the Columbia RIvct Furthomore, the salmon fishing industry as a whole (of which the gillnetters

we represent are a part) has long been a major economic factor in the entire regional economy of the

Pacific Northwest It is not only the Columbia River gillnetters who have been affected - the loss

of Columbia River stocks has triggered major closures up and down the entire Pacific coast

(including Alaska) for the entire multi-billion dollar salmon fishing industry. Sabnon closures

caused by Columbia river declines are also on the verge of triggering an international "fish war" with

Canada The current dispute over the Pacific Salmon Treaty is also directly related to the decline of

Cohmibia River stocks because endangered north migrating Columbia River stocks are being

harvested by Canadian fishermen who are not restricted (as we are) by the Magnuson Act or the ESA

Likewise, the recent coastwide closure of the entire salmon season in the lower 48 states is also

in no small part driven by the disastrous situation in the Columbia and the need to protect these

weakest stocks when they mingle with otherwise abundant stocks.
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The Columbia was once the most productive salmon river in the world Restoration of the

Columbia Basin salmon stocks is a major key to the recovery of the whole salmon fishing industry

Major fishing closures which have already occurred cannot be reversed (and further closures in

Alaska cannot be avoided), unless and until the salmon stocks in the Columbia River system have

been fully recovered

Yes, there will be a cost required to fix the problems in the Columbia However, the cost of doing

nothing would be much higher — that price would be the ultimate destruction of the largest remaining

Chinook salmon fishery in the world, and the only one under US control The economic impact of

such a disaster on the US economy would include the loss of nearly 100,000 jobs and billions of

dollars in annual income Salmon mean jobs and dollars Without the salmon, those jobs and dollars

are gone forever

The annual cost of doing nothing to fix the Columbia River hydropower system is already

extremely high According to estimates by the Northwest Power Planning Council, the hydropower

system as cuirently constructed and operated accounts for the destruction ofbetween S million and

1 1 million salmon adult equivalents every year ' Since adult salmon can generate up to SlOO/each

in personal income impacts as they travel through the stream of commerce, this means that the

"externalized costs" of the hydropower system to the fishing industry as currently managed are

between S500 million and $1.1 billion doDars annually. This is the "cost of doing nothing" - a

price that coastal and many inland communities must pay year after year for the foreseeable fijture

until major changes in the system are made However, if even a fi^action of this economic value can

be recaptured by recovery of these stocks up to harvestable levels, the total "economic dividend"

returned to the region would be more than enough to Justify the one-time costs of major system

reconstruction. Furthermore, this economic dividend would continue to come into the region year

after year - while the costs of retrofitting the hydropower system must be paid out only once.

Hydropower reform is therefore not a "cost" so much as it is a capital investment in the economic

fiiture ofour industry which will generate more regional jobs and income and increase the economic

stability of our coastal communities The Colimibia River gillnetters have long been advocates of

1 Northwest Power Planning Council Puhbcitixm Strategyfor Salmon. Vol. 2. pg. 17

2
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conservation and protection of these stocks In fact, no single industry has done more or given up

more for the sake of conservation than we have There is in fact no directed harvest anywhere in the

Columbia on any ESA listed stocks, nor has there been in many years. Yet today there are fewer

fish in the river than when all directed harvests on these listed stocks were stopped Therefore

harvest is not the cause of these declines, nor is regulation of harvest going to lead to a solution The

crash of these stocks is caused by the dams themselves and how they are operated, and it is the dams

themselves (and their mismanagement) that must be fixed. This &ct must sooner or later be faced:

on average, 90% or more of all human-induced mortality in the Columbia and Snake River

systems is caused by the hydropower dams, as compared to less than 5% attributable to all

commercial, sport and tribal fishing combined. ^ Congress will get far more "bang for its bucks"

by once and for all fixing the hydropower system than by any other option

The fishing industry has done its part and then some It is now time for other industries to pony

up their share of this efifort, including those industries (such as the aluminum industry), which

receive massive federal subsidies in cheap power from the system Today the Northwest's power is

often considered the cheapest in the nation However, once you figure in the "externalized"

environmental damage and increased social costs of this damage, you will soon arrive at the true

costs created by an artificially distorted rate structure The true costs of that "cheap power" has been

tens ofthousands of fishing jobs and billions of dollars of personal income impacts lost every year,

not to mention the tens of millions of dollars more each year now required for increased social

services to help remedy the human sufiFering this destruction has caused ' Once these real costs

have been figured in, it may well be that the Northwest has the most expensive power in the nation.

2. Estmute of himun-tiKtaced mortality from Oregon Dept of Fish Sl WikUife.

3 Coastal communities in our area report poverty levels tave risen in jast tbe past two years from 40% to

90% Bank foreclosures on boats and hemes have nseo drainaticaUy Equipment capital investments m boats now have

little or no maiket value A giUn^ penmt that would have been worth $50,000 as recently as 1988 now has httle or no

economic value The economic cost m terms of mcrsased social services required to deal with increased family stress,

drinking, domestic violence and other similar problems linked to unemployment has put increasing burdens on local

c<xiimuiiities while tax revenues needed to pay for these services are at an all-time low
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because it has been built on the blood and sufTering of our coastal communities/

The Bevan Report is in our view merely a way to justify continuing to do nothing of any

consequence to change the system itself It relies heavily on artificial transportation programs which

have recently been shown to have little scientific justification, and in feet may be doing more harm

than good The Bevan Report largely dismisses the body of evidence that supports flow

augmentation as a means for increasing survival rates by flushing the fish away fi'om the turbines, thus

avoiding turbine mortality Turbines have a far greater negative impact (10-20*/o mortality) than

observed mortalities (0-3%) resulting fi^om spill programs ' What is fer worse, the Bevan Report

blames the beleagered fishermen for losses of salmon when the real blame belongs with the

hydropower system itself While there is some good in it, the majority of the recommendations are,

in feet, a step backwards -- no more than minor tweakings of the system of the type which have

already been discredited in US Ehstrict Court as inadequate, insuflBciem and ineffective and which are,

in turn, based heavily on a discredited 1993 NMFS Biological Opinion which has already been

thrown out of Court as "arbitrary and capricious
"*

4 AcGOnliiij: to ofonnitioo cited m i recent Canjressionil report "BPA at i Crossroids' ( Miy. 1994). b>- llie

specud BPA T»si Force ( Coogresanm Peto Defszio. Chiir) to the House Comminee on Nitiml Resources, the ihnnmum

UKtostn IS subsidized b> BPA to the tune of about $15 nullionmiaBth (SI": ouUionATV and the water nngalors m tbe

Cohanbu me subsidizai b>' BPA to about another $59 imlboii/>T For compansou. the entire federal relief ptogram for the

Pacific coast sabnon mdnstr> recenth declared by ihe Dept of Commerce is $15 7 milboo - about what the federal

govenmient pv-es away to these other two oxfaistnes m federal subsidies each month.

5 Tuibme mortalm- is known to be between 10-20% for each dam. multipbed b> 8 dams ( see Northwest

Power Plannmf Council ( 1 986) 'Compilatioa of mformatioa on sabnon and steelhead losses m the Columbia River

Basm " 252 pages and appendices. Detaikd Fish Operatmg Plan (DFOP) with 1994 Operatmg; Cnteiu (1993) 44

pages and appendices, by Cohnnbia Basm Indian Tribes and the State and Federal Fish A WiJdhfe Agencies) Turbine

mortalm- is tbe leadmg cause of salmon destruction m the hjdropowei s>stem. and increased spills and otha flow

augmenution programs are effective because the>- guide outmigratmg smolts awa>- from die tuibmes. Am- s»nd> of

comparative risks from such spill programs has to be a comparison between die 0-3% mortabtv due to mtrogen

supersatnration (so calkd "gas bubble disease") vctsus the known 10-20% mottahtv which would otherwise result m

the tmbmes An> reasonable comparison of the two puts spdls head and shouktes above other options for increasmg

outmigrant survival rates.

6 Idaho Dept ofFish & Game vs SMFS. ei. al.. US District Court (Oregon) No 92-973-MA (lead case) -

Opmkn of Judge Marsh 3/28/94 as discussed elsewhere in the text of this sutemeot
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Fishing Impacts Play a Very Minor Role Compared to Hydropower Turbine Losses

Snake river spring chinook are an ESA listed fish There has been no directed commercial

fishery on snake over spring chtnook since 1977. What few of these listed fish are caught in gillnets

are those few which are strays accidentally caught when fishing on the healthy runs of spring

Chinook which come fi-om the Willamette River (and to a lesser degree ft^om the Sandy, Cowlitz,

Kalama and Lewis rivers) — almost all of which are hatchery in origin Very few threatened or

endangered fish are taken in the small gillnet season still remaining in the Columbia, and every eflFort

has been made by the industry to avoid catching them even by accident Any activities which may

result in an "incidental take" of any of these protected fish are subjected to full scrutiny by several

agencies and cannot proceed if they are deemed to pose a significant risk to the continued existance

of the species

Gillnets are used instead of other gear in the Columbia River, just as they are in the Fraser River

and Bristol Bay, Alaska and other healthy fisheries throughout the worid because they are the most

easy controlled and directed, and are the best gear to very precisely target the fish desired — and

therefore most completely avoid the fish that should not be caught This selective avoidance strategy

is highly successfiil In feet, fer more ESA listed fish are "harvested" by the dams than by fishermen

To give some real-life examples of the disproportionate impact of the dams versus harvesters, refer

to the following table:

Comparbion
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commercialfishing on them stopped in 1977. This fact alone should tell you that the real cause of

these declines is elsewhere — the hydropower dams themselves, as well as quite possibly the barging

and other surface transportation programs now suspected of actually contributing to (rather than

reversing) these declines In any event, after all these years with no season but with continued

declines, it should at least be clear that there is no causal link between commercial fishing and these

declines Little if anything can therefore be gained by additional restrictions on fishermen Since

there is no season, there is no season to close down

The Cohmtbia River gillnet season is probably the most studied and most regulated fishery in the

entire country The commercial spring chinook season must now be approved not only by NMFS,

but also by the Fish and Wildlife agencies of both Oregon and Washington, and by Tribal fisheries

managers as well It is strictly enforced by law enforcement authorities on both sides of the river as

well as Tribal law enforcement oflBcers All commercial catch must be registered with the states

before the fish can go to consumers Regardless of catch, no commercial fishing is allowed after

March 10th ofeach year specifically in order to protect the Snake River wild chinook which start to

migrate into the river in significant numbers only after that date

Focussing on harvesters is really just blaming the victim for the crime The crime itself is being

committed every day by the hydropower turbines, which grinds up millions offish every year to the

detriment of fishing communities throughout the region Comparing turbine mortality rates of 10-

20% per dam with fishing mortality rates of S% makes it clear - twice to four times as many fish

are killed at each dam as in aO sport, commercial and tribal fishing combined for the whole

river. There are also eight dams which these fish must survive

There is clearly a hidden agenda underlying the reason the Columbia River Alliance (CRA) and

its industrial members support the total elimination of the last remaining portions of the Columbia

River gillnet industry CRA is a front organization for the aluminum industry and other major power

users who are also heavily subsidized by BPA at taxpayer expense CRA is by no stretch of the

imagination a "conservation organization" as they would have you believe, and it certainly has no

interest in restoring salmon to harvestable levels because that would mean changing the status quo

and reforming the hydropower system to protect salmon — refonns which would require economic

contributions to salmon recovery fi'om other industries (such as the aluminum industry) for the first
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time and may also cut into their extremely lucrative federal subsidies By advocating the elimination

ofthe gillnetters (through such programs as mandatory buyouts and other measures favored by the

Bevan Committee), they hope to eliminate their chief political opposition and well as the chief

proponents for making real changes in the system itself

Recovery costs can only be recaptured by maintaining an economically viable fishing

industry to help defray the costs

Salmon mean jobs Salmon mean income not only for coastal communities dependent upon

commercial fishing, but also for many inland communities heavily dependem upon recreational

fishing to attract tourist dollars Salmon also mean tax revenues for local communities to help

support schools and public services In the midst of biological considerations, let's not forget what

recovery should be for — the restoration of the fishing industry. Any recovery that results only in

"museum piece" streams but which does not result in a harvestable surplus offish or a restored fishing

industry must be deemed a Mure which would only perpetuate and make permanent the current net

economic loss to society as a whole

The Bevan Team admittedly never deals with economic or social issues They felt that such

considerations were outside their charge However, these issues must be dealt with nevertheless as

a matter of public policy

Supposedly, the Bevan Team devoted themselves to technical and scientific issues, including the

best fishing gear to use for salmon in the Columbia river Yet, no fisherman was even consulted by

the Recovery Team The report evidences this failing most clearly when calling for the employment

of selective gear for live capture ~ implicitly suggesting a return to the use of traps and fishwheels

used on the river in the early part of the century, before the dams forever changed the river's

hydrology. These traps also relied heavily on large hooks to kill seals and sea lions that constantly

raided traps Traps were buih on pilings, many in the middle of the river, and owned by large

corporate interests Suffice it to say, the river has changed, society has changed, and the law has

changed Indeed, traps and fishwheels are now illegal in both Oregon and Washington

The primary reason that gillnets are still used today in the Columbia River by both Indian and non-

Indian fishermen is that they are the most selective means of fishing for salmon Gillnets always
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produced more than all the other methods of capture combined, and are still the most widely used

fishing gear found on the West Coast Their effectiveness, low cost, high-volume of catch per unit

effort, selectivity, and flexibility remain unsurpassed by any other form of gear All evidence indicates

tht the gillnet is the most flexible tool we have developed to date for in-river harvest, and there is

absolutely no evidence that it can be replaced with anything better

Moreover, the elimination of the gillnet fishery, as proposed by the Bevan Team, removes the

incentive to address the curious environmental problems created by dam and irrigation agriculture

The existing fishery's management regime, on the other hand, is one of weak stock managmem in

mixed-stock fisheries This existing system provides an enormous incentive to protect habitat to

enhance weak stocks so that they will support more selective harvest.

In addition, selective harvest, as proposed by the Bevan Team, fails to deal with the issues of

handling stress, marketability and disposition of the remainder of the catch, cost of method of

capture, ownership of method of capture, return on investment, all the fishers displaced fi'om other

fisheries, riparian ownership, and environmental factors involved in selective harvesting. In sum, the

Bevan Report's most glaring weakness is that portion of the plan dealing with harvest

There is no doubt that a substantial investment will be required to take the steps necessary to

reform the hydropower system and restore the river system ecologically. However, we must not

forget that every increase in salmon production from the Columbia River system will translate into

more fish available for commercial harvest This means more food on Amercia's tables, more jobs

and more income for the Northwest This economic dividend will help to defray the costs

incurred in the recovery eflbrt. This would be the case, however, only if in the recovery process

we encourage and maintain a viable fishing industry The Bevan Committee recommendations for

almost the total elimination ofthe Cohmibia River fishery thus make no economic sense whatsoever

If there is no longer to be a fishery, how will the economic costs ofhyropower system reform ever

be recovered by society at large?
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The Bevan Report relies on bu-ging and other artifida] salmon transportation systems which
have no demonstrated efTectiveness - and may themseKes be a leading cause of decline*

Barging and tiucking salmon around the dams began in 1968 as a shon-tenn expenemeni, and has

increased in scope almost every year since then However, these anificial transporution methods

have never been subjected to NEPA analysis (the program began before NEPA was passed into law

and was "grandfathered" in) nor have they been systematically studied

In 1993 a suit was brought in US District Court in Oregon against NMFS, the Army Corps of

Engineers and others to require fliU NEPA analysis of artificial transportation This suit was

successful, and the US District Court (Judge Marsh) order a full ^fEPA analysis to be done ' In

re^ronse to that court order, NMFS recently commissioned an independent scientific peer review of

the scientific rationale for barging and other artificial salmon transportation programs This study

(the "Mundy Report," after the Chairman of the review team, Dr Phillip Mundy, Ph D ), was

coincidentally also released in May, 1994, at about the same time as the final Sevan Committee

Report The Mundy Report is not cited in the literature referenced in the Bevan Report, and

apparently its findings were not iiKluded in the data analyzed by the Bevan Team.

After looking at all the data supporting artificial transportation, the Mundy independent review

team concluded:

"As presently conceived and implemeirted, transportation is unlikely to halt or prevent

continued decline and extirpation of listed species of salmon in the Snake River Basin
"

While acknowleging that there was some evidence that transportation may have some positive

impacts in very low flow years or for some species (such as steelhead, which is not ESA listed), the

Review Team could find little evidence to support the presumption that Uansportation was justified

under most circumstances, and also found evidwice that in some cases transportation may have a

rSonhwtU Environmental Defense CenUr.eLoL vs. \M^. «. a/. . (USDC - C«; No. 93-870-MA). Judge

Marsh stated m his final opinion that case as foUows: "It is at this poml that I ultmutel)' find thai the CC« [Coips of

Engmeeisl ftiled m its NEPA obligatioas in 1 993 From (he record before me, I find that the COE has spent ahnosJ all of

Its research and refonn efforts on improvements m the transportation program itself - improvements m strocture such as

coUection and b\pass facilities and improvements m flow to aid collection. I find that the COEs failure to significantly

analyze' transport impacts and ahematives WTthm the 1993 SEIS for flow nnprovement measures is arbitrary, capricious

and not m accordance with the law Based on the foregomg, I find that the COE acted arbitrarily and capriciously widi

respect to Its 1 993 NEPA anal>sis of flow measure improvements " (Opinion of 12/22/93)
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negative impact instead of a positive one:

"However, wider passage conditions associated with higher nverflows than those of 1973

and 1977, the responses of relative survivals ofspring summer chinook to transportation

may be equivocal, andpossibly negative, with overall higher survivalsfor both transported

and untransported salmon.

"[Without better information} the utility of transportationfor recovery ofESA listed can not

be objectivelyjudged While juvenile salmon transportation may not be discounted as a

recovery measure, the factual basis is now insufficient to determine the relative efficacy of

transportation as a mitigative measure for recovery of salmon populations listed as

threateded and endangered in the Snake River Basin. When the transportation option is

exercised, it must be recognized as an experimental measure...

"Stock-specific assessments of survivals of transported salmon relative to survival of

untransported salmon are not possiblefrom the studies sofar conducted
"*

Put bluntly, barging and other artificial transportation methods have for many years been little more

than a smokescreen for doing nothing of any real substance to change a fatally flawed hydropower

system Programs like this should be seen in their true light - as little more than shots in the dark

with very little scientific justification In feet the Mundy Report itself states:

"Available evidence is not sufficient to identify transportation as either a primary or

supporting method ofchoicefor salmon recovery in the Snake River Basin
" '

In light of the Mundy Report, it is appalling that the Bevan Committee relied so heavily on barging

and other transportation boondoggles as the primary recovery strategy.

The only fish that have ever been shown to benefit from barging are steelhead, not salmon Any

fisherman can tell you that chinook salmon, in particular, are fer more delicate than steelhead The

Bevan Report terms the Columbia River a "migration corridor " The term is indicative of the

mentality of Dr Bevan and his cohorts who drafted the report, and who called for the creation of a

Sahnon Oversi^t Committee staflfed by themselves and other "prestigious" academics In fact, the

care and detail Dr Bevan and company devoted to deliberations of the makeup of this new layer of

"8. P. R. Mundy. et. al.. Transportation ofJuvenile Sabnomds from Hydroelectric Project! in the Columbia

River Basin: An Independent Peer Review (NUy. 1994) Quotes from Coochiskns, pp. 116 & 118.

9 Mondv Repott ibid.. Execntive Summary (pg riii)

10
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govenunent, their "executive" compensation and sabbaticals, stands in stark contrast to their self-

styled quest for the "cheapest and best way" to further reduce fishing, and their complete insensitivity

to the plight of fishermen, fishing-dependent femilies, and the coastal and river communities whose

lives and futures they so cavalierly ignore

The Columbia River is not a "migration corridor " It is a river, a complex ecosystem, and if

salmon stand any chance of being recovered, it can only occur if we treat them as living creatures

dependent upon a river with decent spawning and rearing habitat, and the ability to swin to sea and

return to spawn without experiencing 90+% mortality from the hydrosystem

Flow augmentation programs are effective and have subsUntial scientific support

but are largely discounted by the Bevan Committee

The Bevan Report does recommend drawdowns of the Lower Snake River Reservoirs to either

near spillway crest or to river level, and we support these recommendations In emphasizing

transportation, however, the Bevan Team de-emphasizes flow augmentation needs throughout the

rest of the system

The principal concern with spilling water over the dams is the potential for superstaturation of

water with nitrogen. At sustained high levels, nitrogen supersaturated water can cause nitrogen gas

bubbles in the circulatory systems offish and ultimately impair survival - essentially giving them the

fish equivalent of what we call "the bends" in humans, and what is technically referred to as "gas

bubble trauma (GBT)" However, nitrogen supersaturation is usually not fatal to fish In fact, a

certain amount of nitrogen supersaturation occurs naturally, and fish have evolved mechanisms to

avoid it or to reduce its impact on their systems The eCFect is also diminshed as fish swim deeper,

since at greater depths the increased water pressure helps contain the excess nitrogen and allows the

fish to dissipate it naturally Most fish automatically dive deeper (or "sound") when they take on

excess gas as a natural mechanism to avoid gas bubble trauma.

Studies have demonstrated a clear correlation between higher survival rates fi-om smolt to adult

and increased flow within the river When faster flows occur, outmigrating smolts avoid predators

better and reach the sea much sooner Furthermore, properly timed intentional spills over the dams

help outmigrants by flushing them around the turbines (thus avoiding 10-20% turbine mortality rate)

11
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and moving them downstream to safety '" The real issue in judging the effectiveness of such spill

programs is to ask the question whether the chances for survival are better in the turbines or with a

slight chance ofGBT In most cases, turbine mortality would be much greater

Recently NMFS designed and implemented (with other agencies) an emergency spill program to

help increase outmigrant smolt survival That program was able to keep nitrogen supersaturation

levels to 12W^o or below - not only well below the range of serious side eflfects, and also well below

the average ofsupersaturation levels resultingfrom incidental spillsjust the year before by random

chance. Spills ofwater over the dams occur all the time — whenever there is less power being drawn

by consumers than produced by the turbines (as for instance during summer months), or when rains

bring higher levels of inflow than can be stored In fact, levels of^ill which occurred in 1994

during thisprogram were of considerably less volume than those that occurred in 1993 because of

naturally high runo^ levels. No signs of impacts from GBT are generally observed until levels of

supersaturation reached levels far in excess of the 120% cap for the 1994 emergency spill program

Even at these maximum allowed levels any observable eflFects were minor Extensive studies at

mainstem dams throughout the basin document that juvenile mortality from spills ranges from 0-3% —

far less impact than the 10-20% immediate mortality observed from letting the fish go through the

turbines instead " Spilling programs are neither new nor radical - spilling water over the dams is

done every year Why not do it at a better time and use these spills to benefit the fish?

"

10. Snns.C W , aiKiF.JOssuiider(I981). Migrations ofjuvenile chinook salmon and suelhead trout in

the Snake Riverfront 1973 lo 1979, a research summary Report dated June 1 98 1 CoasUl Zone and Estnanne

Studies Division. Northwest and Alaska Fisbenes Center, NMFS, Seattle, WA [SS/UI A.2]

1 1 See Northwest Power Planning Council (1986). ibid [see note 5). Ra>Tnond. HL (1988) " Effects of

hvdroelectnc devekipiDent and fisitenes enhanoement on spring and snmmer chmook sahnon and steelbead m the Cohimbia

RivCT BasBi" NorOt .American Journal ofFisheries Managemem. Vol 8 (1-24). Hohnes. H B ( 1 952) " Loss of sahnoo

fingerbngs m passmg Bonneville Dam as detenmnedby markmg expenments " Unpublished manuscript. US Fish &
Wildhfe Service 62 pages Ledgerwood. RD.et al (1990) "Relative somval of subyearling chinook which have passed

BoanevtUe Dan via the spillway or the Second Powerhouse turbines or bypass system m 1989.with compaiisoos to 1987

and 1988 " Unpublished mannscnpt; Iwamoto. Robert N . et al ( 1993) "Survival estnnates for the passage of juvenile

chinook sahnon through Snake River dams and reservoffs. 1993 " Annual report to Bonneville Power Administration.

Coastal Zone & Estuanne Studies Division. Northwest Marine Science Center, NMFS. Seattle. WA Draft report 140

12
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The Bcvan Committee recommeodatioos do no go far enough toward changing the system

In general, these recommendations are aiming at the wrong targets Minor fixes of the system an

dmore barging will not solve the problem The Bevan Team suffered from the same unwillingness

to look at the full range of options that caused Judge Marsh to throw out the 1993 Biological

Opinion (in which NMFS overruled its own scientific staff recommendations to adopt a "no

jeopardy" ruling for the hydropower system as a whole) In Judge Marsh's opinion, after lengthy

analysis of the NMFS 1993 Biological Opinion, he noted:

"NMFS has dearly made an effort to create a rational, reasonedprocessfor determining

how the action agencies are doing in their efforts to save the listed salmon species. But the

process is seriously, 'significantly, 'flawed because it is too heavily geared towards a status

quo that has allowed allforms of river activity to proceed in a deficit situation - that is.

relatively small steps, minor improvements and adjustments — when the situation literally

cries out for a major overhaul. Instead of looking for what Qisi be done to protect the

speciesfromjeopardy, NMFS and the action agencies have narrowlyfocussed their attention

on what the establishment is capable ofhandling with minimal disruption... [I]find that

defendants' 1993 Biological Opinion on Hydropower Operations is arbitrary and capricious

and otherwise not in accordance with the meaning and underlyng purposes of the

Endangered Species Act, Sec. 7(a)(2), with respect to the chosenjeopardy standard and their

consideration ofreasonable andprudent alternatives to avoidjeopardy. "
'^

The same problem is carried over here — these recommendations simply do not go far enough and

amount to only fairly minor changes of a system that "cries out for a major overhaul " Its time to

admit that the system itself has created this biological disaster and get on with the costs of the

changes that must sooner or later be made.

Conclusion and summary

To summarize, the chief problems with the Bevan Committee's recommendations are as foQows

(1) Overemphasis on artificial transportation programs which have little demonstrated scientific

validity or efficacy,

(2) Too little emphasis on spill and other flow augmentation programs which we know are

effective and which are already a well worked out tool for better fish management;

12 Idaho Dept ofFish & Game vs. MMFS. et al. (USDC-OR No 92-973-MA), Opinion of Judge Marsh,

March 28, 1994.

13
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(3) Overemphasis on further fisheries restrictions when it is not the fisheries that are the problem,

(4) OveralL these proposals are simply very minor "tweakings" of a hydropower system that can

and should be more fijndamentally modified,

(5) Finally, the whole stated goal of the program is merely to maintain "self sustaining

populations" and no more The recovery goal should be to reestablish and restore a viable fishery

by providing harvestable surpluses While this may be a higher standard than simply "fi-eezing in" the

current severely degraded status quo, ultimately only by restoring a viable and economically

productive fishery will any of the costs of these efforts ever be recovered

14
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aOREGON TROUT
TESTIMONY ON THE

RECOMMENDATIONS OF THE SNAKE RIVER SALMON
RECOVERY TEAM

BEFORE THE HOUSE COMMITTEE
ON MERCHANT MARINE AND FISHERIES

June 30, 1994

By Bill M. Bakke
Director of Resource Conservation

I. INTRODUCTION:

Oregon Trout is the lead petitioner for the three races of

Chinook in the Snake River listed under the Endangered Species

Act (ESA) . Our intent, in taking this action, is to recover

these salmon before they become extinct. These native salmon

populations represent what is left of the largest Chinook runs on

the West Coast of North America. These salmon are an ecological

treasure that, once lost, cannot be replaced. However, they

could once again contribute to the economic and ecological

vitality of the region, given effective recovery action.

The failure of state, federal and tribal agencies to manage

these runs and their habitats for continued productivity has

resulted in their listing under the ESA. Salmon management has

largely been focused on commodity production rather than

maintaining the productivity of a diverse ecosystem. Yet, the

listed Snake River chinook and sockeye salmon are among many

salmon populations from central California to the Canadian border

that could be listed under the ESA. Petitions to list coho

salmon, steelhead, and cutthroat trout are pending. According to

the American Fisheries Society, a professional scientific

organization, there are at least 214 stocks of native anadromous

To Protect anil Restore Native Fish and their Ecosystems ^w
Water Tower Building • 5331 S.W. Macadam • Suite 228 • Portland, Oregon 97201 • (503) 222-9091 • FAX (503) 222 9187

83-191 0-94-9
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salmon and trout that are at risk of extinction. The entire

anadromous and resident salmonid ecosystem is at risk. The Snake

River salmon populations are only the tip of what is already an

ecological disaster. The problems confronting the Columbia River

salmonid populations are not unique in western North America.

II. SUMMARY OF OBSTACLES TO RECOVERY

• The natural productivity of the salmon ecosystem is severely

degraded.

• Productivity of coho salmon has declined by 90%.

• Columbia Basin productivity has declined by 97%.

• The 130 year legacy of salmon management strongly suggests

it is a failure and requires total reform. This failure is

due to the predominate focus on commodity production rather

than maintaining a productive ecosystem and the evolutionary

potential of the species.

• Land, water, and fish management agencies have conflicting

and competing missions.

• While the region plans to spend more than $350 million on

Columbia River salmon recovery per year, there is still no

goal^-

• There is no agreement among managers to protect native

salmon populations and their ecosystems.

• There is no coordinated policy to conserve genetic and life

history variation and evolutionary potential of salmon.

• There is no institutional means or technical e:<pertise

assembled to establish a strategy or collect the information

needed to conserve native salmon populations.

• There is no single authority to implement salmon recovery

measures and evaluate the results.

III. RESPONSE TO COMMITTEE QOESTIOMS ABOUT THE SNAKE RIVER

RECOVERY TEAM PLAN

Oregon Trout reviewed the Draft Recovery Plan and submitted

detailed comments (Attachment A). We answer the committee's

questions on the Recovery Plan based on those comments.
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A. Question # 1:

While Oregon Trout made many critical comments on the draft

recovery plan, we concluded that it was the first full life cycle

salmon plan and therefore we generally support it. The only

other life cycle plan is the Strategy For Salmon recently adopted

by the Power Planning Council, but the Council lacks authority to

implement its plan. The strengths of the Recovery Plan are: (a)

it provides a single authority and accountability in the National

Marine Fisheries Service (NMFS) for salmonid recovery coastwide;

(b) it establishes a Scientific Oversight Committee so the

recovery measures are scientifically driven and evaluated; and

(c) it sets sound delisting criteria. Without a recovery plan

the region will continue to perpetuate the problems that caused

the salmon to be listed.

The weaknesses of the Recovery Plan are its reliance upon

technological intervention such as hatchery propagation and smolt

transportation. Based on our review of the scientific

literature, we view hatchery supplementation as an untested

theoretical experiment that should not be broadly applied until

evaluated. Any funding should be directed at evaluation of this

experimental design and aimed at risk containment. Further,

transportation can only be one of the tools used to aid in

juvenile migration; it must be used in combination with spill,

flow and other methods.

Another major weakness is that the Recovery Plan does not

establish an institutional mechanism or commitment that is

specific to the recovery of natural stocks. This is evident from

the absence of a natural production strategy in the Recovery

Plan. We also believe the NMFS is unable, under present funding

and staffing, to effectively execute the Recovery Plan. We also

believe that NMFS has been a participant in west coast salmon

decline and therefore currently lacks the vision that will carry

it beyond the status quo. Finally, NMFS cannot, by itself,

recover the salmon without the institutional commitment of other

federal and state agencies to solve the salmon habitat problems.
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will the Recovery Plan lead to recovery of these stocks?

First, the Recovery Plan is experimental; it must be treated as a

scientific experiment and is therefore uncertain. Secondly, we

know for certain that without a plan the region is unable, on its

own, to solve this complex and integrated problem.

B. Question # 2:

Other existing proposals that would increase the likelihood

of recovery are Pacfish and FEMAT. They establish habitat

conditions that would maintain the productive capacity of

salmonids on federal lands. We need to expand these proposals to

include non-federal lands. Oregon's wild fish policy could also

assist in recovery especially if this policy were adopted and

implemented by other states in the region. For example, the state

of Washington is developing a Wild Salmon Policy. These state

policies aimed at recovery measures for wild salmon and trout

populations will help to recover a multitude of populations that

are already in the ESA pipeline. The Power Council's Strategy

For Salmon should be incorporated into the Recovery Plan,

especially section 6.2a which deals with the recovery of natural

salmon populations.

Other actions that should be taken include the following:

1. Develop a national policy for the conservation of native

fish fauna diversity.

2. Cause each hatchery operating with federal funds to comply

with the National Environmental Policy Act. All hatcheries

should be licensed so that periodic public review is

provided.

3. Implement enforcement and monitoring of non-point pollution

standards.

4. Reauthorize the Magnuson Fishery Conservation Act to

specifically address meeting standards to provide spawner

escapement to maintain the productive capacity of each

stock, and thereby the salmon resource as a whole.

3. Restructure hydro dam mitigation to fund biological

inventory and habitat protection rather than replace wild

4 '
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salmon with hatchery fish.

6. Discontinue transportation by truck since the fish that

are transported in this way are unable to imprint

effectively. They become lost and stray into other

watersheds, spreading diseases and disrupting the

adaptive capacity of local gene pools.

C. Question #3:

What should be the essential elements of the final Recovery

Plan adopted by NMFS? First, the plan should be driven by

science and scientific evaluation. It is important to make a

distinction between science and process and establish a specific

role for both elements in the plan. The Scientific Oversight

Committee would establish this. . Second, a priority must be

placed on completing an inventory of the natural biological

diversity of salmonids on the entire west coast. This data can

then be used to evaluate the various management and recovery

experiments. This would allow the agencies and the public to

conduct adaptive management and even describe success. The

Recovery Plan lacks this essential element. Third, the priority

for management and recovery actions should be placed first on

native, natural populations of salmonids, since it is the

recovery of these populations that we are all held accountable to

under the ESA. The Recovery Plan lacks a specific strategy for

recovery of natural, native populations of salmonids.

IV. CONCLUSION:

In conclusion, the nation and the Northwest region of the

United States risk losing a culturally and ecologically important

asset and an economically important commodity. The region lacks

a coherent health plan for native salmonids, a health plan that

is imbedded institutionally both among and within federal and

state land, water and fish management agencies. Salmon,

steelhead, and trout of the west will continue to decline until

extinct unless a holistic health care plan based on the genetic

and lifecycle needs of wild, natural salmonid populations.
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GUIDING PRINCIPLES
OF SALMON AND TROUT

CONSERVATION

THE PRODUCTIVITY OF WILD SALMON AND TROUT
POPULATIONS MUST BE MAINTAINED AND INCREASED

THE EXTINCTION OF ANY WILD SALMONID POPULATION IS AN
IRREVERSIBLE LOSS OF GENETIC RESOURCES.

MANAGEMENT ACTIONS MUST MAINTAIN THE GENETIC
STRUCTURE AND LIFE HISTORY CHARACTERISTICS OF
POPULATIONS AND THEIR EVOLUTIONARY POTENTIAL.

THE UNIT OF CONSERVATION IS THE POPULATION.

HABITAT RESTORATION MUST RECLAIM THE LINKAGE
BETWEEN THE LIFE HISTORY NEEDS OF THE ANIMAL AND ITS

HABITAT.

THE INDUSTRIAL MODEL OF RESOURCE MANAGEMENT
DEFEATS CONSERVATION

WATERSHEDS ARE THE STOREHOUSE OF GENETIC MATERIAL
AND GENE CONSERVATION IS THE FUNDAMENTAL CONCERN.

WE CANNOT AFFORD TO LOSE ANY MORE SALMONID
BIODIVERSITY.
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COLUMBIA RIVER SALMON
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Committee on Merchant Marine and Fisheries
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Chairman Studds, Members of the Committee, my name is Al Wright. I am the Executive

Director of the Pacific Northwest Utilities Conference Committee (PNUCC). PNUCC is

a non-profit association of public and private electric utilities and direct service industries

in Oregon, Washington, Idaho and N^ontana. We represent the three major Bonneville

Power Administration customer groups on regional power and environmental issues. I

appreciate the opportunity to express our views on the final recommendations of the

Snake River Salmon Recovery Team.

There are only two legitimate recovery plans on the table for recovering endangered

salmon stocks. One is the Northwest Power Planning Counclls's 1994 Fish and Wildlife

Program, developed under the auspices of the Northwest Power Act. The second is the

Snake River Salmon Recovery Team's Final Recommendation to the National Marine

Fisheries Service (NMFS) completed in May 1994. This Recovery Plan was developed by

seven credible scientists appointed by NMFS under the Endangered Species Act.

We believe that both plans have merit. From the beginning of the Recovery Team's work,

PNUCC has been willing to support a plan developed by seven objective scientists. We

were willing to give it a chance to work and endorsed the plan before we even saw it

because we believe that a plan based on sound biology Is our only chance of saving the

salmon. That position remains unchanged. We believe the Recovery Team's

recommendations are grounded In science and will lead to recovery of the stocks.

No plan, however, will recover the salmon stocks overnight There are simply no

overnight fixes. It will take time. One of the most Important things the region needs now

1
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is patience. We need to put a plan in place and leave it alone long enough to let it work.

And while the plan is in place, we need good monitoring and evaluation.

The Recovery Team's Plan takes into account a comprehensive, broad-based approach

and covers the "4-Hs" -- Habitat^ Harvest, Hatcheries and Hydro. Any credible and

effective plan must have these elements which address each life stage of the salmon.

Both the Recovery Team's recommendations and the Council's Program include them and

the final recovery plan should meld the key components of the two plans.

PNUCC cannot ignore the long-term economic impacts. We are currently spending $350

million a year on fish recovery and any recovery plan will be far more expensive. So as

we implement the Recovery Plan we need to figure out just what are the long-term

impacts and what can be done to abate them. One suggestion from us is to redirect

existing money now being spent on lower priority fish and wildlife activities and re-invest

it on sound Recovery Plan measures. This will require a detailed and "hard-nosed" review

of our existing Fish and Wildlife expenditures.

One thing that can be done immediately is for NMFS to adopt the Recovery Plan's

recommendation to form a Scientific Oversight Committee. We have a recent example of

NMFS doing just this and it was a success. NMFS formed an international panel of

experts to resolve a controversial issue of fish mortality caused by nitrogen

supersaturation levels from spill. These scientists reviewed up-to-the-minute monitoring

reports and recommended actions to NMFS based on their conclusions. This is a good

example for the future.

2
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We all need to commit to a scientifically based recovery Plan and have the patience to

let it work. Once it is in place we must continue to monitor and evaluate its effectiveness.

But let's stop playing with "warring plans" and adopt one, marry the Team's

recommendations to the Council's Fish and Wildlife Program and get on with salmon

recovery.
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Salmon Recovery in the Columbia/Snake River Basin
June 30, 1994

Good morning Mr Chairman and Committee I wish to thank
members of the committee for this opportunity to address the issues
surrounding salmon recovery in the Columbia River Basin My name is

Liz Hamilton, and I serve as the Executive Director for the Northwest
Sportfishing Industry Association which represents hundreds of
businesses and thousands of jobs in the Pacific Northwest and beyond
From "worms to downriggers", from major retailers to "mom & pops",
the men, women and businesses working with NSIA are dependent on
and dedicated to a healthy salmon resource In Oregon and
Washington alone, the sportfishing industry generates $3 billion
annually to the overall health of the states' economies.

Sportfishing businesses are as diverse and as geographically
disbursed as the fish we rely upon. Traditionally, we have placed our
focus upon partnerships dedicated to sportfishing promotion and
habitat restoration The formation of NSIA was in recognition that
decisions regarding the resource we depend upon were very much
impacted by other industries We organized and became involved to
be a united and positive voice for the salmon recovery our
businesses require for a healthy future.

The charters and guides, bait houses, marinas, marine suppliers,
shopping centers, wh.olesalers, retailers, distributors, manufacturers!
and manufacturers representatives that NSIA represents, view the
declining salmon and steelhead runs on the Columbia River as a
driving force in business closures and failures in both sportfishing
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and commercial businesses along the west coast from northern California to Alaska. In

addition, our businesses inland, from manufacturing to retailing across the United

States are severely impacted, by the loss of millions of salmon in the Columbia

System

Fishing closures and restrictions will continue to impact our economy with hundreds

of millions of lost dollars until the operation of the hydro system is substantially altered

for fish passage Years of data collected and studied by State, Federal and Tribal

biologists have shown direct and substantial correlation between years of high flow

and spill with increased adult returns Smolt monitoring done by the fish passage

center confirms and reinforces the original flow/survival studies of the I970's and

1980's

Our salmon populations in the Columbia basin are facing a crisis of historic

proportions The Columbia once was the largest salmon producing river in the entire

world , with some 10 to 16 million returning adults

This year, we anticipate returns of 12 million fish, a more than ten-fold decrease, of

which only one-guarter are wild, naturally spawning fish The Snake River wild spring

Chinook once numbered over 60,000 spawning adults. This year less than 1000 are

expected back to their spawning grounds. Predictions for next year are worse!

Will we choose to allow these resources and the industries that depend on them

to disappear?

In reviewing the Bevan Plan, it becomes immediately apparent that the lower Columbia

commercial fishing interests have been determined to be expendable The decline of

stock abundances and a lack of serious changes in the management of the hydro-

system, sends a clear message that the sportfishing industry is also expendable With

the treaty fisheries "on the beach", all harvesters, seem to be written out of the

equation

It appears that the resource and those dependent on a healthy fishery are not a priority.

One remembers the analogy: "When they came for the Gillnetters, I did not protest,

because I was not a Gillnetter When they took out the tribal nets, I did not speak up

because, I was not an Indian. When they took my rod and reel, there was no one left to

protest." Fishers realize that getting rid of their traditional adversaries won't save the

fish, only changes in human activity will.

When considering the economic benefits to the region of healthy fish populations, the

corresponding industries dependent on salmon, must be a part of the equation.

Remember, there is a G.I. Joes, a Fred Meyer, a Bi-Mart, and a hardware store selling

tackle in virtually every community in the Northwest. Expand that to include boat

dealers, manufacturers distributors, marinas, resorts and motels, and you begin to see

the magnitude of the value of the elusive salmon to the Pacific Northwest. In the NSIA



259

database, there are nearly 5,000 businesses both large and small, related to
sportfishing in the Northwest They are located throughout every congressional district.

These disappearing fish represent lost, renewable dollars to this region. Salmon
fishinq dollars are salmon fishing dollars. In failing to make the bold decisions
necessary to recover salmonids in the Columbia Basin, we are systematically
exporting industry to Canada!! An article written by Bill Clarke of the Northwest
Marine Trade Association reveals a decline in Washington license sales, with a
corresponding increase in Bntish Columbia for the last several years. In one year,

(1991) $58 million dollars left the state of Washington to be spent north in pursuit of

Salmon

The collapsing stock numbers are a disaster to the Northwest economy as well Let

us examine the recreational salmon fishery at Buoy 10 in 1987, a year when the high
numbers of adult returns were a direct translation from the years of high flow in spill in

the mid-1980's According to figures supplied by PFMC, the Buoy 10 recreational

fishery (OR, WA, and area 4B add-on) created local personal income impacts of over
$8 million dollars in a fishery that lasts, on average, four weeks!!

Not included in the eight million dollar figure are the other expenditures for the fishery,

such as tackle, boats, motors, trailers, rods, reels, food, beverages and other

purchases that support our industry. Nor do these figures reflect ANY other
recreational fishenes that the Columbia supplies such as Spnng Chinook or Steelhead

Contrast these figures with the personal income impacts from 1993 of $2.9 million. A
nearly 2/3 reduction is directly related to the decline in status of the Columbia River
stocks BPA, State & Tribal Agencies and the Bevan Team recognize and
acknowledges that the operation of the hydro-system is a major destroyer of juvenile

and adult migrants.

The relevant question we must ask is ng{ "How much will it cost to save our salmon?"
The real question is "How much will it cost to do nothing?"

Salmon closures, alone, will not restore the Columbia's historically famous fisheries

NSIA and anglers do not want to fight over or harvest the last fish, and have
supported restrictions on gear, harvest timing, and catch and release to protect weak
stocks However, cutting back on harvest, year after year, without addressing the root

of the problem, is the same as making the "Victim" pay for restitution.

The National Marine Fisheries Service Snake River Recovery Recommendations fail to

address many of the fundamental changes that are necessary for healthy salmon
populations. In addition to a reliance on barging rather than in-stream migration,

(through flow and spill regimes) the plan still only "tinkers" with the hydro system, with

no accountable modification schedule for the dams.
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The recovery recommendations are too narrow in scope, only addressing the Snake

River Basin, when basm-wide management would benefit all Columbia River Salmon.

For healthy fish populations, an ecosystem approach will need to be implemented

Operating John Day Reservoir at minimum pool is not endorsed Most noteworthy, the

Plan rejects input of state and tribal aoencies. a practice which has already landed

Nt\/IFS in court, and should not be continued Judge Marsh set aside the old Jeopardy

standard We are discussing a plan that will likely be inadequate to meet a revised

standard

NSIA and many scientists have serious doubts in regard to the barging programs In

reversing the precipitous declines, the 18-year barging expenment has worked about

as well as a Band-Aid would for a cancer As the current fish numbers indicate,

barging has proven to be a failed experiment Each year the number of barged fish

has increased and each year the number of adult returns has decreased The ONLY
years that produced higher adult returns were the years when high flows and the

resulting spill, transported the juveniles in-nver

Fish were never meant to travel in barges or down freeways to the ocean Barging has

been an excuse to deny what fish really need

—

flowing water and clear passage to

the ocean Fish traveling in-nver and spilled over the dams suffer a less than 2%
mortality Fish traveling through the turbines have been shown to die at the rate of 10-

30 percent at each facility

Central to the health of our salmon populations on the Columbia, and our businesses

from Northern California to Alaska is the requirement of the migrants , both juvenile and

adult, for adequate flows to facilitate in-stream migration With our salmon

populations crashing and at "condition red," further studies on a salmon's absolute

need for increased flows cannot be interpreted other than as a death sentence for

these populations.

Such dire circumstances, brought on by existing hydro-practices, demand immediate

and bold actions on the part of the Corps of Engineers and the National Marine

Fisheries Service It is mandated that the NPPC identify measures by which to protect

salmon runs from being destroyed by the Snake and Columbia Dams and to "provide

flows of sufficient quality and quantity... to improve production, migration and survival."

These flows need to be hard constraints , and incorporated into power planninq in order

to ensure that fish flow velocities will actually be met Even though a critical range of

flows to help migrants successfully survive has been identified with the best technical

advice from regional agencies and tribes, these "targets" have not been met

historically. The result of inaction is before us now.

Increased flow produces a multitude of benefits to migrating fish including;
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• Moving juveniles successfully in-stream. Years in which spill and high flows were
combined translated into years of high adult returns Management of Snake river

reservoirs, under normal operations, slows water particle travel time five fold,

greatly increasing smolt travel time

• Flow volumes facilitate and stimulate adult up-stream migration

• Increased flows can help lower deadly summer water temperatures harmful to both
juvenile and adult migrants According to the studies cited in the 1994 DFOP,
"water temperature is strongly and negatively correlated with flow"

• Shortened travel times induced by higher flows will reduce predatlon in several

ways: Foremost, a lessened travel time translates into less exposure to predators.

Flow disburses predators into the slack waters they have a preference for

Increased flow would conceivably save a great deal of money currently spent on
predator control i'

• Increased flows combined with a carefully monitored spill program, would allow for

the majority of juveniles to successfully travel in-stream, reducing or eliminating

funds spent on the failed barging experiments

Further studies in lieu of action combined with studies appear to be another attempt at

delay and "paralysis by analysis " The crashing fish populations that we are forced

to deal with can no longer be placed on the backs of the fishing industry Our sacrifices

in harvest have not returned to us with increased numbers of fish. The fish cannot

afford further delay with studies and continuation of the "status quo", nor can our

industry. As was eloquently stated at the Fish Operations Executive Committee
meeting of the Northwest Power Planning Council on 20th, "We have exhausted all of

the easy choices We are down to the hard choices
"

NSIA concurs, the waters of the Columbia need to be managed with more balance,

giving more of its flow and water to ensure the survival of our once historic salmon
populations. In addition to flow, NSIA recognizes spill as the safest way to spread the

risk and facilitate safe, in-stream migration for migrants

The spill program is the best near-term option to improve survival of juvenile migrants

ODFW and other fishery analysts show that spill would double the survival of the

juveniles migrating in river. While dissolved gas can be a problem, this program is

coupled with a detailed and effective monitoring program to detect and correct any
occurrences of gas bubble trauma

The spill program DID not to produce any dissolved gas levels that are not

already commonly occurring in routine operations of these dams. In fact, the

levels of dissolved nitrogen and gas bubble trauma were less in most instances than

last year, when NO objections were raised to spill.

The real issue of concern, is not the "smokescreen" issue of gas bubble trauma
Without a doubt, there has been many times in the past where operation of the hydro-

system was in violation if DOE standards The real issue here in the minds of the
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Board of Directors of NSIA and the businesses that we represent is How is it that it

took a federal court case by the states and tribes to get the desperately needed

spill for fish survival and enhancement

This spill program is the first ray of light and hope for an industry that, until recent

closures, generated a billions of dollars in income to this region The fish, and the

industries I represent are waiting for the promises made when the dams went in to be

kept

In addition to the value to the region that healthy salmon populations represent, it is

important to remember the social and cultural values that sportfishing represents

Outdoor, fishing activities are family bonding events Think back, dig through

your photo album I am certain that, for many of you, your earliest, fondest memories

were in the outdoors, fishing rod in hand

Several weeks ago, I taught beginning fishing at a 3 day seminar titled "Becoming an

Outdoor Woman" The seminar was attended by nearly 100 women from Oregon,

Washington and Northern California On Saturday night, a great salmon barbecue

was prepared and served by volunteers from the Oregon Department of Fish and

Wildlife Before the salmon was served, a ceremony of thanks was given

A "thank you to salmon for returning" was presented by a tribal representative, a child,

a sport angler, a commercial representative, and a fish processor After the thanks

were offered, there were very few dry eyes at dinner, and my eyes were flowing freely.

I know that we were all mourning the very real possibility of extinct salmon populations.

The Northwest has been described as: "any place that a salmon could get to" Are

we now to redefine ourselves as "the place where salmon used to be'' " This is simply

not necessary We have the building blocks required for Salmon recovery In addition

to Judge Marsh, the Northwest needs other leaders to embrace and implement the

changes that will take the salmon and our industries into the future

The Northwest Power Planning Council's Strategy for Salmon should be a starting

point, with modifications and recommendations from tribal and state agencies The

Northwest does not need another "spotted owl nightmare" Between the NPPC
Strategy for Salmon, the Detailed Fish Operations Plan and the NMFS recovery

recommendations, we can develop a recipe for recovery Let's stop the blame game,

and work together on the difficult solutions to which we all must contribute to be

successful in restoring our salmon to harvestable abundances.
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NORTHWEST SPORTFISHING INDUSTRY ASSOCIA TION
IPattcal tcMof <u t( 6-24- 9<tj

A LURE FLY CO
ACTIVE MARKETING
ALASKA PREMIER BAIT

ANDE MONOFILAMENT
AUBURN SPORTS & MARINE

BETTY KAY CHARTERS
CATCHER CO
COMPLEAT ANGLER
CRANE PRAIRIE RESORT
DENNIS REPRESENTATIVE CO
DONALD P HARRY INC

ENGLUND MARINE SUPPLY
FOLBE PRODUCTS
G I JOE'S INC

GAMBLER BOATS WEST
HANSEN'S FURNITURE CO
HOLTHE WALLS ASSOCIATES
ILWACO CHARTER BOAT ASSN
JOHN B MERIFIELD, INC

K T MORRIS &ASSOCtATES
L.H FRENCH CO
LEWIS RIVER SPORTS
LUHR JENSEN & SONS
MAX MORTON COMPANY
NEWPORT MARINA STORE
NORTHWEST EYE CLINIC

OLSON'S RESORT
PACIFIC SALMON CHARTERS
PERKINS VARIETY APPLES
POULSBO SPORTING CENTER
PRO SPORT DISTRIBUTING

REEL NEWS, THE
RIVERS WEST GUIDE SERVICE
SALTCHUCKER CHARTERS
SEA SPORT CHARTERS
SHELDONS', INC.

SNAPPER TACKLE CO
STORM MANUFACTURING
SWAIN'S GENERAL STORE, INC.

TEENY NYMPH CO.

TIM BAILEY & ASSOCIATES
WESTERN SPORTS & LEISURE

WILLIE BOATS, INC

XTRACTOR ENTERPIRSES
ZAK TACKLE MFG CO

ABU-GARCIA
AL'S LANDING
ALL-SPORTS SUPPLY, INC

ANGLERS GUIDE SERVICE
B & E SALES COMPANY INC

BIMART
CHENEY SPORTS
COVE PARK GROCERY &TACKLE
D&DDISTRIBUTING
DEPOE BAY TRUE VALUE
DUFFLE BAG, THE
FARWEST SPORTS
FFJANK AMATO PUBLICATIONS

G LOOMIS, INC

GUNARAMA WHOLESALE
HILDEBFJANDT CORP
HOOKER INVESTMENTS
J & K OUTFITTERS
JOHN'S SPORTING GOODS
KINGFISHER ENTERPRISES
LAMIGLAS INC

LINDSAY & ASSOCIATES
MACK'S LURE MFG CO
NARROWS MARINA
NEWPORT TRADEWINDS
NORTHWEST OUTFITTERS SUPPLY
OUSLEY SPORT SHOP/SHAMROCK
PEAK SALES & MARKETING
PHIL'S SPORTING GOODS
POULSEN CASCADE
PUGET SOUND ANGLERS
RICHLAND ROD & GUN
RON'S CUSTOM FISHING RODS
SAMS RV PARK/FALLS BAY

SEAVIEW CHEVROLET
SIBERIAN SALMON EGG CO
SPECIALTY ADVENTURES
SUNBIRD SHOPPING CENTER
T.H.E. TACKLE
THE TOM POSEY CO.

TIMSEN CO INC

WESTERN STATES ASSOCIATES
WILSON MARINE SERVICE

YAKIMA BAIT CO.

ZEBCO CORPOFfATION

ACME TACKLE
ALASKA F&G SPORT FISH DIV

ANCHOR RITE

ASSN OF NW STEELHEADERS
BATES & ASSOCIATES
CAMBO'S OUTDOORSMAN
COGHLAN'S LTD
CF5AN-MAR TROUT FARM
DANIELSON CO
DIANA SMITH LTD

EMBARCADERO DOCK
FISHERMAN'S MARINE SUPPLY
FRED MEYER INC

GAMAKATSU USA
H & H OUTDOOR
HOLIDAY MARKET
HUNGRY WHALE
JERRrS SURPLUS
JON B. CASH LTD
KLIEN HONDA
LEISURE SALES, INC

LUCKY ONE
MASCHMEDT & ASSOCIATES
NESTUCCA VALLEY SPTG GOODS
NORTH WEST TACKLE SUPPLY CO
O'LOUGHLIN TRADE SHOWS
OWEN BROWN &ASSOCIATES
PENN FISHING TACKLE MFG
PORT GARDNER SPORTS SERVICE
PRICED LESS
PUGET SOUND ANGLERS, WHIDBE
RITCHIES CUSTOM TACKLE
S & S GUIDES
SCOTTY DOWNRIGGERS
SECOMA TACKLE/ROD&REEL
SILVER HORDE FISHING SUPPLIES

SPORTS SERVICES INC

SUNRISE GUIDE SERVICE
TED'S SPORT CENTER
THOMPSON & ASSOCIATES
VMC, INC.

WILDCAT STEELHEAD CLUB
WINCHESTER BAY MARKET
YAMAGUCHI DISTRIBUTING

ZOG'S BAIT HOUSE

NSIA has been awarded an Environmental Quality Grant from
American Sportfishing Association
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APPENDIX B; Economic Impact of Sport Fishing in the United SUte& by State for 1991



265

—



266

Snake River Wild Spring Cliinool<

Adult

Equivalents

Downstream (Juveniles) UpeUeam (Adulta)

Uva Uve DeadDead
Fish

49,279 '^- 985^2
juvenite

passage 3^,
mCMlality

38.438 -- 768,754
juvonilti

passage 2,7;
moilalily

29,981 -- 599,628
juvenile

passage 2
mciftalily

23,385-*- 467,710 •«

juvenile

passage -j (

fnorlalily

18,241 •- 364,814
juvenile

passage
i 9|

mxtalily

1 4,228 •- 284,555
iuvenilo

passage f i

mnlaily

11,098-^- 221,953
juvenile

passage ft
moilarity

Lower Grwiite Dam

Little Goose Dam

— Lower Monument
816 Dam

Ice Harbor Dam

McNary Dam

John Day Dam

The Dalles Dam
2,358 adul passage mortality

1 775 harvesi mortatly

Boniwville Dam
•dull passage moclaHy

483 haivasi imlaiily

Ledger (adult equivalents)

Juvenile Passage 193,306

Harvest 4,296

Adult Passage 12,395
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The Ones, Fives, Tens and Twenties That Got Away

The "Export"of Washington's Recreational Fishing.

In uJiiio^C every Issue. Washington's fishing

publications feature articles and advertisements

on salmon fishing In British Columbia and
Alaska. Boat dcjilers Jiround f*uget Sound orga

nize yearly salmon derbies in British Columbia
for Lhclr boat-buying customers Boat and out

door shows feature workshops on fishing trips

outside the state of Washington. While these

events seem relatively Innocuous, statistics on

(he lllghl of Washington residents to fish In Brit-

ish Cohiinbla and Alaska demonstrate an alarm-

ing trend that threatens the health of recreational

fishing businesses In our own state

In piixt, tlic problems of recreational salmon
anglers have become muted. While commercial

salmon anglers gain press coverage and sympa-

thy due to shortened seasorLs, fewer fish, and in-

creased unemployment In Washington stale, rec-

reiiUonal angers only grumble a bit as they go to

lirltlsh Columbia or Alaska Despite the crisis

surrounding Washington's salmon, the recre-

ational angler can still find salmon somewhere.
Bui it's haird for people li\ Olympla to hear the

complaints of Washington anglers who are all the

way up In Campbell River or Barkley Sound.
Left to sit at home, however, as their usual cus-

tomers flee to more fruitful fishing grounds, are

the thousands of recreational fishing businesses

In Washington. Tackle shops, charter boats,

sporting good stores, boat dealers, and marine

accessory stores depend on Washington residents

who equip themselves, and fish, at home. The eco-

nomic connccUon Is not a difficult one to sec.

instead of owning a boat and using It In Wash-
ington, an angler will use a boat furnished by a

Qslilng lodge or guide company in British Colum-

bia or Alaska.

Lack of fishing opportunity in Washington
means tliat state residents have one less reason

to buy a boat. Many of the fishing purchases will

occur near out-of-state fishing grounds as an-

glers purchase fresh bait and whatever else the

l\sh are biUng on - and of course, purchase things

Ihey could have picked up at home.
liic dilficulty In reversing the northern migra-

tion ofWashington anglers comeu Uirgely because

of Ihc multitude of Issues, both political and bio-

logical, that have caused it to occur. In many
cases. Washington anglers travel to Canada and

Alaslca to catch salmon of Washington origin.

As an example, consider the h^irvest of Skagit

River and Hood Canal coho over the three year

period 1988 - 1990. 58% of the Skagtt and 41%
of the Hood Canal coho were harvested In Canada.

Pugel Sound commercial nets. Tribal and Non-
Tribal, took approximately 4 1% of Hood Canal
and 25% of the Skagit coho harvest. Washington's
sport fishery harvested about 10% of the fish from
each system.

In part. Canadian Interceptions ofWashington-
origin salmon are allowed In exchange for the

fiarvest of Canadian -ongm sockeye and pink
salmon by Washington commercials. But also,

Canadian harvest of Washington salmon helps

correct the Imbalance caused by the Alaskan
harvest ofCanadian fish . The U .S ./Canada Treaty

recognizes two countries, not two states and prov-

ince.

The most pressing problem lacing recreational

anglers In Wsishmgton is not who gets the fish,

but how many fish there axe to get. Another sltu-

auon exacerbating the flight of Washington an-

glers northward are feeding conditions m Puget

Sound and the Pacific Ocean. Warm ocean cur-

rents, known commonly as El Nino, have dis-

rupted the food chain.

Salmon have suffered not only from the scar-

city of food but from the need to travel further

north to find it. In addition, warm ocean cur-

rents have increased the population of predatory

fish that target salmon. While El Nino sltuaUons

will return periodically. It has unfortunately re-

appeared when habitat loss has made
Washington's salmon population most vulner-

able.

Washington's recreational anglers are also part

of the food chain. As salmon travel north, so do

families, vacation days, and dollars.

The Increase in Washington residents purchas-

ing British Columbia and Alaska fishing licenses

demonstrates this "export ' of Washington's rec-

rcatiorud nshli\g economy:

Yeu^ British Coltuabla
1987 29.227
1988 31,688
1989 38,014
1990 44.148

1991 47.567

YUT
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In addition, consider that the average non-Ca-
nadian angler vlslllnc DrlUsh CoJumbIa In 1991

spent *6Vn OH per vcar. not Including Lranspor-

lallon. In Alaska, non resident anglers spent an
aver-ag<- of $172 48 per angler day In 1988 not

Including Irruisportatlon

Assuming a fishing trip to Alaska Included four

days of fishing, Washington residents sp)cnt about

$ 13 million dollars to fish In Alaska during 1 99 1

.

not Including Irajisportatlon. In British Colum-
bia, expenditures from Washington anglers
lopped $32 million, nol includlngTransportatlon.

\A/hllc many Canadian license holders arc fish-

ing oul of Washington ports, and some can fish

relatively Inexpensively using their own boats and
RVs. other trips c^-xii cost In excess of $1,000 per

day If an average transportation cost of $200
round trip Is assumed for each of these anglers

leaving Wa.shlnglon. another $13 million Is spent.

This brings the total for fishing expenditures by
Washington residents to fish Alaska and British

Columbia during 1991 to over $58 million dol-

lars.

Not surprisingly, as Washington citizens have
fished more In British Columbia eind Alaska, pur-
chases of resident salmon licenses In our own
state has been declining.

Tear Washington Resident Salmon Licenses
1989 ;)34.648
1990 325.207
I'jyi 3I3.46G

1992 265,574

These statistics arc nol inlended to create feel-

ings of guilt among those of you who have ven-

tured North In pursuit of salmon. The point Is

not to create giilll hut to recognize that the suc-
cess of Washln.glon's recreational fishing busi-

nesses follows the health of the our fish resources.

Statistics such as these showing the Increasing
flow of dollars out of Washington make a con-
vincing argument that economics must be one of

the primary factors In fisheries management
Past studies on the economics of fishing In

Washington have underestimated the contribu-
tions of the recreational flshlng industry. EVcn
though 80% of all recreational boats in Wash-
ington arc used for fishing, some studies did not
Include the purchase of boats as nn economic
factor asRoclalcd wllh fishing, fin 1991, Wash-
ington residents spent $ 106 million on boats used
for fishing). Others assumed that without recre-

ational fishing. Washington residents would
spend their money on another form of In-statc
recreation.

But when statistics on the Increasing flight of

Washington residents to fish out-of-state are con-
sidered. It Is evident that Washington's anglers
will spend money lo fish - they 11 Just go to where
the fish are. As ocean salmon fishing In Wash-
ington hits Its lowest ebb In history. Washington
resident's dcmsmd for salmon fishing will In part

be relieved tiy fishing In British Columbia and
Alaska.

Considering the health ofWashington's salmon
runs, fisheries managers face great challenge In

protecting and enhancing weak stocks while cre-

ating benefit for Washington's citizens and busi-

nesses from available salmon resources. It Is cru-

cial that during this ecologlcad and economic cri-

sis, the businesses dependent on recreational

fishing unite with fishing clubs to have a strong

voice where It Is needed.
ATKFC member I spoke with recently made an

excellent observation concerning the lack of qual-

ity sportflshlng in Washington; "If the fishing were
great, Id be out fishing. But It isn't and so Im
going to spend my time writing letters and mak-
ing phone calls to Olympla and Washington DC.
until II gels better." If you're trying to figure out
what to do 'With the time you would have spent

ocean salmon fishing this year, maytjc the best

thing to do Is to use some of It to let legislators

and agencies know how important fishing is to

you and your family.

Ocean conditions for salmon are cyclical and
will chcmgc. Other Issues, from habitat to hydro-
electric power require the constant Input of an-

glers to be resolved to the benefit of our fish re-

sources. With Improvements In habitat and co-

operation from all sportflshlng groups and busi-

nesses. Washington anglers can be given the op-

portunity to catch their salmon, and spend their

dollars, right here at home.

By Bill Clarke.

Northwest Marine Trade Association.

— 5 —
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ROLLIE SCHMITTEN, ASSISTANT ADMINISTRATOR FOR FISHERIES, NOAA

Follow-up Answer to Question by Representative Unsoeld

In what way does FACA impede full utilization of peer review in
the development of a recovery plan?

In a strict sense, FACA does not impede utilization of peer
review in the development of a recovery plan itself. Section
4(f) of the Endangered Species Act, which mandates the
development and implementation of recovery plans, provides that:

The Secretary, in developing and implementing recovery
plans, may procure the services of appropriate public and
private agencies and institutions, and other qualified
persons. Recovery teams appointed pursuant to this
subsection shall not be subject to the Federal Advisory
Committee Act.

16 U.S.C. §1533(f)(2). Recovery teams have been appointed by the
Assistant Administrator of NMFS for both the development and
continuing implementation of recovery plans. As part of this
ongoing process, the Assistant Administrator may reconvene or
reconstitute recovery teams as deemed necessary. Thus, to a
large extent, FACA does not present a problem in developing and
implementing recovery plans.

However, NMFS may undertake conservation and recovery measures
outside the context of a formal recovery plan, in which case FACA
may apply to any peer review on those measures. Such instances
may arise prior to development of a recovery plan, or to address
measures beyond the scope of, or not incorporated in, the
recovery plan.

One example concerns the ongoing discussions relating to the
district court decision in Idaho Dept. of Fish and Game v. NMFS .

Civil No. 92-973-MA (D.C.Or. filed March 28, 1994), which involve
a re-evaluation of the standard to determine whether an action
jeopardizes listed Snake River salmon. These discussions do not
directly relate to the recovery plan process, so that they are
not exempt from FACA. In his decision, however. Judge Marsh
suggested that non-Federal entities be involved in these
discussions, specifically stating that "Federal defendants are
under no legal obligation to listen and respond to salmon plans
from every corner of the Northwest, but the ESA does impose
substantive obligations with respect to an agency's consideration
of significant information and data from well-qualified
scientists such as the fisheries biologists from the states and
tribes." The government's ability to incorporate these non-
Federal entities in the decisionmaking process, as recommended by
Judge Marsh, is certainly hampered by the requirements imposed by
FACA.
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June 27, 1994

The Honorable Gerry E. Studda, Chairman
U.S. House of Representatives

Committee on Merchant Marine and Fisheries

Room 1334, Longworth House Office BIdg.

Washington, D.C. 20515-6230

Dear Chalmrian Studde:

Thank you for the opportunity to address your committee at Its oversight hearing

on the recovery of endangered Columbia River Basin salmon stocks on June
30th. Regrettably, I cannot be present In Washington D.C. on that date, and must
observe that copies of the Snake River Salmon Recovery Team's final

recommendations did not become available to us until late last week. I would
nonethftlBSfi like the foiiowinn obsen/ations shared with Committee members and
included in the record of the nearlng. Please understand that my Inability to

reschedule to attend does not indicate any lessening of the tremendous
Importance that I place on these Issues, or their importance to Oregonlans and to

the region.

The recommendations of the Snake River Salmon Recovery Team present the

region with a first outline of a salmon recovery plan speolflo to the listed Snake
River species. Of course, the Northwest Power Planning Councira Strategy for

Salmon, a comprehensive program that alms at all slocks in the Columbia Basin,

should continue to bo Implemented while the work specific to the Snake River

species is completed.

I commend the Team for Its effort which has generated many sound Ideas, but

also must recognize that the Team's recommendations do not do the whole Job.

Unfortunately many concerned parties are now taking up sides supporting or

opposing the team s recommendations. This complex resource management
issue win be better served If we concentrate on completing the Job of developing a

Snake River Salmon Recovery Plan, and my brief description of three

fundamental concorns is offered in that spint.

First, the Team's recommendations are not assembled and presented wHhIn an

analytical framework that demonstrates the efficacy of the elements, singly or
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collectively, in achieving recovery. We all anticipate that recovery of these
salmon populations will be dltflculf and expensive. For a proposed recovery plan

to be accepted and supported, it must be based on a clear, sound and convincing
analysis that incorporates all significant life cycle factors and assesses the likely

contribution of each to meeting a rebuilding schedule.

Second, I am deeply concerned that the Team's recommendations identify

virtually no specific actions, other than the unproven strategy of massive barging,
to be tal^en in the near term to avoid loss of these critically depressed salmon
populations. The sudden drop in numbers of returning spring ohinool< salmon this

year emphasizes the point that we have not been granted a grace period in which
to conduct additional studies and evaluations before taking decisive action. The
National Marine Fisheries Service cannot assemble a proposed recovery plan

witiiuut addressing our most urgent order of business • actions needed over the

next four to five years to be sure we have a base from which to work toward long
term recovery.

Third, I must reiterate the deep concerns I expressed in comments on the draft

the Team circulated earlier this year, particularly regarding its extensive reliance

on transportation of juvenile fish by barge and truck as the primary solution to the

substantial mortality caused by hydroeleotrio dams. A recent review by a laanel of

.scientific experts assembled by the National Marine Fisheries Sen/Ice and the

U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service was pointedly dubious that continued very heavy
reliance on transportation could reverse the present decline of Snake River

salmon.

The Team appears to disregard the level of risk to the salmon imposed by
single-minded reliance on this controversial approach to dealing with dam
mortality. The absence of such a risk analysis of the transportation strategy is

another example of the lack of a structured analytical approach to frame the

Tflam'R rscommendations Further, the Team'? reliance on transportation causes

it to defer improvements to in-river migration conditions pending additional time

consuming studies. Certainly we need improved data, but just as certainly

improvements in survival conditions for river-migrating juveniles cannot wait for

absolute knowledge.

Many Individual elements of the Teams recommendations merit praise. The
discussion and development of proposed recovery goals and delisting criteria

appears soundly based and carefully considered. Tne review of measures to

protect and restore spawning and rearing habitat puts an appropriate emphasis
on protection and restoration of habitat. The Team has dearly taken an
ecosystem management view in identifying the need to address a brnad range of

watershed activities and rnanacjement practices, and deserves credit for these

steps.

Finally, I wish to raise a process issue that has tremendous implications for our

ultimate success In eaimon recovery. Initial Indications from the National Marine
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Fisheries Service are that they will rapidly convert the team's recommondations

Into a draft recovery plan and circulate It for review. We are all anxious to have

an adopted recovery plan In hand, but both substance and timing of the document

are critical. The previous Jeopardy standard for Snake River salmon used by

NMFS has been rejected in federal court. A revised Jeopardy standard and

actions to achieve such a revised standard are therefore presently under

development and are expected to be assembled by this fall. It would be wise tor

NMFS to integrate the information and analysis from that process Into a draft

recovery plan before circulating It for public review, and we urge NMFS to do so.

The State of Oregon remains committed to recovery of SnaKe River salmon and

to the restoration of salmon runs throughout the Columbia Baeln. We have and

will continue to provide our information, expertise, and support to such efforts. I

share the senae of urgency held by many others but I also believe that we must

do this job to the best of our wisdom and ability. We can not afford a recovery

plan which Is only partially complete. Let's finish the Job.

Thank you for your interest and your support.

Sincerely,

L.^

cc: Senator Mark O. Hatfield

Senator Bob Packwood
Representative Elizabeth Furse

Representative Ron Wyden
Representative Peter DeFazio
Representative Mike Kopetskl

Representative Bob Smith

Governor Mike Lowry
Governor Cecil Andrus

Doug Hall. NOAA
Gary Smith, NMFS, Seattle

Ed Sheets, Northwest Power Piannlna Council

Ted Hallock, Angus Duncan • NWPPC Oregon

Rod Ingram, ODFW
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